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State Director to contract out selec-
tive fact gathering, nondecision mak-
ing servicing actions in this subpart. 

(b) The State Director may delegate 
in writing any authority delegated to 
the State Director in this subpart un-
less otherwise restricted, to those 
State staff members who, in the opin-
ion of the State Director, have been 
adequately trained and who dem-
onstrate their knowledge in under-
standing and administering the MFH 
policies and procedures of FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354. The State Director may further 
delegate such authority in like manner 
to Servicing Offices by either of two 
options: 

(1) To individual Servicing Office 
staff members, including the Servicing 
Official. 

(2) To the position of Servicing Offi-
cial, the incumbent of which may fur-
ther delegate specified authority to 
identified Servicing Office staff mem-
bers. A copy of such delegation will be 
filed with the State Director. 

(c) Individual delegation of responsi-
bility and authority may be limited or 
expanded in scope, or revoked, as 
deemed appropriate by the State Direc-
tor, or the Servicing Official when ap-
plicable, and will be prepared according 
to FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 Instruction 2006–F 
(available in any FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 
office). 

§ 1930.144 Exception authority. 
The Administrator may, in indi-

vidual cases, make an exception to any 
requirements of this subpart not re-
quired by the authorizing statute if he/ 
she finds that application of such re-
quirement would adversely affect the 
interest of the Government or ad-
versely affect the accomplishment of 
the purposes of the MFH program or 
result in undue hardship by applying 
the requirement. The Administrator 
may exercise the authority at the re-
quest of the State Director or the As-
sistant Administrator for Housing. The 
request must be supported by data that 
demonstrates the adverse impact, cit-
ing the particular requirement in-
volved and recommending proper alter-
native course(s) of action, and out-

lining how the adverse impact could be 
mitigated. 

§ 1930.145 Appeals. 

Only the borrower, or the borrower’s 
representative (as defined in subpart B 
of part 1900 of this chapter), can appeal 
an FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 decision. The bor-
rower’s management agent may not re-
quest an appeal unless he/she has been 
designated as the borrower’s represent-
ative. This means he/she must be au-
thorized in writing by the borrower to 
act for the borrower in the administra-
tive appeal, as required by subpart B of 
part 1900 of this chapter (this may be 
addressed in the management agree-
ment). The borrower’s request for re-
view of an alleged adverse decision 
must be made to FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 
in written form. Appeals and reviews 
will be handled in accordance with di-
rections set forth in subpart B of part 
1900 of this chapter. 

§§ 1930.146–1930.149 [Reserved] 

§ 1930.150 OMB control number. 

The reporting and recordkeeping re-
quirements contained in this regula-
tion have been approved by the Office 
of Management and Budget and have 
been assigned OMB control number 
0575–0033. Public reporting and record-
keeping burden for this collection of 
information is estimated to vary from 
5 minutes to 10.25 hours per response, 
with an average of 0.43 hours per re-
sponse, including time for reviewing 
instructions, searching existing data 
sources, gathering and maintaining the 
data needed, and completing and re-
viewing the collection of information. 
Send comments regarding this burden 
estimate or any other aspect of this 
collection of information, including 
suggestions for reducing this burden, 
to the Department of Agriculture, 
Clearance Officer, OIRM, room 404–W, 
Washington, DC 20250; and to the Office 
of Management and Budget, Paperwork 
Reduction Project (OMB #0575–0033), 
Washington, DC 20503. 
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EXHIBIT A TO SUBPART C OF PART 1930— 
STEPS FOR FARMERS HOME ADMINIS-
TRATION (FMHA) OR ITS SUCCESSOR 
AGENCY UNDER PUBLIC LAW 103–354 
PERSONNEL IN CONDUCTING ANNUAL 
REVIEW OF MULTIPLE HOUSING OP-
ERATIONS 

I. Examine the Condition of the Borrower/ 
Management Reports to Determine that: 

A. Required accounts are being properly 
maintained in accordance with the loan reso-
lution or agreement. 

B. Decisions of officials are being entered 
in the minutes book, if applicable. 

C. Any membership or stock transfers 
have been approved by FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 and 
recorded as required. 

D. Financial records are maintained by 
qualified persons. 

E. The financial records are being re-
viewed by a qualified auditor where an audit 
is required or by a competent individual or 
committee when a verification of review of 
accounts is required. 

II. Study the Financial Progress: Compare 
current financial condition and owner’s eq-
uity with previous years to discover any 
trends, for example: 

A. Has cash carryover increased or de-
creased? 

B. Are the debts greater or less? 
C. Is the owner’s equity greater or less? 
D. Are accounts receivable greater or 

less? 
E. Are collection provisions being en-

forced? 
F. Are reserve and other required funds or 

accounts properly maintained? 
III. Study the State of Income and Expendi-

tures for the Past Year: Compare it with the 
budget for the past year and the same state-
ment for previous years. 

A. Were rents or occupancy charges, sub-
sidies, and other monies collected sufficient 
to produce the required revenues for planned 
expenditures? 

B. Were actual expenditures significantly 
different from those budgeted? 

C. Were the expenditures sufficient to 
adequately maintain the project? 

D. Were expenditures reasonable and typ-
ical for similar projects? 

E. Were any essential items of mainte-
nance deferred during the past year? 

F. Were payments made on authorized 
debts in the proper amounts and on the dates 
agreed to? 

G. If the borrower is operating on a lim-
ited profit basis, did net cash return exceed 
the amount permitted in the loan agreement 
or loan resolution? 

H. Did the borrower charge late fees to 
project accounts other than the Return on 
Investment Account? 

I. Were an excessive number of overage 
charges paid by the project? 

IV. Study the Budget for the next Year: 
Compare it with the statement of income 
and expenditures for the past year, taking 
into consideration any known increase or de-
crease in operating expenses for the planned 
year and the prevailing costs of doing simi-
lar business in the market area. 

A. Are proposed expenditures adequate 
for normal maintenance and operation of the 
project? 

B. Are proposed fees to be paid to firms 
closely associated with the borrower and 
their management agents typical, reason-
able, and earned for the services to be pro-
vided? 

C. Does the budget make provision for fi-
nancing maintenance or energy conservation 
measures/practices deferred from the pre-
vious year? 

D. Does it provide for the required finan-
cial reserves? 

E. Is planned revenue adequate to cover 
planned expenditures? 

F. Will the budget and planned operating 
practices correct any deficiencies in the past 
year’s operations? 

V. Study the Audit Report: Compare it with 
the audit from the previous year, noting any 
significant changes affecting the borrower’s 
operations. Exhibit A–1 of this subpart may 
be used as a guide. 

VI. Review the Energy Audit: Review the 
most recent energy audit and the borrower’s 
plan for implementation. 

VII. Determine Whether or Not the Borrower 
Has: 

A. Maintained required financial records 
and accounts, made required reports, sub-
mitted required financial audits or 
verifications of review and taken appropriate 
action to correct previously noted defi-
ciencies of such records, reports, audits or 
verifications. 

B. Renewed fidelity coverage and insur-
ance policies. 

C. For borrowers with governing bodies. 
1. Held regular board, committee, and 

membership meetings. 
2. Conducted the affairs along sound busi-

ness lines. 
D. Made a change in any organizational 

documents without FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 consent. 

E. Made a change in the plans for man-
agement and operations of the project with-
out FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 consent. 

F. Made a change in the membership or 
interest in ownership without FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
consent. 

VIII. Summary: Summarize major observa-
tions and decisions reached as the result of 
the review and record on Form FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
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1930–10, ‘‘Annual Multiple Family Housing 
Project Review.’’ 

EXHIBIT A–1 TO SUBPART C OF PART 
1930—AUDIT REPORT REVIEW GUIDE 

I Purpose. To present a general guide for 
use of Farmers Home Administration 
(FmHA) or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 staffs in the review of inde-
pendent accountants’ audit reports in order 
to obtain maximum benefit from these au-
dits. The procedures are designed to provide 
uniformity in the audit review, improve loan 
program servicing, and help to promote bet-
ter independent audits. 

II General. FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 guidelines for inde-
pendent auditors are detailed in the booklet, 
‘‘U.S. Department of Agriculture, Farmers 
Home Administration or its successor agen-
cy under Public Law 103–354—Audit Pro-
gram’’ (hereinafter called Audit Program 
and available in any FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 office). This 
Audit Program, along with other instruc-
tions, is designed to protect the security of 
Government loans. The review of the finan-
cial and financially related information in 
the audits must be performed from a tech-
nical standpoint in a prompt manner so that 
the facts and conclusions are readily avail-
able for analysis; only then can results be 
used effectively for management purposes 
and help to insure improved audit practices. 

III Scope. The review should include: 
A A determination of the adequacy of the 

audit in relation to FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 regulations 
and the Audit Program. 

B Interpretation of information included 
in the audit. 

C Preparing a letter to the borrower on 
any missing or adverse audit data. 

D Informing appropriate FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
offices of review results and recommenda-
tions. 

IV Review Procedures To Be Followed. 
A General. The individual professional 

judgment of the reviewer should be used at 
all times. Considerations and decisions re-
quiring the exercise of judgment should be 
used in the following: 

1 Circumstances peculiar to the borrower. 
2 Degree of importance attached to each 

item questioned. 
3 Number of exceptions. 
4 Whether the exceptions relate to the 

auditor’s work or the borrower’s records and 
operations. 

5 If specific action is to be requested of 
the borrower. 

6 Whether or not the report, as a whole, is 
acceptable. 

B Review and Procedure. 
1 Specific. 

a Determine if the audit was performed 
by a Certified Public Accountant (CPA) or a 
Licensed Public Accountant (LPA) who was 
licensed on or before December 31, 1970. 

b Determine if the audit was conducted in 
accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards (1988 Revision), often referred to 
as generally accepted government auditing 
standards (GAGAS). 

c Does the audit cover the most recent 12 
months since the previous audit? 

d Was the audit received within 90 days 
after the borrower’s year end, or was an ex-
tension of up to an additional 30 days author-
ized by the Servicing Official, and if so, was 
it met? 

2 Evaluation checklist for audit reports. The 
‘‘Evaluation Checklist for Audit Reports’’ 
which is attachment 1 of this exhibit is de-
signed to systematically record and reveal 
the audit findings. Information tallied on 
this form is a good indication of whether or 
not additional contact(s) need to be made 
with the borrower. 

3 Previous audits and correspondence. Ref-
erence to the prior audit and any correspond-
ence concerning it can be most helpful in the 
current review. Determine whether correc-
tions requested in the previous year have 
been made, and whether the borrower has 
complied with previous suggestions for im-
provement in the audit report. 

C Preparing the audit review letter. After 
completion of the ‘‘Evaluation Checklist for 
Audit Reports’’ (attachment 1 of this ex-
hibit) and applying personal judgment, a de-
cision must be made on whether or not to 
prepare an audit review letter similar to 
that shown as attachment 2 of this exhibit. 

1 If the audit fully complies with the 
Audit Program and instructions, a letter is 
not necessary. 

2 If the audit substantially meets the re-
quirements and is lacking in only a few 
points, ask the borrower to have the auditor 
furnish this additional information. 

3 Audits which are unacceptable should 
be returned to the borrower for full compli-
ance, indicating the reasons and a timetable 
for resubmitting. 

ATTACHMENT 1—EVALUATION CHECKLIST FOR 
AUDIT REPORTS 

llllllllllllllllllllllll

State 

llllllllllllllllllllllll

County 

llllllllllllllllllllllll

Name of Borrower 

llllllllllllllllllllllll

Address 

llllllllllllllllllllllll

Case No. 

llllllllllllllllllllllll

Name of Auditor 
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llllllllllllllllllllllll

Project No. 
llllllllllllllllllllllll

Date of Audit Report 
llllllllllllllllllllllll

Period Covered 

Yes/no 

llll 

llll 

llll 

1. Auditor’s Opinion. (section G–1*). 
(a) Unqualified. 
(b) Qualified. 
(c) No Opinion. 

llll 

llll 

llll 

llll 

llll 

2. Financial Statement. (section J–1*). 
(a) Balance Sheet. 
(b) Results of Operations. 
(c) Statement of Cashflow (Changes in Finan-

cial Position). 
(d) Statement of Changes in Retained Earn-

ings. 
(e) Notes to the Financial Statements. 

llll 

3. Statement on Auditing Standards. (section 
J–2*). 

Audit Report contains a statement that the 
audit was made in accordance with Gen-
erally Accepted Government Auditing Stand-
ards (GAGAS). 

llll 

4. Report on Compliance. (section J–3*). 
The auditor should prepare a written report on 

the tests of compliance with applicable laws, 
regulations, loan covenants and agreement 
and grant agreements. List significant compli-
ance findings: 

llllllllll 

llllllllll 

llllllllll 

llll 

5. Report on Internal Controls. (Section J–4*). 
The auditor’s report should assess the bor-
rower’s control risk including discussion on 
the scope of the auditor’s assessment, sig-
nificant internal controls assessed, and any 
material weaknesses of internal control 
noted. List significant internal control find-
ings: 

lllllllllll 

lllllllllll 

lllllllllll 

lllllllllll 

llll 

6. Reporting Instances of Indication of Illegal 
Acts. (Section J–5*). List any noted: 

lllllllllll 

lllllllllll 

llll 

7. Uncorrected Prior Audit Findings. (Section 
J–6*). List: 

llllllllllll 

llllllllllll 

llll 

8. Was report received within 90 days after the 
end of the borrower’s operating year or with-
in a 30 day extension? 

llll 

9. Was audit performed and signed by a CPA 
or LPA? If by an LPA, verify that the LPA 
was licensed on or before December 31, 
1970. 

*References to ‘‘Sections’’ indicate the ap-
propriate section in the FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 
Audit Program booklet. 

ATTACHMENT 2—EXAMPLE AUDIT REVIEW 
LETTER 

llllllllllllllllllllllll

llllllllllllllllllllllll

llllllllllllllllllllllll

Dear Borrower (or Borrower Representative): 
We have reviewed your audit report for the 

period llllll to llllll, prepared 
by llllllllll on llllll. This 
review was made in accordance with current 
Farmers Home Administration (FmHA) or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354 regulations and the Audit Program enti-
tled ‘‘U.S. Department of Agriculture, Farm-
ers Home Administration or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354-Audit Pro-
gram.’’ Based on this review, your audit: 

1. ( ) Is acceptable. However, the auditor’s 
recommendations concerning lllllll 

should be implemented prior to next year’s 
audit. 

2. ( ) Is acceptable but did not include 
comparative-type financial statements as in-
dicated in Section J–1 of the Audit Program. 
Please inform the auditor to prepare such 
statements next year. 

3. ( ) Is acceptable but was not submitted 
within 90 days or an authorized delay of 
llllll days after the end of the bor-
rower’s fiscal year. Please insure that next 
year’s audit is forwarded before llllll. 

4. ( ) Substantially meets all the require-
ments. However, the following items were 
omitted as detailed in the Audit Program, 
Section J, ‘‘Reporting Standards.’’ Please 
have your auditor comment on the item(s) 
circled and forward a copy to us. The circled 
numbers correspond to the 6 items listed in 
Section J of the August Program. 

J–1 J–2 J–3 J–4 J–5 J–6 

5. ( ) Is returned as unacceptable for the 
following reason(s). Please have the auditor 
prepare your audit in accordance with the 
Audit Program. 

a. [ ] It was prepared without audit. 
b. [ ] The following financial statements 

were omitted: (Audit Program, Section J–1) 
[ ] Balance Sheet. 
[ ] Results of Operations. 
[ ] Statement of Cash Flow. 
[ ] Statement of Changes in Retained 

Earnings, or 
[ ] Reconciliation of Owner’s or Partner’s 

Equity. 
[ ] The auditor’s opinion of Compliance. 

(Audit Program, Section J–3). 
[ ] The auditor’s opinion of internal con-

trol. (Audit Program, Section J–4). 

llllllllllllllllllllllll

Servicing Official 
This letter will be prepared in the Serv-

icing Office. A copy of the audit and the ap-
proval memorandum will be sent to the 
State Office. 
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EXHIBIT B TO SUBPART C OF PART 1930— 
MULTIPLE HOUSING MANAGEMENT 
HANDBOOK 

I Purpose: This exhibit prescribes the 
Farmers Home Administration (FmHA) or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354 regulations, policies, and procedures for 
management of Rural Rental Housing (RRH), 
Rural Cooperative Housing (RCH), and Labor 
Housing (LH) projects to be used by multiple 
housing borrowers (owners) and applicants 
and their management agents and site man-
agers. Several exhibits are included to pro-
vide guidance. These regulations are in-
tended to assist borrowers in the successful 
operation of FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354-financed rental and 
cooperative projects. 

II Definitions: 
Adjusted annual income. This is the annual 

income of the household members, who live 
or propose to live in the unit for the next 12 
months. (Households with a member perma-
nently confined to a hospital or nursing 
home may choose to either include annual 
income attributable to such person, less de-
ductions for which the person would qualify, 
or exclude the annual income attributable to 
such person and not take any deductions for 
which the person would qualify.), excluding: 

1 $480 for each member of the family re-
siding in the household (other than the ten-
ant, cotenant, member, or comember or 
spouse of either, or foster children) who is 
under 18 years of age; or who is 18 years of 
age or older and is disabled, handicapped or 
a full-time student. The student must carry 
a subject load considered full-time by the 
educational institution attended. This de-
duction does not apply to an unborn child in 
the household. 

2 $400 for any elderly family. 
3 In the case of an elderly family, the 

total of actual medical and/or handicap as-
sistance expenses paid in excess of 3 percent 
of annual family income may be deducted. If 
an elderly family has both medical and hand-
icap assistance expense, the 3 percent of an-
nual income must first be deducted from 
handicap assistance and any remainder then 
deducted from medical expenses. 

a Total medical expense includes medical 
expenses not covered by insurance that the 
tenant or member anticipates incurring over 
the 12 months following the effective date of 
the certification, using past experience as a 
guide. 

b Examples of medical expenses are den-
tal expenses, prescription and nonprescrip-
tion medicines, medical insurance premiums 
including medicare, eyeglasses, hearing aids 
and batteries, medical related travel cost, 
the cost of attendant care including a live- 
in-resident assistant, monthly payments re-
quired on accumulated major medical bills 
including that portion of a household mem-

ber’s nursing home care paid from household 
income(s). 

NOTE: Premiums paid for nursing home in-
surance are not an allowable deduction un-
less a household member is housed at a nurs-
ing home and that person’s income is in-
cluded in the household income.) 

c Handicap assistance includes reasonable 
attendant care and auxiliary apparatus ex-
penses described as follows for each member 
with handicaps of the family to the extent 
needed to enable any family member (includ-
ing such member with handicaps) to be em-
ployed: 

(1) That portion of attendant care attrib-
utable to specialized medical reasons (the 
portion attributable to companionship is not 
counted). 

(2) Auxiliary apparatus including but not 
limited to wheelchairs, oxygen equipment, 
reading devices for the visually impaired, 
and the cost of equipment added to cars and 
vans to permit their use by the handicapped 
or disabled family member proportionate to 
the amount of use by such persons. 

4 In the case of any nonelderly family, 
total handicap assistance expense in excess 
of 3 percent of annual family income may be 
deducted: 

a For any handicap assistance expense de-
scribed in paragraph 3 c of this definition 
that is anticipated to occur over the 12 
months following the effective date of the 
certification, using past experience as a 
guide, to the extent needed to enable any 
family member (including the handicapped 
or disabled family member) to be employed. 

b The amount of deduction may not ex-
ceed the LESSER of the amount by which 
total expenses for handicap assistance ex-
ceed 3 percent of annual family income, or 
the amount of income received by adult 
members from such employment. 

5 The amounts paid by the family for the 
care of minors under 13 years of age may be 
deducted only to the extent such expenses 
are not reimbursed. In the case of families 
assisted by American Indian housing au-
thorities, the amount will be the greater of 
child care expenses; or excessive travel ex-
penses, not to exceed $25 per family per 
week. Deductions for these expenses are per-
mitted only when such care is necessary to 
enable a family member to further his or her 
education or to be gainfully employed, in-
cluding the gainful employment of the dis-
abled or handicapped family member. When 
the deduction is to enable gainful employ-
ment the amount may not exceed the 
amount of income received from such em-
ployment. When the deduction is to facili-
tate further education, the amount must not 
exceed a sum reasonably expected to cover 
class time and travel time to and from class-
es. The tenant file must contain justifying 
documentation. (Child support payments 
made on behalf of a minor child who does not 
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reside in the unit may not be deducted as a 
child care expense). 

Adjusted monthly income. This is the 
amount obtained by dividing the adjusted 
annual income by 12. 

Annual income. Annual income is the an-
ticipated total amount of income to be re-
ceived by all members of the household (even 
if temporarily absent) to be in residence dur-
ing 12 months following the effective date of 
Form FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 1944–8, ‘‘Tenant Certifi-
cation.’’ 

1 Income Included. The following are in-
cluded when determining annual income: 

a The gross amount (before any deduc-
tions) of wages and salaries, overtime pay, 
commissions, fees, tips, and bonuses reason-
ably expected to be received by all members 
of the household. 

b The net income reasonably expected to 
be received from operations of a business or 
profession or from rental of real or personal 
property. Expenditures for business expan-
sion or amortization of indebtedness are not 
considered in the computation of net in-
come. Net losses will be computed as zero. 
Deductions from gross business or rental in-
come to arrive at net income may be made in 
the same manner as outlined in Internal 
Revenue Service (IRS) regulations for the 
exhaustion, wear and tear, and obsolescence 
of depreciable property used in the trade or 
business of the adult household members 
under the straight line method of deprecia-
tion. An itemized schedule must be provided 
in support of any deductions from gross in-
come made under the provisions of this sec-
tion. The schedule should be consistent with 
the amount of depreciation permitted for 
these items for Federal income tax purposes 
under the straight line method of deprecia-
tion. 

c Interest, dividends, and other received 
income as defined under net family assets in 
this paragraph. On contracts for sale of real 
estate, deeds of trust, or mortgages held by 
the applicant, tenant or member, only the 
interest portion of the monthly or annual 
payments received by the applicant, tenant 
or member is included as income. 

d The gross amount of periodic payments 
from Social Security (including Social Secu-
rity payment received by adults on behalf of 
minors or by minors intended for their own 
support), annuities, insurance policies, re-
tirement funds, pensions, disability or death 
benefits (except lump sum settlements), and 
other similar types of periodic receipts. 

e Payments received in lieu of earnings, 
such as unemployment and disability com-
pensation, worker compensation, and sever-
ance pay. 

f Periodic and determinable allowances, 
such as alimony and child support payments, 
which the applicant, tenant or member can 
reasonably expect to receive. 

g Regularly recurring contributions or 
gifts received from persons not residing in 
the dwelling. 

h Any amount of education grants or 
scholarships or Veterans Administration 
benefits expected to be received on behalf of 
tenant, cotenant, member, or comember, ap-
plicant, or other adult that exceeds attend-
ance expenses for tuition, fees, books, and 
equipment to include materials, supplies, 
transportation, and miscellaneous personal 
expenses of the student (i.e., that portion of 
benefits received for ‘‘room and board’’). 

i All regular pay, separation pay, special 
pay (except hazard duty pay for persons ex-
posed to hostile fire), and allowances of a 
member of the armed forces who is head of 
the family or spouse, whether or not that 
family member lives in the unit. 

j Payment received from an adoption in-
centive program to compensate support of a 
minor child legally adopted by the tenant 
household. 

k Public assistance. 
(1) A public assistance payment that DOES 

NOT designate an amount specifically for 
rent and utilities shall be counted entirely 
as income. 

(2) A public assistance payment, when ad-
ministered ‘‘as-paid’’ by the public assist-
ance agency, DOES designate a specific 
amount for rent and utilities and may adjust 
(or ratably reduce) that amount based upon 
what the family is currently paying for those 
items (only one ratable reduction will be 
permitted). The SUM of the ratably reduced 
amount for rent and utilities and the 
amount for subsistence and other needs shall 
be counted as income. 

(3) Example: The public agency’s published 
schedule shows a monthly maximum of $180 
for rent and utilities for a particular size 
family. The public assistance agency has 
verified that the family will receive $220 
monthly for subsistence and other needs. If 
the agency does not apply a ratable reduc-
tion, $400 per month ($180 + $220) will be in-
cluded in annual income. If the agency ap-
plies a ratable reduction (e.g., 20 percent) an-
nual income will be computed as shown 
below: 

Public assistance (P.A.) rent Income 

$180 maximum allowed for 
housing.

$220 basic needs 

+144 P.A. rent 
×.80 P.A. adjustment factor ... $364 mthly income 
$144 monthly P.A. rent .......... ×12 months 

*$4,368 annual income 

* Shown on line 17 f of part IV of Form FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 1944–8. 

2 Income Exempted. The following are not 
included in annual income: 

a Income of dependent minors (including 
foster children) under 18 years of age except 
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as specified under 1d of the definition of an-
nual income in this paragraph. (Tenant, co-
tenant, member or comember, or spouse of 
either may never be considered minors.) 

b In the case of contracts for sale of real 
estate, mortgages or Deeds of Trust held by 
the tenant, cotenant, member, or comember, 
the principal portion of the payments re-
ceived by the tenant, cotenant, member, or 
comember. 

c The value of the allotment provided to 
an eligible household under the Food Stamp 
Act of 1977. 

d Payments received for the care of foster 
children. 

e Temporary, nonrecurring, or sporadic 
income (including gifts). 

f Lump-sum additions to family assets 
such as inheritances; capital gains; insur-
ance payments included under health, acci-
dent, hazard, or worker compensation poli-
cies, and settlements for personal or prop-
erty losses. 

g Amounts which are granted specifically 
for, or in reimbursement of, the cost of med-
ical expenses for any household member. 
Medical expenses may include those expenses 
incurred by disabled or handicapped resi-
dents so that they may maintain independ-
ence in living (e.g., attendant care). 

h Amounts of education scholarships paid 
directly to the student or to the educational 
institution, and amounts paid by the Gov-
ernment to a veteran for use in meeting the 
attendance costs of tuition, fees, books, and 
equipment to include materials, supplies, 
transportation, and miscellaneous personal 
expenses of the student. Any amounts of 
such scholarships or veterans payments, 
which are not used for above purposes and 
are available for subsistence and shelter, are 
considered to be income of tenant, cotenant, 
member, comember, or applicant. 

i Student loans. 
j The special hazard duty pay to a house-

hold member serving in the Armed Forces 
away from home, who is exposed to hostile 
fire. 

k Payments received pursuant to partici-
pation in the following programs: 

(1) Programs under the Domestic Volun-
teer Service Act of 1973 including, but not 
limited to, the National Older Americans 
Volunteer Programs of the Federal Action 
Agency for persons age 60 and over including 
the: 

(i) Retired Senior Volunteer Program. 
(ii) Foster Grandparent Program. 
(iii) Senior Companion Program. 
(iv) Older American Committee Service 

Program. 
(2) National Volunteer Antipoverty Pro-

grams such as Volunteers in Service to 
America, Peace Corps, Service Learning Pro-
gram and Special Volunteer Programs. 

(3) Small Business Administration Pro-
grams such as the National Volunteer Pro-

gram to Assist Small Business and Promote 
Volunteer Service to Persons with Business 
Experience, Service Corps of Retired Execu-
tives and Active Corps of Executives and, 

(4) Title V—Community Service Employ-
ment for Older Americans which include: 

(i) Senior Community Service Employment 
Program 

(ii) National Caucus Center on Black Aged 
(iii) National Urban League 
(iv) Association National Pro Personas 

Mayors 
(v) National Council on Aging 
(vi) American Association of Retired Per-

sons 
(vii) National Council of Senior Citizens 
(viii) Green Thumb. 
(5) Payments received from a State or 

local low income energy assistance program. 
l Relocation payments made pursuant to 

title II of the Uniform Relocation Assistance 
and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act 
of 1970. 

m Payments received under the Alaska 
Native Claims Settlement Act. 

n Income derived from certain submar-
ginal land of the United States that is held 
in trust for certain Indian tribes. 

o Payments or allowances made under the 
Department of Health and Human Services 
Low-Income Home Energy Assistance Pro-
gram. 

p That portion of tenant income paid 
from the Job Training Partnership Act, 
whether paid directly or through the em-
ployer. 

q Income derived from the disposition of 
funds of the Grand River Bank of Ottawa In-
dians. 

r The first $2,000 of per capital shares re-
ceived from judgment funds awarded by the 
Indian Claims Commission or the Court of 
Claims, or from funds held in trust for an In-
dian tribe by the Secretary of Interior. 

s Any funds which a Federal statute 
specifies must not be used as the basis for de-
nying or reducing Federal financial assist-
ance or benefits to which the recipient would 
otherwise be entitled. (Note: The Depart-
ment of Housing and Urban Development 
(HUD) periodically publishes a notice in the 
FEDERAL REGISTER identifying the programs 
and benefits that qualify for this exemption.) 

t Income of a resident assistant, as de-
fined in this paragraph. 

u Amounts received under training pro-
grams funded by HUD. 

v Amounts received by a disabled person 
(including a sight impaired person) that are 
disregarded for a limited time for purposes of 
Supplemental Security Income eligibility, 
and benefits because they are set aside for 
use under a Plan to Attain Self-Sufficiency. 

w Amounts received by a participant in 
other public assisted programs which are 
specifically for or in reimbursement of out- 
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of-pocket expenses incurred (special equip-
ment, clothing, transportation, child care, 
etc.) and which are made solely to allow par-
ticipation in a specific program. 

x Gifts, payments, or credits provided by 
the borrower for the same purposes as inter-
est credit or rental assistance for the benefit 
of residents in accordance with an FmHA or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354 approved budget when needed to alleviate 
or avoid financial distress in a project for a 
temporary specified time period identified by 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354. 

y Interest accrual to an annuity that can-
not be withdrawn due to the terms of the an-
nuity or its being under the control of oth-
ers. 

z Payments received after January 1, 1989, 
from the Agent Orange Settlement Fund or 
any other fund established pursuant to the 
settlement in the IN RE Agent Orange prod-
uct liability litigation, M.D.L. No. 381 
(E.D.N.Y.) 

aa Payments received under the Maine 
Indian Claims Settlement Act of 1980 (Public 
Law (Pub. L.) 96–420, 94 Stat 1785). 

bb Earned Income Tax Credit Refund Pay-
ments 

cc Redress payments received by Japanese 
American internment camp survivors. 

dd Reparations paid by foreign govern-
ments arising out of the Holocaust. 

ee Deferred periodic payments received in 
a lump sum from SSI and Social Security. 

Borrowers. ‘‘Borrowers’’ means owners who 
may be individuals, partnerships, coopera-
tives, trusts, public agencies, private or pub-
lic corporations, and other organizations and 
have received a loan or grant from FmHA or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354 for LH, RRH, RCH, or Rural Housing Site 
(RHS) purposes. 

Caretaker. The individual(s) employed by 
the borrower or the management agent to 
handle normal interior and exterior mainte-
nance and upkeep of the project as specified 
in the management plan. 

Cash value of assets. Current market value 
less cost to convert assets to cash. 

Chore service worker. An individual who 
provides intermittent assistance essential to 
the well being of household members whose 
services are compensated by a Federal, 
State, or local assistance program. A chore 
service worker will not be a resident of the 
household living unit. 

Congregate Housing. Residential housing for 
persons or families who are elderly or have 
handicaps or disabilities, consisting of pri-
vate apartments and central dining facilities 
in which a number of specific pre-established 
services are provided to tenants (short of 
those services provided by a health care fa-
cility that provides health related care and 
services recognized by the medicaid pro-
gram). Tenants requiring additional services 

not provided by the facility will acquire 
them or provide for them within their own 
financial, familial, or social resources. 

Domestic farm laborers. Persons who receive 
a substantial portion of their income as la-
borers on farms in the United States, Puerto 
Rico, or the Virgin Islands and either are 
citizens of the United States, or reside in the 
United States, Puerto Rico, or the Virgin Is-
lands after being legally admitted for perma-
nent residence, and may include the imme-
diate families of such persons, including re-
tired or disabled domestic farm laborers as 
defined in subpart D of part 1944 of this chap-
ter. 

Elderly (senior citizen). A person who is at 
least 62 years old. The term elderly (senior 
citizen) also means individuals with handi-
caps or disabilities as separately defined in 
this paragraph, regardless of age. 

Elderly family. A household where the ten-
ant, cotenant, member, or comember (indi-
vidual) is at least 62 years old, disabled or 
handicapped as defined separately in this 
paragraph. An elderly family may include a 
person(s) younger than 62 years of age who is 
essential to the care and well being of the 
person who is elderly or has handicaps or dis-
abilities. (To receive an elderly family de-
duction, the person who is elderly, or has 
disabilities or handicaps must be the tenant 
or cotenant or member or comember.) 

Eligibility income. The calculated adjusted 
annual income which is compared to the in-
come limits in Appendix 9 of HB–1–3550 
(available in any Rural Development office). 

Familial status. This term means one or 
more individuals (who have not attained the 
age of 18 years) being domiciled with a par-
ent or another person having legal custody 
of such individual or individuals; or the des-
ignee of such parent or other person having 
such custody; with the written permission of 
such parent or other person. The protection 
against discrimination afforded by familial 
status shall apply to any person who is preg-
nant or is in the process of securing legal 
custody of any individual who has not at-
tained the age of 18 years. 

Forms Manual Insert (FMI). A type of direc-
tive which includes a sample of the form and 
complete instructions for its preparation, 
use, and distribution. 

Group home. Housing that is occupied by 
individuals who are elderly, or have handi-
caps or disabilities sharing living space with-
in a rental unit in which a group home resi-
dent assistant may be required. 

Household. One or more persons who main-
tain or will maintain residency in one rental 
or cooperative unit, but not including a resi-
dent assistant or chore service worker. 

Individual with disability. A person is con-
sidered disabled if the person meets the cri-
teria or either of the following: 

1 The person has an inability to engage in 
any substantial gainful activity, but with 
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use of auxiliary apparatus can otherwise par-
ticipate in gainful activity, by reason of any 
medically determinable physical or mental 
impairment, where the disability: 

a Has lasted or can be expected to last for 
a continuous period of not less than 12 
months, or which can be expected to result 
in death, and 

b Substantially impedes the ability to 
live independently, and 

c Is of such a nature that such ability 
could be improved by more suitable housing 
conditions, or 

d In the case of a sight impaired person 
who is at least 55 years old (within the mean-
ing of sight impairment as determined in 
section 223 of the Social Security Act), is un-
able, because of the sight impairment, to en-
gage in substantial gainful activity in which 
he/she has previously engaged with some reg-
ularity over a substantial period of time. 

e Receipt of veteran’s or Social Security 
Disability payments benefits for disability, 
whether service-oriented or otherwise does 
not automatically establish disability. 

2 The person has a developmental dis-
ability; a severe, chronic disability which; 

a Is attributable to a mental or physical 
impairment or combination of mental or 
physical impairment; and 

b Was manifested before age 22; and 
c Is likely to continue indefinitely; and 
d Results in substantial functional limi-

tations in three or more of the following 
areas of major life activity: 

(1) Self care 
(2) Receptive and expressive language 
(3) Learning 
(4) Mobility 
(5) Self-direction 
(6) Capacity for independent living 
(7) Economic self-sufficiency 
e Reflects the person’s need for a com-

bination and sequence of special, inter-
disciplinary or generic care, or treatment, or 
for other services which are of lifelong or ex-
tended duration and are individually planned 
and coordinated. 

Individual with handicap. 
1 A person with a physical or mental im-

pairment, that: 
a Is expected to be of long-continued and 

indefinite duration; and 
b Substantially impedes the person or is 

of such a nature that the person’s ability to 
live independently could be improved by 
more suitable housing conditions. 

2 The term handicap further means, with 
respect to a person, a physical or mental im-
pairment which substantially limits one or 
more major life activities; a record of such 
an impairment; or being regarded as having 
such an impairment. THIS TERM DOES NOT 
INCLUDE CURRENT ILLEGAL USE OF OR 
ADDICTION TO A CONTROLLED SUB-
STANCE. As used in this definition: 

a Physical or mental impairment in-
cludes: 

(1) Any physiological disorder or condition, 
cosmetic disfigurement, or anatomical loss 
affecting one or more of the following body 
systems: neurological; musculoskeletal; spe-
cial sense organs; respiratory, including 
speech organs; cardiovascular; reproductive; 
digestive; genito-urinary; hemic and lym-
phatic; skin; and endocrine; or 

(2) Any mental or psychological disorder, 
such as mental retardation, organic brain 
syndrome, emotional or mental illness, and 
specific learning disabilities. The term 
‘‘physical or mental impairment’’ includes, 
but is not limited to, such diseases and con-
ditions as orthopedic, visual, speech and 
hearing impairments, cerebral palsy, autism, 
epilepsy, muscular dystrophy, multiple scle-
rosis, cancer, heart disease, diabetes, human 
immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection, ac-
quired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS), 
mental retardation, emotional illness, drug 
addiction (other than addiction caused by 
current, illegal use of a controlled sub-
stance), and alcoholism. 

b Major life activities means functions 
such as caring for one’s self, performing 
major tasks, walking, seeing, hearing, speak-
ing, breathing, learning, and working. 

c Has a record of such an impairment 
means has a history of, or has been 
misclassified as having a mental or physical 
impairment that substantially limits one or 
more major life activities. 

d Is regarded as having an impairment 
means: 

(1) Has a physical or mental impairment 
that does not substantially limit one or 
more major life activities but that is treated 
by another person as constituting such a 
limitation; 

(2) Has a physical or mental impairment 
that substantively limits one or more major 
life activities only as a result of the atti-
tudes of others toward such impairment; or 

(3) Has one of the impairments defined in 
paragraph 2 a (1) and 2 a (2) of this definition 
but is treated by another person as having 
such an impairment. 

LH. Means Farm labor housing loans and/ 
or grants. 

Limited equity. The amount of funds which 
have accumulated in the cooperative mem-
ber’s patronage capital account and as fur-
ther described in subpart E of part 1944 of 
this chapter. 

Low-income household. A household having 
an adjusted annual income not exceeding the 
maximum low-income limit stated in Appen-
dix 9 of HB–1–3550 (available in any Rural De-
velopment office) which is periodically up-
dated. 

Management agent. The firm or individual 
engaged by the borrower and charged with 
the responsibility to manage the project in 
accordance with a written agreement. 
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Management agreement. The written agree-
ment between the borrower and management 
agent setting forth the management agent’s 
responsibilities and fees for management 
services. 

Management fee. The compensation for pro-
viding overall management services for a 
Multiple Family Housing (MFH) project as 
described in the management plan. The fee is 
compensation for the time, expertise, and 
knowledge required to direct and oversee the 
present and future operation of the project. 
A management fee does not include the com-
pensation paid to a site manager. 

Management plan. The primary manage-
ment charter constituting a comprehensive 
description of the detailed policies and pro-
cedures to be followed in managing a project. 

Management reserve. That portion of the co-
operative occupancy charge which is des-
ignated for payment of professional manage-
ment services. 

Member/comember. A person(s) who has exe-
cuted documents pertaining to a cooperative 
housing type of living arrangement and has 
committed himself/herself to upholding the 
cooperative concept. 

Migrant. A domestic farm laborer who 
works in any given local area on a seasonal 
basis and relocates his or her place of resi-
dence as farm work is obtained in other 
areas during the year. 

Minor. A person who is a Dependent of the 
tenant, cotenant, member or comember 
under 18 years of age. A dependent person 
age 18 or older who is a full-time student is 
treated as a minor. 

Moderate-income household. A household 
having an adjusted annual income within the 
maximum moderate-income limit stated in 
Appendix 9 of HB–1–3550 (available in any 
Rural Development office). 

Net family assets. 
1 Net family assets include cash on hand 

and the value of savings, certificates of de-
posit, and dollars in checking accounts re-
ported as ‘‘cash on hand.’’ It will be such 
amounts reported on the day of third party 
verification. This definition also includes the 
net cash value of real property, cash value of 
whole life insurance policies, IRAs, market 
value of bonds and other forms of capital, or 
personal property held as investments, irre-
spective of location, minus debts against 
them, minus cost of converting such assets 
to cash. Examples of conversion costs are 
penalties for early withdrawal, broker/legal 
fees assessed to sell an asset, and settlement 
costs for real estate transactions. 

2 Net family assets also include the value 
of equity of any business or household assets 
disposed of by a member of the household for 
less than fair market value (including dis-
position in trust, but not in a foreclosure or 
bankruptcy sale) in excess of the consider-
ation received therefrom during the 2 years 
preceding the effective date of certification/ 

recertification. In the case of a disposition as 
part of a divorce settlement, the disposition 
shall not be considered to be for less than 
fair market value if the household member 
receives important consideration not meas-
urable in dollar terms. 

3 Income from net family assets which is 
included in annual income is determined as 
follows: 

a If net family assets equal $5,000 or less, 
annual income includes the actual income 
derived from the net family assets. 

b If net family assets exceed $5,000, an-
nual income includes the greater of: 

(1) Actual income derived from all net fam-
ily assets, or 

(2) A percentage of the cash value of such 
assets based on the Bank Passbook annual 
savings rate. 

4 Net family assets exclude: 
a Interests in Indian trust land. 
b The value of necessary items of personal 

property such as furniture and auto-
mobile(s), and the debts against them. 

c The assets that are a part of the busi-
ness, trade, or farming operation in the case 
of any member of the household who is ac-
tively engaged in such operation. 

d The value of a trust fund (i.e., for a 
minor or a legally incompetent household 
member) that has been established and the 
trust is not revocable by, or under the con-
trol of, any member of the household, so long 
as the fund continues to be held in trust. 

e A vehicle specially equipped for the 
handicapped. 

f Face value of life insurance policies. 
g A cooperative member’s patronage cap-

ital in the housing cooperative unit in which 
the family resides. 

h Prepaid funerary arrangements and ex-
penses. 

i Retirement funds not accessible for 
withdrawal by a household member. 

j Assets legally owned but not accessible 
or that accrue income to someone else. 

k Savings accounts of dependent minors 
when such accounts are under the minor’s 
social security number. 

New housing. Newly constructed or sub-
stantially rehabilitated RRH, RCH, or LH 
project financed by FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354. For new 
construction rental assistance (RA) pur-
poses, it further means before any units are 
occupied. 

Nonprofit corporation. A corporation which 
is organized and operated for purposes other 
than making gains or profits for the corpora-
tion or its members; is legally precluded 
from distributing to its members any gains 
or profits during its existence; and in the 
event of its dissolution, is legally bound to 
transfer its net assets to a nonprofit corpora-
tion of a similar type or to a public corpora-
tion which will operate the housing for the 
same or similar purposes. 
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Occupancy charge. The amount of money 
charged a cooperative member to cover his/ 
her proportionate share of the cooperative’s 
operating costs and cash requirements. 

Operational housing. A completed RRH, 
RCH, or LH project financed by FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
which has been opened for occupancy and has 
at least been partially occupied by tenants 
or members. 

Overage. The portion of a tenant’s or mem-
ber’s net contribution to shelter cost that 
exceeds basic rent. 

Pet. A commonly accepted domesticated 
household animal (i.e., dog, cat, bird, etc.) 
owned or kept by a tenant or member. 

Profit basis. Applies to an individual or or-
ganizational applicant who will operate the 
housing at rental rates low- and moderate- 
income nonelderly or nonhandicapped per-
sons, and/or elderly and persons with handi-
caps of any income can afford, where return 
on initial investment is not limited to a cer-
tain percentage per year. 

Project. A project is the total number of 
rental or cooperative housing units that are 
operated under one management plan with 
one loan agreement/resolution. 

RCH means Rural Cooperative Housing 
Loans. 

Rental agent. The individual responsible for 
the leasing of the units. If other than the 
borrower, this individual may be hired by 
the borrower or the management agent as 
specified in the management plan. 

Rental assistance (RA). RA, as used in this 
exhibit, is the portion of the approved shel-
ter cost paid by FmHA or its successor agen-
cy under Public Law 103–354 to compensate 
for the difference between the approved shel-
ter cost and the monthly tenant contribu-
tion as calculated according to paragraph IV 
of this exhibit. When the monthly gross ten-
ant contribution is less than the approved 
utility allowance which is billed directly to 
and paid by the tenant, the owner will pay 
the tenant that difference according to para-
graph IX A 2 of exhibit E of this subpart. RA 
used in cooperative housing will be cal-
culated in the same manner. 

Resident assistant. A person(s) residing in a 
tenant’s housing unit who is essential to the 
well-being and care of the person(s) who are 
elderly or have handicaps or disabilities re-
siding in the unit, but is not obligated for 
the person’s financial support and would not 
be living in the unit except to provide the 
needed support services. While the resident 
assistant may be a family member, the resi-
dent assistant may not be a dependent of the 
household for tax purposes and is not subject 
to the eligibility requirements of a tenant or 
member. A resident assistant is not a chore 
service worker. A resident assistant may 
function in any type of housing affected by 
this subpart. 

RHS means Rural Housing Site loans. 

RRH means Rural Rental Housing loans. 
Service agreement. A written agreement be-

tween the borrower and a service provider 
detailing the specific service to be provided, 
the cost of the service, and the length of 
time the service will be provided. 

Service plan. A written plan describing how 
services will be provided to a FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 fi-
nanced project. At a minimum, the plan 
must specify the services to be provided, the 
frequency of the services, who will provide 
the services, how tenants will be advised of 
the availability of services, and the staff 
needed to provide the services. 

Shelter cost. Consists of basic or note rate 
rent plus utility allowance when used. Basic 
or note rate rent must be shown on the 
project budget for the year and approved ac-
cording to paragraph XII of this exhibit. 
Utility allowances, when required, must be 
determined and approved according to part 
1944, subpart E, exhibit A –6, of this chapter. 
Any changes in rental rates or utility allow-
ances must be processed according to exhibit 
C of this subpart. The shelter cost in a coop-
erative housing project will consist of occu-
pancy charge plus utility allowance. 

Site manager. The individual employed by 
the borrower or the management agent who 
lives at or near the project site and is re-
sponsible for the day-to-day operations of 
the project. A site manager residing at the 
project site may also be referred to as a resi-
dent manager. A site manager is not an 
‘‘independent contractor.’’ 

Tenant contribution. The portion of the ap-
proved shelter cost paid by the tenant house-
hold (tenant rent). For tenants not receiving 
HUD Section 8, this amount will be cal-
culated according to Form FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 1944– 
8. For tenants receiving HUD Section 8, this 
will be the amount referred to on HUD Form 
50059, ‘‘Certification and Recertification of 
Tenant Eligibility,’’ (or other HUD approved 
Form), as family contribution. The propor-
tion of tenant income and adjusted income 
paid as the tenant contribution will vary ac-
cording to the type of subsidy provided to 
the household. 

Tenant/cotenant. A person(s) who has signed 
a lease and is, or will be, an occupant of a 
unit in an RRH or LH project. 

Utility allowance. A monetary allowance 
used by a tenant or member to pay the util-
ity cost portion of their total shelter cost 
when such amounts are not otherwise in-
cluded in project rents or occupancy charges. 

Very low-income household. A household 
having an adjusted annual income within the 
maximum very low-income limit stated in 
Appendix 9 of HB–1–3550 (available in any 
Rural Development office). 

III Borrower Responsibilities: 
A General. All borrowers are responsible 

for: 
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1 Understanding the distinction between 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 supervised credit and the credit 
provided by other Federal, State, or conven-
tional loans. 

2 Meeting the objectives for which the 
loan and/or grant was made and complying 
with the respective program requirements. 

3 Understanding the unique characteris-
tics and function of their particular type of 
borrower entity as provided by charter, arti-
cles of incorporation, by-laws, and/or stat-
ute. 

4 Assuring that a site manager or contact 
person is in close proximity to their MFH 
project. 

5 Complying with the provisions of their 
security instruments and any directive 
issued by FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354. 

6 Following the approved management 
plan and reporting to FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 any changes 
to the management plan for prior consent, 
and when appropriate, reporting and obtain-
ing FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 prior consent to any 
change of management agent. 

B Borrowers without a loan agreement. Un-
less otherwise specified, these borrowers are 
exempt from the requirements of this sub-
part, except for exhibit C of this subpart, as 
long as the borrower is not in default of any 
program requirement, security instrument, 
payment, or any other agreement with 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354. However, except for LH bor-
rowers not charging for on-farm labor hous-
ing, these borrowers must provide evidence 
of tenant eligibility. 

C Borrowers with a loan and/or grant agree-
ment in a multiple unit project. These bor-
rowers are responsible for meeting the re-
quirements and conditions of their agree-
ment/resolution and the requirements of this 
subpart. 

D Borrowers with governing bodies. The 
elected or appointed officials comprising the 
governing body of the borrower are respon-
sible for: 

1 Maintaining records of all current mem-
bers and maintaining membership at the re-
quired level. 

2 Holding meetings as required by the or-
ganizational documents, and as otherwise 
necessary, to provide proper control and 
management of its operations, and to keep 
the membership informed. 

3 Coordinating and monitoring activities 
of established cooperative committees. 

E Borrowers with a membership. Members 
of a membership type borrower are respon-
sible for full support of the project and oper-
ation by: 

1 Promptly paying any dues, fees, and 
other required charges. 

2 Electing responsible officials. 

3 Complying with organization rules and 
regulations. 

4 Participating in annual and special 
meetings. 

5 Participating in established cooperative 
committees to which they have voluntarily 
accepted assignment. 

6 Carrying out duties and services nec-
essary to maintain the cooperative property 
for which they have voluntarily accepted as-
signment. 

F Delegation of responsibility and authority. 
The borrower may delegate or assign man-
agement responsibilities to a property man-
ager such as a management agent, a site 
manager, or as appropriate, a caretaker. Del-
egations or assignments of duties and re-
sponsibility will be included in written docu-
ments such as management agreements and 
job descriptions. FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 will hold 
the borrower ultimately responsible for man-
agement of the project. FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 may 
require a borrower to change the plan of 
project management and/or make appro-
priate redelegations of project management 
responsibility to achieve program objectives. 

IV Rent Subsidy Opportunities: The avail-
able subsidy programs should be considered 
at the time of developing a project proposal 
and during project operation as they may be 
available to meet the tenants’ needs. Con-
gregate type services such as meals, limited 
homecare, medical, transportation, and so-
cial activities are not included in these sub-
sidy programs. The subsidy programs are as 
follows: 

A FmHA or its successor agency under Pub-
lic Law 103–354 Interest Credit—RRH and RCH 
Loans. Regulations are contained in exhibit 
H to this subpart and include: 

1 Plan I—Only those borrowers who re-
ceived this type of interest subsidy prior to 
October 27, 1980, may continue to utilize this 
Interest Credit Plan. Those broadly-based 
nonprofit corporations and consumer co-
operatives may continue operating under 
this plan provided: 

a Occupancy is limited to very-low or 
low-income non-elderly; very low-, low- and 
moderate-income person(s) who are elderly 
or have disabilities or handicaps. 

b Budgets and rental rates are based on a 
3 percent loan amortization. 

2 Plan II—This interest subsidy is avail-
able to broadly-based nonprofit corporations, 
consumer cooperatives, State or local public 
agencies, or to other organizations and indi-
viduals operating on a limited profit basis. 

a Occupancy is limited to very-low, low- 
and moderate-income persons except as 
noted in paragraph VI D 2 i of this exhibit. 

b Budgets are prepared showing two rent-
al or occupancy charge rates, basic and note 
rate. The minimum (basic) rate for persons 
not receiving rental assistance is based on a 
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1 percent subsidized rate. The maximum note 
rate is based on the loan amortized at the in-
terest rate shown in the promissory note. 

c Tenant’s or member’s contribution for 
shelter cost, calculated according to the FMI 
for Form FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 1944–8, may not ex-
ceed the highest of: 

(1) Thirty percent of monthly adjusted in-
come, or 

(2) Ten percent of gross monthly income, 
or 

(3) If the household is receiving payment 
for public assistance from a public agency, 
the portion of such payments which is spe-
cifically designated by that agency to meet 
the household’s shelter costs (see example in 
1k of the definition of annual income in 
paragraph II of this exhibit), or 

(4) The basic rent or occupancy charge 
when no RA is available from FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354. 

d RRH borrowers whose loans were ap-
proved on or after August 1, 1968, may con-
vert from Plan I to Plan II. When they are 
presently a full profit operation, they may 
convert to Plan II by executing a new or 
amended loan resolution or loan agreement 
and an interest credit and RA agreement ac-
cording to exhibit H of this subpart. 

e RRH borrowers with Plan I Section 8 in-
terest credit agreements may change to Plan 
II when the 1 percent or 2 percent interest 
reduction is insufficient for the HUD con-
tract rent to meet budgeting needs. The 
change of interest credit plan will be ap-
proved in accordance with paragraph VII B 
of exhibit C of this subpart (available at any 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 office). A new Form FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
1944–7, ‘‘Multiple Family Housing Interest 
Credit and Rental Assistance Agreement,’’ is 
required. 

B Rental assistance (RA) program—FmHA or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103–354. 
This is a subsidy program available to RRH, 
RCH, and LH borrowers to assist very-low 
and low-income tenants and members in pay-
ing their shelter cost. RA is not authorized 
for tenants or members whose adjusted in-
come is initially above the low-income level. 
RA is not available to LH borrowers who are 
individual farmowners, partnerships, family 
corporations, or an association of farmers. 
RRH borrowers with loans approved on or 
after August 1, 1968, must be operating 
under, or change to, Interest Credit Plan II 
to receive RA. Full profit borrowers may uti-
lize RA by converting to a limited profit op-
eration. The provisions of the RA program 
are covered in detail in exhibit E of this sub-
part. 

C HUD project based Section 8 and tenant 
based Section 8 Rental Certificate or Rental 
Voucher Program. These subsidy programs are 
administered by HUD or others authorized to 

administer the program such as State Hous-
ing Finance Agencies or the local public 
housing agency. Projects operating under 
the Memorandum of Understanding between 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 and HUD (available at the FmHA 
or its successor agency under Public Law 
103–354 National Office, Washington, DC 
20250) will also be subject to the require-
ments of the Housing Assistance Payments 
Contract executed by the borrower. Projects 
accepting tenants utilizing Section 8 rental 
certificates or rental voucher assistance as-
signed by a local public housing agency will 
also comply with any requirements imposed 
by such agency. However, in all cases, ten-
ants receiving section 8 assistance must 
meet the eligibility requirements specified 
in paragraph VI D of this exhibit. Require-
ments that conflict with FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 re-
quirements should be referred to the Serv-
icing Official for guidance. (Generally, the 
most restrictive HUD or FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 re-
quirements or limitations will apply.) 

D State provided subsidy. This is a subsidy 
program provided and funded by some States 
and available to RRH borrowers to assist 
tenants on approximately the same basis as 
the FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 RA Program. The assist-
ance is in accordance with a CONTRACT be-
tween the borrower and the State and con-
curred in by FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354. 

E Privately provided subsidy. This is a sub-
sidy program whereby the project owner(s) 
or others enter into an Agreement with 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 to provide and fund subsidy to 
tenants of the project on approximately the 
same basis as the FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 RA Pro-
gram. In some instances, the agreement may 
include a limit on the number of units and a 
Per Unit Ceiling on the amount of assist-
ance. Privately provided subsidies are typi-
cally referred to as private rental assistance. 

V Management Operations: 
A Management plan. 
1 A comprehensive management program 

is essential to the successful operation of a 
project. A written plan is the primary ingre-
dient which should describe the detailed ob-
jectives, policies and procedures in managing 
the project. A management plan is required 
to be submitted to the Agency for all 
projects, new and existing, except for those 
on-farm LH units where rent is not required. 
The plan should be developed in detail com-
mensurate to project size and complexity 
and should be reviewed annually and updated 
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at least triennially by the borrower. To re-
flect project needs and to meet current pro-
gram objectives, use of an addendum is per-
mitted when few changes are made in the up-
date of the plan. Exhibit B–1 of this subpart 
outlines the requirements of the plan. 

2 In the case of congregate housing/group 
homes, the management plan should de-
scribe, in addition to the preceding general 
items, the specific items in paragraph V B of 
exhibit J of this subpart. 

B Identity of interest disclosure. 
1 General principles. FmHA or its suc-

cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 re-
quires that applicants/borrowers and/or man-
agement agents describe and fully justify 
any identity of interest, or appearance of 
same, that exists or will exist between the 
borrower, management agent, suppliers of 
materials and/or services, or vendors in any 
combination of relationship. Identity of in-
terest will be construed as existing between 
the applicant/borrower and/or management 
entity and suppliers of materials and/or serv-
ices described under but not limited to any 
of the following conditions: 

a When there is any financial interest be-
tween the applicant/borrower and/or manage-
ment entity and the supplying entity. 

b When one or more of the officers, direc-
tors, stockholders or partners of the appli-
cant/borrower or management entity is also 
an officer, director, stockholder, or partner 
of the supplying entity. 

c When any officer, director, stockholder, 
or partner of the applicant/borrower and/or 
management entity has any financial inter-
est whatsoever in the supplying entity. 

d When the supplying entity advances 
any funds to the applicant/borrower and/or 
management entity. 

e When the supplying entity provides and 
pays on behalf of the applicant/borrower and/ 
or management entity the cost of any mate-
rials and/or services in connection with obli-
gations under the management plan/manage-
ment agreement. 

f When the supplying entity takes stock 
or any interest in the applicant/borrower 
and/or management entity as part of the 
consideration to be paid them. 

g When there exist or come into being 
any side deals, agreements, contracts or un-
derstandings entered into thereby altering, 
amending, or cancelling any of the manage-
ment plan/management agreement docu-
ments, except as approved by FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354. 

2 Any individual or organization sharing 
an identity of interest for the project must 
certify by memorandum that it is a viable, 
ongoing trade or business qualified and prop-
erly licensed to undertake the work for 
which it intends to contract. 

a FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 Forms 1944–30, ‘‘Identity 
of Interest (IOI) Disclosure Certificate,’’ and 

FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 1944–31, ‘‘Identity of Interest 
(IOI) Qualification Form,’’ (available in any 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 Servicing office) will be com-
pleted and submitted as part of the manage-
ment plan. Management agents will sign ei-
ther form as ‘‘applicant.’’ 

b The initial disclosure shall be in effect 
for a period of 3 years and renewed every 3 
years thereafter, except if there are any 
changes in the business practices of the ap-
plicant/borrower and/or management entity 
during the interim years that include iden-
tity of interest concerns, the entity must file 
amended Forms FmHA or its successor agen-
cy under Public Law 103–354 1944–30 and 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 1944–31. 

c The forms provide notification to the 
entities of the penalty, under law, for erro-
neously certifying to the statements con-
tained therein. 

d Debarment actions will be instituted 
against entities who fail to disclose an iden-
tity of interest in accordance with the provi-
sions of subpart M of part 1940 of this chapter 
(available in any FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 office). 

C Management agreement. The manage-
ment agreement is the primary document by 
which the management agent is guided, eval-
uated, and compensated. It bears a close re-
lationship to the management plan. A man-
agement agreement is required except in 
cases where the borrower (owner) fills the 
role of manager. Requirements of a manage-
ment agreement are listed in exhibit B–2 of 
this subpart. Exhibit B–3 of this subpart is a 
sample management agreement. The two 
types of agreements acceptable to FmHA or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354 are described as follows: 

1 The owner hires a professional manage-
ment agent to oversee and operate the 
project. The management agent may provide 
a site manager for on-site management and/ 
or caretaker when justified by the size of the 
project. A qualifications statement by the 
management agent is required by the bor-
rower and FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354. Exhibit B–4 of this 
subpart provides a guideline for preparing 
the statement. 

2 The owner maintains all or a part of the 
management role. The owner may use the 
services of a site manager in providing onsite 
management and/or services of a caretaker 
when justified by the size of the project. 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 requires a qualifications state-
ment by the owner who proposes to person-
ally provide the management to determine 
management capability. Exhibit B–5 of this 
subpart provides a guideline for preparing 
the statement. 
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D Responsibility. The management plan 
and management agreement must be based 
on applicable provisions of local, State, and 
Federal statutes and the regulatory require-
ments of the loan used to finance the 
project, regardless of the management sys-
tem used. The owner remains totally respon-
sible to FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 for the project, regardless 
of the authority delegated by the owner to 
the management agent. 

E Compensation for project administration. 
1 General principles. Compensation for 

project administration is the remuneration 
for performance of administrative duties and 
responsibilities by those selected by the 
owner and approved by the Agency as having 
sufficient background and experience to 
manage project operations. The administra-
tive duties and responsibilities must be set 
out in the management plan along with the 
manner in which compensation will be deter-
mined. It is the option of the project owners 
to determine whether to use a management 
agent to carry out project administrative 
functions in full or in agent to carry out 
project administrative functions in full or in 
part. Should a management agent be used, it 
is the option of the owner to decide which 
duties the management agent will perform 
and which duties will be performed by oth-
ers. Whenever the owner chooses to use a 
management agent, a management agree-
ment must be used. The management agree-
ment must describe the duties and com-
pensation for the services provided by the 
management agent. Any other duties and 
compensation for project administration not 
covered in by the management agreement, 
may also be considered as project expendi-
tures. All project administrative expendi-
tures must be evaluated by the Agency as 
being reasonable for the services provided, 
including the reasonableness of the expendi-
tures for management agent services. 

2 Review of administrative expenses. The 
Agency is responsible for determining that 
project administrative expenses are reason-
able for the services performed in admin-
istering project operations in an acceptable 
manner. Therefore, the Agency may use data 
from FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 projects or other sources 
for use in making this determination. The 
Agency may establish guidelines for admin-
istrative expenses for use within a State or 
area. Administrative expenses falling within 
such guidelines for services typically per-
formed under the guidelines may expect ex-
peditious action on requests for budget ap-
proval. Administrative expenses falling out-
side of such guidelines for services typically 
performed under the guidelines may also 
warrant approval when justified. The man-
agement agent or owner will be primarily re-
sponsible for providing evidence that such 
fees are reasonable for the services per-

formed when the administrative expenses are 
falling outside of any established guidelines. 

3 Review of management fees. The Agency 
is responsible for determining that the fees 
paid for services performed by management 
agents are reasonable. Therefore, the Agency 
may use data from FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 projects or 
other sources for use in determining what 
fees are reasonable for the services per-
formed in an acceptable manner by manage-
ment agents. The Agency may establish 
guidelines for management fees for use with-
in a State or area. Management fees falling 
within such guidelines for services typically 
performed under the guidelines may expect 
expeditious action on requests for approval 
of management agreements and budgets. 
Management fees falling outside of those 
guidelines may also warrant approval when 
justified. The management agent or owner 
will be primarily responsible for providing 
evidence that such fees are reasonable for 
the services performed when management 
fees are falling outside of any established 
guidelines. Whenever disputes arise as to 
whether an administrative expense is appro-
priate for listing under the management fee, 
or as to some other project expense, the 
Agency will seek to mutually resolve such 
concerns. This will be done by using the ap-
proved management agreement or manage-
ment plan to determine which services are 
being performed by the management agent. 

4 Project administrative expenses. 
a Acceptable administrative expenses. Those 

administrative expenses necessary to suc-
cessfully carry out project operations may 
be approved provided such expenses do not 
duplicate any such expenses which may be 
included in the management fee as specified 
in the approved management agreement. The 
instructions that accompany Form FmHA or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354 1930–7, ‘‘Multiple Family Housing Project 
Budget,’’ provide further guidance on accept-
able project administrative expenses. Prepa-
ration of an IRS required report for the 
project, if required (e.g., Schedule K–1 (IRS 
Form 1065), ‘‘Partner’s Share of Income, 
Credits, Deductions, etc.’’ is an acceptable 
project expense.) 

b Unacceptable administrative expenses. 
Those administrative expenses not necessary 
to successfully carry out project operations 
may be denied. Preparation of income tax re-
turns for project owners are unacceptable 
project expenses. 

5 Projects with a management agent. When 
management agents are used, the duties and 
compensation of the management agent 
must be set out in a management agreement. 
All such agreements are subject to Agency 
review and concurrence. The amount of com-
pensation for the services rendered is to be 
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negotiated between the owner and the man-
agement agent but is subject to Agency con-
currence with the management agreement 
and approval in the project budget. 

6 Owner-managed projects. The owner will 
be authorized to manage the rental project 
only when FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 determines in writ-
ing that the owner (either as the individual 
borrower or as a part of an organizational 
borrower) has the necessary management ca-
pabilities. 

a Projects with owners with identity-of- 
interest relationships to the management 
agent will not be considered as an owner 
managed project. A typical management fee 
may be charged as an expense to the project. 
The compensation must be according to the 
provisions of paragraph V E of this exhibit 
and be reasonable, earned, and not exceed 
the normal cost of similar services, had such 
services been provided by an independent 
management agent. 

b Since cooperatives are to be organized 
as self-managed entities, the board of direc-
tors is not expected to have management ex-
perience. In lieu of this experience, the ad-
viser to the board will provide management 
guidance during the formative years of the 
cooperative. Under the adviser’s direction, 
the cooperative will become accustomed to 
this role and thus gain the ability to assume 
management responsibilities. If, after the re-
quired trial period outlined in subpart E of 
part 1944 of this chapter, the cooperative’s 
board is unable to assume management re-
sponsibilities, professional management will 
be hired by the cooperative. We would expect 
the amount of compensation paid to a coop-
erative adviser to be less than that paid to 
other types of management agents in order 
to provide the members with some equity in 
the early years. (See subpart E of part 1944 of 
this chapter). 

7 Initial rent-up fees. Payment of fees for a 
one-time effort to achieve initial rent-up of 
a newly constructed rental project is per-
mitted when it is determined necessary and 
documented by the FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 loan ap-
proval official and the loan applicant. Rent- 
up fees should be paid on a per-unit basis 
only after each unit has been occupied by the 
initial tenant. Payment of the rent-up fee 
and other project management start-up ex-
penses should generally be made from the 2 
percent initial operation and maintenance 
fund. A person or firm, preferably the man-
agement agency, may be compensated at a 
rate negotiated with the applicant/borrower 
that represents reasonable compensation for 
the incurred marketing cost and project 
management start-up expenses. 

F Site manager and/or caretaker services. 
The borrower is responsible for describing 
the plan for site management in the manage-
ment plan. The plan needs to identify wheth-

er the site manager will occupy one of the 
project units as a revenue producing unit or 
as a rent free unit, or will live away from the 
project. The on-site services of a site man-
ager and/or caretaker may be used when jus-
tified by the size, composition, and location 
of a project, whether the project is managed 
by a management agent or by the owner. 
There should be a written agreement be-
tween the owner or the management agent 
and the site manager to define the role and 
duties and compensation for the site man-
ager and to provide a basis for evaluating the 
site manager’s performance. FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
may require an on-site resident manager 
and/or caretaker to assure that the loan ob-
jectives are met and/or to protect the ten-
ant’s or Government’s interests. It is not 
mandatory that the site manager and/or 
caretaker meet tenant occupancy eligibility 
requirements. However, if management con-
siders the occupied unit to be a rental unit, 
the rent paid will be determined according to 
the site manager’s/caretaker’s income. 

1 Calculation of rental rate for site manager 
or caretaker. The expense of providing the 
unit occupied by the site manager or care-
taker will be included in the project budget 
the same as the expense for other nonrev-
enue producing portions of the project such 
as a laundry or community room. The rental 
rate will be determined as follows: 

a When used as a revenue producing unit 
at approved rental rates, the salary paid to 
the site manager and/or caretaker will be in-
cluded in the project operation and mainte-
nance expenses. The same amount will be in-
cluded in the annual income of the site man-
ager and/or caretaker. The site manager and/ 
or caretaker may be an eligible or ineligible 
tenant and their rent contribution will be 
based on their total income from all sources 
as shown on the tenant certification form. 

b When the unit is used as a nonrevenue 
producing unit, the project cost of providing 
the unit will be treated the same as those of 
other nonrevenue producing portions of the 
project. Project rental rates will be estab-
lished as if the unit did not exist as living 
quarters. Debt payment will be as if the unit 
were rented at basic rent. A tenant certifi-
cation form will not be prepared for this sit-
uation. 

2 Owner occupancy. With the prior ap-
proval of the State Director, owners may oc-
cupy a unit in the project when the owner 
will manage the project rather than hiring a 
management agent or a site manager. The 
size, composition, and location of the project 
must justify the services of a site manager 
or caretaker, and the State Director must 
determine the owner is capable of per-
forming these services. The rental rate will 
be included as described in paragraph V F 1 
of this exhibit. 
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G Projects without a site manager and/or 
caretaker. Projects without a site manager 
and/or caretaker must have, at a minimum, 
a tenant who will serve as a contact person 
or have a person who is easily accessible to 
the project who is able to represent the 
project manager or owner on maintenance 
and management matters. 

H Supplemental services. Supplemental 
services include laundry, vending machine, 
commissary store, pay telephones, or similar 
tenant benefit services. 

1 Borrower provided supplemental services. 
a Income from supplemental services and/ 

or equipment and expense of acquisition and 
replacement cost shall be planned and re-
corded as part of the annual operating budg-
et. 

b Failure to account for all proceeds is a 
fraudulent act. 

2 Consignor provide supplemental services. 
a A written contact between the borrower 

and consignor is required. The contract 
terms should follow ‘‘industry’’ standards for 
the type of service. 

b Comparability in all respects to conven-
tional supplemental services contracts shall 
govern contract with identity of interest be-
tween the contracting parties. 

c The borrower’s share of income will be 
shown as planned and actual income in the 
project operating budget. 

d Failure by the contractual parties to 
account for all proceeds is a fraudulent act. 

VI Renting Procedure: 
A General. Preparations for initial rent- 

up, occupancy and maintenance should begin 
at least 90 to 120 days ahead of the projected 
completion date of the project as described 
in § 1944.235 of subpart E of part 1944 of this 
chapter. This procedure will include a 
prerent-up conference between the FmHA or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354 Serving Official, the borrower, and the 
person(s) responsible for project manage-
ment. Decisions to be made concern the ad-
vertisement of available units, affirmative 
marketing practices, tenant eligibility, and 
tenant selection criteria. It is important 
that this conference precede active mar-
keting and the receipt of tenant applica-
tions. 

B Accommodations in communication. 
1 The borrower shall take appropriate 

steps to ensure effective communication 
with applicants, tenants, members, and 
members of the public with handicaps and 
disabilities. 

a The borrower shall furnish appropriate 
auxiliary aids (electronic, mechanical, or 
personal assistance) where necessary to af-
ford an individual with handicaps or disabil-
ities an equal opportunity to participate in 
and enjoy the benefits of a MFH project re-
ceiving FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 financial assistance. 

(1) In determining what auxiliary aids are 
necessary, the borrower shall give primary 
consideration to the requests of an indi-
vidual with handicaps or disabilities. 

(2) The borrower is not required to pro-
vide individually prescribed devices, readers 
for personal use or study, or other devices of 
a personal nature. 

b Where a borrower communicates with 
applicants and tenants or members by tele-
phone, telecommunication devices for deaf 
persons (TDD’s) or equally effective commu-
nication systems shall be available for use. 

2 The borrower shall adopt and imple-
ment procedures to ensure that interested 
persons (including persons with impaired vi-
sion or hearing) can obtain information con-
cerning the existence and location of acces-
sible services, activities, and facilities in the 
project and community. 

3 This paragraph does not require a bor-
rower to take any action that the borrower 
can demonstrate would result in a funda-
mental alteration in the nature of the 
project or operation or an undue financial 
and administrative burden. If an action 
would result in such undue alteration or bur-
den, the borrower shall take any other ac-
tion that would otherwise ensure that, to the 
maximum extent possible, individuals with 
handicaps or disabilities receive the benefits 
and services of the project. 

C Affirmative Fair Housing Marketing Plan. 
All borrowers with five or more rental units 
must meet the requirements of § 1901.203(c) of 
subpart E of part 1901 of this chapter by pre-
paring and submitting HUD Form 935.2, ‘‘Af-
firmative Fair Housing Marketing (AFHM) 
Plan.’’ Records must be maintained by the 
borrower reflecting efforts to fulfill the plan 
and will be reviewed by FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 and 
updated by the borrower during compliance 
reviews for title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 
1964. The approved plan will be posted by the 
borrower for public inspection at the borrower’s 
project site, rental office, or at any other loca-
tion where tenant applications are received for 
the project. In developing the plan, the fol-
lowing items should be considered: 

1 Direction of marketing activities. The plan 
should be designed to attract applications 
for occupancy from all potentially eligible 
groups of people in the housing marketing 
area regardless of race, color, religion, sex, 
age, familial status, national origin, or hand-
icap. The plan must show which efforts will 
be made to reach very low-income or low-in-
come groups who traditionally would least 
likely be expected to apply for such housing 
without special outreach efforts. 

2 Marketing program. The applicant or bor-
rower should determine which methods of 
marketing such as radio, newspaper, TV, 
signs, etc., are best suited to reach those 
very low-income or low-income groups who 
are least likely to apply for occupancy in the 
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project. Marketing should not totally rely on 
‘‘word of mouth’’ advertising. Appropriate 
social agencies and networks should be con-
tacted to assist in reaching elderly (senior 
citizens), persons with handicaps, etc. 

a Advertising. 
(1) Frequency. The borrower should adver-

tise availability of housing units in advance 
of their availability to allow time to receive 
and process applications, determine eligi-
bility, and arrange for move-in of tenants or 
members in a smooth flow of project oper-
ation. Advertising by newsprint or electronic 
media should occur at least annually to pro-
mote project visibility, even if there is an 
adequate waiting list. 

(2) Posters, brochures, etc. Any radio, TV, or 
newspaper advertisement, pamphlets, or bro-
chures used must identify the project’s hand-
icap accessibility and contain the appro-
priate fair housing logotype or the equal 
housing opportunity slogan. A copy of this 
proposed material is to be submitted along 
with the HUD Form 935.2 for approval. The 
nondiscrimination poster entitled ‘‘And Jus-
tice For All,’’ the ‘‘Fair Housing’’ poster and 
the tenant grievance and appeals procedure 
must be displayed in the rental office. If the 
rental office is not on site, the items must be 
displayed in a common conspicuous place on 
the site. 

b Signage. 
(1) Permanent project sign. A permanent 

sign identifying the project is required for 
all MFH projects approved on or after Sep-
tember 13, 1977. To meet minimum require-
ments for an existing or new project, the 
sign, subject to state or local code: 

(i) Must be located at the primary site en-
trance and be readable and recognizable from 
the roadside. 

(ii) Must be located near the site man-
ager’s (or contact person’s) office when the 
project has multiple sites. Portable signs 
will be placed where vacancies exist at other 
site locations of a ‘‘scattered’’ project. 

(iii) May be of any shape. 
(iv) For projects of 8 or more units, must 

have not less than 16 square feet of area. 
Smaller projects may have smaller signs. 

(v) Including its supports, must be made of 
durable material. 

(vi) Must include the project name. 
(vii) Must show rental contact information 

including but not limited to the project’s of-
fice location and a telephone number where 
applicant inquiries may be made. 

(viii) Must show the equal housing oppor-
tunity logotype (house symbol and slogan) as 
shown in exhibit B–11 of this subpart, OR the 
slogan ‘‘Equal Housing Opportunity’’ OR the 
statement ‘‘We are pledge to the letter and 
spirit of U.S. policy for the achievement of 
equal housing opportunity throughout the 
nation. We encourage and support an affirm-
ative advertising and marketing program in 
which there are no barriers to obtaining 

housing because of race, color, religion, sex, 
handicap, familial status, or national ori-
gin.’’ The logotype and/or slogan must be 
permanently affixed, clearly visible and 
should be at least equal to approximately 3 
to 5 percent of the sign area. 

(ix) May display the FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 logotype as 
shown in exhibit B–12 of this subpart. 

(2) Handicap accessibility signs. 
(i) Parking spaces. Accessible parking 

spaces shall be designated as reserved for the 
disabled by a sign showing the international 
symbol of accessibility (see exhibit B–13 of 
this subpart). The sign should be mounted on 
a post at a height readily visible from an oc-
cupied vehicle. In snow areas, the sign needs 
to be visible above piled snow. 

(ii) Handicap accessibility route. When the 
continuous unobstructed ingress/egress 
handicap accessibility route to a primary 
building entrance is other than the usual or 
obvious route, the alternate route for handi-
cap accessibility shall be clearly marked 
with handicap symbols and directional signs 
to aid a handicapped person’s ingress/egress 
to the building, through an accessible en-
trance, and to accessible common use and 
public and living areas. 

c Community contact. Community leaders 
and special interest groups such as commu-
nity, public interest, religious organizations, 
and organizations for the handicapped should 
be contacted in small communities without 
formal communication media aimed at the 
group or groups least likely to apply for 
available housing. Community contacts 
should also be used in reaching specific ele-
ments of the community such as the elderly 
or particular ethnic groups determined least 
likely to apply for the available housing. 

d Rental staff. All staff persons responsible 
for renting the units must have had training 
provided on Federal, State, and local fair 
housing laws and regulations and in the re-
quirements of fair housing marketing and in 
those actions necessary to carry out the 
marketing plan. Copies of instructions to the 
staff regarding fair housing must be attached 
to the AFHM plan according to the instruc-
tions for part 7 of HUD Form 935.2. 

3 Marketing records. The borrower will be 
required to develop and maintain a system 
to provide data to indicate to what extent 
the borrower is carrying out the objective of 
the AFHM plan. 

D Tenant eligibility and occupancy guide-
lines. The rental agent of the project must be 
knowledgeable about the FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 ten-
ant eligibility and occupancy requirements 
as they relate to a particular project. FmHA 
or its successor agency under Public Law 
103–354 loans require occupancy of the unit 
by eligible tenants. Except for migrant farm-
worker tenants in LH projects, tenant/appli-
cants must occupy the housing unit they 
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qualify for as their permanent residence on 
the provision they do/will not maintain a 
separate subsidized rental unit in a different 
location. 

1 Eligible tenants. The following tenant 
eligibility criteria will apply where appro-
priate, unless otherwise authorized such as 
in the case of LH as described in subpart D 
of part 1944 of this chapter. 

a To determine eligibility for occupancy, 
the applicant’s eligibility income must be as 
defined in paragraph II and include income 
from net family assets as defined in para-
graph II of this exhibit. 

b The adjusted annual income must meet 
the definition of very low-, low- or moderate- 
income as defined in paragraph II of this ex-
hibit as required for that specific project for 
applicant selection, tenant contribution, and 
continued occupancy. 

c To determine eligibility for continued 
occupancy, the tenant’s adjusted annual in-
come must be determined at least once every 
12 months. When the tenant’s adjusted an-
nual income exceeds the moderate-income 
limit established for the area in which the 
project is located, the tenant is no longer eli-
gible and will be required to vacate the 
project according to the terms of the lease 
and paragraph VI D 6 of this exhibit. Contin-
ued occupancy by cooperative members will 
not be affected by this income criteria. Coop-
erative members, after initial certification 
of income eligibility, may remain members 
regardless of income. 

d In RRH projects operating on a Plan I 
basis, tenants will: 

(1) Be a very low-, low-, or moderate-in-
come person who is elderly, or has handi-
caps, or disabilities, or 

(2) Be a very low or low-income nonelderly, 
nondisabled, or nonhandicapped person. 

e In RRH projects operating on a non-
profit or limited profit Plan II basis, tenants 
will be a very low-, low-, or moderate-income 
person regardless of age, disability, or handi-
capping condition. 

f In RRH projects operating on a full-prof-
it basis, tenants will: 

(1) Be a person of any income who is elder-
ly, or has handicaps, or disabilities, or 

(2) Be a very low-, low-, or moderate-in-
come nonelderly, nondisabled, or nonhandi-
capped person. 

g In LH projects designed and operated ei-
ther for year-round or seasonal occupancy, 
eligibility is established in subpart D of part 
1944 of this chapter. 

h Occupancy in RRH project units des-
ignated by FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 as: 

(1) Family housing may be occupied by any 
combination of elderly, disabled, or handi-
capped, and/or nonelderly, nondisabled, or 
nonhandicapped tenants including those ten-
ants with familial status. Marketing prior-

ities for this category should not exclude one 
group over another. 

(2) Elderly housing must be occupied by 
tenants who are elderly, disabled, and/or 
handicapped but not at the exclusion of chil-
dren if they are members of the ‘‘elderly’’ 
household, nor shall it be restricted exclu-
sively for use by tenants who are disabled 
and/or handicapped. 

(3) Housing which consists of specific units 
in a project designated as family housing and 
other units designated as elderly housing 
units should be governed by paragraphs VI D 
1 h (1) and (2) of this exhibit. 

(4) Congregate housing and group homes 
shall be occupied by persons described in the 
definitions for congregate housing and group 
home, respectively in paragraph II of this ex-
hibit. 

i Tenant of member independence. 
(1) RRH, RCH, and LH housing. It shall be 

a tenant’s or member’s responsibility to de-
termine the ability to meet the legitimate 
and uniformly applied requirements of ten-
ancy, thus assuming risk and responsibility 
of living within and upon the project prem-
ises. It shall be the owner’s or representa-
tive’s responsibility to respond to requests 
for what reasonable accommodations the 
tenant or member may need, otherwise the 
owner or its representative MAY NOT under 
possible penalty prescribed by Pub. Law No. 
100–430, 102 stat. 1619 (1988) codified at 42 
U.S.C. 3601 et seq: 

(i) Judge whether individuals with handi-
cap or disability are capable of independent 
living. 

(ii) Require a physical examination as a 
condition for tenant or member selection. 

(iii) Impose conditional leases requiring in-
dividuals with handicaps or disabilities to 
participate in supportive services. 

(2) Congregate and group home housing and 
housing with handicap unit(s). Because the 
purpose of such housing is to provide specific 
supportive services to individuals, it is per-
missible for the owner or its representative 
to inquire only to the extent necessary in 
the case of congregate housing whether the 
project offers the services wanted by the in-
dividual and in the case of group home hous-
ing, whether the individual has a handicap or 
disability that would qualify the individual 
to occupy, or continue to occupy the hous-
ing. 

(3) Legal capacity. Tenants or members in 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 financed MFH projects must pos-
sess the legal capacity to enter into a lease 
agreement, except where a legal guardian 
(an individual) may sign when the tenant or 
member is otherwise eligible and is a tenant 
residing in a group housing project. 

j For LH projects and units in RRH 
projects specifically designed and designated 
for the elderly, disabled, and/or handicapped 
as defined by FmHA or its successor agency 
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under Public Law 103–354, occupancy is lim-
ited solely to those meeting the eligibility 
requirements for the specific type of project 
(i.e., domestic farm laborers, elderly, dis-
abled, and/or handicapped). Eligible occu-
pants in these projects may also include 
other persons who are usually household 
members of the families of the domestic 
farm laborer, or persons who are elderly, or 
have disabilities, or handicaps. Resident as-
sistants or chore workers will not be consid-
ered members of the tenant’s household. 

k A student or other seemingly tem-
porary resident of the community who is 
otherwise eligible and seeks occupancy in an 
RRH or RCH project may be considered an 
eligible tenant when all of the following con-
ditions are met: 

(1) Is either of legal age in accordance 
with applicable State law or is otherwise le-
gally able to enter into a binding contract 
under State law. 

(2) The person seeking occupancy has es-
tablished a household separate and distinct 
from the person’s parents or legal guardians. 

(3) The persons seeking occupancy is no 
longer claimed as a dependent by the per-
son’s parents or legal guardians pursuant to 
Internal Revenue Service regulations, and 
evidence is provided to this effect. 

(4) The person seeking occupancy signs a 
written statement indicating whether or not 
the person’s parents, legal guardians, or oth-
ers provide any financial assistance and such 
financial assistance is considered as part of 
current annual income and is verified in 
writing by the borrower. 

l A domestic farm laborer may continue 
occupancy of an LH project after retirement 
(having reached age 55) or after becoming 
disabled [(determined to have an impairment 
which is expected to be of long-continued 
and indefinite duration and substantially im-
pedes the person’s ability to earn a liveli-
hood from farm labor (as certified by a li-
censed physician)]. 

m A tenant who does not personally re-
side in a rental unit for a period exceeding 60 
consecutive days, for reasons other than 
health or emergency, is considered ineligible 
for subsidy and shall be required to pay note 
rate rent in Plan II projects or 125 percent of 
rent in Plan I projects for the period of ab-
sence exceeding 60 consecutive days. 

(1) If the tenant continues to be absent 
from the unit, the borrower must notify the 
tenant by certified mail at least 30 days 
prior to the end of the leasing period, to oc-
cupy the living unit by the end of the lease 
period or the borrower will start termination 
proceedings. 

(2) In those cases where the tenant’s lease 
does not contain the lease clause in para-
graph VIII B 4 c of this exhibit, the tenant 
will be advised that the lease will not be re-
newed, unless replaced with a lease meeting 
current requirements. 

2 Occupancy policy and guidelines. 
a Objective. The objective of the occu-

pancy policy and guidelines in FMHA fi-
nanced projects is to achieve utilization of 
subsidized space without overcrowding or 
providing more space than is needed by the 
number of people in the household. 

b Policy. 
(1) FmHA or its successor agency under 

Public Law 103–354 does not specify the num-
ber of persons who may live in MFH housing 
units of various sizes. 

(2) The borrower must set reasonable oc-
cupancy standards which will assist as many 
people as possible without overcrowding the 
unit or the project and which will minimize 
vacancies. 

(3) In setting the occupancy standards, 
the borrower must comply with all reason-
able State and local health and safety re-
strictions regarding the maximum number of 
occupants permitted to occupy a dwelling. In 
the absence of State or local health safety 
restrictions, overcrowding shall occur when 
the TOTAL occupancy level in a housing 
unit exceeds 2 people per habitable sleeping 
room, except that an additional person(s) 
may be allowed when a habitable sleeping 
room provides at least 50 square feet per per-
son. A habitable sleeping room shall not in-
clude a kitchen, bathroom, hallway, or din-
ing area. 

(4) In placing families on waiting lists and 
in assigning families to MFH housing, a bor-
rower should allow families to choose wheth-
er to opt for larger or smaller units to per-
mit families to occupy units of sufficient 
size, so that persons of opposite sex (other 
than spouses) or persons of same sex, persons 
of different or same generation, and unre-
lated or related adults may have separate 
bedrooms according to the particular needs 
of the family. 

(5) Borrowers may have different standards 
for different projects but such standards 
must not result in or perpetuate patterns of 
occupancy which would be inconsistent with 
title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 or the 
Fair Housing Act. 

(6) For the purpose of determining unit 
size, borrowers need to include, as members 
of the household: 

(i) All full-time members of the household. 
(ii) Dependent minors who are away at 

school but live with the family during school 
recesses. 

(iii) Dependent minors who are subject to a 
joint custody agreement but live in the unit 
at least 50 percent of the time. 

(iv) An unborn child or a child in the proc-
ess of being adopted by or granted custody of 
an adult. 

(v) A foster child residing in the unit, or a 
household child temporarily residing else-
where in foster care. 

(vi) A live-in attendant. 
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(7) Borrowers shall not provide bedroom 
space for others who are not members of the 
household such as adult children on active 
military duty, permanently institutionalized 
family members, or visitors. 

c Guidelines. These guidelines are de-
signed to assist the borrower in imple-
menting the occupancy policy into workable 
occupancy standards. The project occupancy 
standard should be available for review by 
applicant, tenant, member, and project rep-
resentative upon request. 

(1) In setting objective occupancy stand-
ards, the borrower should set the standards 
to permit the tenant to select the unit size 
they deem appropriate to their needs insofar 
as overcrowding by the household does not 
happen and underutilization of the unit does 
not occur. The occupancy standard selected 
should attempt to reflect ideal ranges of oc-
cupant density. In developing an ideal occu-
pancy standard, it should be based so that: 

(i) No more than two persons should be re-
quired to occupy a bedroom. 

(ii) Persons of different generations, per-
sons of the opposite sex (other than spouses), 
and unrelated adults should not be required to 
share a bedroom. 

(iii) Children of the same sex may share a 
bedroom. 

(iv) Children, with the possible exception 
of infants, should not be required to share a 
bedroom with persons of different genera-
tions, including their parents. 

(2) These guidelines should result in the 
following ideal range of persons per housing 
unit: 

No. of bedrooms 
Occupant density range 

minimum 

0 ................................................. 1 1 
1 ................................................. 1 2 
2 ................................................. 2 4 
3 ................................................. 3 6 
4 ................................................. 5 8 
5 ................................................. 7 10 

For example, if the borrower adopts these 
standards, households with three people gen-
erally should be accomodated in a two bed-
room unit and should not receive apartments 
with more than three bedrooms. Nor should 
such households be required to live in apart-
ments with fewer than two bedrooms. A 
household of three persons could be per-
mitted to live in an apartment with fewer 
than two bedrooms if the household so 
chooses, unless it would constitute over-
crowding OR there is a state or local occu-
pancy law forbidding occupancy of the unit 
by three or more persons. 

(3) If, because of a physical or mental 
handicap of a household member or a person 
associated with that household, a family 
may need a unit that is larger than the unit 
size suggested by the guidelines in paragraph 

VI D 2 c (2) of this exhibit, it may be an un-
lawful failure to make reasonable accommo-
dation to deny such a family the opportunity 
to apply for and obtain such a unit. 

d These occupancy guidelines may serve 
also as general guidelines for migrant and 
on-farm LH. Projects developed in compli-
ance with local and/or state design require-
ments will determine the appropriate occu-
pancy standards for migrant LH. In dor-
mitory type LH housing, there must be at 
least 400 cubic feet of habitable sleeping area 
for each person. 

e When there are no units of appropriate 
size available in the project: 

(1) The tenant may be admitted and/or re-
main, provided the unit is not overcrowded 
or underutilized. 

(2) The tenant may receive available rental 
subsidy if otherwise qualified by income. 

f When an occupied unit becomes over-
crowded or underutilized and there is a wait-
ing list for the size unit occupied: 

(1) The tenant must move to another unit 
in the project of adequate size and accommo-
dation when it becomes available. If the ten-
ant then refuses to move to the available 
unit, or if none is available. 

(2) Vacate the project within a reasonable 
time period established by the borrower as 
specified in the lease or by the end of the 
lease period, whichever is later. 

g To avoid prolonged vacancy and loss of 
revenue, management may permit tem-
porary occupancy of specially designed 
handicapped accessible units by households 
not needing such specially designed features, 
under the following conditions: 

(1) No household needing the specially de-
signed features of a handicapped accessible 
unit is available to occupy the unit and man-
agement has made a diligent effort to reach 
tenants who qualify for the specially de-
signed unit; 

(2) The tenant agrees to transfer to an ap-
propriate unit if and when it becomes avail-
able in the project once an applicant with 
handicaps needing the features of a handi-
capped accessible unit is on the waiting list 
and ready to move in; 

(3) The responsibility to pay all costs asso-
ciated with the subsequent move to the ap-
propriate unit shall be mutually determined 
between the owner and the tenant. The own-
er’s share of cost, if any, may be a project 
expense; and 

(4) The appropriate lease clause in para-
graph VIII C of this exhibit is incorporated 
in the tenant’s lease. 

h Borrowers with RRH projects specifi-
cally built and designated for the elderly 
prior to October 27, 1980, with only a few or 
no one-bedroom units, may permit occu-
pancy of two-bedroom units by single eligi-
ble tenants if this provision is included in 
the project occupancy policy. The occupancy 
policy should reflect the needs of the local 
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market area. This eligibility determination 
made by management must be included in 
the tenant’s lease and will entitle such ten-
ant to all benefits without need for further 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 approval. 

i When a unit cannot be rented under the 
provisions in paragraph VI D 2 g and h of this 
exhibit, the Servicing Official may authorize 
an exception according to paragraph VI D 7 
of this exhibit. 

j A tenant who was determined eligible 
and allowed to occupy under regulations in 
effect prior to October 1, 1986, who does not 
meet eligibility requirements regarding in-
come or occupancy policy as prescribed in 
these regulations may be permitted contin-
ued occupancy in the same unit for the dura-
tion of their residency. This provision spe-
cifically refers to: 

(1) Elderly tenants of any income level who 
have occupied their unit, since before Octo-
ber 27, 1980. 

(2) Tenants who were determined eligible 
before October 27, 1980, but did not meet in-
come and occupancy requirements on that 
date. Examples are: 

(i) Individual tenants occupying a unit 
with separate tenant certifications whose 
combined income on October 27, 1980, would 
disqualify joint tenancy. 

(ii) Tenant households whose composition 
did not meet the occupancy guidelines in 
paragraph VI D 2 c (2) of this exhibit. 

(3) Tenants who became income ineligible 
due to changes of income and shelter cost de-
termination on October 1, 1986. This provi-
sion did not apply to normal increase of 
household income which may have made 
them ineligible before October 1, 1986. 

k For each RRH project specifically des-
ignated for the elderly, the borrower or man-
agement may not prohibit, prevent, restrict, 
or discriminate against any tenant for con-
tinued occupancy or applicant for occupancy 
who owns or will keep a pet in their apart-
ment unit unless the approved project pet 
rules are violated. 

l Nothing in this subpart requires that an 
apartment unit be made available to any in-
dividual whose tenancy would constitute a 
direct threat to the health and safety of 
other individuals or whose tenancy would re-
sult in substantial physical damage to the 
property of others, Except, when such threat 
can be removed by applying a reasonable ac-
commodation. 

3 Reasonable accommodations. 
a The Fair Housing Amendment Act of 

1988 requires persons to make reasonable ac-
commodations in rules, policies, practices, 
or services, when such accommodations 
would afford a handicapped or disabled per-
son equal opportunity to occupy or continue 
to occupy and enjoy a dwelling unit, includ-
ing public and common use areas. For exam-
ple: 

(1) It would be unlawful to refuse a person 
with a sight impairment with a service ani-
mal to live in a dwelling unit when there is 
otherwise a no-pet policy in the apartment 
complex. 

(2) It would be reasonable accommodation 
to grant a request by an applicant or tenant 
with a mobility impairment to be assigned a 
reserved parking space as near to that per-
son’s dwelling unit as possible, even though 
all other designated handicapped parking 
spaces are already reserved, having been as-
signed on a first-come, first served basis. 

(3) It would be reasonable accommodation 
to remove a gas cooking stove and install a 
microwave oven when such accommodations 
to a tenant or member would remove a direct 
threat to the project, the tenant and other 
tenants. Other examples are changing water 
faucets to push or electronic activated fau-
cets and door knobs to door handles for per-
sons with infirmed hands. 

b The Fair Housing Amendment Act re-
quires owners to permit, at the expense of a 
person with handicaps, reasonable modifica-
tions of an existing unit, occupied or to be 
occupied by a person with handicaps, if the 
proposed modifications may be necessary to 
afford that person full enjoyment of the 
dwelling unit. 

(1) The borrower may, where it is reason-
able to do so, condition permission for a 
modification on the applicant or tenant 
agreeing to restore the interior of the dwell-
ing unit to the condition that existed before 
the modifications, reasonable wear and tear 
excepted. (NOTE: It should not, for example, 
be necessary to remove blocking previously 
installed to support bathtub handrails when 
restoring to ‘‘original’’ condition since the 
blocking does not affect future use.) 

(2) The borrower may not increase the cus-
tomarily required security deposit. However, 
where it is necessary to ensure with reason-
able certainty that funds will be available to 
pay for the restorations at the end of ten-
ancy, the borrower may negotiate as part of 
such a restoration agreement a provision re-
quiring that a tenant pay into an interest 
bearing escrow account, over a reasonable 
period, an amount of money not to exceed 
the cost of restoration. The interest in any 
such account shall accrue to the tenant’s 
benefit. 

4 Other items the borrower should consider 
in determining eligibility of applicants for ad-
mission to the project. 

a Any criteria or documentation must be 
applied uniformly for all applicants for occu-
pancy for the following items: 

(1) Verification of income and/or employ-
ment according to paragraph VII of this ex-
hibit. (Mandatory in all cases.) 

(2) Credit reports to reflect the applicant’s 
past record of meeting obligations. (Op-
tional.) 
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(3) Prior landlord references to determine 
if the tenant was responsive to meeting rent 
payment obligations, care, and maintenance 
of the unit. (Optional.) 

(4) The applicant’s financial capability to 
meet other basic living expenses and the 
rental charge, taking into consideration any 
subsidy assistance that could be made avail-
able to the tenant. Where RA is not avail-
able, the borrower should inform any very- 
low or low-income household that would be 
required but unable to pay the approved 
rent, including utilities, that they may be el-
igible for a particular form of rent subsidy 
described in paragraph IV of this subpart. 
The borrower should indicate where informa-
tion about other subsidies can be obtained. 
(Optional.) 

(5) Written verification of an unborn child 
by a doctor or other qualified third party. 
(When applicable.) 

b A borrower or manager should consider 
mitigating factors when tenants or members 
have had or presently have a period of hard-
ship beyond their control, when they have 
had disputes with creditors, including land-
lords, or when they were having difficulty 
paying overburdened rent levels. 

5 Surviving or remaining members of eligible 
tenant household. 

a Surviving members of an elderly, dis-
abled, and/or handicapped tenant’s household 
may continue occupancy of the unit after 
the death of the original tenant, even though 
they may not meet the definition of an elder-
ly, disabled or handicapped person stated in 
paragraph II of this exhibit, provided: 

(1) They are eligible occupants with re-
spect to income and were either cotenant or 
member of the household and have legal ca-
pacity to sign and assume the lease, 

(2) They occupied the unit with the origi-
nal tenant at the time that the original ten-
ant died, and 

(3) A surviving nonelderly cotenant or co-
member shall not qualify for the elderly 
family adjustments to income. 

b Surviving members of a domestic farm 
laborer’s household may continue to occupy 
when they meet the definition of a domestic 
farm laborer as defined in paragraph II of 
this exhibit. 

c Remaining household member(s) of a 
nonelderly, nondisabled and/or nonhandi-
capped household, who is included on the 
current tenant certification may continue to 
occupy the rental unit if they otherwise 
independently meet tenant eligibility re-
quirements with respect to income and occu-
pancy standard size and sign a succeeding 
tenant certification establishing their own 
tenancy. 

d When tenants no longer meet the re-
quirements of paragraph VI D 5 a, b, or c of 
this exhibit, the provisions for formerly eli-
gible tenants in paragraph VI D 6 of this ex-
hibit shall apply. 

6 Formerly eligible tenants. Unless author-
ized by paragraph VI D 2 j of this exhibit, 
formerly eligible tenants will be required to 
vacate their unit within 30 days (7 days for 
migrant farm labor tenants with week-to- 
week lease agreements) or the end of the 
term of their lease agreement, whichever is 
longer. If, however, there is not an eligible 
applicant on the waiting list available for 
occupancy, the formerly eligible tenant may 
remain until there is an eligible tenant on 
the waiting list available to occupy the unit; 
at which time, the requirements for notice 
to vacate stated in paragraph VI D 6 c of this 
exhibit will take effect. If vacating the unit 
in the time period described creates an 
undue hardship on the family, the Servicing 
Official may permit continued occupancy for 
a reasonable period of time. The following 
‘‘formerly eligible’’ situations apply to this 
paragraph: 

a Tenants who no longer meet FmHA or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354 income eligibility requirements. (This in-
cludes tenants receiving RA or Section 8 as-
sistance.) 

b Tenants in LH projects who no longer 
meet the farm labor occupation require-
ments, and who are neither retired nor dis-
abled domestic farm laborers, are considered 
to be ‘‘formerly eligible tenants’’ as long as 
a need for housing for domestic farm labor-
ers exists in the project’s farm market area. 

c Tenants who no longer meet the occu-
pancy policy for the project. These tenants 
must agree in writing to move to a unit of 
appropriate size in the project when one be-
comes available, or when an appropriate 
sized unit does not exist in the project, va-
cate the project at the termination of their 
lease. However, the tenant may remain as an 
ineligible tenant if the unit is not over-
crowded and there are no other applicants on 
the waiting list for the size of unit presently 
occupied. 

7 Servicing official authority to permit an 
RRH or LH borrower to rent to ineligible ten-
ants. 

a The Servicing Official may authorize 
the borrower in writing, upon receiving the 
borrower’s written request with the nec-
essary documentation, to rent vacant units 
to ineligible persons for temporary periods 
to protect the financial interest of the Gov-
ernment. Likewise, this provision may ex-
tend to a cooperative. This authority will be 
for the entire project for periods not to ex-
ceed one year. Within the period of the lease, 
the tenant may not be required to move for 
initially documented ineligibility. A copy of 
the authorization to rent to ineligibles will 
be forwarded to the State Office. The fol-
lowing determinations must be made by the 
authorizing FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 official. 

(1) There are no eligible persons on a wait-
ing list. 
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(2) The borrower provided evidence that a 
diligent but unsuccessful effort to rent any 
vacant unit(s) to an eligible tenant house-
hold has been made. Such evidence may con-
sist of advertisements in appropriate publi-
cations, posting notices in several public 
places, and other places where persons seek-
ing rental housing would likely make con-
tact; holding open houses, making appro-
priate contacts with public housing agencies 
and authorities (where they exist), State and 
local agencies and organizations, Chamber of 
Commerce, and real estate agencies. 

(3) The borrower will continue with aggres-
sive efforts to locate eligible tenants and 
submit to the Servicing Office, along with 
Form FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 1944–29, ‘‘Project Work-
sheet for Interest Credit and Rental Assist-
ance,’’ a report of efforts made. The required 
followup should be posted in the Servicing 
Office on Form FmHA or its successor agen-
cy under Public Law 103–354 1905–6, ‘‘Man-
agement System Card-Multifamily Hous-
ing.’’ 

(4) To protect the security interest of the 
Government, the units may be rented for no 
more than a year after which the lease must 
convert to a monthly lease. The monthly 
lease must require that the unit be vacated 
when an eligible prospective tenant is avail-
able. The ineligible tenant will then be given 
30 days to vacate. 

(5) Tenants residing in RRH units who are 
ineligible, because their adjusted annual in-
come exceeds the maximum for the RRH 
project, will be charged the FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 ap-
proved note rate rental rate for the size of 
unit occupied in a Plan II RRH project. In 
projects operated under Plan I, ineligible 
tenants will be charged rental surcharge of 
25 percent of the approved note rate rental 
rate. 

(6) Tenants permitted to occupy but who 
are ineligible for reasons other than income 
may benefit from RA and/or interest credit. 

(7) Tenants residing in off-farm LH units 
who are ineligible because their adjusted an-
nual income exceeds the maximum for the 
area will be charged the lesser of the LH 
project’s note rate rent or the prevailing 
market rent rate for the project as deter-
mined by subpart D of part 1944 of this chap-
ter. For on-farm tenants, rent determination 
may be subject to local discretion with limi-
tations as set out in subpart D of part 1944 of 
this chapter. Excess rent shall be remitted to 
the Agency for credit to the Rural Housing 
Insurance Fund. 

b Examples of situations where the Serv-
icing Official may authorize a borrower to 
rent units to ineligible persons to reduce 
chronic vacancy are: 

(1) In housing designated as ‘‘family’’ hous-
ing, permitting persons or households to oc-

cupy who are not eligible because they have 
an above normal income. 

(2) In housing designated as ‘‘elderly’’ 
housing, permitting persons or households to 
occupy that meet the definitional require-
ments of qualifying as elderly, but who oth-
erwise have an above moderate income. This 
provision will not permit nonelderly persons 
or households to occupy housing for the el-
derly. 

c When the Servicing Official determines 
that a borrower may rent to an ineligible 
tenant, the written authorization must con-
tain the appropriate clauses which must be 
inserted into the ineligible tenant’s lease. At 
a minimum it should include: 

(1) The reason for ineligibility. 
(2) The term of ineligible occupancy. 
(3) Any conditions under which the tenant 

will be required to vacate the unit including 
moving to an appropriate size unit when 
warranted to comply with the established oc-
cupancy standards. 

(4) The length of notice the tenant will be 
given to vacate. 

E Applicant inquiries and waiting lists. 
1 When a prospective tenant or member 

inquires (by telephone, letter, or visit) con-
cerning the availability of a rental or coop-
erative unit, the borrower or rental agent 
will advise the prospective applicant of their 
right to file an application. 

2 When a prospective tenant or member 
files a completed application for occupancy 
and is determined eligible, the borrower or 
rental agent will place the prospect’s name 
chronologically by date and time on the ap-
propriate written waiting list. Exhibit B–14 
of this subpart contains a sample waiting 
list. An application is a written document(s) 
prescribed by the management providing suf-
ficient information for the rental agent to 
complete the steps necessary to determine 
eligibility. 

a Eligibility shall be governed by para-
graph VI F of this exhibit. 

b The actual determination of eligibility 
will be conducted according to the applica-
tion process described in paragraph VI F of 
this exhibit. 

c Priority on the waiting list shall be de-
termined according to paragraph VI E 3 of 
this exhibit. Eligibility for cooperative mem-
bership will be determined in accordance 
with subpart E to part 1944 of this chapter. 

3 Separate waiting lists by categories 
and/or a master waiting list with income lev-
els identified (very low-, low- and moderate- 
income), and categories or priorities indi-
cated will be maintained for rural rental, co-
operative, and year-round occupancy farm 
labor housing. Each list must be maintained 
in chronological order. When there are sepa-
rate lists, they must be cross-referenced for 
prospective tenants who fit more than one 
category or priority. Separate lists may be 
maintained for: 
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a Income levels (very low-, low-, mod-
erate-income, or ineligible). 

b Various size units. 
c Units for elderly, disabled, or handi-

capped persons, families, or any other com-
bination as planned for the project according 
to the borrower’s loan agreement or resolu-
tion and management plan. 

d Persons who require the special design 
features of the handicapped accessible 
units(s) in the project such as persons con-
fined to a wheelchair or requiring other aux-
iliary apparatus for mobility and/or life sup-
port. Persons on this list have priority for 
these units. 

e Holders of Letters of Priority Entitle-
ment issued by FmHA or its successor agen-
cy under Public Law 103–354 according to 
subpart E of part 1965 of this chapter will be 
given top of the waiting list priority within 
an income group for the category of unit size 
for which the applicant qualifies. This same 
priority shall also extend to persons dis-
placed due to housing rendered uninhabit-
able or actually seized by legal action (for 
other than illegal activities). 

f In congregate housing projects, priority 
can be given to tenants who qualify for the 
services provided by the congregate facility 
insofar as there is available capacity in the 
facility to provide the services. 

g In LH projects, lists should be main-
tained in accordance with the priorities of 
occupancy established by § 1944.154 of subpart 
D of part 1944 of this chapter. 

h In only those projects with project 
based Section 8 units, priority for such units 
will go to applicants who, at their time of 
housing need, are involuntarily displaced, or 
living in substandard housing, or paying 
more than 50 percent of income for rent. 

i Tenant applicants that qualify the bor-
rower for tax credit. 

4 For seasonal farm LH a waiting list 
should be chronologically compiled by date 
and time received as in paragraphs VI E 2 
and VI E 3 of this exhibit. These lists should 
be maintained for the season in which the 
project will be operating. Prospective ten-
ants should be advised that the waiting list 
will terminate on the closing date of the 
project in any given season. Tenant selection 
shall be governed according to paragraph VI 
H 6 of this exhibit. 

a Seasonal LH management plans should 
identify a date when applications will be ac-
cepted for a new operating season and a 
waiting list compiled. 

b A process should be specified in the plan 
for advising prospective tenants of the appli-
cation process and the dates of project oper-
ation. 

5 A waiting list must show the racial 
identity of the prospective tenant. Rental 
housing managers may determine how the 
identification is to be made according to the 
guidance found at exhibit B–14 of this sub-

part, which may include the use of a code 
system. 

6 When prospective tenants are first as-
signed to the waiting list, they will be noti-
fied of the category(s) to be assigned to their 
application. Prospective tenants may inquire 
to determine the place of their application on 
the waiting list. However, to protect the pri-
vacy of all prospective tenants, the waiting 
list should not be shown to any prospective 
tenants. 

7 Borrowers may establish a procedure for 
purging the waiting list(s) periodically of 
prospective tenants who are no longer inter-
ested in occupancy. The borrower must in-
form each prospective tenant of this proce-
dure and any actions they must take to 
maintain their priority position on the wait-
ing list. When a name is removed from the 
waiting list by the borrower, the prospective 
tenant must be informed in writing at their 
last known address. The letter must include 
appeal rights under subpart L of part 1944 of 
this chapter. 

8 Expired waiting lists must be kept on 
file by the borrower or management agent 
until a compliance review has been con-
ducted by FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 in accordance with 
subpart E of part 1901 of this chapter. 

F Applications, eligibility determination and 
notification of eligibility or rejection. 

1 Application status for determining eligi-
bility. All persons desiring to apply for occu-
pancy, whether as the initial applicant 
household or as a person(s) later joining an 
existing tenant household, will be provided 
the opportunity to submit a complete appli-
cation. The borrower or rental agent will 
provide prospective tenants or members with 
a written list of all information required for 
a complete application and offer assistance 
in completing the application if needed. 

a After the potential tenant or member 
has submitted all required forms and infor-
mation but additional information is re-
quired, the borrower or rental agent must 
notify the applicant within 10 days of the 
items needed to complete a review of eligi-
bility. The application file will be docu-
mented on the action taken. 

b When the application is complete, and 
occupancy by the applicant is expected with-
in 90 days of completing the application, eli-
gibility will be determined, including 
verification of applicant information per-
formed according to paragraph VII of this ex-
hibit; otherwise, verification of applicant in-
formation will be initially satisfied upon suf-
ficient review of the information to deter-
mine whether the applicant is clearly eligi-
ble or not eligible. 

c Applicants determined eligible will be 
added to the waiting list according to para-
graph VI E 2 of this exhibit, even when an 
operational project has few or no vacancies, 
and there are sufficient active applications 
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from households determined eligible to fill 
expected vacancies. 

d Application fees are discouraged, but 
when used, any fee charged to a prospective 
tenant shall be limited to the cost of actual 
services incurred for obtaining necessary in-
formation associated with completing a ten-
ant certification. 

2 Fair housing restrictions and provisions. 
a It shall be unlawful for a person to 

make an inquiry to determine whether an 
applicant for a housing unit, or anyone asso-
ciated with that applicant, has a handicap or 
disability or to make inquiry as to the na-
ture or severity of a handicap or disability of 
such a person. However, 

b The following inquiries are not prohib-
ited, provided these inquiries are made of all 
applicants, whether or not they have handi-
caps or disabilities. 

(1) Inquiry into an applicant’s ability to 
meet the requirements of tenancy (i.e., eligi-
bility, history of meeting financial obliga-
tions) and without being a direct threat to 
the health and safety of other individuals or 
whose tenancy would result in substantial 
physical damage to the property of others. 

(2) Inquiry to determine whether an appli-
cant is qualified for a housing unit or adjust-
ment to income available only to persons 
with handicaps or disabilities or to a persons 
with a particular type of handicap or dis-
ability. 

(3) Inquiry to determine whether an appli-
cant for a housing unit is qualified for a pri-
ority available to persons with handicaps or 
disabilities or to persons with a particular 
type of handicap. 

(4) Inquiring whether an applicant for a 
dwelling is a current illegal user of a con-
trolled substance or has a previous convic-
tion of the same. 

(5) Inquiring whether an applicant has been 
convicted of the illegal manufacture or dis-
tribution of a controlled substance. 

(6) Inquiring whether an applicant answer-
ing positively to F 2 b (4) or (5) of this para-
graph has successfully completed a con-
trolled substance abuse recovery program or 
is presently enrolled in such a program. 

3 Application requirements. At a minimum 
to be considered complete, applications must 
include for each prospective tenant house-
hold sufficient information, such as the fol-
lowing, to complete a tenant certification 
form: 

a Name and present address. 
b Household income information, as de-

fined under annual income, adjusted annual 
income, and net family assets in paragraph 
II of this exhibit. 

c Age and number of household members. 
d Indication whether applicant requests 

either a handicap/disability adjustment to 
income or a special handicapped accessible 
unit or both. 

e Applicant’s certification that the unit 
applied for will be the applicant household’s 
permanent residence and it does/will not 
maintain a separate subsidized rental unit in 
a different location. 

f Signature and date section. 
g Race, national origin and sex designa-

tion. This designation shall be placed as the 
last section of the application form beneath 
the signature and date section. 

(1) The borrower or management agent will 
request that each prospective tenant or 
member provide this information on a vol-
untary basis to enable monitoring or compli-
ance with Federal laws prohibiting discrimi-
nation. When the applicant does not provide 
this information, the rental agent or board 
will complete this item based on personal ob-
servation or surname. 

(2) The following disclosure notice shall 
appear on the tenant application form or on 
an amendment to the application: 

‘‘The information regarding race, national 
origin, and sex designation solicited on this 
application is requested in order to assure 
the Federal Government, acting through the 
Farmers Home Administration or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354, that 
Federal Laws prohibiting discrimination 
against tenant applicants on the basis of 
race, color, national origin, religion, sex, fa-
milial status, age, and handicap are com-
plied with. You are not required to furnish 
this information, but are encouraged to do 
so. This information will not be used in eval-
uating your application or to discriminate 
against you in any way. However, if you 
choose not to furnish it, the owner is re-
quired to note the race/national origin and 
sex of individual applicants on the basis of 
visual observation or surname.’’ 

h The application form shall contain the 
fair housing logotype or slogan and indica-
tion of handicap accessibility on the first 
page of the form. 

i Retired or disabled domestic farm labor 
applicants must meet the definition require-
ments of § 1944.153 of subpart D of part 1944 of 
this chapter. 

4 Notification to applicant. The applicant 
who has submitted a completed application 
will be notified in writing that he or she has 
been selected for immediate occupancy, 
placed on a waiting list, or rejected. 

5 Applicants determined ineligible. After due 
consideration of mitigating circumstances, 
applicants determined ineligible will be noti-
fied in writing of the specific reasons for re-
jection. The letter will include the following 
statement: ‘‘The Fair Housing Act prohibits 
discrimination in the sale, rental or financ-
ing of housing on the basis of race, color, re-
ligion, sex, handicap, familial status, or na-
tional origin. Federal law also prohibits dis-
crimination on the basis of age. Complaints 
of discrimination may be forwarded to the 
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Administrator, FmHA or its successor agen-
cy under Public Law 103–354, USDA Wash-
ington, DC 20250.’’ This statement can be 
placed on all materials and correspondence 
done by the borrower, owner, or management 
company. 

a The rejection letter must also outline 
the applicant’s rights to appeal the rejection 
and be sent or hand-delivered according to 
subpart L of part 1944 of this chapter except 
for those clearly not eligible for occupancy 
according to FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 regulations. 

b When the rejection is based on informa-
tion from a credit bureau, the source of the 
credit bureau report must be revealed to the 
applicant in accordance with the Fair Credit 
Reporting Act. 

c Any applicant household may be re-
jected due to: 

(1) A history of unjustified and/or chronic 
nonpayment of rent and/or financial obliga-
tions. 

(2) A history of living or housekeeping hab-
its that would pose a direct threat to the 
health and safety of other individuals or 
whose tenancy would result in substantial 
physical damage to the property of others. 

(3) A history of disturbance of neighbors. 
(4) A history of violations of the terms of 

previous rental agreements, especially those 
resulting in eviction from housing or termi-
nation from residential programs. 

d Rejection of applicants on a arbitrary 
basis is prohibited. Examples of such arbi-
trary rejections includes considering the fol-
lowing factors in determining a tenant’s eli-
gibility: 

(1) Race, color, religion, sex, age, familial 
status, national origin, handicap (except in 
those projects or portions of projects des-
ignated for elderly, disabled and/or handi-
capped, where occupancy by nonelderly, non-
disabled or nonhandicapped can be prohib-
ited). 

(2) Receipt of income from public assist-
ance. 

(3) Families with children of uncertain 
parentage. 

(4) Participation in tenant organizations. 
(5) Tenants or tenant family members 

with AIDS. 
e In the case of LH projects, no organiza-

tion borrower, other than an association of 
farmers of family farm corporation or part-
nership, will block lease to, or otherwise re-
quire that an occupant work on any par-
ticular farm or for any particular owner or 
interest as a condition of occupancy of the 
housing. 

f Rejected applications must be kept on 
file by the borrower or management agent 
for a period of 3 years or until a compliance 
review has been conducted by FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 in 
accordance with subpart E of part 1901 of this 
chapter. 

G Tax credit compliance. The Tax Reform 
Act of 1986 permits certain RRH borrowers to 
receive tax credits for low-income housing 
projects if 20 percent or more of the units are 
occupied by very low-income tenants whose 
annual gross income is 50 percent or less of 
the area median gross income; or 40 percent 
or more of the units are occupied by tenants 
whose annual gross income is 60 percent or 
less of the area median gross income. 

1 Eligible borrowers with projects quali-
fied to receive tax credits will follow the ten-
ant selection criteria of paragraph VI H of 
this exhibit except that tenant selection 
may be postponed until applicants for occu-
pancy are available whose occupancy will 
allow borrowers to meet their tax credit re-
quirements. 

2 Borrowers using IRS tax credits may 
neither terminate a tenant’s occupancy nor 
refuse to renew a tenant’s lease except for 
material noncompliance or other good cause 
as described in paragraph XIV of this ex-
hibit. Tenants whose income increases after 
initial occupancy and exceeds IRS tax credit 
thresholds, but otherwise still meet FmHA 
or its successor agency under Public Law 
103–354 income eligibility thresholds, remain 
qualified to occupy with respect to income 
eligibility. 

H Tenant and member selection. 
1 An eligible applicant will be selected 

from a waiting lists(s) identifying the cat-
egory on basis of the applicant’s unit size 
needed, income level (very low-, low-, mod-
erate-income, or ineligible) or from a pri-
ority waiting list, as described in paragraph 
VI E of this exhibit, when the available size 
unit meets the applicant’s need. The eligible 
applicant will further be selected on a first- 
come, first-served basis from the selected 
category or priority waiting list in the fol-
lowing order: 

a Very low-income 
b Low-income, up to 60 percent of median 

income, (in ‘‘tax credit’’ projects) 
c Low-income 
d Moderate-income 
e Ineligible 
2 When RA is available: 
a Very low-income applicants eligible for 

RA have a priority over all other applicants 
on each type of waiting list maintained by 
the borrower in accordance with paragraph 
XI of exhibit E to this subpart. 

b Low-income applicants may be selected 
provided no very low-income applicants re-
main on the waiting list. 

c Moderate-income applicants may not be 
selected for occupancy when the number of 
unassigned RA units equals or exceeds the 
number of vacant units. (Borrowers unable 
to use RA may consider requesting a transfer 
of RA authority according to paragraph XV 
of exhibit E of this subpart). 
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3 In only those projects when project 
based section 8 is available, the following ap-
plicants, as described in HUD handbook 
4350.3 (available at any HUD regional or area 
office), will have priority over other appli-
cants if at the time of their housing needs, 
they are: 

a involuntarily displaced, or 
b living in substandard housing, or 
c paying more than 50 percent of income 

for rent. 
4 Selections are to be made from the 

waiting list or category maintained for the 
particular unit size and/or unit type in which 
a vacancy exists. If the applicant cannot ac-
cept the unit at that time, the reason for not 
accepting the living unit will be documented 
in the project records and confirmed with 
the applicant in writing. The applicant’s 
name will then be removed from the waiting 
list following the notice procedure at para-
graph VI E 7 of this exhibit unless the rental 
agent determines that hardship exists for 
reasons such as documented health problems 
or project rent exceeds 30 percent of adjusted 
monthly income without RA in which case 
the applicant’s name will remain on the list 
in chronological order. An applicant whose 
name has been removed from the waiting list 
may reapply. 

5 When there are no applicant names on 
the waiting list for the size and/or type of va-
cant living unit, a name may be selected 
from the waiting list of another size and/or 
type of living unit according to the date 
order of the application on the master wait-
ing list. The selected tenant will be subject 
to the provisions for ineligible tenants found 
in paragraph VI D 7 of this exhibit and the 
provisions of paragraph VI D 2 of this ex-
hibit. 

6 In LH projects, paragraphs VI H 1 and 2 
of this exhibit do not apply. Eligible LH ap-
plicants will be selected according to para-
graphs VI H 4 and 5 of this exhibit and the 
priority stated in § 1944.154 (a) of subpart D of 
part 1944 of this chapter irrespective of the 
availability of RA. However, when FmHA or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354 concurs with the LH borrower’s deter-
mination that there is a diminished need for 
housing for domestic farm laborers in ac-
cordance with § 1944.154 (b) of subpart D of 
part 1944 of this chapter, all the provisions of 
this paragraph are applicable to initial occu-
pancy by applicants eligible only under the 
RRH program. 

I Tenant or member record file. A separate 
file must be maintained for each tenant or 
member. Tenants must be allowed reason-
able access to their own file for review dur-
ing regular project office hours. This file will 
include items such as application, tenant 
certification with attached income and ad-
justment(s), verification forms and calcula-
tions, lease or occupancy agreement and at-
tachments, inspection reports for moving in 

and moving out, correspondence and notices 
to the tenant or member, and any other nec-
essary information. The income verification, 
tenant and member eligibility certification 
and recertification information must be re-
tained for at least 3 years while the tenant 
or member is living in the unit and for 3 
years after the tenant or member has moved 
out. 

J Marketing incentives: Marketing incen-
tives, as described in the management plan, 
may be used anytime as a means of main-
taining occupancy levels and revenue needed 
to carry out the objectives of the housing 
and the projections of the annual project 
budget. 

1 When a need is documented, marketing 
incentives will be included in annual project 
operations as reflected in the project budget, 
Form FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 1930–7. The incentives will 
be governed by the guidance at paragraph III 
B 3 c of exhibit F of subpart B of part 1965 of 
this chapter (available at any FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
office). 

2 FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 approval of marketing incentives. 

a When marketing incentives will en-
hance program objectives during a ‘‘soft’’ 
market and FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 is otherwise not 
aware of any loan servicing difficulties of 
major concern, cost effective incentives may 
be approved by the FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 Servicing 
Official as part of normal project budget ap-
proval. 

b When major loan servicing difficulties 
exist, cost effective marketing incentives 
may be approved as part of a servicing plan 
according to the provisions of exhibit F of 
subpart B of part 1965 of this chapter (avail-
able in any FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 office). 

VII Certification and Verification of Tenant or 
Member Income and/or Employment Informa-
tion and Corrective Actions. 

The borrower/management agent shall ob-
tain tenant or member authorization to 
verify income and/or employment informa-
tion needed to establish eligibility before 
pursuing verifications.The Borrower/man-
agement agent shall seek verification of in-
come and/or employment information dis-
closed from third party sources without fur-
ther involvement of the members of the ten-
ant household. This borrower/management 
agent shall seek to verify employment for all 
FMH program recipients. The borrower/man-
agement agent shall also seek to verify in-
come for all MFH program recipients, except 
those residents of LH farm borrowers who 
are living in housing provided on a nonrental 
basis. The applicable employment and/or in-
come verifications must normally be verified 
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by the borrower or management agent before 
the person is determined eligible. Exceptions 
may be made for those unusual cases de-
scribed herein. Information for the deter-
mination of eligibility is valid for not more 
than 90 days before the effective date of the 
tenant certification. Should verifications re-
veal discrepancies from the information pro-
vided, the borrower or management agent 
will seek prompt resolution using the prin-
ciples set out in this subpart. 

A Verification of income from employment. 
Verification of income from employment, 
authorized by the tenant or member/appli-
cant, must be obtained from the employer in 
writing and filed in the ‘‘Tenant or Member 
Record File.’’ Form FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 1910–5, ‘‘Re-
quest for Verification of Employment,’’ or 
comparable form, will be used for this pur-
pose. (A reproducible copy of Form FmHA or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354 1910–5 is available in any FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
office.) 

B Verification of income from other sources. 
Any income from other than employment 
(e.g., social security, Veterans Administra-
tion, public assistance) must be verified in 
writing by the income source. Verification of 
income must be documented and filed in the 
‘‘Tenant or Member Record File.’’ When it is 
not immediately possible to obtain the writ-
ten verification from the income source, the 
income may be temporarily verified by actu-
ally examining the income checks, check 
stubs, or other reliable data the person pos-
sesses which indicates gross income. 

C Verification of income and/or employment 
for LH tenants. 

1 Verification of income from all sources. In-
come verification is required for domestic 
farm laborers, including migrant farm-work-
ers, except for those farmworkers where 
their housing is provided rent free on a farm 
as part of their employment compensation 
for farm labor performed on the farm where 
they live and work. All domestic farm-
workers, where income verification is re-
quired, must have a substantial portion of 
income from farm labor as defined in 
§ 1944.153 of subpart D of part 1944 of this 
chapter. When the tenants do not have easily 
verifiable income, the borrower may forecast 
income expected to be received by the tenant 
during occupancy for determining eligibility 
and subsidy assistance. 

2 Farm labor employment verification. Farm 
labor employment verification is required 
for all domestic farm laborers, whether they 
are year-round, seasonal, or migrant farm-
workers, or farmworkers living in rent-free 
housing on the farm where they work. Such 
employment verification is in addition to 
the income verification requirements de-
scribed in paragraph VII C 1 of this exhibit. 

3 Third party verification. 

a Third party verification of income and 
employment, as applicable, is required when-
ever it is possible or available. 

b When third party verification of income 
and employment is not possible or available, 
for reasons such as refusal or lack of third 
party availability or cooperation, the bor-
rower may ‘‘self-certify’’ the farmworker ap-
plicant using any available documents or 
records the applicant may have or informa-
tion the applicant can provide. In the ab-
sence of available income and employment 
documents, records, or information, the bor-
rower may forecast income as described in 
paragraph VIIC1 of this exhibit. 

4 Tenant record file. Verifications of any 
type must be documented and filed in the 
‘‘Tenant Record File’’ or in the borrower 
loan docket, as appropriate. 

D Sample of tenant or member income and/or 
employment verification. 

1 The Servicing Office staff is required to 
make a sample of tenant or member income 
verifications and adjustments to income; in 
the case of LH tenants, employment 
verifications for use in evaluating the ade-
quacy of such verifications. This will nor-
mally be performed during a scheduled su-
pervisory visit. 

2 The sample will follow the process set 
out in exhibit F–1 of this subpart. The sam-
ple can be derived from information on the 
certification forms that will be submitted to 
the Servicing Office in accordance with para-
graph VII F of this exhibit and may include 
verification of information from third party 
sources. At least six tenant households will 
be sampled (or 100 percent of all tenant 
households for projects having six or fewer 
units) during any sampling. 

3 The sample should be representative of 
very low-, low-, and moderate-income per-
sons in the project, including those receiving 
subsidy assistance, those paying in excess of 
the level cited in paragraph IVA2c (1), (2), or 
(3) of this exhibit for the costs of rent or oc-
cupancy charge and utilities, and those pay-
ing the note rate rent. 

4 The Servicing Office staff will conduct 
the sample (and document the selection 
method) at any time he/she may be knowl-
edgeable of discrepancies in income and/or 
employment verifications. 

5 If the sample discloses discrepancies of 
amounts in excess of $40 monthly or $480 an-
nually, the Servicing Officer will be required 
to notify the borrower/management agent to 
resolve the issues. Should resolution not be 
satisfactorily approved, the Servicing Officer 
will be required to investigate further and 
report to the State Director along with a 
recommendation for further action. Such 
further actions may include those authorized 
under FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 Instructions 2012–B or 
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1940–M (available in any FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 of-
fice) or subpart N of part 1951 of this chapter. 

E Use of HUD certification form for Section 
8 or Section 8 Rental Certificate or Rental 
Voucher Recipients. HUD Form 50059, or an-
other HUD form approved by HUD for this 
purpose, may be used in lieu of Form FmHA 
or its successor agency under Public Law 
103–354 1944–8 for the tenants receiving 
project based Section 8 or tenant based Rent-
al Certificate or Rental Voucher assistance. 
However, the tenant’s income cannot exceed 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 limits for the type of housing 
project involved if it has been calculated ac-
cording to the formula contained in Form 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 1944–8. 

F Certifications and corrective actions. 
1 To be current, the tenant or member 

certification Form FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 1944–8 (or 
for section 8, the appropriate HUD form) 
must be submitted in such manner that it is 
received in the FmHA or its successor agen-
cy under Public Law 103–354 Servicing Office 
by the close of business (COB) of the due date 
as follows: 

a New tenant or member move-in certifi-
cation due date. 

(1) Move in on the 2nd through the 23rd. The 
certification is due for receipt in the Serv-
icing Office on or before the first of the next 
month for all new tenants or members per-
mitted to move in for occupancy from the 
2nd through the 23rd day of a month for over-
age charges to be avoided (EXAMPLE: A 
change is reported on July 2nd, the effective 
date is August 1, and the Servicing Office 
must receive the certification by COB on Au-
gust 1). If the due date falls on a non-work-
ing day, overage will not be charged if the 
tenant certification is received in the Serv-
icing Office on the next working day. 

(2) Move in from 24th through the 1st of next 
month. The certification is due for receipt in 
the Servicing Office on or before the tenth of 
the month in which it is effective in order to 
avoid overage charges (EXAMPLE #1: Move-in 
is June 24th, effective date is July 1st and 
the Servicing Office must receive the certifi-
cation by COB July 10th. EXAMPLE #2: Move- 
in is July 1st, effective date is July 1st and 
the Servicing Office must receive by COB 
July 10th). If the due date falls on a non-
working day, overage will not be charged if 
the tenant certification is received in the 
Servicing Office on the next working day. 

b Certification due dates for renewals. Ten-
ant certifications represent the contractual 
basis for delivery of benefits to tenants. 
Therefore, any certification being renewed 
must be received by Servicing Officials on or 
before the effective date in order to avoid 
overage charges. The effective date is the 
first day of the month following expiration 

of the current certification. Certifications 
expire on the last day of the month, 12 
months from the effective date (EXAMPLE: 
The last certification was effective on July 1 
and its ending period date was 12 months 
later on June 30, therefore, the renewed cer-
tification effective date is July 1). If the due 
date falls on a nonworking day, overage will 
not be charged if the tenant certification is 
received in the Servicing Office on the next 
working day. 

c Tenant reported changes and corrective ac-
tions. Changes to unexpired tenant certifi-
cations represent adjustments to the exist-
ing contractual basis for delivery of benefits 
to tenants. Therefore, overage may not be 
invoked as a penalty for any late reporting, 
since overage is merely an offset to arrive at 
the proper subsidy benefits a tenant is enti-
tled to receive. Tenants are responsible for 
reporting any changes in household gross in-
come, adjustments to household income or 
changes in household size (as set out in para-
graph VIIF3a of this exhibit) no later than 30 
days after the change occurred. Landlords 
must recertify tenant households in accord-
ance with the provisions of paragraph VIIF3b 
of this exhibit. When recertification is re-
quired, landlords must promptly seek to 
verify employment and/or income with third- 
party sources in accordance with the provi-
sions of paragraphs VII A, B, C, and F 10 of 
this exhibit. Once verification is obtained 
from third-party sources, landlords are ex-
pected to forward such certifications to the 
Servicing Office in accordance with the 
timeframes set out herein. 

(1) Reporting 2nd through 23rd. If the third- 
party verifications are received from the 2nd 
through the 23rd day of the month, the recer-
tification is due for receipt in the Servicing 
Office on or before the first day of the next 
month. If the due date falls on a nonworking 
day, it will be considered on time if received 
in the Servicing Office on the next working 
day. 

(2) Reporting 24th through the 1st of the next 
month. If the third-party verifications are re-
ceived from the 24th through the 1st of the 
next month, the recertification is due for re-
ceipt in the Servicing Office on or before the 
COB on the tenth of the month. If the due 
date falls on a nonworking day, it will be 
considered on time if received in the Serv-
icing Office on the next working day. 

(3) Effective date of changed net tenant con-
tribution. The effective date of a tenant’s 
changed net tenant contribution will be the 
first day of the month following third-party 
verification of changes or the first day of the 
following month (generally 30 days later) 
permitted according to the tenant notice re-
quirements of State or local law. 

(4) Corrective actions on tenant problems. 
(i) Should the tenant be found to not com-

ply with the 30-day reporting requirements, 
the landlord may initiate actions as set out 
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in the lease and the Agency may initiate ac-
tion to ensure appropriate corrective action 
is taken. 

(ii) If the landlord chooses to pursue termi-
nation, the landlord need not further pursue 
recovery of any improper benefits from the 
tenant but shall instead forward a report on 
the circumstances to the Agency for its con-
sideration on whether to initiate an appro-
priate servicing action. 

(iii) If the landlord chooses to permit the 
continued occupancy by the tenant the land-
lord must take steps to pursue corrective ac-
tions, taking into consideration any rights 
the tenant may have under the grievance 
procedures in subpart L of part 1944 of this 
chapter. 

(iv) In processing corrective actions where 
existing certifications have not expired, 
overage may not be charged for failure to re-
port changes in a timely manner and the 
note rate rent will not be charged. Proc-
essing corrective actions will use the cor-
rected accurate information to establish the 
proper rent levels, subsidies, and any overage 
charges using the same principles as would 
apply had the change been promptly proc-
essed. 

(v) Upon determining any resulting dif-
ferences, the landlord may initiate actions 
to seek recovery from the tenant of any im-
proper benefits derived from inappropriate 
rent levels or inappropriate subsidies. Such 
recovery efforts will normally not extend 
over a 3-month period, but may not ever ex-
tend over a 12-month period. 

(vi) The Servicing Office may be consulted 
if guidance is needed on processing correc-
tive actions when payments are affected. 

(vii) When appropriate, the Agency may 
pursue servicing initiatives which may in-
clude seeking corrective action by the land-
lord or using the authorities set out in sub-
part N of part 1951 of this chapter or FmHA 
or its successor agency under Public Law 
103–354 Instruction 2012–B (available in any 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 office). 

(5) Corrective actions on landlord problems. 
Should the landlord be found to not comply 
with the above reporting dates, the Agency 
may initiate action to ensure that the proper 
rent levels were assessed, the proper pay-
ments were remitted to the Government, and 
that any remittances involving any improp-
erly paid Government subsidies are recov-
ered by the Government. Such initiations 
may involve seeking corrected payment re-
mittances, or the use of authorities set out 
in subpart N of part 1951 of this chapter as 
cited in paragraph VII F 1 c (4) of this ex-
hibit. 

d Modifications. 
(1) Modifications will likely result from 

changes to project rents or utility allow-
ances or when the tenant household moves 
to a different unit within the project. In such 

cases the landlord may revise the unexpired 
tenant certification form by notating the 
changes in rents or utility allowances and 
recomputing the net tenant contribution 
when necessary. 

(2) Unexpired tenant certification forms 
showing modification(s) which do not result 
from changes in income or adjustments to 
income or change of household size or com-
position need not be submitted to the Agen-
cy. Such modifications do not affect the cer-
tification effective dates or expiration dates 
of the certification form being modified, 
therefore, the certification expiration date 
will remain unchanged (and overage is not 
applicable). (EXAMPLE: Certification with a 
July, 19xx effective date is in effect for a 12- 
month period, and any mid-term modifica-
tion will not alter the July 1, 19xx effective 
date). 

(3) Form FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 1951–29, ‘‘Multiple 
Family Housing—Changes To Tenant Sta-
tus,’’ or similar reporting format, will be 
prepared and submitted to report the modi-
fications, impact on rental assistance, move- 
outs, 60-day absences, and expired tenant 
certifications. 

2 When the Servicing Office does not have 
a certification in the office as required in F 
1 of this paragraph, the tenant or member is 
ineligible for RA and interest credit for that 
month and overage for the month will be 
charged to the project account. This does not 
apply to modification of a certification as 
described in paragraph VII F 1 d of this ex-
hibit or in a situation as described at para-
graph XIV A 5 b (2)(vi) of this exhibit. 

a If a formal eviction process has started, 
the provisions of paragraph VII F 6 d of this 
exhibit will be followed. 

b If the late certification was due to non-
cooperation by the tenant or member (non-
cooperation does not include situations be-
yond the control of the tenant member, such 
as delays by third-party sources in com-
pleting income or employment 
verifications), overage must be paid and is a 
project expense; however, the borrower or 
management agent may attempt to recover 
the charge by billing the person note rate 
rent (overage) for the month. If the error was 
due to the borrower’s or management’s ac-
tion, the cost of overage will be a project ex-
pense and it will not be charged to the per-
son. 

c Overage charges due to negligent man-
agement may not be considered cause for a 
rent increase. The costs should be deducted 
from return on owner investment or from 
management agent fees and may be cause for 
requiring different management. 

3 Reporting changes. 
a Tenant reporting. Tenants must report 

changes in household income (gross income) 
or adjustments to household income. In addi-
tion, any change in household size must be 
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promptly reported to the landlord. Changes 
to household income may result from 
changes in hours worked, salary rates, social 
security, pensions, public assistance pay-
ments, the sale of assets, interest income, 
the amount of net family assets exceeding 
$5,000, imputed income, or other sources of 
income. Changes in adjustments to income 
may result from changes in household mem-
bers other than the tenant or cotenant (e.g., 
changes in the number of minors, disabled, 
handicapped or full-time students 18 or 
older), changes in the tenant or cotenant 
(e.g., changes in the elderly, disabled, or 
handicapped status), changes in medical care 
expenses, and changes in child care expenses. 

b Landlord reporting. Landlords must re-
certify tenant households whenever perma-
nent changes to gross household income or 
permanent adjustments to household income 
result in an increase of $40 or more per 
month or $480 or more per year. Landlords 
must recertify tenant households whenever 
changes to permanent household income or 
permanent adjustments to household income 
result in a decrease of $20 or more per month 
or $240 or more per year. If the permanent 
gross income of a tenant household does not 
exceed $20 a month or $240 annually, and the 
tenant requests certification, the borrower 
will process the recertification. In addition, 
landlords must recertify changes in house-
hold size or composition. 

4 The current certification form will be 
revised by correcting entries and being ini-
tialed by the tenant or member and the own-
er’s representative when there are project 
changes such as: 

a Changed rental or occupancy rates and/ 
or utility allowances. 

b Tenant or member relocation within 
the project. 

c Addition or removal of household RA. 
5 Form FmHA or its successor agency 

under Public Law 103–354 1944–8 must be proc-
essed as follows: 

a Borrowers or their representatives may 
sign Form FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 1944–8 up to 60 days 
prior to the effective date. 

b Borrowers or their representatives 
should submit Form FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 1944–8 to the 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 Servicing Office during the 30 
day period preceding the effective date. Bor-
rowers should not delay submitting certifi-
cations until Form FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 1944–29 is 
submitted. Borrowers should avoid submit-
ting certifications just before or on the first 
day of a month to reduce impact on first of 
month account servicing at the Servicing Of-
fice, and to minimize late delivery and the 
charge of overage. 

c The FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 Servicing Office 

date stamps each Form FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 1944– 
8 when received, reviews each form sub-
mitted and determines that the information 
is complete, and correctly computed based 
on the information provided on the form (see 
Guide Letter 1930–1 for use in noting excep-
tions). 

d The FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 approved tenant 
certifications and recertifications have an 
effective period of 12 months. The effective 
period begins on the effective date which is 
always the first day of a month. 

6 Each tenant or member must be recer-
tified within 12 months of the previous cer-
tification. Tenants receiving Section 8 as-
sistance will be certified according to HUD 
regulations. 

a It is the tenant’s or member’s responsi-
bility to provide income information and 
sign the certification form as a condition for 
continued occupancy. Failure to do so will 
cause a charge for overage/surcharge during 
those months such information was not pro-
vided, and it may result in termination of 
occupancy. 

b The borrower’s responsibility is to: 
(1) Notify the tenant or member that a cur-

rent certification and income verification is 
required before the due date and explain the 
procedure necessary to accomplish recertifi-
cation. Normally, this initial written notice 
will be sent 75 to 90 days prior to the expira-
tion date of the current certification; then 

(2) Obtain verification of income from ten-
ant or member records and/or directly from 
tenant or member employers and process the 
appropriate tenant recertification; and 

(3) Submit the signed recertification to be 
received by the Servicing Office by the due 
date stipulated in paragraph VII F 1. 

(c) The borrower must provide a second 
written notice to the tenant or member 30 
days prior to the due date if they have not 
responded. The second notice must advise 
the tenant or member that without a current 
certification, the person will be required to 
pay note rate rent or occupancy charge (i.e., 
the person pays overage) and that termi-
nation proceedings may be started as of the 
due date since an annual recertification is 
required for continued occupancy. [NOTE: In 
any event, the borrower is required to pay 
the overage amount to FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 ac-
cording to § 1951.506(a)(5)(iii) of subpart K to 
part 1951 of this chapter.] If the tenant or 
member has RA, the person must be advised 
that without a current certification, the per-
son’s RA will be canceled and possibly may 
not be immediately available for reinstate-
ment should a proper certification be pro-
vided at a later date. 

d When a notice of termination has been 
served on a tenant or member for failure to 
recertify, the borrower must provide a copy 
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of the termination notice to the Servicing 
Office prepared according to paragraph XIVB 
of this exhibit. If the Servicing Official does 
not receive a new certification on such per-
son(s), the Servicing Official will annotate 
the project master list with an E beside the 
‘‘Expiration Date of Tenant Certification’’ 
on Form FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 1944–29 for the ap-
propriate tenant(s) or member(s). The Serv-
icing Official will continue to authorize in-
terest credit and waiver of overages while 
the termination is being actively pursued 
until resolution of the termination. The pay-
ment of RA will be suspended during the ter-
mination process. Upon conclusion of the 
termination process the RA will either be re-
instated or given to another tenant or mem-
ber. 

7 The borrower must submit Form FmHA 
or its successor agency under Public Law 
103–354 1944–29 to the Servicing Office with 
each payment, report of overage, or request 
for RA as required in paragraph XIIIC2f(1) of 
this exhibit. The calculations on part II of 
the form must be for tenants or members in 
residence on the first day of the month pre-
ceding the payment due date. All calcula-
tions will be made as if the tenant or mem-
ber was in residence for the full month. Ad-
justments Will Not Be Made to the Bor-
rower’s Subsidy, RA Request, Payment, or 
Overage Charges for Persons Moving in or 
Out After the First of the Month. (See Guide 
Letter 1930–1 for any necessary Servicing Of-
ficial’s response after review of Form FmHA 
or its successor agency under Public Law 
103–354 1944–29.) 

8 Paragraph VIII B 4 b of this exhibit is a 
required lease or occupancy agreement pro-
vision requiring tenants or members to no-
tify the management of any change in gross 
household income or adjustments to income, 
or size or composition of household. Upon re-
ceipt of such notice, the borrower must 
promptly obtain a new certification form 
and income verification and submit it to the 
Servicing Office when there is a permanent 
change in size or composition of the house-
hold, or a permanent increase of $40 or more 
per month ($480 per year) or a permanent de-
crease of $20 or more per month ($240 per 
year) in gross household income or adjust-
ment to income. 

9 When a borrower/agent believes that an 
applicant/tenant or member certification or 
income verification is inaccurate, they may 
provide the information including the ten-
ant’s or member’s social security number to 
the Servicing Office requesting a further 
verification through the appropriate State 
employment agency. The Servicing Office 
will forward the request to the State Direc-
tor for submission to the State Agency that 
keeps records on the incomes of wage earn-
ers. The State Director will develop a meth-
od of obtaining the information from the 

State Agency. Any reasonable cost for infor-
mation provided by a State shall be a project 
expense. 

10 Landlords may use the following emer-
gency certification/recertification procedure 
in the unusual cases described herein, but 
must otherwise meet the FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 sub-
mission requirements stated in paragraph 
VII F 1 of this exhibit: 

a When a tenant or member applicant 
needs to initially occupy before income 
verification is complete, or when a borrower 
has been unable to initiate recertification on 
time, an ‘‘estimated’’ verification may be 
performed and the certification and the lease 
or occupancy agreement completed and 
marked ‘‘subject to verification of income.’’ 
Temporary verification may also be obtained 
through contacts with individuals who may 
be knowledgeable of the person’s income. 
When no other verifiable source is available, 
a written, dated, and signed statement, cer-
tifying that the disclosed annual gross in-
come of the household is accurate to the best 
knowledge of the tenant or member, may be 
accepted. After normal verification is com-
pleted, any needed adjustment in tenant or 
member contribution can be made and re-
corded on the certification and when appro-
priate, the lease or occupancy agreement. 

b When a tenant or member decides to 
continue occupancy after giving indication 
of vacating the project and insufficient time 
remains to complete the verification of in-
come or when an employer fails to return a 
verification of income on time, the proce-
dure of F 10 a of this paragraph may be fol-
lowed. 

c When a delay is caused by cir-
cumstances beyond the control of the tenant 
or landlord, such as when delays are encoun-
tered in receiving verification of income, em-
ployment, etc., from third party sources, the 
procedure of F 10 a of this paragraph may be 
followed. 

G Mid-month tenant or member certification. 
The certification effective date for a tenant 
or member starting occupancy on a day 
other than the first day of the month shall 
be the first day of the following month. Cer-
tification shall be completed according to 
paragraph VII F of this exhibit. 

H Resolution of suspected inaccurate infor-
mation. Should forms, interviews, unit in-
spections, complaints, or other information 
bring into question the accuracy or reason-
ableness of information relied upon to qual-
ify the residents for occupancy or benefits, it 
should be further explored and resolved by 
the owner and/or management agent. Should 
the matter remain unsolved, the borrower or 
management agent may forward a report to 
the Agency along with a recommendation for 
further action. The Agency may evaluate 
such material to determine whether further 
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action is warranted. Such actions may in-
clude those authorized under FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
Instructions 2012–B, 1940–M, or subpart N of 
part 1951 of this chapter (available in any 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 office). 

VIII Lease Agreements, Occupancy Agree-
ments, Rules, and Other Tenant Information: A 
lease agreement is a written contract be-
tween a tenant and landlord assuring the 
tenant quiet, peaceful enjoyment and exclu-
sive possession of a specific dwelling unit in 
return for payment of rent and reasonable 
use and protection of the property. The con-
tract between a cooperative member and the 
cooperative is called an occupancy agree-
ment. Should the provisions of any lease or 
occupancy agreement be in violation of any 
State or local law, it may be modified to the 
extent needed to comply with the law; how-
ever, the change should be as consistent as 
possible with the provisions set out herein. 

A Form of lease or occupancy agreement. 
Each State Director is encouraged to prepare 
a sample lease form complying with indi-
vidual State laws and FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 require-
ments. Occupancy agreements for coopera-
tives are to be prepared in accordance with 
applicable State laws and subpart E of part 
1944 of this chapter. The State Director may 
incorporate clauses which meet a specific 
need in compliance with State law. Any sam-
ple lease must be reviewed and approved by 
the OGC before being provided to borrowers 
as a guide for preparing an acceptable 
project lease. 

1 All leases will be in writing. Initial 
leases for units for which tenants are eligible 
must cover a period of 1 year. If the tenant 
is not subject to termination of occupancy 
according to paragraph XIV A of this ex-
hibit, a renewal lease, or an addendum of 
lease extension, shall cover a period of 1 
year. Leases for LH may be for shorter peri-
ods where occupancy is typically seasonal. 
Leases for all tenants signed after notifica-
tion of intent to prepay, but prior to prepay-
ment, may be for a term which ends on the 
date of prepayment. Leases for tenants who 
entered a project with a Letter of Priority 
Entitlement and who are temporarily occu-
pying a unit for which they are not occu-
pancy eligible, will have the clause in para-
graph VIII C 1 of this exhibit inserted to deal 
with their obligation to move when an eligi-
ble unit becomes available. 

2 Leases and occupancy agreements must 
contain an appropriate escalation clause per-
mitting changes in basic and/or note rate 
rents or occupancy charges prior to the expi-
ration of the document. Such changes would 
normally be necessary due to changing util-
ity and other operating costs. Any changes 
must be approved by FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 according 

to exhibit C of this subpart. Leases must 
specify that no increases in tenant contribu-
tion to rent will take place due to prepay-
ment of the FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 loan during the 
term of the lease. Leases must also state 
that should any Federal subsidies paid to the 
borrower on behalf of tenants be suspended 
or canceled, due to a monetary or nonmone-
tary default by the borrower, the monetary 
payment made by the tenant to the borrower 
(or, when applicable, the monetary payment 
received by the tenant from the borrower) 
shall not change over that which would have 
been required had the subsidy remained in 
place. 

3 Pursuant to the Fair Housing Amend-
ments Act of 1988, no provision may be incor-
porated into a lease that would prohibit: 

a Occupancy by families with children 
under 18 years of age. As applied to housing 
designated as elderly, those residing with the 
elderly household who are under 18 years of 
age may not be excluded under the terms of 
the lease. 

b Occupancy by a person with a handicap 
who is willing and able to make reasonable 
modifications to an apartment unit, at the 
tenant’s expense, to afford such person full 
enjoyment of the apartment. The owner may 
include in the lease, where reasonable, per-
mission to occupy the apartment on the con-
dition the tenant agrees to restore the inte-
rior of the apartment to the condition that 
existed before any modifications, reasonable 
wear and tear excepted. 

4 In areas where there is a concentration 
of non-English speaking individuals in the 
project or in the community, leases or occu-
pancy agreements and the established rules 
and regulations for the project written in 
both plain English and the appropriate non- 
English language must be available to the 
tenants or members. The tenant or member 
should have the opportunity to examine and 
execute either form of lease or occupancy 
agreement. 

5 The form of lease or occupancy agree-
ment to be used by the borrower and any 
modifications of the same must be approved 
by the FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 Servicing Official. When 
submitting a lease or occupancy agreement 
form for FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 approval, it must be ac-
companied by a letter from a practicing at-
torney licensed in the State regarding its 
legal sufficiency and compliance with State 
law and FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 regulations. 

6 A copy of a properly completed and ap-
proved exhibit A–6 of subpart E of part 1944 
(when the tenant or member will pay utili-
ties) and a copy of the established rules and 
regulations for the project will be provided 
to the tenant or member as attachments to 
the lease or occupancy agreement. 
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7 A copy of a properly completed and 
signed Form FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 1944–8 or HUD Form 
50059 or other HUD approved form for those 
tenants receiving HUD section 8 tenant sub-
sidy will be used to calculate each tenant’s 
contribution and will be provided to the ten-
ant as an attachment to the lease. 

B Required lease or occupancy agreement 
clauses. The following clauses will be re-
quired in leases used in connection with 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354-financed housing projects. Only 
clauses in paragraphs VIII B 1, VIII B 4 b, 
VIII B 4 d, VIII B 4 e, VIII B 5, and VIII B 7 
of this exhibit are applicable to cooperative 
occupancy agreements. 

1 All lease and occupancy agreements 
must include a statement indicating that the 
project is financed by FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 and is sub-
ject to nondiscrimination provisions of title 
VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, title VIII 
of the Fair Housing Act, section 504 of the 
Rehabilitation Act of 1973, and the Age Dis-
crimination Act of 1975; and that all com-
plaints are to be directed to the Adminis-
trator, FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354, USDA, Washington, DC 
20250. However, complaints of Fair Housing 
violations may be sent directly to the Sec-
retary of Housing and Urban Development, 
Washington, DC 20410. 

2 All lease agreements must specify that 
should the unit become overcrowded or un-
derutilized or should the tenant no longer 
meet the eligibility requirements of the 
project during the term of the lease agree-
ment, he/she will be required to vacate the 
unit at the end of the lease term unless eligi-
bility can be established following specified 
steps, such as moving to an appropriate size 
unit, or an exception is granted by manage-
ment. 

3 All lease agreements must contain a 
provision that a tenant household’s tenancy 
still exists during the time that the tenant 
household’s personal possessions remain in 
the apartment unit after the tenant house-
hold has personally ceased occupancy with 
the intent to vacate and leave the project, 
until such time the personal possessions 
have been removed voluntarily or by legal 
means, subject to the provision of State or 
local law in such matters. 

4 All leases used in FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354-fi-
nanced RRH projects must include the fol-
lowing clauses except for persons who are el-
derly, disabled, or handicapped living in a 
full profit plan project unless otherwise 
noted. (Cooperative occupancy agreements 
must include the clauses contained in para-
graphs VIII B 4 b, VIII B 4 d, and VIII B 4 e 
of this exhibit.) 

a ‘‘I understand that I will no longer be 
eligible for occupancy in this project if my 

income exceeds the maximum allowable ad-
justed income as defined periodically by the 
Farmers Home Administration or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 for 
the (State/Territory).’’ 

b ‘‘I agree I must immediately notify the 
[landlord or cooperative] when there is a 
change in my gross income or adjustment to 
income, or when there is a change in the 
number of persons living in the household. I 
understand my rent or benefits may be af-
fected as a result of this information. I also 
understand that failure to report such 
changes may result in my losing benefits to 
which I may be entitled or may result in the 
[landlord or cooperative] taking corrective 
action if benefits were mistakenly received. 
I understand the corrective action the [land-
lord or cooperative] may take includes the 
initiation of a demand for repayment of any 
benefits or rental subsidies improperly re-
ceived, initiation of a notice to cancel any 
rental assistance or section 8 assistance 
being received for the balance of my certifi-
cation period, initiation of a notice to in-
crease my monthly rent to $ll per month 
(note rate rent for Plan II projects or 125 per-
cent of rent in Plan I projects), or initiation 
or a notice of termination. I understand that 
one or more of these remedies may be initi-
ated at the option of the [landlord or cooper-
ative].’’ 

c ‘‘I understand that I must promptly no-
tify the lessor of any extended absences and 
that if I do not personally reside in the unit 
for a period exceeding 60 consecutive days, 
for reasons other than health or emergency, 
my net monthly tenant contribution shall be 
raised to $ll per month (note rate rent for 
Plan II projects or 125 percent of rent in Plan 
I projects) for the period of my absence ex-
ceeding 60 consecutive days. I also under-
stand that should any rental assistance be 
suspended or reassigned to other eligible ten-
ants, I am not assured that it will still be 
available to me upon my return. I also un-
derstand that if my absence continues, that 
as landlord, you may take the appropriate 
steps to terminate my tenancy.’’ 

d ‘‘I understand that should I receive oc-
cupancy benefits to which I am not entitled 
due to my/our failure to provide information 
or due to incorrect information provided by 
me or on my behalf by others, or for any 
other household member, I may be required 
to make restitution and I agree to repay any 
amount of benefits to which I was not enti-
tled.’’ 

e ‘‘I understand that income certification 
is a requirement of occupancy and I agree to 
promptly provide any certifications and in-
come verifications required by the owner or 
cooperative board to permit determination 
of eligibility and, when applicable, the 
monthly tenant or member contribution to 
be charged.’’ 
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5 Leases and occupancy agreements used 
by borrowers participating in the FmHA or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354 RA program will contain the following 
clauses. (These clauses can be made an ad-
dendum to the lease and they must be signed 
by the lessor and lessee): 

‘‘I understand and agree that as long as I 
receive rental assistance, my gross monthly 
contribution (as determined on the latest 
Form FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 1944–8, which must be at-
tached to this lease) for rent or occupancy 
charge and utilities will be $ll. If I pay any 
or all utilities directly (not including tele-
phone or cable TV), a utility allowance of 
$ll will be deducted from my gross month-
ly contribution and my resulting net month-
ly contribution will be $ll. If my net 
monthly contribution would be less than 
zero, the lessor will pay me $ll. 

I also understand and agree that my 
monthly contribution under this lease or oc-
cupancy agreement may be raised or low-
ered, based on changes in the household in-
come or adjustments to income, failure to 
submit information necessary to certify in-
come, changes in the number and age of per-
sons living in the household, and on the esca-
lation clause in this contract. Should I no 
longer receive rental assistance as a result of 
these changes, or the rental assistance 
agreement executed by the [owner or cooper-
ative] and FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 expires, I under-
stand and agree that my monthly contribu-
tion may be adjusted to no less than $lll 

(basic) nor more than $ll (note rate) during 
the remaining term of this [lease or occu-
pancy agreement], except that based on the 
escalation clause in this contract these rates 
may be changed by a Farmers Home Admin-
istration or its successor agency under Pub-
lic Law 103–354 approved rent or occupancy 
charge change.’’ 
[Note No. 1: Eligible borrowers with LH 
loans and grants, Plan I direct RRH or in-
sured RRH loans approved before August 1, 
1968, may omit the words ‘‘no less than $lll 

(Basic) nor more than’’ from the last sen-
tence of the above statement.] 

‘‘I understand that every effort will be 
made to provide rental assistance so long as 
I remain eligible and the rental assistance 
agreement between the [owner or coopera-
tive] and FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 remains in effect. 
However, should this assistance be termi-
nated I may arrange to terminate this con-
tract, giving proper notice as set forth else-
where in this [lease or occupancy agree-
ment].’’ 
[Note No. 2: The following additional clause 
is needed by those borrowers with Plan I di-
rect or insured RRH loans approved before 
August 1, 1968.] 

‘‘I further agree that should I be permitted 
to occupy when my income exceeds max-
imum limits, I shall pay a 25 percent rental 
rate surcharge in addition to my rental rate 
of $ll.’’ 

6 For leases with tenants occupying units 
in which borrowers are operating under Plan 
I either with or without interest credit ap-
proved on or after August 1, 1968: 

‘‘I understand and agree that my rent rate 
of $ll (includes) (excludes) my cost of utili-
ties. I further understand and agree that 
should I be permitted to occupy when my in-
come exceeds maximum limits, I shall pay a 
25 percent rental rate surcharge in addition 
to my rental rate.’’ 

7 For leases or occupancy agreements in 
projects which borrowers are operating 
under Plan II Interest Credit Only: 

‘‘I understand and agree that my gross 
monthly contribution as determined on the 
latest Form FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 1944–8, which must 
be attached to this contract, for [rent or oc-
cupancy charge] and utilities will be $ll. 

If I pay any or all utilities directly (not in-
cluding telephone or cable TV), a utility al-
lowance of $ll will be deducted from my 
gross monthly [rent or occupancy charge] ex-
cept that I will pay not less than the basic 
rent nor more than the note rate [rent or oc-
cupancy charge] stated below. My net 
monthly [rent or occupancy charge] will be 
$ll. I understand that should I receive 
rental subsidy benefits (interest credit) to 
which I am not entitled, I may be required to 
make restitution and I agree to pay any 
amount of benefit to which I was not enti-
tled. I also understand and agree that my 
monthly tenant [rent or occupancy charge] 
under this [lease or occupancy agreement] 
may be raised or lowered based on changes in 
the household income, failure to submit in-
formation necessary to certify income, 
changes in the number and age of persons 
living in the household, and on the esca-
lation clause in this contract. My [rent or 
occupancy charge] will not, however, be less 
than $ll (basic) nor more than $ll (note 
rate) during the term of this contract, except 
that based on the escalation clause in this 
[lease or occupancy agreement], these rental 
rates or occupancy charges may be changed 
by a Farmers Home Administration or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
approved [rent or occupancy charge] 
change.’’ 

8 Leases used by borrowers with LH loans 
and/or grants will use the following addi-
tional clauses: 

a ‘‘I understand that the project is oper-
ated and maintained for the purpose of pro-
viding housing for domestic farm laborers 
and their immediate families. I do hereby 
certify that a substantial portion of my im-
mediate family income is and will be derived 
from farm labor. I further understand that 
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domestic farm labor means persons who re-
ceive a substantial portion of their income 
as laborers on farms in the United States 
and either are citizens of the United States, 
or reside in the United States, Puerto Rico, 
or the Virgin Islands, after being legally ad-
mitted for permanent residence therein, and 
may include the immediate families of such 
persons. Laborers on farms may include la-
borers engaged in handling agricultural com-
modities while in the unprocessed stage. It 
also includes labor for the production of 
aquatic organisms under a controlled or se-
lected environment.’’ 

b ‘‘I agree that if my household income 
ceases to be substantially from farm labor 
for reasons other than disability or retire-
ment, I will vacate my dwelling after proper 
notification by the owner.’’ 

9 All leases, including all renewal leases, 
shall contain the following clause: 

‘‘It is understood that the use, attempted 
use, or possession, manufacture, sale, or dis-
tribution of an illegal controlled substance 
(as defined by local, State, or federal law) 
while in or on any part of this apartment 
complex or cooperative is an illegal act. It is 
further understood that such action is a ma-
terial lease violation. Such violations (here-
after called a ‘‘drug violation’’) may be evi-
denced upon the admission to or conviction 
of a drug violation. 

The landlord may require any lessee or 
other adult member of the tenant household 
occupying the unit (or other adult or 
nonadult person outside the tenant house-
hold who is using the unit) who commits a 
drug violation to vacate the leased unit per-
manently, within timeframes set by the 
landlord, and not thereafter enter upon the 
landlord’s premises or the lessee unit with-
out the landlord’s prior consent as a condi-
tion for continued occupancy by members of 
the tenant household. The landlord may 
deny consent for entry unless the person 
agrees to not commit a drug violation in the 
future and is either actively participating in 
a counseling or recovery program, complying 
with court orders related to a drug violation, 
or completed a counseling or recovery pro-
gram. 

The landlord may require any lessee to 
show evidence that any nonadult member of 
the tenant household occupying the unit, 
who committed a drug violation, agrees to 
not commit a drug violation in the future, 
and to show evidence that the person is ei-
ther actively seeking or receiving assistance 
through a counseling or recovery program, 
complying with court orders related to a 
drug violation, completed a counseling or re-
covery program within timeframes specified 
by the landlord as a condition for continued 
occupancy in the unit. Should a further drug 
violation be committed by any nonadult per-
son occupying the unit the landlord may re-
quire the person to be severed from tenancy 

as a condition for continued occupancy by 
the lessee. 

If a person vacating the unit, as a result of 
the above policies, is one of the lessees, the 
person shall be severed from the tenancy and 
the lease shall continue among any other re-
maining lessees and the landlord. The land-
lord may also, at the option of the landlord, 
permit another adult member of the house-
hold to be a lessee. 

Should any of the above provisions gov-
erning a drug violation be found to violate 
any of the laws of the land the remaining en-
forceable provisions shall remain in effect. 
The provisions set out above do not supplant 
any rights of tenants afforded by law. 

C Special lease clause. 
1 Handicapped accessible units occupied by 

those not needing specially designed features. A 
clause should be used in addition to the re-
quired clauses in the special situation where 
management temporarily assigns a non-
handicapped households to occupy a handi-
capped accessible unit specially designed for 
handicapped households under the conditions 
of paragraph VI D 2 g of this exhibit. Any 
agreements between the landlord and the 
tenant concerning who bears the costs of 
moving to another suitably sized vacant unit 
should be documented. 

‘‘I/we acknowledge that I/we am/are occu-
pying a designated handicapped accessible 
unit. I/we acknowledge that priority for such 
units is given to those needing special phys-
ical design features. I/we acknowledge that I/ 
we am/are permitted to occupy the unit until 
management issues a notice that a priority 
applicant is on the waiting list and that I/we 
must move to another suitably sized vacant 
unit in the project. Upon receiving this no-
tice, I/we agree to move at [my/our own] 
[shared (as agreed)] [project] expense within 
30 calendar days to the suitably sized vacant 
unit within the project, if one is available. I/ 
we further understand my/our rental rate 
will change, when appropriate, to the rental 
rate for the unit I/we move to and this lease 
will be modified accordingly.’’ 

2 Prepayment subject to restrictive-use cov-
enants. Upon FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 approval and ac-
ceptance of a prepayment, subject to restric-
tive-use covenants, the landlord will ensure 
all existing tenant leases and renewals of 
such leases are amended to include the fol-
lowing provisions: 

‘‘As a condition of the Government’s ap-
proval of a request to accept early payment 
on notes owed, the tenant household is pro-
tected, to the extent herein disclosed, 
against involuntary displacement (except for 
good cause) and against having the tenant 
household contribution level (rent) materi-
ally increased until [insert a date 20 years 
from the date of the last FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 loan 
or servicing action making the loan subject 
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to prepayment restrictions, or insert ‘‘the 
tenant household decides to move’’ depend-
ing on the restrictive-use provision accepted 
by the owner (see § 1965.215(e)(5) of subpart E 
of part 1965 of this chapter)]. Specifically, 
the tenant household contribution level 
(rent) must be consistent with those nec-
essary to maintain the project for low- and 
moderate-income tenants. Those tenant 
households whose tenant household con-
tribution level (rent) did not exceed 30 per-
cent of their monthly adjusted income at the 
time the prepayment was accepted, may 
have their tenant household contribution 
level (rent) raised to the lesser of 30 percent 
of their monthly adjusted income or 10 per-
cent of their gross monthly income per year. 
Those tenant households whose tenant 
household contribution level (rent) exceeded 
30 percent of their monthly adjusted income 
at the time the prepayment was accepted, 
may have their tenant household contribu-
tion level (rent) raised to the lesser of the 
latest U.S. Consumer Price Index or 10 per-
cent per year.’’ 

D Other lease provisions. All leases or oc-
cupancy agreements must contain provisions 
covering: 

1 Names of the parties to the contract 
and all individuals to reside in the unit and 
the identification of the unit. 

2 The amount and due date of monthly 
contributions. 

3 Any penalty for late payment of month-
ly contributions according to paragraph IX B 
of this exhibit. 

4 The utilities and quantities thereof and 
the services and equipment to be furnished 
to the tenant or member by the management 
or cooperative and the tenant’s or member’s 
responsibility to pay utility charges prompt-
ly when due. 

5 The process by which contribution and 
eligibility for occupancy shall be determined 
and redetermined including: 

a The frequency of such contribution and 
eligibility determinations. 

b The information which the tenant or 
member shall supply to permit such deter-
minations: Usually, income verification; 
names and ages of household members; in 
congregate facilities, only that essential in-
formation about the person’s request for pro-
vided service(s) to determine whether the 
project provides the services requested by 
the applicant/tenant and/or to determine 
how to best serve the applicant’s/tenant’s/ 
member’s request with reasonable accommo-
dation, referral services, etc. In the case of a 
group home, the information may also in-
clude an assessment by a professional med-
ical examiner or practitioner, social service 
caseworker, representative of an advocacy 
group, member of the clergy, etc., that the 
tenant/applicant provides to support the ap-
plication or recertification for housing and 
services. 

c The standards by which rents or occu-
pancy charge, eligibility, and appropriate 
dwelling unit size shall be determined. 

d Tenant’s household agreement to move 
to a unit of appropriate size if the household 
size changes. 

e The circumstances under which a ten-
ant or member may request a redetermina-
tion of tenant contribution. 

f The effect of misrepresentation by the 
tenant or member of the facts upon which 
contributions or eligibility determinations 
are based. 

g The time at which shelter cost change, 
contribution changes, or notice of ineligi-
bility shall become effective. 

6 The limitation upon the tenant or mem-
ber of the right to the use and occupancy of 
the dwellings. Limitations may not be dis-
criminatory in nature. 

7 The responsibilities of the tenant or 
member in the maintenance of the dwelling 
and the obligation for intentional or neg-
ligent failure to do so. 

8 Agreement of management or coopera-
tive to accept a tenant or member contribu-
tion without regard to any other charges 
owed by tenant or member to management 
or cooperative and to seek separate legal 
remedy for the collection of any other 
charges which may accrue to management 
from tenant(s) or member(s). 

9 The responsibility of management to 
maintain the buildings and any common 
areas in a decent, safe, and sanitary condi-
tion in accordance with local housing codes 
and FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 regulations, and its liabil-
ities for failure to do so. 

10 The responsibility of management or 
cooperative to provide the tenant or member 
with a written statement of the condition of 
the dwelling unit (when the tenant or mem-
ber initially enters into occupancy and when 
vacating the dwelling unit), and the condi-
tions under which the tenant or member 
may participate in the inspection of the 
premises which is the basis for such state-
ment. 

11 The circumstances under which man-
agement or the cooperative may enter the 
premises during the tenant’s or member’s 
possession thereof, including a periodic in-
spection of the dwelling unit as a part of a 
preventive maintenance program. 

12 Responsibility of tenant or member to 
advise management or the cooperative of 
any planned absence for an extended period, 
usually 2 weeks or more. 

13 Agreement that tenant or member may 
not let or sublet all or any part of the prem-
ises without the consent of management or 
cooperative and FmHA or its successor agen-
cy under Public Law 103–354. 

14 Understanding that should the RRH 
project be sold to a buyer approved by FmHA 
or its successor agency under Public Law 

VerDate Aug<04>2004 15:05 Feb 15, 2005 Jkt 205023 PO 00000 Frm 00252 Fmt 8010 Sfmt 8002 Y:\SGML\205023T.XXX 205023T



253 

RHS, RBS, RUS, FSA, USDA Pt. 1930, Subpt. C, Exh. B 

103–354, the lease will be transferred to the 
new owner. 

15 The formalities that shall be observed 
by management or the cooperative and the 
tenant or member in giving notice one to the 
other as may be called for under the terms of 
the lease or occupancy agreement. 

16 The circumstances under which man-
agement or the cooperative may terminate 
the lease or occupancy agreement, all lim-
ited to good cause, and the length of notice 
required for the tenant or member to exer-
cise the right to terminate. 

17 The procedure for handling tenant’s or 
member’s abandoned property as provided by 
State law. 

18 Disposition of lease or occupancy 
agreement if building becomes uninhabitable 
because of fire or other disaster. Right of 
owner or cooperative to repair or rehabili-
tate the building within a certain period or 
terminate the lease or occupancy agreement. 

19 The agreement that any tenant or 
member grievance or appeal from manage-
ment’s or cooperative’s decision shall be re-
solved in accordance with procedures con-
sistent with FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 regulations cov-
ering such procedures which are posted in 
the rental office or at the cooperative. 

20 That the lease may be terminated by 
the tenant, with 30 days notice, prior to expi-
ration of its term for ‘‘good cause’’ such as 
moving to another location for employment, 
loss of job, severe illness, death of spouse, or 
other reasons customary or mandatory in 
the community, or after notification by RRH 
borrower of intent to prepay. The prior no-
tice on which a cooperative member may 
cancel an occupancy agreement for ‘‘good 
cause’’ shall be 4 months. 

21 The usual signature clause attesting 
that the lease or occupancy agreement has 
been executed by the parties. 

E Prohibited lease or occupancy agreement 
clauses. Clauses in the classifications listed 
below shall not be included in any lease or 
occupancy agreement. 

1 Confession of judgment. Prior consent by 
tenant or member to any lawsuit the land-
lord or board may bring against the tenant 
or member in connection with the lease or 
occupancy agreement and to a judgment in 
favor of the landlord or board. 

2 Distraint for rental or occupancy charge or 
other charges. Authorization to the landlord 
or cooperative board to take property of the 
tenant or member and hold it as a pledge 
until the tenant or member performs any ob-
ligation which the landlord has determined 
the tenant or member has failed to perform. 

3 Exculpatory clause. Agreement by tenant 
or member not to hold the landlord or land-
lord’s agents or cooperative board liable for 
any acts or omissions whether intentional or 
negligent on the part of the landlord or the 

landlord’s authorized representative or 
agents or the cooperative board. 

4 Waiver of legal notice by tenant or member 
prior to actions for eviction or money judgments. 
Agreement by tenant or member that the 
landlord or board may institute suit without 
any notice to the tenant or member that the 
suit had been filed. 

5 Waiver of legal proceedings. Authoriza-
tion to the landlord or board to evict the 
tenant or member or hold or sell the tenant’s 
or member’s possessions whenever the land-
lord or board determines that a breach or de-
fault has occurred. 

6 Waiver of jury trail. Authorization to the 
landlord’s or board’s lawyer to appear in 
court for the tenant or member and to waive 
the tenant’s or member’s right to trail by 
jury. 

7 Waiver of right to appeal judicial error in 
legal proceedings. Authorization to the land-
lord’s or board’s lawyer to waive the tenant’s 
or member’s right to appeal on the ground of 
judicial error in any suit or the tenant’s or 
member’s right to file a suit in equity to pre-
vent the execution of a judgment. 

8 Tenant or member chargeable with costs or 
legal actions regardless of outcome. Agreement 
by the tenant or member to pay attorney’s 
fees or other legal costs whenever the land-
lord or board decides to take action against 
the tenant or member even though the court 
finds in favor of the tenant or member. 
(Omission of this clause does not mean that 
the tenant or member, as a party to a law-
suit, may not be obligated to pay attorney’s 
fees or other costs if the tenant or member 
loses the suit.) 

F Modification of lease or occupancy agree-
ment and notification to tenants or members. 
The landlord or board may modify the terms 
and conditions of the lease or occupancy 
agreement with FmHA or its successor agen-
cy under Public Law 103–354 prior consent, 
effective at the end of the initial term or a 
successive term, by serving an appropriate 
notice on the tenant or members, together 
with the tender of a revised lease or occu-
pancy agreement or an addendum revising 
the existing lease or occupancy agreement. 
This notice and tender shall be delivered to 
the tenant or member either by first-class 
mail, properly stamped and addressed or 
hand-delivered to the premises to an adult 
member of the household. The date on which 
the notice shall be deemed to be received by 
the tenant or member shall be the date on 
which the first-class letter is mailed or the 
date on which the copy of the notice is deliv-
ered to the premises. The notice must be re-
ceived at least 30 days prior to the last date 
on which the tenant or member has the right 
to terminate the occupancy without exe-
cuting the revised lease or occupancy agree-
ment. The notice must advise the tenants or 
members that they may appeal modifica-
tions to the lease or occupancy agreement in 
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accordance with subpart L of part 1944 of this 
chapter if the modification will result in a 
denial, substantial reduction, or termination 
of benefits being received. The same notifica-
tion will be applicable to any changes in the 
rules and regulations for the project. 

G Occupancy rules and informative material. 
Occupancy rules establish the basis for the 
management-tenant or member relationship. 
Occupancy rules and regulations must be 
provided and explained by the project man-
agement to enable the tenant or member to 
understand the purposes, objectives, and 
standards of the project. The rules will be 
approved by the FmHA or its successor agen-
cy under Public Law 103–354 State Director 
or designee, generally together with the 
project management plan, management 
agreement, and lease or occupancy agree-
ment form. 

1 All rules for occupancy and rent or oc-
cupancy charge structures will be in writing 
posted conspicuously in the borrower’s and/ 
or manager’s offices and provided to each 
tenant or member with the lease or occu-
pancy agreement. 

2 Proposed changes of any rules for occu-
pancy must be made available to each tenant 
or member at least 30 days in advance of im-
plementation, and tenants or members must 
be advised that they may appeal changes in 
accordance with FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 tenant 
grievance and appeals procedure subpart L of 
part 1944 of this chapter. 

3 Landlords or cooperatives may not 
place unreasonable restrictions on residents 
desiring to use federally financed commu-
nity rooms for their enjoyment. No rule may 
infringe on the rights of the rental tenants 
to organize an association of tenants. Such 
associations may be organized to bargain 
with management, as well as to act socially 
and/or provide for the welfare of its mem-
bers. The project management person or or-
ganization should be available and willing to 
work with a tenant organization. Examples 
of unreasonable restrictions include rules re-
quiring management representatives to be 
present in order to use community rooms, 
rules barring tenant or cooperative organiza-
tional meetings from using the rooms, or 
rules requiring management representatives 
to be present at any resident organizational 
meeting held in community rooms. 

4 Rules may be promulgated that prohibit 
activities which are detrimental to manage-
ment, tenants and members. Such activities 
include threats to the health or safety of 
other tenants or members or the employees 
of the borrower, interference with the quiet 
enjoyment of the premises by other tenants 
or members, or damage to the physical 
structure of the project. 

5 The borrower may choose to provide 
rules for nonelderly projects that either per-
mit or exclude pets except that no rules may 

be promulgated that would prohibit the oc-
cupancy of a household member who requires 
the services of a service animal to achieve 
the normal function of that household mem-
ber. 

6 For each RRH project or portion of a 
project specifically designated for the elder-
ly, the borrower must have established 
project rules permitting elderly, handi-
capped, or disabled tenants to keep com-
monly accepted household pets. These pet 
rules are to be governed by the following 
guidelines: 

a Pet rules must not: 
(1) Prohibit, prevent, restrict, or discrimi-

nate against any tenant who owns or keeps a 
pet in their apartment unit, with respect to 
continued occupancy in the project unless 
the approved project pet rules are violated. 

(2) Prohibit, prevent, restrict, or discrimi-
nate against any applicant who owns a pet 
with respect to obtaining occupancy in the 
project. 

(3) Charge an extra monthly rental charge 
for pets. 

b Borrowers with operational projects 
must consult with the tenants of the project 
when revising pet rules and retain docu-
mentation on how the consultation process 
was conducted. 

c. Borrowers with new projects will estab-
lish pet rules prior to occupancy, but may 
revise those rules based on tenant comments 
and suggestions received after rent-up be-
gins. 

d Pet rules will be approved by FmHA or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354 as part of, or an amendment to, the 
project lease. FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 approval will be 
granted when the rules meet the provisions 
and intent of this subparagraph. 

e Pet rules will be reasonable and will be 
written to consider at the least the following 
factors: 

(1) Density of project units. 
(2) Pet size. 
(3) Type of pet. 
(4) Potential financial obligations of ten-

ants who own or keep pets. 
(5) Standards of pet care. 
(6) Pet exercise areas. 
(7) State and local animal laws or ordi-

nances. 
(8) Liability insurance. 
f Pet rules must allow the borrower or 

project manager authorization to remove 
from the project any pet whose conduct or 
condition is duly determined to constitute a 
nuisance or threat to the health or safety of 
other tenants or members in the project or 
persons in the surrounding community. 

7 Initial rules will be attached to the 
lease or occupancy agreement. Approval by 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 for changers and additions may 
be requested as needed. 
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8 The following items illustrate areas 
that are among those which should be ad-
dressed in rules or informative materials de-
veloped by management and provided to all 
tenants or members prior to move-in: 

a Explanation of rights and responsibil-
ities under the lease or occupancy agree-
ment. Where a non-English language is com-
mon to a project area, a lease or occupancy 
agreement written in that language should 
also be provided. 

b Rent payment or occupancy charge 
policies and procedures should be fully ex-
plained. 

c Policy on periodic inspection of units. 
d Responding to tenant or member com-

plaints. 
e Maintenance request procedure. 
f Project services and facilities available 

to tenants or members. 
g Office location, hours, and emergency 

telephone numbers. 
h Map showing location of community fa-

cilities including schools, health care, librar-
ies, parks, etc. 

i Restrictions on storage and prohibition 
against abandoning vehicles in the project 
area. 

j A rental project newsletter or other 
printed material distributed to potential 
tenants or the public. If a newsletter or 
other printed material is desired, it must 
contain an appropriate nondiscrimination 
statement, or fair housing slogan or logo-
type. 

k Community and public transportation 
schedules. 

9 Tenant or member may be permitted to 
have a guest(s) visit their household. How-
ever, the landlord reserves the right to re-
quest a recorded declaration of domicile or 
proof of domicile if it is suspected that the 
guest is an unauthorized household occu-
pant. Such suspicion may arise whenever an 
adult person(s) is making reoccurring visits 
or one continuous visit of 14 days and/or 
nights in a 45–day period without prior noti-
fication of the management. Should the ten-
ant or person in question not provide the re-
quested information needed to confirm other 
domicile, or should the facts be sufficient to 
evidence domicile in the project, then the 
landlord may consider such person(s) a mem-
ber of the tenant household and may enforce 
any lease covenants shown to be broken and/ 
or require recertification. 

10 No provisions may be incorporated into 
occupancy rules that would discriminate 
against or otherwise deny equal opportunity 
to any person (whether the tenant or a per-
son associated with the tenant) in the terms, 
conditions, or privileges of rental of a dwell-
ing unit, or in the provision for services or 
facilities in connection wherewith, because 
of race, color, religion, sex, familial status, 
National origin, or handicap. 

11 The borrower must establish and en-
force rules to ensure there are reasonable ac-
commodations to persons who are handi-
capped or disabled. 

H Security deposits. 
1 Security deposits are encouraged and 

they should be used when it is reasonable 
and customary for the area for assurance of 
rental payment or charges for damages. The 
amount of security deposits must be re-
flected in the borrower’s management plan 
and may not be changed without the written 
consent of the FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 Servicing Official. 
When security deposits are used, they should 
not exceed an amount equal to the net ten-
ant contribution for one month or basic rent, 
whichever is greater. Families receiving a 
HUD rental subsidy will pay security depos-
its according to HUD requirements. In an el-
derly project, the amount of additional secu-
rity deposit for pets must be reasonable and 
not designed to prohibit or discourage ten-
ancy but in no case should it exceed the 
basic rent of the project. Where a service 
animal is necessary for the normal function 
of a household member, an additional secu-
rity deposit for the animal may not be 
charged. A membership fee, equal to one 
month’s occupancy charge, will be required 
from members of a cooperative. 

2 Security deposits for persons eligible for 
RA or Section 8 assistance shall be adminis-
tered in a manner to prevent hardship on the 
household. If such tenants or members can-
not pay the full amount initially, they may 
be given terms that may ordinarily: 

a For RRH projects, not exceed a down-
payment of 30 percent of adjusted monthly 
income plus $15 per month or that amount 
needed monthly to complete the security de-
posit within 3 months, whichever is greater 
(landlords may provide payment over longer 
terms if desired). For RCH projects, not ex-
ceed an initial payment of $25 plus the 
amount needed monthly to complete the 
membership fee within 3 months (longer 
terms may be permitted if desired by the 
project). Should installments not be met, the 
total security deposit charge may become 
due and payable in full. 

b For low-income farmworkers in an LH 
project, not exceed $25 downpayment and $15 
per month until an equivalent of one 
month’s project rent is reached. In the case 
of migrants who will occupy the units for a 
short period of time, exception to this policy 
by FmHA or its successor agency under Pub-
lic Law 103–354 may be made upon written re-
quest from the borrower when it is shown 
that such deposits need to be raised to pro-
tect the interest of the government and it 
will not create a hardship on the tenants. 

3 Security deposits or membership fees 
shall be handled in accordance with any 
State or local laws governing security depos-
its. Both security deposits and membership 
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fees shall be deposited in a separate account 
when required by State or local law, and 
such funds must be held in a Federally in-
sured institution, and shall be handled in ac-
cordance with any State or local laws gov-
erning such deposits. Funds in the security 
deposit account shall only be used for au-
thorized purposes as intended and rep-
resented by the project management in the 
management plan, and until so used, shall be 
held by the borrower in trust for the respec-
tive tenants. Funds in the membership fee 
account shall only be used for authorized 
purposes, until so used, shall be held by the 
borrower in trust for the respective mem-
bers. 

4 Borrowers may assess fair and reason-
able charges to the security deposit or mem-
bership fee for damage and loss caused or al-
lowed by the tenant or member. An itemized 
accounting for such charges must be pre-
sented to the tenant or member after the 
move-out inspection provided for in para-
graph X E 2 of this exhibit, unless the tenant 
or member has abandoned the property and 
his/her whereabouts are unknown and cannot 
be ascertained after reasonable inquiry. 

5 The owner may not increase, for persons 
with handicaps, any customarily required se-
curity or membership fee deposit for restora-
tion made to earlier modifications that per-
mitted the handicapped person’s full enjoy-
ment of the dwelling unit. However, where it 
is necessary in order to ensure with reason-
able certainty that funds will be available to 
pay for the restoration(s) at the end of the 
occupancy, the borrower may negotiate as 
part of such a restoration agreement, a pro-
vision requiring that the tenant or member 
pay into an interest bearing escrow account, 
over a reasonable period, a reasonable 
amount of money not to exceed the cost of 
the restoration(s). The interest in any such 
account shall accrue to the benefit of the 
tenant or member. 

I Leases for Section 8 and Section 8 Rental 
Certificate or Rental Voucher tenants/members. 
Guidance on leases for such tenants/members 
is set out herein; however, the use of any ad-
dendum necessary to meet the requirements 
of FmHA or its successor agency under Pub-
lic Law 103–354, HUD, or other provider of 
subsidy or assistance as needed to comply 
with the requirements of any such other pro-
gram, may be used as needed. Whenever con-
flicts or disputes arise, the servicing office 
may forward a request for guidance to the 
State Director, along with any recommenda-
tion. The State Director may take those ac-
tions necessary to resolve the issue with the 
advice and consent of the Office of the Gen-
eral Counsel. 

1 Borrowers/Management agents are en-
couraged to use HUD approved lease agree-
ments. Evidence of HUD’s approval should be 
contained in the borrower casefile. 

2 The HUD approved lease must include 
modifications of addenda that meet the con-
ditions or requirements of paragraphs VIII 
A, B1, B2, and B3 of this subpart. 

3 An FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354-approved lease may also 
be used when acceptable by HUD and the 
local housing authority when this option 
proves more practical. 

IX Rent or Occupancy Charge Collection 
and Account Servicing: Rents or occupancy 
charges should be due on the first day of 
each month of the lease period. The time and 
place of on-site collection and/or the correct 
address for payment by mail should be well 
publicized and consideration should be given 
to an after-hours depository if needed. 

A Receipts. A form of serially-numbered 
receipts should be selected for use and the 
collection agent held accountable for every 
receipt. Optional collection services may be 
considered when they are available. 

B Delinquencies. A system to identify and 
detect unpaid rents or occupancy charges 
within the project should be instituted in the 
management plan and made known to ten-
ants in their lease. The borrower may adopt 
the late rental payment penalty and grace 
period prescribed by State law; otherwise, 
they may not exceed a grace period of 10 
days from the rental or occupancy charge 
due date and not have the late payment pen-
alty exceed the highest of: 

1 An amount up to $10 after the grace pe-
riod, or 

2 An amount equal to 5 percent of the ten-
ant’s gross tenant contribution (GTC) (found 
at line 30 of Form 1944–8) after the grace pe-
riod, 

3 Any late payment policy established 
should address unusual situations such as 
tenants receiving income from Social Secu-
rity, pension and retirement type funds that 
tenants receive routinely in the few days fol-
lowing the first day of a month. A 5-day 
grace period following the usual receipt date 
of such payment could be permitted. 

4 The plan should also address any provi-
sions for waivers of late payment penalty, if 
appropriate 

C Recapture of improperly advanced RA and 
interest credit. Recapture of improperly ad-
vanced RA and interest credit will be proc-
essed in accordance with subpart N of part 
1951 of this chapter. 

D Project late fees on Predetermined Amorti-
zation Schedule System (PASS) accounts. 

1 Project late fees are charged on PASS 
account loan payments not received by 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 by close of business of the 10th 
day of the month as further described in 
§ 1951.510(c)(2) of subpart K of part 1951 of this 
chapter. 

2 A borrower may request in writing a 
waiver of a late fee according to 
§ 1951.510(c)(2) of subpart K of part 1951 of this 
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chapter. Borrowers may appeal a denial of a 
request for a late fee waiver under the Agen-
cy’s uniform appeal procedures set out in 
subpart B of part 1900 of this chapter. 

3 Late fee waivers are determined to be a 
benefit to the borrower entity and must be 
reported to IRS by the FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 Fi-
nance Office. 

4 If the cause of the late fee is an FmHA 
or its successor agency under Public Law 
103–354 accounting system error, the FmHA 
or its successor agency under Public Law 
103–354 may suspend sending monthly bil-
lings to the borrower until the error is cor-
rected. If delinquency persists after cor-
recting the error, late fees will be charged. 
Late fees charged as a result of FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
error will be administratively corrected and 
not reported to IRS by the FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 Fi-
nance Office. 

5 Except for cooperatives, project late 
fees are not a project expense. Borrowers 
shall record a line item entry on Form 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 1930–7 showing late fees, offset by 
an equal transfer-in of the borrower’s own 
funds or a reduction of the borrower’s return 
to owner. 

X Maintenance: Maintenance is the proc-
ess by which a project is kept up in all re-
spects and includes land, buildings, and 
equipment. Maintenance responsibilities will 
be included in the management plan. Proper 
maintenance will help to keep a good image 
for the project, help to minimize vacancies, 
and help to preserve the project. Plans and 
policies for inspections, effective mainte-
nance and repair are to be established at the 
outset and modified periodically as needed. 
The following types of maintenance are nec-
essary: 

A Routine maintenance. Routine mainte-
nance and repairs will be those cost items 
and services included in the annual budgets 
to be paid out of the operations and mainte-
nance expense account. It includes regular 
maintenance tasks of the project that can be 
prescheduled or planned for, based on equip-
ment availability and property characteris-
tics tasks performed on a regular basis to 
maintain the appearance of the project and 
to prevent an accumulation of debris and 
subsequent deterioration. 

B Responsive maintenance. This includes 
all maintenance tasks performed in response 
to either requests for service from tenants or 
members or unplanned breakdowns. An es-
sential part of any maintenance system is to 
plan for requests coming from the dwelling 
units and for emergencies occurring in the 
systems serving the apartments. The project 
manager or the cooperative’s board of direc-
tors should develop a plan to focus on: who 
receives the requests, how they are handled, 

how specific employees or members are as-
signed to the tasks, and what kind of records 
are kept. The capacity of the project man-
ager or board to respond to requests and 
emergencies is one of the true tests of a suc-
cessful maintenance program. 

C Preventive maintenance. This is similar 
to inspection type maintenance. Regular 
checking and servicing of equipment and 
systems is done as required by service infor-
mation. Preventive maintenance of mechan-
ical systems, building exteriors, elevators, 
and heating and cooling systems in projects 
require specially trained personnel. The 
project manager should establish biweekly 
or monthly schedules in which the routine 
oiling, adjusting, replacing of filters, and the 
like is done based on manufacturer’s manu-
als and specifications. 

D Long-term maintenance and replacement 
(curable depreciation). These are major ex-
pense items which normally do not occur on 
an annual basis and cannot be afforded from 
an annual budget income. These expenses in-
clude items such as repaving the parking lot 
or repainting an entire building or project; 
replacement of furnishings and equipment, 
including such items as stoves, refrigerators, 
carpets, water heaters, furnaces, etc., when-
ever such replacements are beyond the ca-
pacity of the project to pay out of the nor-
mal operating budget. The borrower may re-
quest permission to use reserve funds to pay 
for these expenses when they occur. How-
ever, use of funds out of the reserve account 
must be preapproved by FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354. 

E Inspection maintenance. These are main-
tenance inspections performed periodically 
to discover problems before crisis situations 
develop. The following inspections of each 
apartment should be made at appropriate 
times: 

1 Move-in inspection. Before move-in oc-
curs, the management and the applicant ac-
cepted for occupancy should together inspect 
the unit to be occupied and agree upon any 
needed repairs. A written inspection report 
shall be prepared and a copy retained in the 
tenant’s or member’s file. Any of the identi-
fied deficiencies not corrected prior to occu-
pancy should be noted on the lease or occu-
pancy agreement or inspection move-in re-
port and signed by the tenant or member and 
borrower’s or cooperative’s representative. 

2 Move-out inspection. An inspection 
should be scheduled with the tenant or mem-
ber when the management becomes aware 
that the tenant or member is moving out or 
has vacated the unit. Whenever possible, the 
inspection should be performed after the fur-
niture has been moved out and before any 
portion of the security deposit or member-
ship fee is returned to the tenant or member. 
Any repairs or costs to be charged to the ten-
ant or member will be according to the 
terms of the lease or occupancy agreement, 
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local law, and regulations governing security 
deposits or membership fees in paragraph 
VIII H of this exhibit. 

3 Periodic inspection. An inspection of this 
type should be made at least annually. The 
borrower should make provisions in the lease 
or occupancy agreement for periodic inspec-
tion of the units as a part of a preventive 
maintenance program. 

XI Rent or Occupancy Charge and/or Utility 
Allowance Changes: It may be necessary as 
operating costs and/or revenues fluctuate to 
consider a change of rental or occupancy 
charge rates and/or utility allowance to keep 
the project viable. Before any change of 
rates or utility allowances may occur, prior 
written consent of FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 is required. 
The procedure to request and implement a 
rental or occupancy charge and/or utility al-
lowance change is specifically covered in ex-
hibit C of this subpart. 

XII Borrower Project Budgets: 
A Budget development and preparation. 

Borrowers are responsible for developing 
project budgets using past actual experiences 
in developing realistic forecasts of projected 
project operations. The budgets must reflect 
realistic income sources, uses and amounts 
of funds, and allow realistic vacancy and 
contingency factors. Generated funds must 
be sufficient to pay the forecasted operating 
costs and authorized expenditures of the 
project including reserves and return on in-
vestment, leaving adequate cash on hand as 
a normal course of business. When the in-
come from typical project operations (oper-
ational income) is not sufficient to meet the 
normal project cash requirements, the bor-
rower is responsible for reducing expendi-
tures, seeking FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 consent for author-
ized withdrawals from the reserve account, 
and/or providing other funds (nonoperational 
funds) to meet project budget requirements. 

1 Budgets will be prepared according to 
the instructions contained in Form FmHA or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354 1930–7. 

2 Borrowers are required to develop a 
project budget annually. 

3 Budgets will cover a 12-month period se-
lected by the borrower that is to be the 
project fiscal year of operation. 

4 Separate budgets will be developed for 
each project when the borrower owns more 
than one MFH project. 

5 The priority order of planned and actual 
budget expenditures will be: 

a Critical operating and maintenance ex-
penses. 

b FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 debt service. 

c Reserve account requirements. 
d Other authorized expenditures. 
e Return on owner’s investment. 

6 Project funds may not be used for bor-
rower organizational expenses, except in the 
case of a cooperative or a nonprofit organiza-
tion. 

7 When tenants pay their own utilities, an 
updated or current exhibit A–6 to subpart E 
of part 1944 of this chapter is to accompany 
each budget submitted to FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 for 
approval with justification to either retain 
or change the utility allowance(s). 

8 When planned expenses appear to be ex-
cessive (such as when expenses at any sub-
total level on the budget exceed 5 percent of 
that shown for typical costs for the area) for 
the area based on current cost data, the 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 budget approval official may re-
quire justification prior to any approval ac-
tion. Such justifications may include evi-
dence that the cost is in line with what oth-
ers charge for the same or similar services 
(i.e., cost estimates from others, summaries 
of rental housing revenues and expenditures 
from Agency or third-party sources, etc.). 
Such evidence may also be verified by the 
Agency at its option. When differences can-
not be mutually resolved, the request for 
budget approval may be denied and the bor-
rower or the borrower’s designated rep-
resentative will be advised of any applicable 
appeal rights in accordance with subpart B 
of part 1900 of this chapter. Any unapproved 
expenditure actually paid which is clearly in 
excess of a fair and equitable amount may be 
required to be repaid to the project from any 
authorized return on owner’s investment or 
from nonproject sources, such that tenant 
rents will not be increased. 

B Return on investments authorized by bor-
rower’s RRH loan agreement/resolution. 

1 Limited profit borrowers may take the 
return authorized for the project’s current 
budget year without further FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
approval under the following conditions. 
(Note: This does not require delaying taking 
a return on owner’s investment pending sub-
mission, review and/or action on any re-
quired audit by Agency officials): 

a Payment may be only once a year based 
on the project’s financial condition as of the 
end of the project fiscal year. Borrowers are 
encouraged to draw the return on invest-
ment in the days or weeks immediately fol-
lowing the close of the fiscal year. The re-
turn on owner’s investment must be taken 
within 9 months of the last day earned, ex-
cept when the circumstances described in 
paragraph XII B 2 a of this exhibit are appli-
cable. 

b Payment must have been approved as 
part of the borrower’s annual budget on 
Form FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 1930–7. 

c The project must produce income at ap-
proved monthly rental rates during that 
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year, which is used to pay for the project ex-
penses in accordance with the approved 
budget and, when appropriate, an approved 
servicing plan. 

d The balance in the reserve account 
must be on schedule less any authorized 
withdrawals not requiring immediate rede-
posit. The amount of reduction of the annual 
reserve requirement approved as part of a 
servicing plan will be considered like an au-
thorized withdrawal not requiring redeposit. 

e Payment of the return may not produce 
a negative ending year unrestricted cash bal-
ance on Form FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 1930–7. 

2 If income is not adequate in any given 
fiscal year to cover payment of the return to 
owner, FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 may authorize a well-doc-
umented request that the return be paid, 
provided: 

a The return can be paid from excess 
funds available at the end of the following 
fiscal year of operation, as long as it does 
not result in a rent increase and the reserve 
account is current less authorized with-
drawals. (Noncash losses of the borrower en-
tity do not qualify to be recouped in fol-
lowing years.) This option is authorized only 
for the year immediately following the year 
in which the return was not paid. The prior 
year’s return on owner’s investment may be 
taken first, and any residual left to apply to 
the current year’s return on owner’s invest-
ment at the borrower’s option. 

b Release of reserve funds at the end of 
the current budget year with Servicing Offi-
cial approval, if the principles set out in 
paragraphs XII B 1 b, c, and d of this exhibit 
are met, and further provided that: 

(1) The reserve account will not be reduced 
below the amount required to be accumu-
lated by that time considering any pre-
viously authorized withdrawals or adjust-
ments; and, 

(2) During the next 12 months, the amount 
in the reserve account will not likely fall 
below that required to be accumulated by 
the end of such 12-month period. 

(3) This option is authorized only for the 
year immediately following the year in 
which the return was not paid. This does not 
apply to the return on investment waived 
while a special market rent budget is in ef-
fect. 

3 Borrowers operating under a servicing 
(workout) plan and/or using special servicing 
market rate rents that call for less than full 
debt service payment to FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 shall 
forego and cannot recoup the annual return 
to owner for the budget year that such plans 
or rents are in place. 

4 When the provisions of paragraph XII B 
1, 2 of this exhibit are not met only because 
the payment was not earlier approved on 
Form FmHA or its successor agency under 

Public Law 103–354 1930–7, and the conditions 
are such that approval can now be made, an 
adjusted form may be submitted to seek ap-
proval of the return on owner’s investment. 

5 Should the return to owner be suspected 
or discovered as being improperly taken, the 
Agency may initiate appropriate servicing 
actions, including using the authorities set 
out in subpart N of part 1951 of this chapter 
and/or FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 Instructions 2012–B and/or 
1940–M (available at any FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 of-
fice). 

C Advancement (loan) of funds to a RRH 
project by the owner, member of the organiza-
tion, or agent of the owner. 

1 Prior written approval by the Servicing 
Office is required. Such advances may be au-
thorized when justified by unusual short- 
term conditions. When conditions are not 
short-term in nature, a servicing plan may 
be developed and advances may be approved 
in accordance with the provisions set out in 
subpart B of part 1965 of this chapter. Jus-
tification will be based on the following: 

a A review of the documented cir-
cumstances and the project operating budget 
before any funds are advanced (loaned). The 
financial position of the project must not be 
jeopardized. 

b Funds are not immediately available 
from any of the following sources: 

(1) Reserve funds 
(2) Initial operating capital 
(3) An imminent rent increase 
2 The funds will be applied to ordinary 

project operating and maintenance expenses. 
3 Interest may be charged or paid on the 

loan from project income; however, interest 
must be reasonable. The proposal may be de-
nied if FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 financing can be provided 
to resolve the problem in a more cost effec-
tive manner. 

4 No lien in connection with the loan will 
be filed against the property securing the 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 loan or against project income. 
The advance may show as an unsecured 
project liability on financial statements pre-
pared for year-end reports until such time as 
it is authorized to be repaid. 

5 The payback of the advance (loan) may 
be permitted by the Servicing Official pro-
vided the terms and conditions were mutu-
ally agreed to by the borrower and FmHA or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354 at the time of the advance and the finan-
cial position of the project will not be jeop-
ardized. Payback should only be permitted 
on the advance when the FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 debt 
is current and the reserve requirements are 
being maintained at the authorized levels. 

D Special budget planning. 
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1 Budgets must be prepared according to 
the special servicing guidelines of subpart B 
of part 1965 of this chapter when a project is 
experiencing abnormal vacancy or is other-
wise detrimentally impacted by economic re-
versal in the community. 

2 The borrower is responsible for obtain-
ing FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 approval of budget revi-
sions that reflect significant change to ap-
proved operating cost levels that occur dur-
ing the budget year. Minor revisions to an 
approved FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 budget to reflect 
changes of 5 percent or less in any subtotal 
area of the budget need not be subject to 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 approval unless specifically re-
quired as an approval condition. Other minor 
revisions of a few line items may be entered 
on the current approved budget as ‘‘pencil’’ 
changes and initialed by the borrower and 
approved by FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354. Major changes in-
volving many budget line items will warrant 
a new budget being prepared and approved by 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354. 

3 When revisions to approved budgets are 
required, the Agency action should normally 
be obtained within 30 days. Should action be 
delayed, the borrower or management should 
notify the Agency of any changes which they 
deem as being essential and in the project’s 
best interest provided such changes do not 
involve the use of reserve funds, a rent 
change, or added secured debt, and proceed 
to meet the needs of the project. In such 
cases, the borrower may request, and the 
Agency may grant, postapproval of the ac-
tions when shown to be in the best interest 
of the project. 

XIII Accounting and Reporting Require-
ments and Financial Management Analysis: 

A General. FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 anticipates that 
RRH, RCH, and LH borrowers will account 
for all project income and expenses through 
a bookkeeping or accounting system as a 
normal business practice appropriately re-
flecting the complexity of project oper-
ations. The degree of sophistication will also 
reflect such factors as the type of borrower; 
the size, location, and type of project and the 
type of financial management information 
needed to provide adequate guidance and su-
pervision to assure program objectives are 
being met. 

1 Separate accountability. Separate ac-
countability of funds is required and may be 
accomplished by bookkeeping entry for each 
required account for each project owned by 
the same borrower. The policies set out here-
in are aimed at facilitating efficient ac-
counting of services by one borrower. Com-
mingling of the funds of two or more dif-
ferent borrowers is prohibited to guard 

against the failure of one borrower threat-
ening the financial resources of other bor-
rowers (i.e., ensuring that a bankruptcy does 
not result in freezing bank accounts of sev-
eral borrowers due to the failure of one bor-
rower to fulfill its responsibilities). 

a Multiple projects owned by one borrower. 
(1) The principle of separate accountability 

permits a borrower’s approved accounting 
system to combine project funds in one or 
more bank accounts for two or more projects 
owned by the same borrower. The principle is 
met as long as the accounting system seg-
regates and tracks each project’s funds sepa-
rately. This means for example, that a Hous-
ing Authority, or any other borrower owning 
two or more projects, can maintain one bank 
account for: 

(i) All project accounts, or 
(ii) The same type of account, such as gen-

eral operating account or tax and insurance 
account, for two or more projects. 

(2) When the borrower seeks approval of its 
accounting and funds tracking system ac-
cording to § 1930.122(a)(2) of this subpart, it 
must demonstrate to FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 that the 
funds tracking system will segregate and 
maintain separate recordkeeping account-
ability for separate projects. Such dem-
onstration must include a certification 
issued by a Certified Public Accountant 
(CPA) stating the system will function to 
meet this principle of separate account-
ability. 

b Multiple projects owned by multiple bor-
rowers. When a management agent is han-
dling funds for multiple borrowers, the prin-
ciples of separate accountability within a 
bank account does not extend across mul-
tiple borrowers, thus a separate general op-
erating bank account is required for each 
separate borrower. 

c Central funds collection and disbursement 
system. When a management agent is han-
dling multiple bank accounts for multiple 
borrowers, a central funds collection and dis-
bursement accounting system may be main-
tained. This would permit systems under 
which a management agent could track 
funds going into and out of the bank ac-
counts of more than one borrower. This prac-
tice would facilitate the hiring and paying of 
firms providing services to multiple bor-
rowers. A central funds collection and dis-
bursement accounting system would permit 
billings to be prorated between projects and 
permit funds to be withdrawn from many 
bank accounts to facilitate payment by one 
check to a firm providing services to mul-
tiple borrowers. 

d Prorating. The accounting system and/or 
management plan must document how funds 
are prorated for revenue and expenses which 
are not clearly identifiable as being associ-
ated with a particular project (e.g., how in-
terest earned on a general operating account 
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or reserve account serving two or more 
projects owned by a single borrower will be 
prorated between projects, etc.) Where this 
documentation is not present for some un-
usual reason, and the Agency and the bor-
rower become involved in a dispute over this 
issue which cannot be mutually resolved, the 
Agency will consider proration by the num-
ber of units in the respective projects to be 
an appropriate guide for prorating the funds 
involved. 

e Tenant security deposit concerns. When 
tenant security deposits are being accounted 
for, the provisions of state and local laws 
must be met. This may dictate that such ac-
counts be held in a separate bank account or 
otherwise separately identified and may re-
quire such funds be held in trust for the ten-
ant. The manner in which tenant security 
deposits must be kept must also be docu-
mented in the accounting system and/or 
management plan. Where this documenta-
tion is not provided for some unusual reason, 
resolution of any disputes must be done ac-
cording to State and local law. 

2 Borrowers with loan agreements or resolu-
tions. Borrowers with loan agreements or res-
olutions are subject to the following condi-
tions: 

a All RRH, RCH, and LH projects with 
loan agreements or resolutions approved on 
or after October 27, 1980, are required to com-
ply with the provisions of paragraph XIII of 
this exhibit. 

b All RRH, RCH, and LH projects with 
loan agreements or resolutions approved 
prior to October 27, 1980, will be guided by 
the recordkeeping and reporting require-
ments of their respective loan agreement or 
resolution. 

(1) They are encouraged, however, to adopt 
the provisions of this paragraph by amending 
their existing loan agreement or resolution. 

(2) The State Director may require adop-
tion of these provisions when deemed nec-
essary as a loan servicing action. 

c Any amendment to an existing loan 
agreement, or resolution, requires concur-
rence of all parties and written consent of 
the Servicing Office staff who may, when 
deemed necessary, obtain advice from the 
State Director or the OGC prior to enact-
ment of the amendment. 

3 Individual LH Borrowers. Individual farm 
borrowers with nonrental LH units will be 
considered in general compliance with this 
paragraph by virtue of completing the rec-
ordkeeping and reporting requirements of 
their farm and home planning with FmHA or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354 as outlined in subpart D of part 1944 of 
this chapter. 

4 Borrowers without loan agreements or res-
olutions. Borrowers without loan agreements 
or resolutions are required to maintain in-
formation in sufficient detail to provide the 
necessary assurance that program objectives 

are being met. As necessary to protect the 
integrity of the program, the State Director 
may require the borrower to establish a sys-
tem capable of accounting for project oper-
ations and reporting. 

B Accounting System. A bookkeeping and 
accounting system provides the financial in-
formation needed to effectively plan, con-
trol, and evaluate project activity, whether 
required by FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 or not. The type of 
system should be determined prior to loan 
closing, but may be revised with FmHA or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354 approval to meet program objectives. The 
Agency may also prescribe the system to be 
used. Form FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 1930–5, ‘‘Book-
keeping System—Small Borrower,’’ can be 
adapted to the bookkeeping needs of small 
MFH borrowers. Bookkeeping for MFH oper-
ations may be maintained using a cash or ac-
crual method of accounting. 

1 Type of borrower accounts. As used in 
this paragraph, the term account is used 
interchangeably to mean either a ledger (or 
bookkeeping account) or an actual banking 
account, or an actual securities account pro-
vided any securities account meets the con-
ditions set out herein. Depending upon the 
complexity of the accounting system being 
used, these accounts may be further sub-
divided into subsidiary ledgers or accounts 
to assist the borrower in providing the infor-
mation needed for project financial analysis 
or reporting requirements. Regardless of the 
number or types of accounts established, or 
whether a bookkeeping and accounting sys-
tem is required, the borrower must meet the 
following: 

a All project funds shall be held only in 
domestic bank accounts insured by an agen-
cy of the Federal Government, or backed by 
collateral provided by the bank, or held in 
securities meeting the conditions set out 
herein. 

b All funds in any account shall be used 
only for authorized purposes as described in 
their loan agreement or resolution and this 
exhibit. 

c All funds received and held in any ac-
count, except the tenant security deposit, 
membership fee, and management reserve 
(patronage capital), shall be held in trust by 
the borrower for the loan obligation until 
used and serve as security for the FmHA or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354 loan or grant. 

d All project funds will be accounted for 
by adequate and clear accounting methods or 
practices that otherwise maintain propri-
etary identity of said funds for each bor-
rower. 

e Each borrower will maintain at least 
one demand deposit or checking account. 
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However, it is not necessary for each book-
keeping account within one project to be 
maintained as a checking account. 

f In no case shall project fund accounts be 
pledged as collateral for non-FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
debts. 

2 Accounts. All RRH, RCH, and LH bor-
rowers will maintain, as a minimum, the ac-
counts required by their loan agreement or 
resolution. The following accounts are stand-
ard for all RRH and RCH loans approved 
after October 27, 1980, and for those who have 
amended their previous loan agreements or 
resolutions to adopt these accounts, or those 
required by a servicing plan. The following 
listing of accounts also identifies the order 
of funding of each of the listed accounts 
through available project revenues each 
month: 

a General operating account. This account 
records all project income and disbursements 
exclusive of tenant security deposits. Excess 
project cash held in this account may be 
combined with other project funds described 
in this paragraph in temporary (immediate 
call) interest bearing accounts when sepa-
rate bookkeeping records are maintained for 
the individual project accounts. This ac-
count may be further subdivided as folllows: 

(1) Initial operating capital. 
(i) The initial operating capital must be in 

the form of cash as set forth in § 1944.211(a)(6) 
of subpart E of part 1944 of this chapter. 

(ii) The borrower will have deposited the 
required initial operating cash into the gen-
eral operating account by the time of the 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 loan closing or when interim fi-
nancing funds are obtained, whichever oc-
curs first. These funds will blend with other 
revenue that accrues to the account to cover 
budgeted expenditures including payment of 
return to owner. 

(iii) After 2, but before 5 full (12 month) 
borrower fiscal years of project operation, 
the borrower may request (in writing) the 
State Director’s authorization to make a 
one-time withdrawal of the initial operating 
capital, or a part of it. The one-time with-
drawal can never exceed the initial operating 
capital as described in the loan agreement or 
loan resolution. The withdrawal can be ap-
proved provided that: 

(A) The project has achieved at least a 95 
percent occupancy level at time of the with-
drawal request or achieved a 95 percent occu-
pancy level for a 12-month period preceding 
the request and show strong prospects of re-
taining at least a 95 percent occupancy level 
in the immediate future. 

(B) The withdrawal will not affect the fi-
nancial integrity of the project. After with-
drawal, 10 percent of projected project ex-
penses should remain in the general oper-
ating account in excess of current liabilities 
then outstanding. The reserve account must 

be on schedule less authorized withdrawals. 
The borrower must demonstrate that all pru-
dent maintenance is being planned and per-
formed, and payment of necessary project 
expenses are not being deferred. 

(C) The State Director determines that the 
withdrawal will not necessitate a rent in-
crease during the year of withdrawal or dur-
ing the next year of operation, except that 
rent increases needed because of normal in-
creases of operation and maintenance ex-
penses unrelated to the withdrawal may be 
approved; and 

(D) The State Director has reviewed and 
approved any required borrower reports be-
fore the initial operating capital is with-
drawn. Promptness is expected but actual 
withdrawal of funds could occur in the sixth 
year. 

(2) Deposits. All income and revenue from 
the housing project shall, upon receipt, be 
immediately deposited in the general oper-
ating account. This will include rent or occu-
pancy charge receipts, housing subsidy pay-
ments (including HUD section 8 and FmHA 
or its successor agency under Public Law 
103–354 RA payments), laundry revenue, or 
any other project income including interest 
earned on project accounts. The borrower 
may also deposit other funds at any time 
which are to be used for purposes authorized 
by this section, including transfers from the 
reserve account. 

(3) Disbursements. The borrower shall pay 
or fund the actual, reasonable, and necessary 
monthly project expenses out of the general 
operating account. Current expenses may in-
clude the initial purchase and installation of 
furnishings and equipment with any other 
funds deposited in the general operating ac-
count which are not proceeds of the loan or 
income or revenue from the project. (How-
ever, nonprofit borrowers are permitted to 
use loan funds specified for initial operating 
capital purposes as authorized in subparts D 
and E of part 1944 of this chapter.) Other au-
thorized disbursements are FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 ap-
proved installments of debt service; real es-
tate tax and insurance escrow as provided in 
paragraph XIII B 2 b of this exhibit; reserve, 
and return on investment as provided in 
paragraph XIII B 2 c of this exhibit. In RRH 
accounts, any balance remaining in a general 
operating account, except as authorized, 
above, may be retained in this account or 
transferred to the reserve account. In RCH 
accounts, any balance in excess of three 
months of average operating expenses re-
maining in a general operating account will 
be transferred into the cooperative’s patron-
age capital account at the end of the fiscal 
year. 

(4) Unauthorized disbursements. Except for 
cooperatives, late fees charged the borrower 
according to subpart K of part 1951 of this 
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chapter, may not be paid from project in-
come. When late fees are deducted by FmHA 
or its successor agency under Public Law 
103–354 from payments made from project in-
come, the project general operating account 
must be reimbursed from nonproject income 
of the owner or management agent or de-
ducted from the owner’s return on invest-
ment. 

b Real estate tax and insurance escrow ac-
count. According to the borrower’s manage-
ment plan, project funds for periodic pay-
ment(s) of real estate taxes and real property 
insurance may be deposited in a real estate 
tax and insurance escrow account or held in 
the general operating account as cash on 
hand. The escrow account may be an interest 
bearing account. Deposits to the account 
should be in monthly increments of one- 
twelfth of the annual anticipated real estate 
tax and insurance payments. Any interest 
earned shall accrue to the project as project 
operational cash income. 

c. Reserve account. The reserve account is a 
required account subject to the requirements 
set out in this paragraph. The borrower will 
initiate monthly deposits in this project ac-
count, preferably an interest bearing ac-
count, starting the same month the first 
loan payment is due FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354. As projects 
age, the required reserve account level may 
be adjusted to meet anticipated ‘‘life-cycle’’ 
needs, including equipment and facility re-
placement costs, by amending the loan 
agreement/resolution. All RRH, RCH, and LH 
borrowers operating projects (i.e., all LH 
borrowers exclusive of those on-farm type 
LH borrowers) are required to establish a re-
serve account. Effective as of July 26, 1994, 
reserve funds will be required to be placed in 
a supervised account. The provisions of sub-
part A of part 1902 of this chapter apply. Re-
serve funds on deposit just prior to this date 
in instruments which are subject to mone-
tary penalties for early withdrawal may be 
temporarily held for the time needed to 
avoid such penalties. 

(1) Monthly installments. Immediately after 
paying each installment for the orderly re-
tirement of the FmHA or its successor agen-
cy under Public Law 103–354 loan, as provided 
in the borrower’s promissory note, required 
reserve installments shall be transferred to 
the Reserve Account at least at the monthly 
rate stipulated by the borrower’s loan agree-
ment or resolution starting with the date 
the first payment is due to the Agency. 
Monthly transfers will continue until the ac-
count reaches the total amount specified in 
the loan agreement or resolution. Monthly 
transfers shall be resumed the month fol-
lowing withdrawals that decrease the reserve 
account balance below its required level 
until it is restored to the specified total min-
imum sum. 

(2) Reserve account principles. Reserve ac-
count funds are governed by the following 
principles: 

(i) Primary use. The reserve account is pri-
marily used to meet the major capital ex-
pense needs of a project. It is expected that 
the reserve account should rarely have to be 
used to meet any noncapital expense need of 
a project; however, the Servicing Official 
may approve such uses when warranted in 
unusual circumstances (e.g., a cash income 
shortfall, using the notice of approval at ex-
hibit B–9 of this subpart). 

(ii) Investment vehicles and institutions. Re-
serve account funds not immediately needed 
to pay for expenses for authorized purposes 
may be held as set out herein. Reserve ac-
count funds may be held in the form of a 
checking, savings, negotiable order of with-
drawal, or similar account at a Federally in-
sured domestic institution such as a bank, 
savings and loan, or credit union. Reserve 
account funds may be held in the form of 
readily marketable obligations of the United 
States Treasury Department (e.g., U.S. 
Treasury bonds, U.S. Savings bonds, zero 
coupon bonds, etc.) at a Federally insured 
domestic institution or at an insured domes-
tic institution authorized to sell securities. 
Reserve account funds may also be held in 
the form of an account (the account may be 
a tax exempt account or a taxable account) 
established at an insured domestic institu-
tion authorized to sell securities (the insti-
tution may or may not charge brokerage 
fees), provided the accounts so established 
meet the remaining conditions set out herein 
and are not used in a speculative manner. 

(iii) Limitations on investments in securities. 
Any securities must be backed by the United 
States (U.S.) Government or an Agency of 
the U.S. Government, or be triple A (AAA) 
rated Government National Mortgage Asso-
ciation collateralized tax-emempt bonds or 
be AAA rated prerefunded bonds. 
Prerefunded bonds are bonds that originally 
may have been issued as general obligation 
or revenue bonds but are now secured, until 
the call date or maturity, by an ‘‘escrow 
fund’’ consisting entirely of direct U.S. Gov-
ernment obligations that are sufficient for 
paying the bondholders. 

(iv) Reporting actual costs of securities. In 
order to assure that required amounts have 
been paid into the reserve account, the ac-
tual costs of securities (which in many cases 
may not be the face value) must be shown on 
the project books. In addition, details of 
these transactions should be disclosed in 
footnotes to financial information provided 
to the Agency. 

(v) Security sales. When the Agency ap-
proves withdrawals from the reserve account 
and the funds are invested in securities, bor-
rowers must, to the extent that securities 
are available, assure that securities are sold 
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in an amount which results in proceeds suffi-
cient to cover the disbursement. 

(vi) Forecasting security sales. Since the sale 
or redemption of any securities may result 
in cash proceeds of less than the amount in-
vested, borrowers should take steps to mini-
mize the risk of loss from converting securi-
ties to cash. Needed reserve account with-
drawals should be forecasted well in advance 
to permit Agency approval of anticipated 
needs such that security sales can be ar-
ranged to be sold in favorable market condi-
tions. When sales of securities take place the 
proceeds will normally be held in a reserve 
fund at a domestic bank, savings and loan, 
credit union, or similar institution insured 
by an Agency of the Federal Government 
until such time as withdrawals are actually 
needed for the purposes authorized. Should 
unusual circumstances require the sale of se-
curities in unfavorable market conditions 
the borrower will not be required to reim-
burse the project for any losses incurred. 

(vii) Knowledge required of securities inves-
tors. Those investing in securities must be 
knowledgeable of common industry practices 
prior to investing in securities. Knowledge of 
the various fees that may be associated with 
the purchase and sale of securities and the 
maintenance of security accounts must be 
considered when making security invest-
ments (e.g., front end loads or fees, back end 
loads or fees, maintenance fees, etc.). Such 
fees may be paid by the general operating ac-
count or by the reserve account. However, 
the Agency must give its prior consent be-
fore reserve account funds may be used. 

(viii) Financial advisor limitations. Project 
proceeds may not be permitted to be used to 
pay for the services of a financial advisor to 
assist in the selecting of securities for in-
vestments, since the securities permitted are 
relatively limited and must meet the re-
quirements set out herein. However, normal 
brokerage fees may be paid to secure and sell 
securities. It is recognized that financial ad-
vice may also be provided as part of the nor-
mal brokerage fee service package to con-
summate the purchase and sale of securities. 
Separate financial advisor services fees, 
apart from normal brokerage fees, are pro-
hibited, however. 

(3) Reserve account tracking. Any deposit 
and withdrawal from the reserve account 
should be recorded on a withdrawal format 
for tracking and reconciliation of the ac-
count similar to that found in exhibit B–10 of 
this exhibit. 

(4) Excess reserve. Any amount in the re-
serve account which exceeds the total sum 
specified in the loan agreement or resolution 
may be transferred to the general operating 
account for the authorized purposes only 
when it is agreed between the borrower and 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 to be in excess of the require-
ment and there is a specific need for the ex-

cess funds. However, the FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 Serv-
icing Official may direct the excess sum to 
be retained in the reserve account or applied 
as an extra payment on the loan. 

(5) Reserve account use. Funds in the re-
serve account may be used for purposes in 
accordance with this paragraph. The bor-
rower will request withdrawal of reserve 
funds in a written or confirmed manner be-
fore they are needed. Annual budgets are to 
include realistic routine income and expense 
levels to avoid the need to use the reserve for 
routine expenses (operating shortfalls), not 
caused by emergencies or very unusual serv-
icing situations; but when needed, use of re-
serve funds may be permitted with Agency 
approval. The Servicing Official will take 
prompt action on a request for reserve with-
drawal (normally within 5 working days of 
the request) and provide written authoriza-
tion to the borrower for any authorized with-
drawal of funds by the use of a letter in the 
form of exhibit B–9 of this subpart (or other 
similar letter containing at least the infor-
mation shown on exhibit B–9 of this subpart) 
before the borrower actually withdraws any 
funds. Any conditions for approval (e.g., a 
copy of paid invoices, inspections, etc.) will 
be indicated in the letter. Although the prior 
consent of the Government is required for 
the use of reserve funds, the Servicing Offi-
cial may post approve the use of reserve 
funds if they were used for authorized pur-
poses and their expenditure would have been 
approved had a request for approval been 
submitted prior to the withdrawal. The bor-
rower must provide documented evidence 
showing the actual amount and use of funds 
before the post-approval action. Authorized 
purposes are: 

(i) To meet payments due on the loan obli-
gations in the event the amount for debt 
service is not sufficient for that purpose. 

(ii) To pay cost of repairs or replacements 
to the housing, furnishings or equipment or 
shortfalls of current expenses. Withdrawal 
for planned authorized purposes should be 
approved in advance during the annual budg-
et approval process. 

(iii) To make improvements to the housing 
project without creating new living units or 
to retrofit units to make them accessible to 
the physically handicapped. 

(iv) For other purposes desired by the bor-
rower, which in the judgement of the Gov-
ernment will promote the loan purposes, 
strengthen the security, or facilitate, im-
prove, or maintain the project and the or-
derly collection of the loan without jeopard-
izing the loan or impairing the adequacy of 
the security. Reserve funds may also be used 
to facilitate payment of fees associated with 
the buying or selling of securities or main-
taining a securities account. 

(v) To pay a return on investment at the 
end of the borrower’s project operating year, 
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provided that after such disbursements the 
amount in the reserve account will not be 
less than that required by the loan agree-
ment or resolution to be accumulated by 
that time (taking into consideration the pro-
visions of any approved servicing plan which 
may be authorizing a temporary adjustment 
to these provisions), minus any authorized 
withdrawals, and provided that the amount 
in the reserve account will likely not fall 
below that required to be accumulated dur-
ing the next 12 months. 

(A) In the case of borrowers operating on a 
limited profit basis, to pay a return on the 
borrower’s initial investment as identified in 
the loan agreement or resolution. 

(B) In the case of borrowers operating on a 
full profit basis, to pay an annual return as 
specified in the borrower’s loan agreement or 
resolution. 

(6) Exhibit B–10 of this subpart may be 
used by the borrower and FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 to 
record deposits and withdrawals in the re-
serve account and to perform reconciliation 
of the account to determine the current ac-
count balance. 

d Management reserve account (patronage 
capital account). Any funds in excess of three 
months of average operating expenses re-
maining in the general operating account of 
an RCH project at the end of the fiscal year 
will be transferred and maintained in a lump 
sum in an interest bearing patronage capital 
account and will be handled according to any 
state laws governing patronage capital. That 
amount will then be equally assigned, by 
bookkeeping entry only, to each member. 
The patronage capital funds will be held by 
the cooperative in trust for the respective 
member until that member terminates mem-
bership in the cooperative, provided the 
member has paid all charges and costs due 
the cooperative. The patronage capital funds 
will not be used for any other purpose. 

e Security deposit or membership fee account 
(when applicable). Upon receipt, all security 
deposit or membership fee funds collected 
shall be recorded in a bookkeeping account 
that is kept separate from the project book-
keeping accounts. These funds shall be de-
posited in a separate bank account that is 
kept separate from any project funds and 
will be handled according to any state or 
local laws governing security deposits. 
Funds in the security or membership fee de-
posit account shall be used only for author-
ized purposes as intended and represented by 
the project management plan. They shall be 
held by the borrower or borrower’s manage-
ment agent in trust for the respective ten-
ants or members until so used. Any amount 
of the security deposit account which is re-
tained by the borrower as a result of lease or 
occupancy agreement violations shall be 
transferred to the general operating account 
and treated as income of the housing. 

(1) The owner will follow all State and 
local requirements governing the handling 
and disposition of security or membership 
fee deposits. 

(2) In no case will interest earned on secu-
rity or membership fee deposits accrue to 
project management or the owner of a rental 
project. Any interest earned but not re-
turned to the tenants, or in the case of a co-
operative, interest earned on membership 
fees but not returned to members will, ac-
crue to the project’s general operating ac-
count for disposition as outlined in the man-
agement plan. 

C Borrower reporting requirements. It is the 
objective of FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 that borrowers will 
maintain accounts and records necessary to 
conduct their operation successfully and 
from which they may accurately report oper-
ational results to FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 for review, 
and otherwise comply with the terms of 
their loan agreements with the Agency. Cer-
tain reports are necessary to verify compli-
ance with FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 requirements and 
to aid the borrower in carrying out the ob-
jectives of the loan. Some reports must be 
submitted with the FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 payments 
and others submitted to FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 ei-
ther monthly, quarterly, or annually. Exhib-
its B–6, B–7, and B–8 of this subpart are to be 
used as a guide for determining when reports 
are due and the number of copies required. 
Borrower accounts and records will be kept 
or made available in a location within rea-
sonable access for inspection, review and 
copying by representatives of FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 or 
other agencies of the U.S. Department of Ag-
riculture authorized by the Department. 

1 Accounting methods and records. 
a Method of accounting and financial state-

ments. Borrowers may choose a cash or ac-
crual method of accounting, bookkeeping 
and budget preparation as described in their 
project management plan. Balance sheets or 
statements of financial condition may be 
prepared reflecting the same accounting 
method, except that the accrual method of 
reporting financial condition will be used 
where the borrower is required to submit an 
annual audit. 

b Approval requirement. Before loan clos-
ing or start of construction, whichever is 
first, each borrower shall incorporate a de-
scription of its method of accounting, book-
keeping, budget preparation, and reporting 
of financial condition and, when applicable, 
plans for auditing in the project manage-
ment plan that must be approved by FmHA 
or its successor agency under Public Law 
103–354. 
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c Records. Form FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 1930–5 may 
be used by small organizations as a method 
of recording and maintaining accounting 
transactions. Automated systems may be 
used if they meet the conditions of para-
graph XVI of this exhibit. 

d Record retention. Each borrower shall re-
tain all financial records, books, and sup-
porting material for at least 3 years after the 
issuance of the audit reports and financial 
statements. Upon request, this material will 
be made available to FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354, the Office 
of Inspector General (OIG), the Comptroller 
General, or to their representatives. 

2 Management reports and review processes. 
The objective of management reports and re-
view processes is to furnish the management 
and FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 with a means of evalu-
ating prior decisions and to serve as a basis 
for planning future operations and financial 
conditions. Timely reports and their review 
furnish necessary information to make 
sound management decisions. All reports 
will relate only to the FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 financed 
project and borrower entity. Separate re-
ports will be prepared and submitted for each 
project owned by the same borrower. Forms 
necessary in making the required reports 
may be requested from FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354. The 
various review processes described in this 
paragraph are illustrated at paragraph XIII 
C 3 of this exhibit. 

a Annual budget and utility allowance. 
(1) Objective. It is the objective of FmHA or 

its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354 that project budgets and/or utility allow-
ances be prepared, reviewed, and approved in 
such manner and timing that the approved 
budget and/or utility allowance, including 
any authorized changes to same, become ef-
fective on the beginning of a fiscal year of 
project operation. 

(2) Documents. 
(i) The annual project budget will be pre-

pared on Form FmHA or its successor agen-
cy under Public Law 103–354 1930–7 by the 
borrower or its agent following the instruc-
tions on the form. It will reflect budget plan-
ning for a 12 month fiscal year. Figures in 
the ‘‘actual’’ column will reflect at least 9 
months of actual fiscal year activity and no 
more than 3 months of estimated activity for 
the balance of the same fiscal year based on 
recent actual experience. 

(ii) The housing allowance for utilities and 
other public services will be prepared on ex-
hibit A–6 of subpart E of part 1944 of this 
chapter. The exhibit A–6 will be prepared by 
the borrower or its agent following instruc-
tions attached to exhibit A–6 of subpart E of 
part 1944 of this chapter. 

(3) Supporting data. Any data, justification 
or other documentation required by the in-
structions for preparation of Form FmHA or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354 1930–7 and exhibit A–6 of subpart E of part 
1944 of this chapter, or otherwise required by 
the Servicing Official on an individual case 
basis, shall be attached to the respective 
document when submitted to the Servicing 
Office. 

(4) Due date. The borrower can submit the 
necessary documents as soon as 9 months of 
current fiscal year actuals are available, but 
in sufficient time to meet the objective stat-
ed at C 2 a (1) of this paragraph. The Serv-
icing Official needs 15 to 30 days to review 
project budgets and utility allowances when 
no changes of rents, occupancy charges, or 
utility allowances are needed. When such 
changes are needed, the borrower needs to 
submit documents to allow sufficient time 
for review and proper notice of change to 
tenants or members. 

(5) FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 review. Form FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 1930– 
7 and exhibit A–6 of subpart E of part 1944 of 
this chapter and any attachment will be re-
viewed by the Servicing Office as part of the 
rental or occupancy charge/utility allowance 
change review and/or annual review process. 

b Rental or occupancy charge budget and/or 
utility allowance change. 

(1) Objective. It is the objective of FmHA or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354 that changes to project rental or occu-
pancy charges and/or utility allowances be 
incorporated into the annual budget review 
and planning process in such manner and 
timing that authorized changes become ef-
fective at the beginning of a fiscal year of 
project operation. 

(2) Documents. When a rental or occupancy 
charge and/or utility allowance change is 
proposed, the borrower or its agent will pre-
pare and submit Form FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 1930– 
7 and exhibit A–6 of subpart E of part 1944 of 
this chapter and any supporting attachments 
following the instructions for either docu-
ment. 

(3) Standards and timing. 
(i) The policies and procedures governing 

rental or occupancy charge and/or utility al-
lowance change are contained in exhibit C of 
this subpart, (available in the ‘‘Borrower 
Handbook’’ or any FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 office). 

(ii) To meet the projected effective date of 
change, the necessary documents need to be 
received by the Servicing Official at least 75 
days ahead to allow FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 review and 
allow for a 60-day notice to tenants or mem-
bers of an impending change. The ‘‘actual’’ 
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column of Form FmHA or its successor agen-
cy under Public Law 103–354 1930–7 shall con-
tain actual data for the fiscal year to date 
plus the projection of expected data for the 
remainder of the fiscal year. This projection 
should cover a period not exceeding 90 days. 
The same supporting data standards of para-
graph XIII C 2 a (3) of this exhibit will apply. 

(iii) Should the borrower need to request a 
rental or occupancy charge and/or utility al-
lowance change at some time other than de-
scribed at paragraph XIII C 2 b(3)(ii) of this 
exhibit (e.g., mid-fiscal year), the Form 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 1930–7 shall reflect the project’s 
financial needs for the next 12 months of op-
eration and the ‘‘actual’’ column shall re-
flect the most recent 12 months of actual 
data. The previous fiscal year’s audit report, 
or Form FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 1930–8, as appropriate, 
shall be submitted with the change request if 
it was not previously submitted to the Serv-
icing Office. 

(4) FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 review. Exhibit C of this subpart 
shall govern FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 review of the bor-
rower’s request for rental or occupancy 
charge and/or utility allowance change. 

c Quarterly report. 
(1) Objective. The objective of FmHA or its 

successor agency under Public Law 103–354 is 
for quarterly reports to provide a monitoring 
means for borrowers and FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 to 
mutually check a borrower’s progress in 
achieving program objectives and when ap-
plicable, meeting servicing goals. The Serv-
icing Official may require monthly reports 
rather than quarterly reports when war-
ranted in unusual situations. 

(2) Document. Form FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 1930–7 will 
be used by borrowers to prepare the quar-
terly report. 

(3) Standards. 
(i) For quarterly reports, Form FmHA or 

its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354 1930–7 will be completed following the in-
structions on the form for preparation of a 
quarterly report. The quarterly report shall 
be required upon commencement of any of 
the following situations: 

(A) Start-up of initial occupancy after 
completion of new construction or substan-
tial rehabilitation. 

(B) Reamortization, transfer of an existing 
project loan or a 100-percent membership 
change. 

(C) Failure to make a scheduled loan pay-
ment, failure to maintain required transfers 
to the reserve account, or failure to main-
tain reserve accounts at authorized current 
levels. 

(ii) For monthly reports, Form FmHA or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 

354 1930–7 will be completed following the in-
structions on the form for preparing a 
monthly report. The monthly report may be 
invoked: 

(A) When determined essential by the 
Servicing Official as part of a servicing plan 
made in accordance with exhibit F of subpart 
B of part 1965 of this chapter (available in 
any FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 office). 

(B) When there are factors such as appar-
ent violations of policy or reporting prac-
tices, audit findings, sudden increases of va-
cancy and/or accounts payable or receiv-
ables, or other evidence of weak financial 
condition. 

(4) Frequency and discontinuance of quar-
terly and monthly reports. 

(i) Reports shall be prepared and submitted 
at least through the first year of operation 
for any situation described in paragraph XIII 
C 2 c (3) of this exhibit and each quarter or 
month thereafter for new or existing projects 
until discontinuance is authorized by the 
Servicing Official. The Servicing Official will 
evaluate the following in reaching a decision 
to discontinue: 

(A) The project has been operated and 
maintained in a satisfactory manner during 
the most recent 6 months of the required re-
porting period. 

(B) An adequate accounting system is func-
tioning properly, is kept current, and the 
most recent required annual financial re-
ports are complete and have been submitted 
to the Servicing Office. 

(C) Project loan payments to FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
are on schedule. 

(D) The project reserve account is ahead or 
on schedule, allowing for authorized expendi-
tures or authorized reduction in funding as 
set forth in an approved servicing plan or 
budget. 

(E) The annual review has been completed 
by the Servicing Office and the annual audit, 
or verification of review when appropriate, 
has been found acceptable. 

(F) The Servicing Official has inspected 
the project, reviewed project operations, and 
found them acceptable. If a determination is 
made to discontinue, a letter shall be sent to 
the borrower or its agent with a copy sent to 
the State Director. 

(ii) The reporting and audit requirements 
of paragraphs XIII C 2 c(4)(i) (B) and (E) do 
not apply when the most recent 6 continuous 
months of successful operation occur before 
the first audit and/or annual review is due. 

(5) Due date. Quarterly (or monthly) re-
ports shall be due in the FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 Serv-
icing Office by the 20th day of the month im-
mediately following the close of the respec-
tive reporting period. 

(6) FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 review. 
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(i) The Servicing Official will review the 
reports for year-to-date status of project op-
erations. When reports reveal actual data 
that exceeds acceptable tolerance from a 
forecasted budget Subtotal item, or vacan-
cies and accounts receivable and/or payable 
are increasing, the Servicing Official will 
initiate verbal and/or written dialogue with 
the borrower for further resolution of prob-
lems or to otherwise achieve acceptable 
progress. 

(ii) The Servicing Official will complete 
the FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 review and forward the 
borrower’s report and any related docu-
mentation to the State Director by the 30th 
day of the month following close of the re-
porting period. 

(iii) If the borrower fails to submit its re-
port by the due date, this fact will be re-
ported to the State Director by the 30th day 
of the month following the close of the re-
porting period; otherwise, the Servicing Of-
fice will complete its review of a submitted 
report no later than 10 calendar days fol-
lowing receipt of the borrower’s report. 

d Annual audit reports and verifications of 
review. 

(1) Documents and general standards. 
(i) Annual audit report. An audit report will 

be in the format as prepared by a CPA or Li-
censed Public Accountant (LPA), provided 
the LPA was licensed on or before December 
31, 1970. 

(A) All audits are to be performed in ac-
cordance with generally accepted govern-
ment auditing standards or GAGAS, as set 
forth in ‘‘Government Auditing Standards’’ 
(1988 Revision), established by the Comp-
troller General of the United States, and any 
subsequent revisions (this publication is 
commonly referred to as the ‘‘Yellow Book’’ 
or ‘‘Government Accounting Office Stand-
ards’’). In addition, the audits are also to be 
performed in accordance with applicable por-
tions of various Office of Management and 
Budget (OMB) Circulars, Departmental Reg-
ulations, parts 3015 and 3016 of chapter XXX 
of title 7, and the FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 Audit Pro-
gram as specified in separate sections of this 
subpart. 

(B) An audit report is required for any 
project with 25 or more units unless the 
State Director or Servicing Official deter-
mines that a project with 24 or fewer units 
requires an audit for reasons of good cause. 
Such reasons include, but are not limited to, 
situations where project records are incom-
plete or inaccurate, or it appears that the 
borrower has not adequately accounted for 
project funds, or where the borrower’s oper-
ation consists of multiple projects where 
each is 24 or fewer units (with subsidy re-
ports prepared for each project). (Note: The 
State Director or Servicing Official may re-
quire that the accounts of RHS borrowers be 

audited if the loan exceeds the 2-year repay-
ment term.) 

(C) The project audit report should cover 
the borrower entity and the expense for prep-
aration of the audit report may include the 
auditor’s preparation of any IRS required 
borrower entity reports (i.e., Schedule K–1 
(IRS Form 1065), ‘‘Partner’s Share of Income, 
Credits, Deductions, etc.’’). 

(D) The CPA or LPA auditor who prepares 
the audit report may not be an individual or 
organization that is associated with the bor-
rower in any manner, other than the per-
formance of the audit review and preparation 
of the project audit report and required IRS 
reports, that creates an identity of interest 
or possible conflict of interest (as described 
in paragraph V B of this exhibit. For exam-
ple, the CPA or LPA auditor may not be an 
employee of the borrower or an employee of 
any officer of the organization, nor be an em-
ployee of any member, stockholder, partner, 
principal, or have any ownership or other in-
terest in the borrower organization. 

(E) The State Director or Servicing Offi-
cial may authorize the initial audit report to 
cover a period up to 18 months for new 
projects whose first operating year does not 
exceed 6 months. 

(F) The State Director may also make an 
exception to the CPA or LPA audit require-
ment for not more than one successive year 
in a specific case providing: the borrower 
submits a written request; the FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
approved budget for the project includes a 
typical and reasonable fee for the audit but 
the negotiated cost of an audit would in-
crease the monthly per unit rental rate by 
more than $4.00; and the required reports, in-
cluding a CPA or LPA prepared audit, were 
properly submitted for the prior year’s 
project operations. 

(ii) Verification of review. Form FmHA or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354 1930–8 will be prepared by a competent 
person qualified by education and/or experi-
ence who has no identity of interest or pos-
sible conflict of interest with the borrower 
or its principals. However, in the case of a 
nonprofit institution, the verification of re-
view may be made by a committee of the 
membership but may not include any officer, 
director, or employee of the borrower. 

(A) Form FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 1930–8 will be used 
for the verification of review of project ac-
counts and the review verifier will also re-
view the actual data on Form FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
1930–7 for projects with 24 or fewer units un-
less the requirements of paragraph XIII C 2 
d(1)(i)(A) of this exhibit are invoked by the 
State Director or Servicing Official. 

(B) The State Director or Servicing Offi-
cial may authorize the initial verification of 
review to cover a period up to 18 months for 

VerDate Aug<04>2004 15:05 Feb 15, 2005 Jkt 205023 PO 00000 Frm 00268 Fmt 8010 Sfmt 8002 Y:\SGML\205023T.XXX 205023T



269 

RHS, RBS, RUS, FSA, USDA Pt. 1930, Subpt. C, Exh. B 

a new project whose first operating year was 
less than 6 months. 

(iii) Project operating budget actuals. An an-
nual report of actuals for the full operating 
year will be submitted by the borrower, or 
its agent, using Form FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 1930–7. The 
report will reflect the actual income and ex-
penses for the project for the borrower’s 12- 
month operating year. The report will be 
submitted with the annual audit report or 
Form FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 1930–8, as appropriate. 

(iv) Form FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 1930–10, ‘‘Annual Multiple 
Family Housing Project Review.’’ When the an-
nual audit report or verification of review is 
received, parts II C and D of Form FmHA or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354 1930–10 may be prefilled to the extent pos-
sible to record previous year status as re-
ported in the audit report or verification of 
review. The Form FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 1930–10 will 
be completed later as described in § 1930.123 
(e)(2) and (i) of this subpart. 

(v) Fraud, abuse, and illegal acts. If the re-
view verifier becomes aware of any indica-
tion of fraud, abuse, or illegal acts in FmHA 
or its successor agency under Public Law 
103–354 financed projects, prompt written no-
tice shall be given to the appropriate Serv-
icing Official. 

(2) Specific standards. 
(i) State and local governments and Indian 

tribes. These organizations are to be audited 
in accordance with this subpart, 7 CFR part 
3015, and OMB Circular A–128, with copies of 
the audit being forwarded by the borrower to 
the Servicing Official and the appropriate 
Federal cognizant agency, if applicable. For 
guidance in meeting these requirements, the 
auditor may refer to the American Institute 
of Certified Public Accountants Audit and 
Accounting Guide for ‘‘Audits of State and 
Local Governmental Units.’’ The term Fed-
eral financial assistance used herein shall 
mean Federal loan and/or grant funds re-
ceived by the borrower, but not rental sub-
sidies. 

(A) Cognizant agency. (1) ‘‘Cognizant agen-
cy’’ means the Federal agency assigned by 
OMB Circular A–128. Within the U.S. Depart-
ment of Agriculture (USDA), the USDA OIG 
shall fulfill cognizant agency responsibil-
ities. 

(2) Cognizant agency assignments. Smaller 
borrowers not assigned a cognizant agency 
by OMB should contact the Federal agency 
that provided the most funds. When USDA is 
designated as the cognizant agency or when 
it has been determined by the borrower that 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 provided the major portion of 
Federal financial assistance, the appropriate 
USDA OIG Regional Inspector General shall 
be contacted. 

(B) Audit standards. It is not intended that 
audits required by this subpart be separate 
and apart from audits performed in accord-
ance with State and local laws. To the ex-
tent feasible, the audit work should be done 
in conjunction with those audits. 

(1) State and local governments and Indian 
tribes that receive $100,000 or more a year in 
Federal financial assistance shall have an 
audit made in accordance with OMB Circular 
A–128. 

(2) State and local governments and Indian 
tribes that receive between $25,000 and 
$100,000 a year in Federal financial assistance 
shall have an audit made in accordance with 
OMB Circular A–128 or in accordance with 
the FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 Audit Program. This is an 
option of the State and local government or 
Indian tribe. If the election is made to have 
an audit performed in accordance with the 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 Audit Program, the audit shall 
be in accordance with paragraph XIII C 2 
d(2)(iii) of this exhibit. 

(3) State and local governments and Indian 
tribes that receive less than $25,000 a year in 
Federal financial assistance shall be exempt 
from compliance with OMB Circular A–128 
and the FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 Audit Program. These 
State and local governments and Indian 
tribes shall be governed by audit standards 
prescribed by State and local law or regula-
tion. 

(4) Public hospitals and public colleges and 
universities may be excluded from OMB Cir-
cular A–128 audit standards. If such entities 
are excluded, audits shall be made in accord-
ance with paragraph XIII C 2 d(2)(ii) of this 
exhibit. 

(5) Indications of fraud, abuse, and illegal 
acts shall be referred to FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 for 
processing in accordance with paragraph 
XIII C 2 d(1)(v) of this exhibit. 

(ii) Nonprofit institutions. These organiza-
tions are to be audited in accordance with 
this subpart, 7 CFR part 3015, and OMB Cir-
cular A–133, with copies of the audit being 
forwarded by the borrower to the Servicing 
Office and the appropriate Federal cognizant 
agency, if applicable. The term Federal fi-
nancial assistance used herein shall mean 
Federal loan and/or grant funds received by 
the borrower, but not rental subsidies. 

(A) Cognizant agency. See paragraph XIII C 
2 d(2)(i)(A) of this exhibit. 

(B) Audit standards. 
(1) Nonprofit institutions that receive 

$100,000 or more a year in Federal financial 
assistance shall have an audit made in ac-
cordance with the provisions of OMB Cir-
cular A–133. However, nonprofit institutions 
receiving $100,000 or more but receiving 
awards under only one program have the op-
tion of having an audit of their institution 
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prepared in accordance with the provisions 
of the OMB Circular A–133 or having an audit 
made of the one program in accordance with 
paragraph XIII C 2 d(2)(iii) of this exhibit. 
For prior or subsequent years, when an insti-
tution has only loan guarantees or out-
standing loans that were made previously, 
the institution will be required to conduct 
audits for those programs in accordance with 
paragraph XIII C 2 d(2)(iii) of this exhibit. 

(2) Nonprofit institutions that receive at 
lease $25,000 but less than $100,000 a year in 
Federal financial assistance shall have an 
audit made in accordance with OMB Circular 
A–133 or in accordance with the FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
Audit Program. If the election is made to 
have an audit performed in accordance with 
the FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 Audit Program, the audit 
shall be performed in accordance with para-
graph XIII C 2 d(2)(iii) of this exhibit. 

(3) Nonprofit institutions receiving less 
than $25,000 a year in Federal financial as-
sistance are exempt from Federal audit 
standards, but records must be available for 
review by appropriate officials of FmHA or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354. 

(C) Fraud, waste, and abuse. Indications of 
fraud, abuse, and illegal acts shall be proc-
essed in accordance with paragraph XIII C 2 
d(1)(v) of this exhibit. 

(iii) FmHA or its successor agency under Pub-
lic Law 103–354 Audit Program. For-profit or-
ganizations and other entities referred to 
this paragraph by paragraphs XIII C 2 d(2)(i) 
and/or (ii) of this exhibit, audits will be per-
formed under the guidance of the audit guide 
entitled ‘‘U.S. Department of Agriculture, 
Farmers Home Administration or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354- 
Audit Program’’ (available in any FmHA or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354 office). 

(3) Due date. (i) Annual audit reports and 
verifications of review, as appropriate, and 
Form FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 1930–7 with 12 months of 
project operation actuals are due in the 
Servicing Office no later than 90 days fol-
lowing the close of the project fiscal year. 

(ii) If the audit or verification of review 
and Form FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 1930–7 with 12 
months of project operation actuals cannot 
be submitted by the due date, and the owner 
presents a request for extension supported by 
evidence that delay is at the request of the 
auditor, and the request has a reasonable ex-
planation of why an extension of the due 
date is needed, the Servicing Official may 
authorize up to a 30-day extension of the due 
date. 

(iii) If an explanation is not forthcoming 
from the auditor, or the explanation received 
is without good reason, or the Servicing Offi-

cial otherwise suspects fiscal difficulty, the 
Servicing Official may request the borrower 
to submit to the Servicing Office for review, 
the project bank statements for the general 
operating, reserve, and investment accounts 
covering the most recent 60-day period. 

(iv) If the borrower fails to submit the re-
quested bank statements by the date stipu-
lated by the Servicing Official, the Servicing 
Official will immediately refer the matter to 
the OIG. 

(4) FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 review. An audit report or 
verification of review and Form FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
1930–7 with 12 months of project operation 
actuals will be reviewed by the Servicing Of-
ficial within 60 days following receipt of the 
audit report or verification of review. From 
this annual audit review process, the Serv-
icing Official will initiate action on findings 
and concerns needing immediate attention. 
Those findings and concerns not needing im-
mediate action will be considered in the next 
budget planning and annual review process 
at the end of the fiscal year for implementa-
tion in the following fiscal year of project 
operation. 

e Miscellaneous management reports. These 
reports include, but are not limited to, the 
following items that provide additional or 
unique information that augment or other-
wise support other management reports de-
scribed in this section: 

(1) Documents and formats. (i) Minutes of an-
nual meetings. Written record of annual meet-
ing of organizational borrowers who, by their 
organizational charter, are required to main-
tain such written records. 

(ii) Energy audit. Prepared according to the 
guidance of exhibit D of this subpart. Energy 
audits, including implementation plans for 
energy conservation, are prepared and sub-
mitted on multi-year cycles. 

(iii) Miscellaneous items. These include 
other written or electronically stored data 
or information such as financial or income/ 
expense data, justification statements, or 
other technical or informative material that 
stands alone or supports other managements 
reports described in this section, whether 
volunteered by the borrower or requested by 
the Servicing Official. 

(2) Due date. Annual minutes and miscella-
neous items are due along with the report 
they are attached to as supporting docu-
mentation. New energy audits are due with 
the next submission of Form FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
1930–7 following expiration of the old energy 
audit. 

(3) FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 review. FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 review of 
miscellaneous management reports will co-
incide with review of the management report 
that each is attached to as documentation. 

VerDate Aug<04>2004 15:05 Feb 15, 2005 Jkt 205023 PO 00000 Frm 00270 Fmt 8010 Sfmt 8002 Y:\SGML\205023T.XXX 205023T



271 

RHS, RBS, RUS, FSA, USDA Pt. 1930, Subpt. C, Exh. B 

f Project worksheets. 
(1) Submit Form FmHA or its successor 

agency under Public Law 103–354 1944–29, 
with the payment to the Servicing Office. 
This form must be submitted each month to 
report overage, occupancy surcharge, and/or 
request RA, even if a loan payment is not 
submitted. This form reflects occupancy in 
the project as of the first day of the month 
preceding the payment due date. The form 
will be retained indefinitely. 

(2) For LH projects, Form FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 1944– 
29 will be submitted monthly for the LH ten-
ants who receive RA. Otherwise, the Form 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 1944–29 covering all LH tenants 
will be submitted to FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 at least 
once annually with the annual reports. The 
form will be retained indefinitely. 

(3) Illustration of MFH budget planning, an-
nual review, and annual audit review cycles. 

Items on hand during fiscal year Last quarter of fiscal 
year 

First quarter of next 
FY Second quarter 

Management Reports/items in bor-
rower casefile.

—Previous fiscal year annual audit 
or Form FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103– 
354 1930–8..

Budget Planning 
Process Form 
FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency 
under Public Law 
103–354 1930–7 
& util. allowance 
Review change or 
no change of rents 
or occupancy 
charges and/or 
utility allowance.

Annual audit prepa-
ration by auditor 
or Form FmHA or 
its successor 
agency under 
Public Law 103– 
354 1930–8 by 
verifier.

FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency 
under Public Law 
103–354 review of 
annual audit or 
Form FmHA or its 
successor agency 
under Public Law 
103–354 1930–8 
60-day review pe-
riod.

File annual audit or 
Form FmHA or its 
successor agency 
under Public Law 
103–354 1930–8 
for next budget 
planning & annual 
review process. 

—Exhibit A–1 
—Latest supervisory visit/inspec-

tion.
FmHA or its suc-

cessor agency 
under Public Law 
103–354 starts an-
nual review proc-
ess.

Form FmHA or its 
successor agency 
under Public Law 
103–354 1930–7 
showing 12 
months of project 
operating actuals 
submitted by bor-
rower.

FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency 
under Public Law 
103–354 com-
pletes annual re-
view process.

—Energy audit & implementation 
plan.

—Compliance review .....................
—Management plan .......................
—Management agreement ............

—Form FmHA or its 
successor agency 
under Public Law 
103–354 1930–7.

—Review project fi-
nancial and man-
agement reports..

.................................. FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency 
under Public Law 
103–354 may 
prefill parts II C 
and D of Form 
FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency 
under Public Law 
103–354 1930–10.

—Identity of Interest (IOI) Disclo-
sure Certificate, Form FmHA or 
its successor agency under Pub-
lic Law 103–354 1944—30 and 
Identity of Interest (IOI) Quali-
fication Form, Form FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 1944—31.

FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency 
under Public Law 
103–354 com-
pletes Form 
FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency 
under Public Law 
103–354 1930–10.

.................................. Take immediate ac-
tion on significant 
items found in the 
Audit Review.

Other—as applicable 

D Financial and management analysis. Fi-
nancial and management analysis provides 
information on the status of the project’s op-
eration. Regular analysis by the borrower 
and/or FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 can help identify 
strengths, weaknesses, and reasonableness of 
income and expenses so that appropriate cor-
rective actions can be taken. Some methods 
of analysis FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 encourages are: 

1 Budget analysis: Using quarterly (or 
monthly if deemed necessary) and annual re-
ports, the borrower or project manager com-
pares actual income and expenses with the 
budgeted amounts. Any differences between 
the budget and actual figures indicate areas 
of the project operation where the manager 
may need to focus added attention and/or 
take corrective action. 

2 Ratio analysis: Ratios are an effective 
tool for financial analysis. They prescribe 
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various measures of actual operating per-
formance. FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 and borrowers 

should develop a data base of recorded ratios 
for comparative analysis. Some useful ratios 
are: 

XIV Termination and Eviction: Borrowers 
and project managers should actively de-
velop ways and means to avoid forced termi-
nation of leases or occupancy agreements 
and the eviction of tenants or members by 
considering the following: 

A Entitlement to continued occupancy. 
1 General. The borrower or project man-

ager may terminate or refuse to renew any 
occupancy only for material noncompliance 
with the lease or occupancy agreement or 
other good cause such as: 

a Noneligibility for tenancy. 
b Action or conduct of the tenant or 

member which disrupts the livability of the 
project by being a direct threat to the health 
or safety of any person, or the right of any 
tenant or member of the quiet enjoyment of 
the premises and related project facilities, or 
that results in substantial physical damage 
causing an adverse financial effect on the 

project, or the property of others, Except 
when such threat can be removed by apply-
ing a reasonable accommodation. 

c Expiration of the lease or occupancy 
agreement period is not sufficient grounds 
for eviction of a tenant or member. 

2 Material noncompliance. Material non-
compliance with the lease or occupancy 
agreement includes: 

a One or more substantial violations of 
the lease or occupancy agreement; or 

b Nonpayment or repeated late payment 
of rent or occupancy charge or any other fi-
nancial obligation due under the lease or oc-
cupancy agreement (including any portion 
thereof) beyond any grace period constitutes 
a substantial violation; or 

c Admission to or conviction for use, at-
tempted use, possession, manufacture, sell-
ing, or distribution of an illegal controlled 
substance that: 
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(1) is conducted in or on the premises by 
the tenant or someone under the tenant’s 
control. 

(2) is allowed to happen by a household 
member or guest because the tenant has not 
taken reasonable steps to prevent or control 
such illegal activity; or because the tenant 
has not taken steps to remove the household 
member or guest who is conducting the ille-
gal activity. 

(3) It is not the intent that this provision 
of material lease violation apply to innocent 
members of the tenant’s household who are 
not engaged in the illegal activity, nor are 
responsible for control of another household 
member or guest. It is the intent that such 
innocent persons can remain in the dwelling 
unit if an otherwise eligible household re-
mains or can be formed. 

3 Other good cause. 
a Repeated minor violations of the lease 

or occupancy agreement which disrupt the 
livability and harmony of the project by ad-
versely affecting the health or safety of any 
person, or the right of any tenant or member 
to the quiet enjoyment of the leased prem-
ises and the related project, or that have an 
adverse financial effect on the project. 

b The borrower or project manager must 
base their decision on current objective data, 
not on supposition that the tenant may or 
could pose a harm or threat to other persons 
or property. 

c Conduct cannot be considered as other 
good cause unless the borrower or project 
manager has given the tenant or member 
prior notice that the conduct will constitute 
a basis for termination of occupancy. 

4 Rent overburden. 
a Any tenant household (except those re-

ceiving Section 8 benefits) paying more than 
the contribution levels cited in paragraphs 
IV A 2 c (1), (2), or (3) of this exhibit toward 
rent, including utilities, is considered to be 
experiencing rent overburden that may jeop-
ardize a tenant’s ability to maintain occu-
pancy. 

b Whenever a tenant is experiencing rent 
overburden, borrowers are encouraged to uti-
lize any available and compatible govern-
mental or private rental subsidies including 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 RA and/or interest credit; or to 
inform tenants where they may apply for 
Section 8 housing assistance to minimize 
termination of tenancy. 

c With reference to FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 RA 
or interest credit, no further action by the 
borrower is necessary if the borrower has al-
ready requested RA in conjunction with a 
previous rental or occupancy charge change 
request. 

d For purpose of this provision, the term 
‘‘rent overburden’’ also refers to occupancy 
charges paid by cooperative members. 

5 Tenant or member benefits during termi-
nation through eviction. 

a Continued occupancy. Tenant or member 
households may continue occupancy through 
the specified termination date, or if judicial 
action is initiated to evict, to the specified 
date in a court order for eviction. In addi-
tion, this policy applies when a tenant or 
member has filed a discrimination complaint 
and a final decision on the complaint’s reso-
lution is awaited from the Department’s Of-
fice of Advocacy and Enterprise or the De-
partment of Housing and Urban Develop-
ment. 

b Rental subsidy. During termination, RA 
payments and/or interest credit will be ad-
ministered following this outline according 
to type of situation: 

(1) Failure to recertify. 
(i) If failure to recertify is the fault of the 

tenant or member: 
(A) The borrower will charge the tenant or 

member note rate rent or occupancy charge 
during the period of occupancy with an ex-
pired certification and will remit collected 
overage to the Servicing Office. 

(B) If the tenant or member does not pay 
rent during this period, the project will not 
be required to pay overage. 

(ii) The borrower will send a copy of the 
termination notice to the Servicing Official, 
together with a copy of the ‘‘90 day’’ and ‘‘30 
day’’ letters sent to the tenant. 

(iii) The Servicing Official will suspend 
payment of any RA until the recertification 
process is completed; otherwise until the 
tenant or member moves out or is evicted by 
court order, whichever occurs first. 

(iv) The Servicing Official will annotate 
the next processed project master list with 
an ‘‘E’’ for expiration in column 5 of part II 
of Form FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 1944–29 for the appro-
priate tenant(s) or member(s). 

(v) If failure to recertify is the fault of the 
borrower or management, through no fault 
of the tenant or member: 

(A) The Servicing Official will advise the 
borrower or management to rescind the no-
tice of termination. 

(B) Overage will be paid from project funds 
or by the management agent, depending on 
the provisions of the management plan and 
management agreement. 

(C) Until a new tenant certification is ef-
fective, the tenant shall continue to pay the 
rent or occupancy charge established by the 
expired tenant certification. 

(vi) If the termination process is nullified, 
either by completing the recertification 
process, by judicial action or the resolution 
of a discrimination complaint, the Servicing 
Official will restore RA and request RA pay-
ment retroactive to the date it was withheld, 
based on the newly verified tenant certifi-
cation. If the termination process ends with 
voluntary tenant/member move-out or court 
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ordered eviction, whichever occurs first, the 
RA will be assigned to the next tenant or 
member that is RA eligible at the time of 
the move-out or eviction. 

(2) Lease violation. 
(i) The borrower will send a copy of the 

termination notice to the Servicing Official. 
(ii) The Servicing Official will annotate 

the next processed project master list with a 
‘‘T’’ for termination in column 5 of part II of 
Form FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 1944–29 for the appro-
priate tenant(s) or member(s). 

(iii) The Servicing Official will continue to 
authorize RA for the tenant or member. 

(iv) The borrower will continue to charge 
and collect the rental or occupancy charge 
rate established by the tenant’s or member’s 
current tenant certification. 

(v) If the termination process is nullified, 
either by resolution of the lease violation or 
by court action, normal tenant/member sta-
tus resumes. If the termination ends with 
tenant/member move-out or court ordered 
eviction, whichever occurs first, the RA will 
be assigned to the next tenant or member 
that is RA eligible at the time of the move- 
out or eviction. 

(vi) If the tenant certification expires 
while a notice of termination for lease viola-
tion or good cause is in effect (i.e., litigation 
is pending): 

(A) The borrower will continue to assess 
the rent or occupancy charge to the tenant/ 
member at the rates established by the ex-
pired tenant certification, through such time 
the court has rendered a decision, or the ten-
ant/member has moved out, whichever oc-
curs first. (NOTE: the tenant/member must 
pay the rent or occupancy charge into an es-
crow account pending the outcome of litiga-
tion.) 

(B) The project will not be required to pay 
overage. 

(C) Should the court deny the termination 
and order reinstatement of occupancy, the 
borrower shall promptly complete the recer-
tification process as of the current time to 
become effective as soon as possible, collect 
the due rent or occupancy charge, and re-
quest RA retroactive to the date it was sus-
pended. 

B Notice of lease or occupancy agreement 
violation. A notice of lease or occupancy 
agreement violation is prepared and issued 
by the borrower or authorized representa-
tive. Any such notice must be based on ma-
terial violation of the lease or occupancy 
agreement terms or for other documented 
good cause as determined by the borrower or 
the project manager. 

1 The notice of lease or occupancy agree-
ment violation will be handled according to 
the terms of the lease or occupancy agree-
ment. Tenants or members will be given 
prior notice of lease or occupancy agreement 

violation according to State or local law. 
The notice must: 

a Refer to relevant provisions in the lease 
or occupancy agreement. 

b State the violations with enough infor-
mation describing the nature and frequency 
of the problem to enable the tenant or mem-
ber to understand and correct the problem. 
In those cases where the lease or occupancy 
agreement violation is due to the tenant’s 
failure to pay rent or the member’s failure to 
pay occupancy charge, a notice stating the 
dollar amount of the balance due on the rent 
or occupancy charge account and the date of 
such computation shall satisfy this require-
ment. 

c State that the tenant or member will be 
expected to correct the lease or occupancy 
agreement violation by a specified date. 

d State that the tenant or member may 
informally meet with the borrower or bor-
rower representative to attempt to resolve 
the stated violation before the date of cor-
rective action specified in the notice. 

e Advise the tenant or member that if he 
or she has not corrected the stated violation 
by the date specified, the borrower may seek 
to terminate the lease or occupancy agree-
ment by bringing forth a judicial action, at 
which time the tenant or member may 
present a defense. 

2 The notice shall be accomplished by: 
sending a letter by first class mail to the 
tenant or member at his or her address at 
the project; or by serving a copy of the no-
tice on any adult person answering the door 
at the dwelling unit, or if no adult responds, 
by placing the notice under or through the 
door, if possible, or by affixing the notice to 
the door. Service shall not be deemed effec-
tive until either method of notice as de-
scribed herein has been accomplished. The 
date on which the notice shall be deemed to 
be received by the tenant or member shall be 
the date on which the required first class let-
ter is mailed, or the date on which the notice 
provided for in this paragraph is properly 
given, whichever method of service is used. 

C Notice of termination. 
1 Upon failure by the tenant or member 

to meet the condition(s) or correct the viola-
tion(s) stated in the notice of lease or occu-
pancy agreement violation by the date speci-
fied, the tenant or member will be notified 
that the occupancy is terminated and that 
eviction is being sought through the appro-
priate judicial process according to State or 
local law. 

2 The notice of termination is prepared 
and issued by the borrower or its authorized 
representative in accordance with the prior 
notice requirements and provisions of State 
or local law. 

3 If State or local law is silent or other-
wise not explicit, the notice must state the 
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reason and basis for the termination of occu-
pancy (i.e., material or other good cause vio-
lation, or both). 

4 The notice of termination must include 
the location and regular office hours during 
which the tenant or member (or counsel) 
may view its file and copy any information 
it contains to aid in the tenant’s member’s 
defense. 

5 The notice will be accomplished in the 
same manner described at paragraph XIV B 2 
of this exhibit. 

6 A copy of the notice of termination will 
simultaneously be forwarded to the Serv-
icing Office. 

7 In those states where the notice of lease 
or occupancy agreement violation automati-
cally becomes the notice of termination 
after a prescribed period of time, the require-
ments of the notice of termination have been 
met. 

D Servicing Official review. 
1 Upon receipt of a copy of notice of ter-

mination, the Servicing Official shall 
promptly review the notice for technical 
compliance with paragraph XIV C of this ex-
hibit and any applicable State Supplements. 
The Servicing Official will not review the no-
tice for the merits of the action, nor express 
any opinion on the merits of the action (this 
responsibility resides with the State or local 
court). 

2 No further action is required if the no-
tice of termination meets technical require-
ments of preparation. 

3 If the notice of termination fails to 
meet the technical requirements of prepara-
tion, the Servicing Official will: 

a Inform the borrower how the notice of 
termination failed to meet the technical re-
quirements of preparation, 

b Inform the borrower to cease the ac-
tion, 

c Inform the borrower that it may reissue 
a new revised notice of termination if the 
borrower believes the conditions still war-
rant such action, and 

d Send to the tenant a copy of the Serv-
icing Official’s letter that was sent to the 
borrower. 

E Notice of eviction. A notice of eviction is 
prepared and issued by a court of law, not 
the borrower or its authorized representa-
tive. Eviction will be carried out as specified 
by the terms of the eviction notice and court 
order. 

XV SECURITY SERVICING: Security serv-
icing, as referenced in this exhibit, concerns 
the borrower’s general responsibilities in re-
lation to the loan agreement or resolution, 
note, mortgage, and other loan documents. 
It does not deal with security items between 
the borrower and the tenants or members. 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 will look to the borrower to ful-
fill its obligation according to the require-
ments of the loan agreement or resolution, 

note, mortgage, and other legal or closing 
documents. Some items of special emphasis 
are: 

A Fidelity coverage. It is the borrower’s 
overall responsibility as described in the 
management plan to see that fidelity cov-
erage is in place on any personnel entrusted 
with the receipt, custody, and disbursement 
of any project monies, securities, or readily 
saleable property other than money or secu-
rities. The borrower should have fidelity cov-
erage in force as soon as there are assets 
within the organization and it must be ob-
tained before any loan funds or interim fi-
nancing funds are made available to the bor-
rower. Coverage must be from a company li-
censed to provide coverage in the state 
where the project is located. Fidelity cov-
erage obtained should utilize standard indus-
try forms copyrighted by an organization 
such as the American Association of Insur-
ance Services, or AAIS; Insurance Services 
Office, Inc., or ISO; or the Surety Associa-
tion of America, or SSA. Use of the following 
guidelines will meet the administrative in-
tent of FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354: 

1 Fidelity coverage policies must declare 
in the insuring agreement(s) that the insur-
ance company will provide protection to the 
insured against the loss of project money, se-
curities, and property other than money and 
securities, through any criminal or dishonest 
act or acts committed by any ‘‘employee,’’ 
whether acting alone or in collusion with 
others, not to exceed the amount of indem-
nity stated in the declaration of coverage. 
The FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 minimally requires any 
insuring policy to include an insuring agree-
ment that covers employee dishonesty. 

2 The types of coverage policies accept-
able to FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 are: 

a Blanket crime policy. This type of policy 
usually provides the broader fidelity cov-
erage and economy of cost options. Pre-
miums are subject to discount based on the 
level of internal control exercised by the in-
sured operation. This type of policy can pro-
vide the following insuring agreements: 

(1) Employee dishonesty—Form A, Blan-
ket. (Required) 

(2) Loss inside the premises—Money and 
Securities Broad Form. (Recommended) 

(3) Loss outside the premises—Money and 
Securities Broad Form. (Recommended) 

(4) Depositor’s forgery or alteration. (Rec-
ommended) 

b Fidelity bond. Fidelity bonds limit cov-
erage only to employee dishonesty. Fidelity 
bonds are generally used when one or two 
employees are covered. Premiums are based 
on established rate charges that are usually 
greater than for blanket crime policies. 
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(1) Schedule and position bonds. A schedule 
bond covers a named employee and is ac-
quired with each change of employment. A 
position bond covers a named position of re-
sponsibility and permits continuous cov-
erage even though the person holding that 
position changes. Of the two, a position bond 
is preferred by FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354. 

(2) Blanket bonds. Blanket bonds cover all 
employees in either of two forms: 

(i) Commercial blanket bond (Form A). 
This bond limits coverage to each loss, irre-
spective of how many persons are involved. 
This form of bond is available on a ‘‘stand-
ard’’ basis. 

(ii) Blanket position bond (Form B). This 
bond limits coverage to each employee, 
hence it can provide greater protection if 
there is collusion of two or more persons. 
This is a nonstandard form of bond available 
from some insurance companies who use 
their own individualized forms. 

3 The FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 requires only an 
endorsement listing all FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 fi-
nanced properties and their locations cov-
ered under the policy or bond. The policy or 
bond may also include properties or oper-
ations other than FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 financed 
properties on separate endorsement listings. 

4 Individual or organizational borrowers 
will have fidelity coverage when they have 
employees with access to project assets as 
cited in paragraph XV A of this exhibit; oth-
erwise, a management company with exclu-
sive access to the borrower’s assets will have 
the fidelity coverage. 

5 Borrowers who use a management agent 
with exclusive access to project assets as 
cited above will require the Agent to have fi-
delity coverage on all principals and employ-
ees with access to the project assets. Should 
active management revert to the borrower, 
the borrower will obtain fidelity coverage as 
specified in XV A 1 of this paragraph as a 
first course of business. 

6 Fidelity coverage is not required when a 
loan is made to an individual (a natural per-
son) or a General Partnership and that per-
son or general partner will be responsible for 
a project’s financial activities. (An indi-
vidual person cannot bond or obtain cov-
erage against its own actions.) 

7 In the case of a land trust where the 
beneficiary is responsible for management, 
the beneficiary will be treated as an indi-
vidual. 

8 A limited partnership will not be re-
quired to have fidelity coverage on its gen-
eral partners UNLESS one or more of its 
general partners perform financial acts com-
ing within the scope of the usual duties of an 
‘‘employee.’’ 

9 The minimum amount of fidelity cov-
erage will be the amount calculated by mul-
tiplying an exposure index by a coverage fac-
tor. When the calculated amount is less than 
$10,000, minimum coverage of $10,000 must be 
provided. This calculation is made as fol-
lows: 

a Determine exposure index: Exposure 
index=25 percent of the SUM of annual cash 
receipts (rents, cash subsidy, interest, etc.) 
and cash (cash carryover, reserves, CD’s, tax 
and insurance escrows, etc.). Round to next 
higher $1,000. 

b Determine coverage: Coverage = exposure 
index × coverage factor taken from the cov-
erage chart. Round to next higher $1000. 

c Coverage chart: 

Exposure index Coverage 
factor 

$100,000 or less .................................................... .30 
$100,000 to $200,000 ........................................... .28 
$200,000 to $300,000 ........................................... .26 
$300,000 to $400,000 ........................................... .24 
$400,000 to $500,000 ........................................... .22 
$500,000 to $600,000 ........................................... .20 
$600,000 to $700,000 ........................................... .18 
$700,000 to $800,000 ........................................... .16 
$800,000 to $900,000 ........................................... .14 
$900,000 to $1,000,000 ........................................ .12 
$1,000,000 or more ............................................... .10 

d Example: $245,000 exposure index × 
26=$63,700 Minimum coverage (rounded) = 
$64,000 

10 A deductible is designed to allow flexi-
bility in balancing what the project can pru-
dently pay from its own assets, at a time of 
loss, against the economy of annual pre-
miums in its annual budget. The following 
deductible levels will meet FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 re-
quirements: 

Fidelity coverage Deduct-
ible level 

Under 50,000 ......................................................... $1,000 
In the area of $100,000 ......................................... 2,500 
In the area of $250,000 ......................................... 5,000 
In the area of $500,000 ......................................... 10,000 
In the area of $1,000,000 ...................................... 15,000 

11 When discussing fidelity coverage with 
its insurance agent, the borrower and/or 
management agent should inquire how it can 
improve its internal controls to reduce expo-
sure to risk. Adoption of improvement meas-
ures may result in lower premiums. 

12 The premium for a borrower’s fidelity 
coverage on project site employees is a 
project expense. 

13 The premium of a management agent’s 
fidelity coverage for the agent’s principals 
and employees will be the management 
agent’s business expense (i.e., it is included 
within the management fee). When a project 
site employee is covered under the ‘‘um-
brella’’ of the agent’s fidelity coverage, the 
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pro rata portion of the premium covering the 
employee may be considered a project ex-
pense. 

14 Fidelity coverage should be reviewed 
during annual review and adjusted when nec-
essary. 

B Insurance. The minimum amounts and 
types of insurance required of the borrower 
will be determined by FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 in accord-
ance with subparts A and B of part 1806 of 
this chapter (FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 Instructions 426.1 
and 426.2) except as otherwise described in 
this paragraph. All references to County Su-
pervisor shall be construed to mean Serv-
icing Official when applied to the multiple 
housing program. The borrower or its agent 
shall obtain: 

1 Adequate fire, extended coverage, and 
earthquake insurance as needed will be re-
quired on all buildings included as security 
for the loan or grant (see Guide Letter 1930– 
4 for requesting renewals). The amount of 
coverage will be not less than the ‘‘Total Es-
timated Reproduction Cost New of Improve-
ments,’’ on page 5 of Form FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 1922– 
7, ‘‘Appraisal Report for Multi-Unit Hous-
ing.’’ The following additional provisions 
will apply: 

a An initial insurance policy with evi-
dence of first year paid premium will be de-
livered to the FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 Servicing Official 
at the time of loan closing or transfer of 
loan, providing at least 1 year of coverage. 

b Form FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 426–2, ‘‘Property In-
surance Mortgage Clause,’’ or the provisions 
thereof printed in the policy or in a blanket 
letter from an insurance company, must be 
part of the policy; namely to provide FmHA 
or its successor agency under Public Law 
103–354, as mortgagee, with at least 10 days 
advance notice of cancellation. 

c Evidence of paid premium in subse-
quent years will not be required. 

d Any change of insurance provider or 
level of coverage or term, will be provided to 
the Servicing Official by use of part VII 
‘‘Notice of Change to Borrower/Project Sta-
tus,’’ of Form FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 1930–7. 

2 Suitable Worker’s Compensation Insur-
ance on all its employees. Worker’s Com-
pensation Insurance for employees of a man-
agement agent shall be paid out of the 
agent’s management fee. When a project site 
employee is covered under the ‘‘umbrella’’ of 
the agent’s insurance, the portion of pre-
mium attributable to a project site employee 
may be a project expense. 

3 Adequate liability insurance. 
4 Flood insurance when the project is lo-

cated in a designated flood hazard area. 

5 A blanket insurance policy may be ac-
cepted from a borrower when blanket cov-
erage is more cost effective for each FmHA 
or its successor agency under Public Law 
103–354 financed project on a prorata basis, 
and an endorsement is attached to the policy 
listing FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 financed projects, loca-
tions, and coverage limits separate from any 
other properties covered by the policy. 

C Real estate and personal property taxes. 
All borrowers will be required to pay their 
taxes before they become delinquent and 
provide FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 with proof of payment 
(see Guide Letter 1930–7 to remind borrowers 
to pay taxes). An exception to the above may 
be made if the borrower has formally con-
tested the amount of the property assess-
ment and had escrowed the amount of taxes 
in question in a manner acceptable to the 
Servicing Official. 

XVI Automation of FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 Forms and 
Formats: The various forms and formats ap-
proved or prescribed for use by borrowers 
and their agents throughout this subpart 
may be prepared on automated systems when 
the following criteria is complied with: 

A FmHA or its successor agency under Pub-
lic Law 103–354 forms approved for official use 
by OMB. 

1 The identical wording and nomenclature 
of an official form must be included in the 
automated version of the form, including the 
OMB approval number. 

2 The function (i.e., logic or mathe-
matical calculation) of an official form must 
be the same in an automated version of the 
form. 

3 The name or logo of the source of an 
automated form must be visibly annotated 
on each output of the automated form. 

4 Nominal spacing adjustment of the con-
tent of an official form on the automated 
format is permitted to accommodate limita-
tions of automation software and hardware. 

5 Output size must be 81⁄2 inches × 11 
inches. 

6 Output on colored paper is permissible 
but not required by FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354. 

B Unofficial FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 formats. Items such 
as management plans, management agree-
ments, waiting lists, and FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 guide 
letters should be automated to the extent 
possible. Content and completion of the for-
mat must be developed according to FmHA 
or its successor agency under Public Law 
103–354 guidelines for the item. 

[58 FR 40868, July 30, 1993, as amended at 59 
FR 3779, Jan. 27, 1994; 59 FR 6886, Feb. 14, 
1994; 62 FR 25065, May 7, 1997; 67 FR 78327, 
Dec. 24, 2002] 
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EXHIBIT B–1 TO SUBPART C OF PART 
1930—MANAGEMENT PLAN REQUIRE-
MENTS FOR FARMERS HOME ADMINIS-
TRATION OR ITS SUCCESSOR AGENCY 
UNDER PUBLIC LAW 103–354 FI-
NANCED MULTIPLE FAMILY HOUSING 
(MFH) PROJECTS 

The objective of a management plan is to 
describe the property owner’s expectations 
and standards for performance, timing, and 
results of management of all aspects of the 
various components of property operation, 
maintenance, and compliance with applica-
ble laws and regulations. This exhibit is in-
tended to guide the owner in identifying the 
various components of property management 
in an organized manner. The listing of dis-
cussion items under each component is in-
tended as further guidance. Items should be 
added if needed; likewise, those items listed 
and not applicable to a given property situa-
tion need not be addressed. 

FmHA or its successor agency under Pub-
lic Law 103–354 requires management of 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 financed MFH projects to be in 
compliance with applicable Federal, State, 
and local laws and this regulation. Exhibit 
B–4 of this subpart will be used by a prospec-
tive management agent to provide a resume 
of management background and/or experi-
ence. Exhibit B–5 of this subpart will be used 
by an owner who proposes to provide direct 
project management. In rural cooperative 
housing (RCH), a cooperative’s board of di-
rectors will manage the business of the coop-
erative with the assistance of the adviser to 
the board. If the board is unable, in the ad-
viser’s opinion, to manage the cooperative 
after an adequate period of training, then 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 will make the determination of 
whether the cooperative will hire profes-
sional management. 

FmHA or its successor agency under Pub-
lic Law 103–354 will review the management 
plan to evaluate the borrower’s standards for 
project management. The management plan 
and any subsequent revisions must be signed 
by the borrower, and then approved and 
signed by the authorized FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 offi-
cial. No loan will be closed or construction 
started, or loan transfer completed, without 
a properly approved and signed management 
plan. Management plans should be reviewed 
annually and updated at least triannually by 
the borrower. Any updated or modified man-
agement plan will need to be reviewed and 
approved by the Servicing Official at the 
time of annual review. When only a few 
changes are needed, use of an addendum to 
the plan is acceptable to FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354. 

A management plan will reflect under-
standing of FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 program require-
ments for the project and address each of the 
following areas: 

1 The role and responsibility of the owner 
and the relationship and delegations of author-
ity to the management agent. A management 
agreement must be provided where a man-
agement agent is to be used. If there is no 
management agent, the management plan 
should supply the equivalent information 
concerning the management staff assigned to 
day-to-day operation of the project even 
when the owner provides direct management. 

a Describe and fully justify any identity 
of interest as described in paragraph V B of 
exhibit B of this subpart. 

b Identify the supervisory relationships, 
and to whom the incumbent of the position 
responsible for the day-to-day operation of 
the project is accountable. 

c Describe the conditions when the man-
agement agent must consult the owner be-
fore taking any action. 

d Identify the person or position in the 
owner’s organization that is the key contact 
for the management agency. Describe the 
type of decisions to be made by this contact 
person. 

e Describe the fundamental responsibil-
ities and duties of the owner and the man-
aging agent. Identify any areas of overlap 
and describe how the overlap will be handled. 

f Describe any pro rata divisions of sin-
gularly incurred operating expense that is 
common to the management agent and the 
owner (project) (i.e., fidelity coverage that 
may be divided between both). 

2 Personnel policy and staffing arrange-
ments. 

a Describe hiring practices of manage-
ment and their conformance with equal em-
ployment opportunity requirements. 

b Include a staffing plan for the project. 
c Describe the lines of authority, respon-

sibility, and accountability (internal con-
trols) within the management entity. 

d Describe the standards and plans for 
training and familiarizing employees with 
their job related responsibilities and applica-
ble FmHA or its successor agency under Pub-
lic Law 103–354 program requirements. De-
scribe how such training will generally be 
achieved. 

3 Plans and procedures for marketing units, 
achieving and maintaining full occupancy, and 
meeting HUD Form 935.2, ‘‘Affirmative Fair 
Housing Marketing Plan,’’ requirements. 

a Describe how affirmative marketing 
practices will be used. Describe the outreach 
and marketing efforts that will be used to 
reach those low-income and minority per-
sons who are least likely to apply for such 
housing without special outreach efforts. 

b Describe the methods that will be used 
to achieve and maintain the highest possible 
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level of occupancy. When applicable, indicate 
any additional compensation or incentives 
that may be allowed management agents for 
early initial rent-up. (If this area is not cov-
ered in the management plan, it will usually 
not be allowed by FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 at a later 
date.) 

c Describe how the units will be adver-
tised. Indicate minimum levels planned re-
gardless of occupancy levels. 

d Describe the appropriate communica-
tion system, auxiliary aids, or other assist-
ance that will be used to ensure effective 
communication with applicants, tenants or 
members, and members of the public that 
have sight or hearing impairments. 

e Describe the kinds of reasonable accom-
modation the project can readily provide 
such as changing water faucets, kitchen 
equipment, door knobs, assigning handicap 
parking spaces, etc. 

f Describe the process management will 
follow in reviewing and determining whether 
structural modification of an apartment unit 
is practical and feasible to reasonably ac-
commodate a tenant or household member 
who has a handicap or disability. 

g Indicate whether the FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 sam-
ple waiting list (exhibit B–14 of this subpart) 
or some other waiting list will be used. If an-
other waiting list is used, indicate how its 
use will otherwise comply with FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
guidelines. 

h Attach copies of sample forms that will 
be used to record unit condition, and indi-
cate who will receive copies of the inspection 
forms. 

i Describe any orientation services to be 
provided tenants or members to acquaint 
them with the project and care of the units. 
Indicate what printed project information 
will be given to applicants. 

j Identify the person or staff position re-
sponsible for determining tenant or member 
eligibility and their location on the waiting 
list. 

k In projects receiving tax credits, de-
scribe how special waiting lists will be estab-
lished and when eligible tenants with in-
comes higher than tax credit limits will be 
considered for occupancy. 

4 Procedures for determining eligibility and 
for certifying and recertifying incomes. 

a Describe how applications and other 
records relevant to this function will be 
kept. If application fees are used, describe 
them. 

b Describe the level of knowledge, skill, 
and ability that management official(s) will 
be expected to possess before assuming rent-
al related duties such as application proc-
essing, eligibility determination, selection, 
unit assignment, certification, recertifi-
cation, rent or occupancy charge collection, 

and recordkeeping. This discussion should 
mention training and testing to be provided 
or obtained to achieve and maintain the 
level expected. 

c Identify whether project funds or the 
management agent will pay overage when 
overage is due through no fault of the tenant 
or member. 

5 Leasing and occupancy policies. 
a Describe the occupancy standards for 

the project. (This could be shown as an 
annex to the management plan.) 

b Describe the project admissions and 
leasing/occupancy policies and procedures, 
and criteria for selecting tenants/members 
for occupancy. (This could be shown as an 
annex to the management plan.) 

c Describe the level of knowledge, skill, 
and ability that management official(s) will 
be expected to understand and apply regard-
ing project lease provisions and prohibitions, 
occupancy standards, and admissions poli-
cies. 

d Describe special procedures that will be 
used where the marketing area includes non- 
English speaking or reading persons to as-
sure that such persons will understand leases 
or occupancy agreements and established 
rules. 

6 Rent and occupancy charge collection poli-
cies and procedures. 

a Describe the project rent/occupancy 
charge collection policy and procedure, cov-
ering such matters as where the collection 
point is, which staff position handles the col-
lection, provisions for collection after nor-
mal office hours, recording, and safeguarding 
of collections. 

b Describe the project security deposit/ 
membership fee policy and procedure cov-
ering matters similar to the preceding item. 
Include discussion on handling of any inter-
est earned on such deposits. 

7 Procedures for requesting and imple-
menting a rent or occupancy charge change. 

a Describe the process to be followed for 
preparation and request of a change of rents/ 
occupancy charges and/or utility allowances, 
and to notify tenants of such change, to 
meet FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 requirements. 

b Identify which staff position or person 
will process change requests. 

c Describe when such change requests will 
normally be made in terms of economic need 
and timing within a fiscal year of operation. 

8 Plans and procedures for carrying out an 
effective maintenance, repair, and replacement 
program. 

a Describe the project objective and gen-
eral plan for preventive maintenance. 

b Describe where the project’s as-built 
plans and specifications will be located and 
identify the staff position responsible for up-
dating it as modifications occur. 
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c Describe the general maintenance pro-
cedures and schedules or cycles to: (this list 
could be attached as an addendum) 

(1) Check and service appliances and me-
chanical equipment. 

(2) Perform safety checks of smoke/fire 
alarms, fire extinguishers, outside lighting, 
and ice removal, etc. 

(3) Inspect and perform maintenance and 
redecoration incident to tenant/member 
move-out and move-in. 

(4) Perform major interior and exterior 
painting and redecorating. 

(5) Perform major repairs and grounds 
maintenance. 

(6) Remove garbage and trash. 
(7) Perform common areas cleanup (park-

ing lot, entryways, hallways, community 
room, etc.) 

d Describe the project policy and proce-
dure for tenants/members to prepare and 
submit maintenance requests. 

e Describe the general timing for han-
dling purchase orders and payments. 

f Describe the project policy for budg-
eting for and/or requesting use of reserve 
funds for funding major maintenance or re-
placement items. 

g In migrant or seasonally occupied labor 
housing (LH), describe the above items in 
terms of season opening and closing dates. 

9 Plans and procedures for providing supple-
mental services. 

a Describe the types of supplemental 
services such as laundry and vending ma-
chines that will be provided to benefit occu-
pants. 

b Explain whether this equipment will be 
owned and operated by the owner or a con-
signee (vendor). 

c Describe the safekeeping and recording 
practices (internal control) of any cash col-
lections from use of the equipment. 

d Describe who will be responsible for 
maintaining the equipment and stocking any 
vending machines. 

e When a consignee will operate the 
equipment, describe the general terms of the 
consignment contract. 

10 Plans for accounting, recordkeeping, and 
meeting FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 reporting requirements. 

a Briefly describe the type of project ac-
counting methods (i.e., cash or accrual) and 
records that will be used, how will they be 
maintained, and which staff position will 
prepare and maintain them. 

b Describe how interest earned on project 
reserve funds will be prorated and accounted 
‘‘separately’’ if such funds are deposited 
jointly with funds of another project owned 
by the same borrower. 

c Describe whether the project book-
keeping chart of accounts and bank accounts 
is compatible with Form FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 1930– 
7, ‘‘Multiple Family Housing Project Budg-

et,’’ requirements, and if not, what adjust-
ments will be made when reporting actuals 
on the form. 

d Identify which staff member or position 
will be responsible for the preparation and 
submission of the quarterly and annual re-
ports required by FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354. 

e Provide assurance or explanation that 
the person or firm who will perform and pre-
pare the annual audit, or verification of re-
view, is not associated with the project, 
other than to perform the audit or review. 

f Discuss the proposed tenant or member 
record maintenance system including reten-
tion of records and identify which person/po-
sition will handle and maintain the records. 

g Identify where records subject to FmHA 
or its successor agency under Public Law 
103–354 review will be kept and which person/ 
position FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 will contract to review 
the records. 

11 Energy conservation measures and prac-
tices. 

a Describe the plan to inform and encour-
age tenants/members in use of energy con-
servation practices they can use in their unit 
to save utility expense (and thus minimize 
utility allowances and conserve rental as-
sistance). 

b Describe the plan to utilize energy con-
servation practices in the common areas of 
the project (to conserve operating expense 
and help minimize rent/occupancy charge 
levels). 

c Describe the project objective in imple-
menting energy conservation measures, if 
any, as they are identified in an energy 
audit. 

12 Plans for tenant participation in rural 
rental housing (RRH) project operations and 
tenant’s relationship with management. 

a Decribe any plans for a tenant organiza-
tion and how management and staff will 
work with the organization. 

b Describe where the Tenant Grievance 
and Appeals Procedure (subpart L of part 
1944 of this chapter) will be posted in the 
project and otherwise made available to ten-
ants. Identify which person or staff position 
will be responsible for responses to and con-
sideration of a tenant/member grievance. 

13 Plans for member participation in RCH 
project operations. 

a Decribe who will explain to the mem-
bers the types of committees the cooperative 
will be using. 

b Describe what the cooperative will do to 
attract member participation on commit-
tees. 

c Describe how the board members will 
participate with the committee. 
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d Describe where the cooperative will 
post, and otherwise make available to mem-
bers, the Tenant Grievance and Appeals Pro-
cedure (subpart L of part 1944 of this chap-
ter). Identify which person or staff position 
will be responsible for response to and con-
sideration of a member grievance. 

14 Plan for carrying out management train-
ing programs. 

a Describe the standards of training and 
proficiency that management or board mem-
bers will be expected to attain and maintain 
to perform their duties and responsibilities 
in carrying out project objectives, including 
compliance with applicable Federal, State, 
and local laws. 

b Describe the plan to conduct internal 
training and to otherwise use external train-
ing sources to maintain levels of attained 
proficiency. 

c For RCH, describe the actions the board 
will take if a board member(s) does not par-
ticipate in training. 

d For RCH, describe the role the board 
will assume in making sure the RCH mem-
bership as a whole understands its role and 
functions in the cooperative. 

15 Termination of leases or occupancy agree-
ments and eviction. 

a Identify which person or staff position 
is responsible for knowing and administering 
State and local laws and FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354’s re-
quirements regarding termination of leases 
or occupancy agreement and evictions. 

b Identify which person or staff position 
is responsible for knowing and administering 
State and local laws and FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354’s re-
quirements regarding the notification that 
must be given to a tenant or member when 
termination of lease or occupancy agreement 
is proposed and subsequent eviction proce-
dures through the State or local judicial 
process. 

16 Security servicing. 
a Identify which person or staff position 

is responsible for knowing and complying 
with FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 requirements for fidelity 
coverage and acquiring such coverage. 

b Identify which person or staff position 
is responsible for knowing and complying 
with FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354’s insurance coverage re-
quirements and acquiring such coverage. 

17 Management agreement. Attach a copy 
of the management agreement, when appli-
cable. (If an initial loan, attach a copy of the 
proposed management agreement, when ap-
plicable.) See exhibit B–2 of this subpart for 
requirements for management agreements. 

18 RCH board of director/adviser relation-
ship. Discuss the relationship of the adviser 
and its effect on decisions made by the 
board. 

19 Management compensation. 

a If management is provided directly by 
the owner, describe the amount of manage-
ment fee, how it will be determined, and how 
it will be paid. 

b In the case of a cooperative, describe 
the amount of compensation to be paid to 
the adviser by the board. 

20 On-site management. 
a Describe who (owner, site manager, 

caretaker, board) will perform on-site man-
agement duties and responsibilities. 

b Describe the duties and responsibilities 
of the on-site management staff. 

c Identify whether the site manager will 
live in the project in a rent-free unit or pay 
rent, or live off-site. 

d Describe established office hours and in-
dicate where they will be posted. 

21 Validity of the management plan. The 
plan must provide space at the end for the 
following: 

a Date, title, and signature of borrower or 
borrower’s authorized representative. 

b Date, title, and signature of the FmHA 
or its successor agency under Public Law 
103–354 official approving the plan. 

[58 FR 40868, July 30, 1993, as amended at 62 
FR 25065, May 7, 1997] 

EXHIBIT B–2 TO SUBPART C OF PART 
1930—REQUIREMENTS FOR MANAGE-
MENT AGREEMENTS 

A completed and executed management 
agreement must be reviewed and approved by 
the Farmers Home Administration (FmHA) 
or its successor agency under Public Law 
103–354 whenever a management agent is to 
be used. A management agreement must be 
submitted to FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 for review as part 
of a project loan docket, whenever there is a 
change of management agents or ownership, 
or when a major revision of an existing 
agreement is necessary or required. 

1 A written management agreement is re-
quired for any project when the owner re-
tains a management agent. A management 
agreement is not required when the project 
is managed by the owner as described in 
paragraph V E 6 of exhibit B of this subpart. 
However, a written management plan is re-
quired for all projects new and existing, ex-
cept for on-farm labor housing units where 
rent is not required. Although the adviser to 
a cooperative board of directors is not the 
same type of agent as those who are now 
managing rental projects, a written agree-
ment between the board and the adviser is 
required which sets forth their relationship 
and what the adviser is expected to do for 
the cooperative. Exhibits F, F–1, and G of 
subpart E of part 1944 of this chapter outline 
the functions and responsibilities of an ad-
viser. The agreement may follow the content 
of exhibit B–3 of this subpart. 
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2 The management agreement must ad-
dress how FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 requirements will 
be met. The owner may delegate to the agent 
any management duties which are not re-
quired to be performed by the owner. The 
owner may delegate selected ownership re-
sponsibilities, such as requests for review 
and/or appeal of adverse decisions by third 
parties that affect the owner. However, the 
owner remains totally responsible to FmHA 
or its successor agency under Public Law 
103–354 for all aspects of management. 

3 The management plan is the primary 
management charter, constituting a com-
prehensive description of the policies and 
procedures to be followed in managing the 
project. The management agreement de-
scribes how the objectives and policies in the 
management plan will be carried out. The 
agreement should be clear and concise, 
should not merely repeat the management 
plan, but indicate how the management 
agent will implement the plan. 

4 The management agreement shall de-
scribe the management agent’s organization 
and staffing structure, management con-
trols, and any management company iden-
tity of interest relationship(s) such as the 
borrower, vendors, and suppliers of mate-
rials, labor, and services. When such rela-
tionships exist, the management agent shall 
prepare and sign the forms described in para-
graph V B 2 a of exhibit B of this subpart as 
‘‘applicant’’. 

5 The management agreement sets forth 
the standards and expectations negotiated 
between the borrower and the management 
agent. The agreement should follow the 
guidelines of exhibit B–3 of this subpart. 
Each management agreement should be tai-
lored to the specific conditions and staffing 
arrangements of the particular project. The 
site, design, size of the project, and fiscal 
constraints; market conditions; social fac-
tors; local law; and business practices are 
among the elements which may require vari-
ations to exhibit B–3 of this subpart. 

EXHIBIT B–3 TO SUBPART C OF PART 
1930—SAMPLE MANAGEMENT AGREE-
MENT FOR FARMERS HOME ADMINIS-
TRATION (FMHA) OR ITS SUCCESSOR 
AGENCY UNDER PUBLIC LAW 103–354 
FINANCED MULTIPLE FAMILY HOUS-
ING (MFH) PROJECTS 

This Agreement is made this l day of ll, 
19l, between lll (the ‘‘Owner’’), and 
lll (the ‘‘Agent’’) under the terms and 
conditions set forth herein. 

I General. 
A Appointment and acceptance. The Owner 

appoints the Agent as exclusive agent for the 
management of the property described in 
paragraph I B of this agreement, and the 

Agent accepts the appointment, subject to 
the terms and conditions set forth in this 
agreement. 

B Project description. The property to be 
managed by the Agent under this agreement 
(the ‘‘Project’’) is a housing development 
consisting of the land, buildings, and other 
improvements which make up Project No. 
ll. The Project is further described as fol-
lows: 
Name llllllllllllllllllll

Location 
City: lllllllllllllllllllll

County: lllllllllllllllllll

State: llllllllllllllllllll

No. of dwelling units llllllllllll

Type of units llllllllllllllll

(Family, Elderly, (Mixed, Congregate) 
C Definitions. As used in this agreement: 
1 ‘‘FmHA or its successor agency under 

Public Law 103–354’’ means the Farmers 
Home Administration or its successor agen-
cy under Public Law 103–354, including any 
successor agencies. 

2 ‘‘Principal Parties’’ means the Owner 
and the Agent. 

3 ‘‘Agent,’’ as used throughout this agree-
ment, means the person or business entity, 
including employees at the Agent’s office 
and project site, engaged in the task of pro-
viding management of a FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 fi-
nanced MFH project in contractual arrange-
ment with the Owner. 

D Identity of interest. The Agent discloses 
to the Owner and FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 any and all 
identities of interest that exist or will exist 
between the Agent and the Owner, suppliers 
of material and/or services, or vendors in any 
combination of relationship. Forms FmHA 
or its successor agency under Public Law 
103–354 1944–30, ‘‘Identity of Interest (IOI) 
Disclosure Certificate,’’ and FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
1944–31, ‘‘Identity of Interest (IOI) Qualifica-
tion Form,’’ completed by the Agent as ‘‘ap-
plicant,’’ are attached and made part of this 
agreement. 

E FmHA or its successor agency under Pub-
lic Law 103–354 requirements. In performing its 
duties under this management agreement, 
the Agent will comply with all relevant re-
quirements of FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354. FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 re-
quirements include preparation of forms and 
reports in the format of prescribed FmHA or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354 forms and exhibits. 

F Basic information. As soon as possible, 
the Owner will furnish the Agent with a 
complete set of ‘‘as built’’ plans and speci-
fications and copies of all guarantees and 
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warranties relevant to construction, fix-
tures, and equipment. With the aid of this in-
formation and inspection by competent per-
sonnel, the Agency will become thoroughly 
familiar with the character, location, con-
struction, layout, plan, and operation of the 
project, and especially with the physical 
plant. 

G Compliance with governmental orders. 
The Agent will take such action as it may 
deem necessary to comply promptly with 
any and all governmental orders or other re-
quirements affecting the project, whether 
imposed by Federal, State, county or munic-
ipal authority, subject, however, to the limi-
tation stated in paragraph IV D of this ex-
hibit with respect to litigation and repairs. 
Nevertheless, the Agent shall take no action 
so long as the Owner is contesting, or has af-
firmed its intention to contest, any such 
order or requirement. The Agent will notify 
the Owner in writing of all notices of such 
orders or other requirements, within 72 hours 
from the time of their receipt. 

H Nondiscrimination. In the performance 
of its obligations under this agreement, the 
Agent will comply with the provisions of any 
Federal, State or local Fair Housing law pro-
hibiting discrimination in housing on the 
grounds of race, color, religion, sex, familial 
status, national origin, or handicap. Other 
nondiscrimination provisions include title 
VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (Pub. L. 88– 
352, 78 Stat. 241), Section 504 of the Rehabili-
tation Act of 1973, and the Age Discrimina-
tion Act of 1975, as they relate to the FmHA 
or its successor agency under Public Law 
103–354 multi-housing program. 

I Fidelity coverage. The Agent agrees to 
furnish, at its own expense, fidelity coverage 
to the Owner, with copy to the FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
Servicing Office on the employees of the 
Agent who are entrusted with the receipt, 
custody, and disbursement of any project 
monies, securities, or readily saleable prop-
erty other than money or securities. The 
minimum coverage of $ll will be provided 
according to the coverage chart found in 
paragraph XV of exhibit B of this subpart. 
The Agent will obtain coverage from a com-
pany licensed to provide coverage in the 
project locality. Coverage will be in force to 
coincide with the assumption of fiscal re-
sponsibility by the Agent until that respon-
sibility is relinquished. Endorsement listing 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 projects separate from other 
projects or operations will be obtained and 
made part of the coverage policy or bond. 
The other terms and conditions of the cov-
erage, and the surety thereon, will be subject 
to the requirements and approval of the 
owner. 

J Bids, discounts, rebates, etc. With prior 
approval of the owner, the Agent will obtain 
contracts, materials, supplies, utilities, and 

services on the most advantageous terms to 
the project, and is authorized to solicit bids, 
either formal or informal, for those items 
which can be obtained from more than one 
source. The Agent will secure and credit to 
the Owner all discounts, rebates, or commis-
sions obtainable with respect to purchases, 
service contracts, and all other transactions 
on the Owner’s behalf. 

II Management plan. 
A Description. Attached is a copy of the 

management plan for the project, which pro-
vides a comprehensive description of the 
policies and procedures to be followed in the 
management of the project. 

B Relationship with management plan. The 
Agent shall conduct its management activi-
ties in accordance with the policies and pro-
cedures set forth in the management plan. In 
addition, the Agent will also carry out the 
tasks and responsibilities set forth in para-
graph IV of this agreement. 

C Division of duties and common expense. 
An identification of duties and supervisory 
relationship for project site staff and Agent’s 
office staff are described in the management 
plan as is the pro rata division of singularly 
incurred operating expense common to the 
Agent and the Owner. 

III Budget. 
A Preparation. The Agent shall prepare an 

original project budget for submission to the 
owner and FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 for approval. For 
each subsequent fiscal year the Agent shall 
prepare a new budget. 

B Budget categories. The budget shall be 
prepared using the format and categories of 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 Form 1930–7, ‘‘Multiple Family 
Housing Project Budget.’’ 

IV Agent’s authorizations. The Owner au-
thorizes the Agent to: 

A Operate the project according to the 
Owner’s management plan and in compliance 
with the Owner’s loan agreement (or resolu-
tion) with FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354, and applicable 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 regulations an guidelines. 

B Operate and maintain the project with-
in reasonable tolerance (as defined by FmHA 
or its successor agency under Public Law 
103–354) of the expense category subtotals in 
the project budget. 

C Purchase all material, equipment, 
tools, appliances, supplies and services nec-
essary for proper maintenance and repair of 
the project as stipulated by the Owner in the 
management plan, project budget, and/or 
other form of written documentation. 

D Notwithstanding any of the foregoing 
provisions or any similar provisions that fol-
low, the prior written approval of the Owner 
will be required for any expenditure which 
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exceeds $ll in any one instance for litiga-
tion involving the project, or labor, mate-
rials, or otherwise in connection with the 
maintenance and repair of the project. This 
limitations is not applicable for recurring 
expenses within the limits of the operating 
budget or emergency repairs involving mani-
fest danger to persons or property, or that 
are required to avoid suspension of any nec-
essary service to the project. In the latter 
event, the Agent will inform the Owner of 
the facts as promptly as possible. 

E Represent the Owner in specific matter 
related to management of the project. (Items 
such as representing the Owner’s interest at 
appeal hearings may be specified here or 
may be indicated that such authorizations 
will be provided in writing as an addendum 
when appropriate.) 

V Agent’s obligations. 
A Management input during and after 

FmHA or its successor agency under Public Law 
103–354 processing. The Agent will advise and 
assist the Owner with respect to manage-
ment planning and input during FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
loan processing and subsequent review. The 
Agent’s specific tasks will be: 

1 Participation in any conference with 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 officials involving project man-
agement. 

2 Preparation and submission of Form 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 1930–7 as a quarterly report 
throughout the period from initial occu-
pancy after FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 loan closing until 
such time as no longer required by FmHA or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354. If the management is authorized to sign 
the reports for the owner, a copy of the 
signed report as submitted to FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
will be provided to the Owner. 

3 Participation in the on-site final inspec-
tion of the project, required by FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
prior to initial occupancy. 

4 Continuing review of the management 
plan, for the purpose of keeping the Owner 
advised of necessary or desirable changes. 

B Liaison with architect and general con-
tractor. At the direction of the owner during 
the planning and construction phases, the 
Agent will maintain direct liaison with the 
architect and general contractor, in order to: 

1 Coordinate management concerns with 
the design and construction of the project, 

2 To facilitate completion of any correc-
tive work, and 

3 To facilitate the Agent’s responsibil-
ities for arranging utilities and services pur-
suant to paragraph V J of this agreement. 
The Agent will keep the Owner advised of all 
significant matters of this nature. 

C Marketing. The Agent will market the 
rental units according to the management 
plan, observe all requirements of the Affirm-
ative Fair Housing Marketing Plan, and 
maintain records of the marketing activity 
for compliance review purposes. 

D Rentals. The Agent will offer for rent 
and will endeavor to rent the dwelling units 
in the project. The following provisions will 
apply: 

1 The Agent will make preparations for 
initial rent-up, as described in the manage-
ment plan. 

2 The Agent will follow the tenant selec-
tion policy described in the management 
plan. 

3 The Agent will show the premises and 
available units to all prospective tenants 
without regard to race, color, national ori-
gin, sex, religion, familial status, handicap 
or age; and will provide for reasonable ac-
commodation to individuals with handicaps. 

4 The Agent will take and process all ap-
plications received for rentals. If an applica-
tion is rejected, the Agent will inform the 
applicant in writing of the reason for rejec-
tion. The rejected application, with the rea-
son for rejection noted thereon, will be kept 
on file until a compliance review has been 
conducted. If the rejection is because of in-
formation obtained from a credit bureau, the 
source of the report must be revealed to the 
applicant according to the Fair Credit Re-
porting Act. A current list of qualified appli-
cants will be maintained. 

5 The Agent will prepare all dwelling 
leases, parking permits, and will execute the 
same in its name, identified thereon as 
Agent for the Owner. The terms of all leases 
will comply with the relevant provisions of 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 regulations and State and local 
law. Dwelling leases will be in a form ap-
proved by the Owner and FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354. 

6 The Owner will furnish the Agent with 
rental and income report forms required by 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354, showing rents as appropriate for 
dwelling units, other charges for facilities 
and services, and income data relevant to de-
terminations of tenant eligibility and tenant 
rents. In no event will the rents and other 
charges be exceeded. 

7 The Agent will counsel all prospective 
tenants regarding eligibility and will prepare 
and verify eligibility certifications and re-
certifications in accordance with FmHA or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354 requirements. 

E Reports. The Agent will furnish infor-
mation (including occupancy reports) as may 
be requested by the Owner, FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354, and/ 
or the Office of Inspector General from time 
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to time with respect to the project’s finan-
cial, physical, or operational condition. The 
Agent will also prepare and submit: 
Form FmHA or its successor agency under 

Public Law 103–354 1944–8: ‘‘Tenant Certifi-
cation’’ 

Form FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 1944–29: ‘‘Project Work-
sheet for Interest Credit and Rental Assist-
ance’’ 

Form FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 1930–7: ‘‘Multiple Fam-
ily Housing Project Budget’’ 
The Agent will assist the owner in initi-

ating or completing all additional reporting 
forms and data prescribed by FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
affecting the operation and maintenance of 
the project. 

F Collection of rents, security deposits and 
other receipts. The Agent will endeavor to col-
lect when due all rents, charges, and other 
amounts receivable on the Owner’s account 
in connection with the management and op-
eration of the project. Such receipts will be 
deposited immediately in the project’s gen-
eral operating account with lll (name of 
bank or such other financial institution des-
ignated by the owner), whose deposits are in-
sured by an agency of the Federal Govern-
ment. The Agent will collect, deposit, and 
disburse security deposits, if required, in 
compliance with any State or local laws gov-
erning tenant security deposits. Security de-
posits will be deposited by the Agent in a 
separate account, at a Federally insured in-
stitution. This Account will be carried in the 
owner’s name and designated of record 
‘‘Name of Project) Security Deposit as Ac-
count.’’ 

G Accounting system. The Agent must de-
velop a systematic method to record the 
business transactions of the project that ap-
propriately reflects the complexity of 
project operations and the owner’s require-
ments. The Agent may be required to imple-
ment and use a bookkeeping and accounting 
system acceptable to FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354. The ac-
counts described in paragraph VI of this 
agreement, as a minimum, will be estab-
lished and regularly maintained by the 
Agent. 

H Enforcement of leases. The Agent will en-
deavor to ensure full compliance by each 
tenant with the terms of the lease. Vol-
untary compliance will be emphasized. The 
Agent, using the services of local social serv-
ice agencies when available, will counsel ten-
ants and make referrals to community agen-
cies in cases of financial hardship or other 
circumstances deemed appropriate by the 
Agent. Involuntary termination of tenancies 
should be avoided to the maximum extent 
consistent with sound management of the 
project. Nevertheless, and subject to the rel-

evant procedures prescribed in the manage-
ment plan, the Agent may initiate action to 
terminate any tenancy when, in the Agent’s 
judgment, there is material noncompliance 
with the lease or other good cause as pre-
scribed by FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 regulations for 
such termination. The tenant must be prop-
erly notified of his/her right to appeal the 
proposed action according to FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
regulations. Attorney’s fees, and other nec-
essary costs incurred in connection with 
such actions will be paid out of the general 
operating account as project expenses within 
the itemized limit of the project budget. 

I Maintenance and repair. The Agent will 
endeavor to maintain and repair the project 
in accordance with the management plan 
and local codes, and keep it in a condition 
acceptable to the Owner and FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 at 
all times. This will include, but is not lim-
ited to, cleaning, painting, decorating, 
plumbing, carpentry, grounds care, energy 
conservation measures and practices, and 
such other maintenance and repair work as 
may be necessary, subject to any limitations 
imposed by the Owner in addition to those 
contained therein. 

Incidental thereto, the following provi-
sions will apply: 

1 Special attention will be given to pre-
ventive maintenance, and to the greatest ex-
tent feasible, the services of regular mainte-
nance employees will be used. 

2 The Agent will contract with qualified 
independent contractors acceptable to the 
Owner for the maintenance and repair of air 
conditioning, heating systems, and ele-
vators, and for extraordinary repairs beyond 
the capability of regular maintenance em-
ployees. Any identity of interest will be 
identified in accordance with paragraph V B 
of exhibit B of this subpart. 

3 The Agent will systematically receive 
and promptly investigate all service requests 
from tenants, take such action as may be 
justified, and keep records of the same. 
Emergency requests will be received and 
serviced on a 24 hour basis. Serious com-
plaints will be reported to the Owner after 
investigation. 

4 The Agent will advise the Owner of any 
cost-effective and adaptable energy con-
servation measures or practices that should 
be used in the project. The Agent will en-
courage their use and will assist the Owner 
during any installation of these measures or 
institution of practices. 

J Utilities and services. In accordance with 
the Owner’s management plan, the Agent 
will make arrangements for water, elec-
tricity, gas, fuel oil, sewage and trash dis-
posal, vermin extermination, decorating, 
laundry facilities, and telephone service. 
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K Insurance. The Owner will inform the 
agent of insurance to be carried with respect 
to the project and its operations, and the 
Agent will cause such insurance to be placed 
and kept in effect at all times. The Agent 
will pay premiums out of the general oper-
ating account, and premiums will be treated 
as operating expenses. All insurance will be 
placed with companies, on conditions, in 
amounts, and with beneficial interests ap-
pearing thereon as shall be acceptable to the 
Owner and the FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 provided that the 
same will include public liability coverage, 
with the Agent designated as one of the in-
sured, in amounts acceptable to the Agent as 
well as the Owner and FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354. The Agent 
will investigate and furnish the Owner with 
full reports on all accidents, claims, and po-
tential claims for damage relating to the 
project, and will cooperate with the owner’s 
insurers in connection therewith. 

L Taxes, fees and assessments. The Agent 
shall provide for the payment from project 
funds all taxes, assessments, and government 
fees for the owner promptly when due and 
payable. The Agent shall also evaluate local 
property taxes to determine if they bear a 
fair relationship to the project value and if 
they do not, at the direction of the Owner, 
appeal such taxes on behalf of the Owner or 
assist the Owner in the appeal, whichever is 
required by local jurisdiction or is appro-
priate. 

M Employees and/or services. The Agent 
will employ persons and/or services, (or will 
manage persons and/or services employed by 
the Owner) to perform duties and respon-
sibilities at the project site as described in 
the management plan. Compensation of such 
persons and/or services will be paid as a di-
rect expense to the project as specified in the 
management plan and this agreement. The 
Agent will employ sufficient resources (staff 
and/or services) within the Agent’s operation 
to fulfill Agent’s obligation to the Owner 
under the terms of this agreement. 

VI Project accounts. The Agent will main-
tain and safeguard the Owner’s project finan-
cial accounts and tenant security deposit ac-
counts according to the current require-
ments set forth in paragraph XIII B 2 of ex-
hibit B of subpart C of part 1930 of this chap-
ter, which is part of the ‘‘Multiple Housing 
Management Handbook.’’ 

VII Agent’s compensation, tenure, and iden-
tification. 

A Agent’s compensation. The Agent will be 
compensated for its services for providing 
management described under this agree-
ment, and the Owner’s management plan, by 
monthly fees, to be paid from the general op-
erating account and treated as a project op-
eration and maintenance expense. Such fees 
will be payable on the first day of each 
month for the preceding month. Each 

monthly fee will be in an amount computed 
as follows: 

(The following are acceptable methods in 
no order of preference. Any other method of 
compensation will be fully described and in-
serted in this section.) The costs incurred by 
the Agent for performing the specified serv-
ices listed in this agreement shall be allo-
cated to the owner and Agent as outlined in 
the agreement, management plan, and ap-
proved project budget. 

1. $ll occupied unit on the first of a 
month. 

2. % of cash rent collected. (Plan I and full 
profit) 

3. % of basic rents collected. (Plan II) 
Maximum annual compensation under this 

agreement and the approved project budget 
shall be $ll year. 

B Term of agreement. This agreement shall 
be in effect for a period of not more than 3 
years, beginning on the ll day of ll, 
19ll, subject, however, to the following 
conditions: 

1 This agreement will not be binding upon 
the Principal Parties until approved by 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354. 

2 This agreement may be terminated by 
mutual consent of the principal parties as of 
the end of any calendar month, provided that 
at least 30 days advance written notice 
thereof with reasons given is submitted to 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354. 

3 In the event that a petition in bank-
ruptcy is filed by or against either of the 
Principal Parties, or in the event that either 
makes an assignment for the benefit of 
creditors or takes advantage of any insol-
vency act, the other party may terminate 
this agreement without notice to the other, 
provided that prompt written notice with 
reasons given for such termination is sub-
mitted FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354. 

4 It is expressly understood and agreed by 
and between the Principal Parties that the 
State Director may terminate this agree-
ment with cause upon the issuance of a 30- 
day written notice of cancellation to each of 
the Principal Parties. It is further under-
stood and agreed that no liability will attach 
to either of the Principal Parties in the 
event of such termination. 

5 Upon termination of this agreement, 
the Agent will submit to the Owner all 
project books and records and any financial 
statements required by the FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354. 
After the Principal Parties have accounted 
to each other with respect to all matters 
outstanding as of the date of termination, 
the Owner will furnish the Agent security, in 
form and Principal amount satisfactory to 
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the Agent, against any obligations or liabil-
ities which the Agency may properly have 
incurred on behalf of the Owner hereunder. 

C Agent’s indemnification. Notwith-
standing any provision of this agreement or 
any obligation of Agent hereunder, it is un-
derstood and agreed: that Owner has as-
sumed and will maintain its responsibility 
and obligation throughout the term of this 
agreement for the finances and the financial 
stability of the project; and that Agent shall 
have no obligation, responsibility, or liabil-
ity to fund authorized project costs, ex-
penses, or accounts other than those funds 
generated by the project itself or provided to 
the project or to Agent by Owner. In accord-
ance with the foregoing, Owner agrees that 
Agent shall have the right at all times to se-
cure payment of its compensation, as pro-
vided for under paragraph VII A of this 
agreement, from the operating and mainte-
nance account, immediately when such com-
pensation is due and without regard to other 
project obligations or expenses provided the 
Agent has satisfactorily discharged all du-
ties and responsibilities under this agree-
ment. Moreover, Owner hereby indemnifies 
Agent and agrees to hold it harmless with re-
spect to project costs, expenses, accounts, li-
abilities, and obligations during the term of 
this agreement and further agrees to guar-
antee to Agent the payment of its compensa-
tion under paragraph VII A of this agree-
ment during the term of this agreement to 
the extent that the project’s operating and 
maintenance account is insufficiently funded 
for this purpose. Failure of Owner at any 
time to abide by and to fulfill the foregoing 
shall be a breach of this agreement entitling 
Agent to obtain from Owner, upon demand, 
full payment of all compensation owned to 
Agent through the date of such breach and 
entitling Agent, at its option, to terminate 
this agreement forthwith. 

VIII Interpretative provisions. 
A This agreement constitutes the entire 

agreement between the Owner and the Agent 
with respect to the management and oper-
ation of the project. No change will be valid 
unless made by supplemental written agree-
ment approved by FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354. 

B This agreement has been executed in 
several counterparts, each of which shall 
constitute a complete original agreement, 
which may be introduced in evidence or used 
for any other purpose without production of 
any of the other counterparts. 

C This agreement is NOT in full force and 
effect unless and until concurred with by 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354. 

D At all times, this agreement will be 
subject and subordinate to all rights of the 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354, and will work to the benefit of 
and constitute a binding obligation upon the 

Principal parties and their respective succes-
sors and assigns. To the extent that this 
agreement confers rights upon the con-
senting parties, it will be deemed to work to 
their benefit, but without liability to either, 
in the same manner and work with the same 
effect as though the consenting parties were 
primary parties to the agreement. 

The Principal Parties [by their duly au-
thorized officers] have executed this agree-
ment on the date first above written. 
Owner: lllllllllllllllllll

By: lllllllllllllllllllll

Title: llllllllllllllllllll

Agent: llllllllllllllllllll

By: lllllllllllllllllllll

Title: llllllllllllllllllll

As lender or insurer of funds to defray cer-
tain costs of the project and without liabil-
ity for any payments hereunder, the Farmers 
Home Administration or its successor agen-
cy under Public Law 103–354 hereby concurs 
with this agreement. 

Farmers Home Administration or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 
By: lllllllllllllllllllll

Title: llllllllllllllllllll

Date: llllllllllllllllllll

Attachments: Management plan, Loan res-
olution or agreement, Identity of Interest 
Disclosure Certificate, Identity of Interest 
Qualification Form. 

[58 FR 40868, July 30, 1993, as amended at 59 
FR 6886, Feb. 14, 1994] 

EXHIBIT B–4 TO SUBPART C OF PART 
1930—OUTLINE FOR PROSPECTIVE 
MANAGEMENT AGENT OF A MULTIPLE 
FAMILY RENTAL OR LABOR HOUSING 
PROJECT 

Farmers Home Administration (FmHA) or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354 expects that Multiple Family Housing 
(MFH) property and program financed by the 
Agency will be managed to comply with au-
thorizing statutes and regulatory require-
ments in meeting the objective of providing 
decent, safe, and sanitary housing for eligi-
ble tenants and members. 

The following outline is intended to be a 
guide that borrowers can use in evaluating 
the level and quality of services that a pro-
spective management agent plans to provide 
in the management of a multiple housing 
project. The borrower is encouraged to add 
those items it deems appropriate and to de-
lete any that do not apply. 

1. Provide your name, address, name of 
project, location of project, and the name of 
the owner. 

2. Provide information about projects pre-
viously or presently managed by the man-
agement entity and its employees, including 
information relative to default history, 
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mortgage relief history, and foreclosure his-
tory along with an explanation of the cir-
cumstances that led to such actions. 

3. Describe your firm including number of 
main office staff employed in the following 
capacities: supervisory, clerical, mainte-
nance, and social services. 

4. Explain where project records will be 
kept. 

5. Describe your plan for project on-site 
staff including their duties and work fre-
quency. 

6. Give the distance in miles from your 
home office and the nearest branch office, if 
applicable, to the project. 

7. Describe the accounting system, rent- 
up procedure, rent collection policy, and pre-
ventive maintenance program including en-
ergy conservation you intend to use in the 
proposed project. 

8. Describe any and all identities of inter-
est as described in paragraph V B of exhibit 
B of this subpart. 

9. Describe the frequency and type of di-
rect supervision to be given the site man-
ager. 

10. Give a description of your financial 
condition, stability, and financial resources. 

11. Describe your plan to implement ap-
plicable FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 accounting requirements 
for the project. If you have managed this 
type of project before, cite those projects as 
an indication of your knowledge of such re-
quirements. If you have not managed such 
projects, indicate your understanding of 
what needs to be done to fulfill such require-
ments. 

12. Please also describe. 
a. Your plans for handling tenant griev-

ances and appeals, providing tenant coun-
seling, and using outside social service agen-
cies. 

b. The extent of your knowledge of FmHA 
or its successor agency under Public Law 
103–354 requirements for tenant eligibility, 
tenant certifications and recertifications. 

c. Your plans to train your personnel in 
the management of FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 MFH, in-
cluding training on the nondiscrimination 
and fair housing (reasonable accomodation) 
provisions of the civil rights laws. 

13. Describe the internal controls you will 
use to safeguard project monies, securities, 
and readily saleable property other than 
money and securities. 

14. Provide evidence of fidelity coverage 
capacity. 

15. Include where appropriate the fol-
lowing statement: ‘‘I hereby certify that 
there is no close association between the 
management agent and the owner of the 
above described project in such manner that 
creates a possible conflict of interest.’’ If 
such an association exists (e.g., the manage-
ment agent is a member, stockholder, part-

ner, principal, etc., of the borrower organiza-
tion, familial relationship) explain the rela-
tionship in detail (this may be combined 
with item 8 of this exhibit). 

EXHIBIT B–5 TO SUBPART C OF PART 
1930—OUTLINE FOR OWNER WHO PRO-
POSES OWNER-MANAGEMENT OF A 
MULTIPLE FAMILY RENTAL OR 
LABOR HOUSING PROJECT 

Farmers Home Administration (FmHA) or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354 expects that Multiple Family Housing 
(MFH) property and program financed by the 
Agency will be managed to comply with au-
thorizing statutes and regulatory require-
ments in meeting the objective of providing 
decent, safe, and sanitary housing for eligi-
ble tenants and members. 

The following outline is intended to be a 
guide that the borrower can use in describing 
the level and quality of services that the bor-
rower plans to provide in the management of 
an MFH project. The borrower is encouraged 
to add those items it deems appropriate and 
to delete any that do not apply. Response to 
the outline will be used by FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 to 
evaluate the level and quality of project 
management planned by the borrower when 
the borrower plans to provide the project 
management. 

1. Provide name of owner, address, and 
the name and location of project. State the 
number or rental units in the proposal. 

2. Provide information about your pre-
vious projects, regardless of the source of fi-
nancing, including mortgage relief and fore-
closure history along with an explanation of 
the circumstances that led to such actions. 

3. List names and addresses of manage-
ment agents who manage your previously or 
presently owned projects, if any. 

4. Describe your understanding of the re-
sponsibilities connected with owning and 
managing an MFH project under FmHA or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354. 

5. Outline your experience and capabili-
ties in providing housing for low- and mod-
erate-income tenants. 

6. Describe your intended tenure of own-
ership and the extent of personal involve-
ment in operating and managing this 
project. 

7. Describe any identities of interest as 
described in paragraph V B of exhibit B of 
this subpart. 

8. Describe your intentions and capacity 
to meet negative cash flow situations. 

9. Describe your plans for the manage-
ment and maintenance of the proposed 
project. If you intend to manage the project, 
describe your own management capacity by 
answering applicable portions of exhibit B–4 
of this subpart. 
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10. Describe the internal controls you will 
use to safeguard project monies, securities, 

and readily saleable property other than 
money and securities. 

EXHIBIT B–6 TO SUBPART C OF PART 1930—MONTHLY AND QUARTERLY PROJECT 
MANAGEMENT REPORTS 

Report of item re-
quired Due date Prepared by Report or item ap-

plicable to Distribution References and 
notes 

Project worksheet 
for interest credit 
and rental assist-
ance (Form 
FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency 
under Public Law 
103–354 1944– 
29).

Monthly payment 
date.

All borrowers 
(Agent).

Each project .......... Copy kept by bor-
rower; original 
goes to the 
FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency 
under Public 
Law 103–354 
Servicing Office 
with payments.

Instructions for 
preparation are 
in the FMI for 
Form FmHA or 
its successor 
agency under 
Public Law 103– 
354 1944–29. 

Quarterly Report 
(Form FmHA or 
its successor 
agency under 
Public Law 103– 
354 1930–7, Mul-
tiple Family 
Housing Project 
Budget).

Due in FmHA or its 
successor agen-
cy under Public 
Law 103–354 
Servicing Office 
by the 20th of 
month following 
each reporting 
period; forward 
to State Office 
by the 30th.

All borrowers 
(Agent).

Each project until 
discontinued.

Copy kept by bor-
rower. Original 
and one copy 
goes to FmHA or 
its successor 
agency under 
Public Law 103– 
354 Servicing 
Office; Servicing 
Office to forward 
original to State 
Office. * State 
Office makes 
copy and signed 
original returned 
to Servicing Of-
fice.

Reports will con-
tinue until written 
notice for dis-
continuance is 
received from 
FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency 
under Public 
Law 103–354 
Servicing Offi-
cial. Instructions 
for preparation 
are in the FMI 
for Form FmHA 
or its successor 
agency under 
Public Law 103– 
354 1930–7. 

* Signed copy goes to State Office when Servicing Office staff have received delegated approval authority. 

EXHIBIT B–7 TO SUBPART C OF PART 1930—ANNUAL PROJECT MANAGEMENT REPORTS 

Report of item re-
quired Due date Prepared by Report or item ap-

plicable to Distribution References and 
notes 

Multiple Family 
Housing Project 
Budget Form 
FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency 
under Public Law 
103–354 1930–7.

In last quarter of 
fiscal year in suf-
ficient time for 
FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency 
under Public 
Law 103–354 
approval before 
start of next fis-
cal year.

Borrower (Agent) .. All projects ............ Copy kept by bor-
rower. Original 
and one copy to 
FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency 
under Public 
Law 103–354 
Servicing Office; 
original with 
comments to 
State Office by 
Servicing Office. 
*State Office 
makes copy 
(with State Office 
comments) and 
returns original 
to Servicing Of-
fice.

Instructions for 
preparation are 
in the FMI for 
Form FmHA or 
its successor 
agency under 
Public Law 103– 
354 1930–7. 
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Report of item re-
quired Due date Prepared by Report or item ap-

plicable to Distribution References and 
notes 

Housing allowance 
for Utilities & 
Other Public 
Services (Exhibit 
A–6 to subpart E 
of part 1944 of 
this chapter).

Must be submitted 
with Form FmHA 
or its successor 
agency under 
Public Law 103– 
354 1930–7.

Borrower (Agent) .. Plan II and rental 
assistance 
projects where 
tenant pays any 
utilities.

Copy kept by bor-
rower. Original 
and one copy to 
FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency 
under Public 
Law 103–354 
Servicing Office 
with backup 
data; Servicing 
Office returns 
original to bor-
rower after State 
Office approval.*.

Instructions for 
preparation are 
in subpart E of 
part 1944 of this 
chapter. 

Note: All Preceding Items Will Be Submitted Separate From Audit/Verification of Review 

Audit Report .......... Within 90 days fol-
lowing close of 
borrower’s fiscal 
year.

Borrower’s CPA or 
LPA in accord-
ance with book-
let ‘‘U.S. Depart-
ment of Agri-
culture, Farmers 
Home Adminis-
tration or its suc-
cessor agency 
under Public 
Law 103–354 
Audit Program’’.

Projects with 25 or 
more units in 
one or more 
projects, or as 
required by 
FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency 
under Public 
Law 103–354 
State Director.

Copy kept by bor-
rower. Original 
and one copy to 
FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency 
under Public 
Law 103–354 
Servicing Office; 
one copy to 
State Office.

Will be submitted 
separately from 
other borrower 
management re-
ports. 

Multiple Family 
Housing Bor-
rower Balance 
Sheet (Form 
FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency 
under Public Law 
103–354 1930–8).

Within 90 days fol-
lowing close of 
borrower’s fiscal 
year.

Borrower (Agent) .. All projects ............ Copy kept by bor-
rower. Original 
and one copy to 
FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency 
under Public 
Law 103–354 
Servicing Office. 
Servicing Office 
sends original to 
State Office. 
*State Office 
makes copy and 
returns signed 
original to Serv-
icing Office.

Instruction for 
preparation in 
the Forms Man-
ual Insert for 
Form FmHA or 
its successor 
agency under 
Public Law 103– 
354 1930–8. 

Verification of Re-
view (in lieu of 
audit report) ac-
cording to this 
subpart (Form 
FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency 
under Public Law 
103–354 1930–8).

Within 90 days fol-
lowing close of 
borrower’s fiscal 
year.

Qualified individual, 
independent of 
the borrower.

Projects with 24 or 
fewer units.

Copy kept by bor-
rower. Original to 
FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency 
under Public 
Law 103–354 
Servicing Office; 
Servicing Office 
makes one copy 
for State Office.

Instruction for 
preparation in 
the FMI for Form 
FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency 
under Public 
Law 103–354 
1930–8. Sub-
mitted separate 
from annual re-
view items. 

*Signed copy goes to State Office when Servicing Office staff have received delegated approval authority. 
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EXHIBIT B–8 TO SUBPART C OF PART 1930—MISCELLANEOUS PROJECT MANAGEMENT 
REPORTS OR SUBMITTALS 

Report of item re-
quired Due date Prepared by Report or item ap-

plicable to Distribution References and 
notes 

Minutes of Annual 
Meeting (when 
applicable).

Submit with next 
Form FmHA or 
its successor 
agency under 
Public Law 103– 
354 1930–7, 
‘‘Multiple Family 
Housing Project 
Budget’’.

Borrower ............... All organizational 
borrowers with 
governing bod-
ies, and all cor-
porations.

Two copies to 
FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency 
under Public 
Law 103–354 
Servicing Office; 
one to be sent 
by Servicing Of-
fice to State Of-
fice.

Energy Audit .......... Submit with next 
Form FmHA or 
its successor 
agency under 
Public Law 103– 
354 1930–7.

Energy Auditor ...... All projects ............ One copy to Serv-
icing Office.

Exhibit D of this 
subpart. 

Request for Rental 
Assistance (Form 
FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency 
under Public Law 
103–354 1944– 
25).

When rental assist-
ance is re-
quested.

Borrower (Agent) .. Multiple Family 
Housing bor-
rowers and ap-
plicants with ten-
ants paying rent 
in excess of 30% 
of their adjusted 
income.

Original and copy 
to Servicing Of-
fice; submit to 
State Office for 
approval after 
Servicing Office 
review.

Refer to exhibit E 
of this subpart 
for material to be 
included with re-
quest. Instruc-
tions for prepara-
tion are in Forms 
Manual Insert for 
Form FmHA or 
its successor 
agency under 
Public Law 103– 
354 1944–25. 

Compliance re-
views (review 
conducted within 
the 1st reporting 
year after the 
project opens for 
operation).

Nov. 1st to Oct. 
31st of each 
year.

FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency 
under Public 
Law 103–354 
Servicing Official.

All Multiple Family 
Housing bor-
rowers.

Copy to State Of-
fice; original re-
tained in Serv-
icing Office.

Refer to 
1901.204(e) of 
subpart E of part 
1901 of this 
chapter. 

(a) Initial reviews 
(Form FmHA or 
its successor 
agency under 
Public Law 103– 
354 400–8, 
‘‘Compliance Re-
view’’ (Non-dis-
crimination Re-
cipients of Finan-
cial Assistance 
through FmHA or 
its successor 
agency under 
Public Law 103– 
354)*.

The Oct. 31st fol-
lowing loan clos-
ing.

(b) Subsequent re-
views (Form 
FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency 
under Public Law 
103–354 400–8).

Minimum of every 
3 years.

Management Plan Start of operations; 
update every 
third year of op-
eration.

Borrower ............... All borrowers ex-
cept those with 
nonrent LH 
projects.

Original to bor-
rower; copy to 
Servicing Office.

Reviewed annually 
during annual re-
view. 
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Report of item re-
quired Due date Prepared by Report or item ap-

plicable to Distribution References and 
notes 

Management 
Agreement (Ex-
hibit B–3 of this 
subpart).

Start of manage-
ment by man-
agement agent.

Borrower and man-
agement agent.

All borrowers not 
providing their 
own manage-
ment.

Copies with FmHA 
or its successor 
agency under 
Public Law 103– 
354 concurrence 
to Borrower, 
management 
agent and FmHA 
or its successor 
agency under 
Public Law 103– 
354.

Reviewed at least 
annually during 
annual review. 

Forms FmHA or its 
successor agen-
cy under Public 
Law 103–354 
1944–30, ‘‘Iden-
tity of Interest 
(IOI) Disclosure 
Certificate,’’ and 
FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency 
under Public Law 
103–354 1944– 
31, ‘‘Identity of 
Interest (IOI) 
Qualification 
Form’’.

Start of operations 
or whenever 
there is a 
change in iden-
tity of interest re-
lationship.

Borrower, manage-
ment agent, indi-
viduals, vendors 
or organizations 
sharing identity 
of interest with 
the project.

All borrowers ......... Original to Serv-
icing Office; cop-
ies to borrower 
and any other in-
dividual or orga-
nization sharing 
identity of inter-
est with the 
project.

Reviewed at least 
annually during 
annual review. 

*If initial rent-up has not occurred by initial review, a subsequent review will be due within 1 year following initial occupancy 
and then every 3 years. 

[58 FR 40868, July 30, 1993, as amended at 59 FR 6886, Feb. 14, 1994] 

EXHIBIT B–9 TO SUBPART C OF PART 
1930—NOTICE OF AUTHORIZATION TO 
WITHDRAW AND USE RESERVE 
FUNDS 

To: Borrower Name, Borrower Address 
Subject: Authorization to Withdraw and 

Use Reserve Account Funds 
Project Name & Number 
This letter authorizes the withdrawal of 

$ll from the subject reserve account to be 
used for lll (describe uses) 
. lllllllllllllllllllllll

• The (This) amount of $ll is a capital re-
placement/improvement expenditure and re-
payment by increasing the reserve payment 
level is not required; however, the period of 
deposits are extended until the required de-
posit level is achieved. 

• The (This) amount of $ll is an annual 
operating and maintenance expense and 
must be restored in the reserve account plus 
any required annual reserve payment before 
any return on investment can be authorized 

subsequent to this date. (During the second 
to fifth year of project operation, add this 
sentence if the initial operating capital has 
not yet been withdrawn, ‘‘This amount will 
be deducted from the initial operating cap-
ital to be withdrawn if said capital is being 
withdrawn during the current budget year, 
and this amount has not been restored to the 
reserve account.’’) 

• The (This) amount of $lll is an annual 
recurring type of expense and must be re-
stored in the reserve account according to 
the terms and conditions contained in your 
special servicing work-out plan with Farm-
ers Home Administration or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354. 

(Add any additional discussion required.) 
The correct level of funding of the project 

reserve account after this disbursement is 
(amount) as of (date). 

/s/ 
Servicing Official 
• Select appropriate paragraph(s). 
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EXHIBIT B–10 TO SUBPART C OF PART 1930—RESERVE ACCOUNT TALLY 

Starting Date: (1) 

Amount Shown on Loan Agreement/Resolution: $(2) 

Contribution: $(3)/Month × 12 = $(4) Annually 

Fiscal 
year 

Planned deposits Planned use of reserve Actual deposits End of 
fiscal 
year 

Com-
ments 

Begin-
ning of 
fiscal 
year 

Req. 
annual 
deposit 

Planned 
ending 
balance 

Withdrawal 

Trans-
fer to 

reserve 

Interest earned/used 

End-
ing re-
serve 
bal-
ance 

Date au-
thorized 

Pur-
pose Amount 

Earned 
on re-
serve 

Trans-
fer to 
GOA 

Left in 
re-

serve 

(5) (6) (7) (8) (9) (10) (11) (12) (13) (14) (15) (16) (17) 

Reserve Account Tally Instructions 

1. Enter month and year that cash flow 
started from rental income. 

2. Enter the ultimate reserve amount to be 
achieved as shown on the loan agreement/ 
resolution (as modified and increased, if ap-
plicable). 

3. Enter monthly reserve deposit install-
ment. 

4. Enter yearly reserve deposit install-
ment. 

5. Enter borrower fiscal year for which 
records apply. 

6. Enter fiscal year beginning balance car-
ried forward from preceding fiscal year. 

7. Enter the required annual deposit. If 
borrower is authorized by an approved budg-
et to contribute less than the amount re-
quired by the loan agreement, enter the re-
duced amount. For amounts ‘‘restored’’ to 
reserve after a previous withdrawal, enter re-
stored amount in this column on a separate 
line and describe in comment column. 

8. Enter the required balance at the end of 
the borrower fiscal year. 

9. Enter the date of authorization for with-
drawal from reserve. 

10. Enter the purpose (capital or annual re-
curring expense); and describe in comment 
column any agreement (see exhibit B–9 of 
this subpart) to restore the withdrawal. 

11. Enter amount of authorized with-
drawal. 

12. Enter the actual amount paid into the 
reserve account. 

13. Enter amount of interest earned on re-
serve deposit during fiscal year. 

14. Enter portion of earned interest trans-
ferred to project general operating account. 

15. Enter balance of earned interest left 
(accrued) in the reserve account. (NOTE: At 
borrower’s choice, this amount may be used 
to help meet or increase the annual reserve 
deposit.) 

16. Enter the reserve balance at the end of 
the fiscal year. 

Balance at end of last fiscal year. 
Less authorized withdrawal. 
Plus transfer to reserve. 
Plus accrued interest. 

NOTE: Reconciliation of the current ac-
count balance may be accomplished by en-
tering the following calculations of the tally 
sheet. 

(1) Calculate: Gross Potential Reserve 
(GPR); No. of Deposit Installments since 
start date × $ amount of installments = GPR. 
Then separately, 

(2) Add: regular and extra deposits = $ Ad-
ditions. 

(3) Subtract: FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 authorized with-
drawals = $ Subtractions. 

(4) Result: current balance = $ balance. 
(5) Compare GPR to current balance. 

17. Enter appropriate notes (e.g., with-
drawal uses, explain discrepancies with other 
documents). 
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EXHIBIT B–11 TO SUBPART C OF PART 1930—EQUAL HOUSING OPPORTUNITY LOGOTYPE 
(REQUIRED FOR PROJECT SIGN) 
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EXHIBIT B–12 TO SUBPART C OF PART 1930—FARMERS HOME ADMINISTRATION OR ITS 
SUCCESSOR AGENCY UNDER PUBLIC LAW 103–354 LOGOTYPE (OPTIONAL FOR 
PROJECT SIGN) 

EXHIBIT B–13 TO SUBPART C OF PART 1930—INTERNATIONAL SYMBOL OF ACCESSI-
BILITY (REQUIRED FOR HANDICAP PARKING SPACE AND ALONG HANDICAP ACCESSI-
BILITY ROUTE) 
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EXHIBIT B– 14 TO SUBPART C OF PART 1930—SAMPLE WAITING LIST 
(1) Project Name. 

(2) Location. 

Applicant information Selection criteria 

App. 
No. 

Date/ 
time 

Name/ 
ad-

dress 

Phone 
No. 

Race 
code 

HH 
size 

Displ. 
prior 
yes/ 
no 

Income level Unit size RA 
elig. 
yes/ 
no 

Dates 
con-

tacted 
for oc-
cupan-

cy 

Lease 
date 

Re-
moval 
date 

Com-
ments 

VL L M I 1 br 2 
br 

3 
br 

4 
br 

(3) (4) (5) (6) (7) (8) (9) (10) (11) (12) (13) (14) (15) (16) (17) (18) 

Waiting List Instructions 

This sample waiting list may be used as a 
model in developing a project waiting list. It 
combines income level and unit size 
groupings on one page. Separate pages for 
different income levels or unit sizes are an 
option. 

Waiting lists need to be updated periodi-
cally by carrying forward active applications 
and removing applications that have become 
tenants or members or have been withdrawn. 
This should be done with sufficient fre-
quency so that a substantial number of lines 
on the waiting list are filled with active ap-
plications. Retired waiting lists must be 
kept through the next compliance review 
performed by Farmers Home Administration 
(FmHA) or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354. 

Description of Input: 

1. Project name—Self-explanatory. 
2. Location—Project location name. 
3. Application No.—This is the sequential 

number of the order by which the completed 
application was received. This may be a con-
tinual sequence from a given start date or it 
may be the sequential number in a par-
ticular year. Example: 93–3 denotes the third 
application received in 1993. 

4. Date/time—The date and time a com-
pleted application is received. 

5. Name/address—Name of applicant and 
current street and/or mailing address. 

6. Phone number—Applicant’s current 
phone number or a contact person’s phone 
number. 

7. Race code—Local management should 
use a code known to itself of the code pro-
vided in Form FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 1944–8, ‘‘Tenant 
Certification.’’ Use letters or numbers or a 
combination of both. Do not state or abbre-
viate racial or ethnic descriptions. 

8. Household size—The total number of 
people who will actually occupy a unit. 

9. Blank column—For optional use; for 
labor housing purposes. 

10. Displaced priority—If applicant pos-
sesses a letter of priority entitlement 
(LOPE) issued by FmHA or its successor 

agency under Public Law 103–354 or from 
other assisted housing enter yes/LOPE. If ap-
plicant is displaced due to a natural disaster 
or catastrophe, housing rendered uninhabit-
able, or seized by legal action (other than for 
illegal activity) enter yes/other. Enter no if 
applicant is not a displacee. 

NOTE: Section 8 applicants who at time of 
housing need are involuntarily displaced, liv-
ing in substandard housing, or paying more 
than 50 percent of family income for rent 
have priority over other Section 8 appli-
cants. 

11. Income level—Enter a checkmark under 
the income level determined by income 
verification. 

12. Unit size—Enter a checkmark under 
each unit size the applicant is qualified to 
occupy or deems appropriate to its need. Cir-
cle the checkmark denoting the size re-
quested. Legend: VL—Very low-income, L— 
Low-income, M—Moderate-income, I—Ineli-
gible. 

13. Rental assistance eligibility—Indicate 
whether or not the income level qualifies the 
applicant to receive rental assistance (RA). 
(If RA is being used in the project). 

14. Blank column—For optional use. It 
could denote Sec. 8 handicap status, elderly 
family status, LH status, or tax credit eligi-
bility status. 

15. Dates contacted for occupancy—Enter 
the dates management contacted or at-
tempted to contact the applicant to offer an 
apartment for occupancy. Note the method 
of contact and the results. 

16. Lease date—Fill in date of Lease to de-
note that applicant has changed to tenant 
status. 

17. Removal date—Enter date of removal 
from the waiting list, when applicable. 

18. Comments—Self-explanatory. 

VerDate Aug<04>2004 15:05 Feb 15, 2005 Jkt 205023 PO 00000 Frm 00296 Fmt 8010 Sfmt 8002 Y:\SGML\205023T.XXX 205023T



297 

RHS, RBS, RUS, FSA, USDA Pt. 1930, Subpt. C, Exh. C 

EXHIBIT C TO SUBPART C OF PART 1930— 
RENTAL AND OCCUPANCY CHARGE 
AND/OR UTILITY ALLOWANCE 
CHANGES 

I. Objectives 

This exhibit prescribes the method of proc-
essing changes in the monthly rental or oc-
cupancy charge rates for tenants or members 
in Farmers Home Administration (FmHA) or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354 Rural Rental Housing (RRH), Rural Coop-
erative Housing (RCH), and Labor Housing 
(LH) projects. This exhibit covers all RRH, 
RCH, and LH loans (except ‘‘nonrental’’ LH 
loans), including those approved before the 
date of this subpart. 

II. Definitions 

A. Approval official. State Director or des-
ignated State and Servicing Office staff with 
delegated authority according to § 1930.143 of 
this subpart. 

B. Utility. Sewer, water, trash collection, 
electricity, natural gas, and any other fuel 
used specifically for cooking, heating, and/or 
cooling. 

C. Rental or occupancy charge rate (rental or 
occupancy charge). The term rental rate 
means RRH or LH project rent rates that in-
clude utilities; or net project rent rates plus 
an allowance for utilities, either of which 
should be equal in value. In RCH projects, 
the term occupancy charge means the charge 
for occupancy including utilities; or the net 
charge for occupancy exclusive of an allow-
ance for utilities according to the operating 
plan of the cooperative. 

III. Initial Understanding With Borrower 

A. All RRH, RCH, and LH applicants will 
be informed at the application stage of the 
agency’s rental or occupancy charge change 
procedure. All borrowers will be advised that 
any proposed rent or occupancy charge 
changes must comply with this exhibit. Util-
ity allowance changes will comply with this 
exhibit and exhibit A–6 of subpart E of part 
1944 of this chapter. This exhibit will also 
apply to rental changes resulting from the 
Department of Housing and Urban Develop-
ment’s (HUD) Automatic Annual Adjustment 
Factors for units receiving section 8 assist-
ance. Request for a rental or occupancy 
charge change will be based on a realistic 
projected budget for the interim year or the 
ensuing full year. 

B. Rental or occupancy charge change poli-
cies. 

1. Rental or occupancy charge rates in 
projects financed in whole or in part by an 
RRH, RCH, or LH loan may not be raised 
without FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 written consent according 
to requirements in loan agreements, loan 

resolutions, and other instruments executed 
in connection with RRH, RCH, and LH loans. 

2. Changes requiring only prior FmHA or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354 review are those which are beyond the 
borrowers’ control to cover changes in taxes 
or utilities, and changes which do not result 
in an increase in the tenant’s or member’s 
total shelter cost. 

3. Borrowers are encouraged to have the ef-
fective date of needed changes coincide with 
the start of their fiscal year or with the start 
of the season in the case of LH projects occu-
pied on a seasonal basis. 

4. Change requests normally should be 
made 60 to 90 days prior to the end of the 
borrower’s fiscal year. 

5. It is anticipated that rental or occu-
pancy charge changes would not be nec-
essary more frequently than once a year. 

6. Changes in rental or occupancy charge 
rates will apply to all units in the project. 

7. Projects with operating budgets that 
consistently generate a surplus of unre-
stricted cash greater than 10 percent of 
project yearly expense (exclusive of any 
qualifying refund of 2 percent initial oper-
ating capital contribution) should reduce 
their rental or occupancy charge rates. 

8. Current tenant or member certifications 
on Form FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 1944–8, ‘‘Tenant 
Certification,’’ or other form approved by 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 must be on file in the Servicing 
Office. 

C. All borrowers are encouraged to partici-
pate in the FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 rental assistance 
(RA) program. However, unless the Adminis-
trator notifies State and Servicing Offices 
otherwise, all borrowers with projects meet-
ing the eligibility requirements of paragraph 
II B of exhibit E of this subpart, except full 
profit borrowers, will be automatically 
treated as having applied for rental assist-
ance, since section 530 of title V of the Hous-
ing Act of 1949, as amended, requires such 
consideration. 

D. Borrowers must accept RA when it is 
available and it appears that a rental or oc-
cupancy charge change will cause any very 
low or low-income tenant to pay in excess of 
30 percent of adjusted monthly income for 
shelter costs. If FmHA or its successor agen-
cy under Public Law 103–354 does not have 
RA appropriation available for this purpose, 
the borrower is encouraged to use other 
sources of governmental subsidies. The 
availability or unavailability of govern-
mental subsidies will not preclude FmHA or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354 from processing a rental or occupancy 
charge change request. The borrower will re-
tain the option of submitting an RA request 
at any time that it appears that any 
verylow- or low-income tenant cannot pay in 
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excess of 30 percent of adjusted monthly in-
come in shelter costs, even without a rent 
change action. In such cases, the borrower 
must apply for RA on Form FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 1944– 
25, ‘‘Request for Rental Assistance,’’ unless 
such form is already on file at the FmHA or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354 Servicing Office. 

E. Even though RA is not available, bor-
rowers are encouraged to convert to Interest 
Credit Plan II to give tenants and members 
the most favorable rental rates possible. 

IV. Borrower’s Responsibility in Processing 
Rental or Occupancy Charge Change Re-
quests Which Change Housing Costs to Ten-
ants or Members 

A. When an RRH, RCH, or LH borrower de-
termines that a project rental or occupancy 
charge change is needed, the borrower must 
meet or consult with the Servicing Office 
staff, unless such requirement is waived by 
the Servicing Office, to review the following 
information before the ‘‘Notice to Tenants 
(members) of Proposed Rent (Occupancy 
Charge) and Utility Allowance Change,’’ ex-
hibit C–1 of this subpart, is posted and deliv-
ered to the tenants or members: 

1. Facts demonstrating the need and jus-
tification for a rental or occupancy charge 
change in accordance with paragraph III A of 
this EX. 

2. A new operating budget for the borrower 
fiscal year showing: 

a. Currently approved budget at old rents 
or occupancy charges. 

b. Actual income and expenses to date. 
c. Proposed budget at proposed new basic 

rents or occupancy charges. 
d. Proposed budget at proposed new note 

rate rents or occupancy charges (when appli-
cable). 

3. An application for RA is considered to 
have been automatically filed with the Agen-
cy. However, the borrower may submit an 
application for RA at any time on Form 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 1944–25, if the borrower’s project 
is an eligible project and the proposed 
change will cause any very low- and low-in-
come tenants or members to pay in excess of 
30 percent of adjusted monthly income for 
shelter costs. 

4. A new energy audit, if one is due, or a 
listing of deferred improvements identified 
in a previous energy audit that were per-
formed within the past 5-year period accord-
ing to the requirements of exhibit D of this 
subpart. 

5. Information on actual utility costs for 
representative units in the project and, 
whenever any utility allowance was ap-
proved over 12 months ago, an updated ex-
hibit A–6 of subpart E of part 1944 of this 
chapter when tenants or members pay their 
own utilities. 

6. Any other information the borrower be-
lieves necessary to justify the proposed shel-
ter cost change. 

B. Required actions and timeframes for shelter 
cost changes. Requests for shelter cost 
changes (i.e. changes to the rent and/or util-
ity allowance) may be submitted at any 
time, however, the Agency encourages such 
requests to be submitted within the last 
quarter of the calendar year in conjunction 
with the annual budget review. 

1. Agency action. 
a. The Agency must act on any shelter cost 

change request and take one of the following 
actions within 25 days of its receipt: 

(1) Review the request package and if it is 
incomplete, return it to the borrower/man-
ager, advising what additional information is 
needed, or 

(2) Request a meeting with the borrower/ 
manager and state the proposed meeting 
date. The request should inform the bor-
rower/manager of the purpose of the meet-
ing. When a meeting is held, the Servicing 
Official will either: 

(i) Approve posting of the proposed rental 
or occupancy charge change and advise the 
borrower in writing to post the notice, or 

(ii) If the proposed change as submitted is 
not acceptable, the Servicing Official and 
the borrower/manager will arrive at a mutu-
ally acceptable change, and the Servicing Of-
ficial will authorize in writing, posting of 
the agreed to revised figure, OR 

(iii) Reject posting of the proposed change, 
advise the borrower in writing to not post 
the notice and advise the borrower of their 
appeal or review rights in accordance with 
subpart B of part 1900 of this chapter. 

(3) If the borrower/manager does not attend 
the proposed meeting or other mutually 
agreed date, the change request will be con-
sidered withdrawn and returned to the bor-
rower/manager, or 

(4) The Servicing Official may waive the 
meeting requirement and authorize the post-
ing subject to any minor changes or other re-
quirements listed, if any, or 

(5) Allowing posting of the request by not 
taking action on the request (de facto post-
ing approval). 

b. Once a rental or occupancy charge 
change has been permitted to be posted, the 
only decision that can be made is to ‘‘ap-
prove’’ or ‘‘reject,’’ which would be based on 
material concerns in comments of the ten-
ants or members. When the request is re-
jected, the borrower will be advised of any 
appeal or review rights in accordance with 
subpart B of part 1900 of this chapter. 

2. Borrower action. When approval to post 
notice is given by FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354, the bor-
rower is required to: 

a. Notify tenants or members. 
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(1) Tenants or members must be notified in 
writing at least 60 days before the antici-
pated effective date of change using exhibit 
C–1 of this subpart. The written notice may 
be delivered by mail or by other means. In 
addition, the borrower must post at least one 
notice in a visible place at the project site. 

(2) Tenant or member comment period. Ten-
ants or members will be informed of their 
right to submit comments to the Servicing 
Office during the 20-day period following the 
date of the notice. Tenants or members will 
also be informed of their rights to inspect 
and copy records on file with the Agency, 
which are related to the request, throughout 
the 20-day period. 

b. Notify the Agency. The Agency must be 
given a copy of the written and dated notifi-
cation which was mailed or delivered to the 
tenants or members. 

3. Implementation timeframes. Shelter cost 
changes cannot be implemented until such 
time as the tenants or members are informed 
of the changed rates. When increases are in-
volved, tenants or members must be in-
formed at least 30 days in advance of their 
effectiveness or such longer time as State 
law may prescribe. Tenants or members re-
ceiving notice of a shelter cost increase via 
the use of exhibit C–1 of this subpart will al-
ready have been ‘‘informed at least 30 days 
in advance’’ and need not receive a second 
notice provided the final approval action 
(i.e., See exhibit C–2 of this subpart) does not 
change the shelter cost rate established in 
exhibit C–1. 

V. Determination by FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 

A. Actions by servicing official. The Serv-
icing Official will not consider a rental or oc-
cupancy charge change application complete 
and acceptable until the borrower has com-
plied with all terms listed in paragraph IV of 
this exhibit. When the application and all at-
tachments for the proposed change have been 
received (including the tenant or member 
comments when notification is required), the 
Agency will: 

1. Review all the material submitted. 
2. Review a copy of the borrower’s latest 

Form FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 1944–29, ‘‘Project Work-
sheet for Interest Credit and Rental Assist-
ance.’’ 

3. Determine if RA is available for an eligi-
ble project on behalf of the low-income ten-
ants or members. If RA is available, and it is 
apparent from record sources that at least 
one tenant is eligible for RA, the Servicing 
Office staff must require the borrower to 
apply for RA if an application for RA using 
Form FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 1944.25 is not already on 
file at the Servicing Office. 

4. When the change is requested for energy 
saving improvements identified in an energy 

audit, the Servicing Official shall determine 
the cost effectiveness and financial impact of 
the proposed improvements from informa-
tion contained in the energy audit. The Serv-
icing Official’s determination will be made 
according to paragraph VI of exhibit D of 
this subpart. 

5. When State Office approval is required, 
the Servicing Office will submit to the State 
Director (see Guide Letter 1930–3 for out-
lining the change request package being sub-
mitted): 

a. Appropriate recommendations on the re-
quest, 

b. An indication of the number of tenants 
or members who will need RA as a result of 
the rent changes, 

c. All the material received from the bor-
rower, including tenant or member com-
ments or objections at the end of the 20-day 
comment period, and 

d. A short narrative describing the general 
tone and material content of tenant or mem-
ber comments and concerns. 

6. When a member of the Servicing Office 
staff is the approval official, the documenta-
tion required by paragraph V A 5 of this ex-
hibit, will be attached to the rent change re-
quest. 

7. When the borrower has requested RA, 
complete Form FmHA or its successor agen-
cy under Public Law 103–354 1944–25 and for-
ward it to the State Director. 

B. Actions by the approval official. When the 
application, attachments, and comments are 
received, the approval official will review the 
material to determine if the change is justi-
fied and act on the request within 25 days. 
The borrower will be notified by the Ap-
proval Official of the determination within 
45 days from the date the ‘‘Notice to Tenants 
(Members) of Proposed Rent (Occupancy 
Charge) and Utility Allowance Change’’ (Ex-
hibit C–1 of this subpart) is posted, otherwise 
the request will be considered approved. 

1. Approval actions. 
a. When a change is approved, the Approval 

Official will notify the borrower by using ex-
hibit C–2 of this subpart. The notice letter 
(Exhibit C–2 of this subpart) will be prepared 
using the required and/or optional para-
graphs as applicable. The reasons for the ap-
proved rent change should be concise. The 
notice letter will be mailed or hand delivered 
to each tenant or member and posted in a 
conspicuous places(s). 

b. When the borrower’s project is operated 
on a profit basis and the purpose of the rent-
al change is for: justified operating and 
maintenance expense; funding the reserve 
account; other project expenses; and pro-
viding or maintaining a profit, the change 
may be allowed as long as eligible tenants 
can afford the new rental rate. 

2. Disapproval actions. When the Servicing 
Official determines an application for a pro-
posed rental or occupancy charge change is 
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not justified on the basis of the information 
submitted, the Servicing Official will notify 
the borrower in writing of the reason(s) why 
the change is not approved. The borrower 
will be advised of their appeal rights in ac-
cordance with subpart B of part 1900 of this 
chapter. Rental or occupancy charge changes 
may not be approved when any of the fol-
lowing circumstances exist: 

a. The borrower is able but unwilling: To 
comply with applicable tenant eligibility re-
quirements; the audit and reporting require-
ments of this subpart; or, the conditions set 
forth in the borrower’s loan agreement or 
resolution, interest credit and/or rental as-
sistance agreement, promissory note, or 
mortgage. 

b. The budget for the project reflects suffi-
cient income at the present rental or occu-
pancy charge structure to meet operation 
and maintenance expenses which are appro-
priate and reasonable in amount, meet the 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 debt service requirements, meet 
the required reserve account deposit, and 
provide a return to the borrower, when ap-
propriate. 

c. The borrower’s project is operated on a 
profit basis and the proposed rental change 
is for purposes other than meeting operation 
and maintenance expenses and debt service 
(i.e., the purpose is to allow excessive profits 
and the proposed rental change will result in 
rental rates in excess of what eligible ten-
ants can afford).e State Director is able to 
provide RA to the project and the borrower’s 
project is operated on a nonprofit basis, or a 
limited profit basis (as defined in § 1944.205 of 
subpart E of part 1944 of this chapter); but 
the borrower has not applied for RA within 
the most recent period of 180 days prior to 
the rental change request or otherwise al-
ready has an application for RA on file at 
the Servicing Office on Form FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
1944–25. 

VI. Unauthorized Rental or Occupancy Charge 
Changes 

When a borrower implements a change 
that does not meet the requirements of this 
exhibit, the borrower will be notified in writ-
ing that: the change has not been authorized; 
and the rates must be rolled back to the last 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 authorized level. Tenants or 
members affected by the unauthorized 
change will be given a rebate or credit for 
the unauthorized amounts retroactive to the 
date of the unauthorized change. Those bor-
rowers that fail to comply the provisions of 
this paragraph will be handled according to 
§ 1965.85(d) of subpart B of part 1965 of this 
chapter or paragraph X of this exhibit. 

VII. Annual Adjustment Factors for Section 8 
Units 

A. HUD allowance of change. 
1. If the Servicing Official disapproves a 

rental rate change, or approves a lesser 
amount than permitted by HUD, as a result 
of HUD’s annual adjustment factors for units 
receiving Section 8 assistance, the Servicing 
Official must require the borrower to deposit 
any excess funds, the difference between the 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 approved note rate rent and the 
higher HUD authorized rental rate, into the 
reserve account. 

2. If this results in an accumulation of 
funds in the reserve account behind the sum 
shown in the loan agreement or loan resolu-
tion, the interest credit reduction on a Sec-
tion 8/515 project should be adjusted or can-
celed through field office terminals. 

3. This adjustment or cancellation can be 
done without borrower consent for projects 
with interest credit agreements dated on or 
after October 27, 1980. For projects with in-
terest credit agreements dated before Octo-
ber 27, 1980, this cancellation or reduction of 
interest credit may occur only with the bor-
rower’s written consent. 

4. When interest credit cannot be canceled 
or reduced, the Agency will collect overage. 
Overage, for each tenant, in this instance is 
the difference between the FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 in-
terest credit reduced rate rent and the lesser 
of the FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 note rate rent or the HUD 
contract rent. The total overage collected 
should not exceed an amount equal to the in-
terest credit authorized by the interest cred-
it agreement for the period of time covered 
by the loan payment installment. 

5. Even though interest credit is canceled 
or nullified by collecting overage, the bor-
rower will still be required to operate on a 
limited profit basis. 

B. HUD disallowance of change. If HUD will 
not allow an annual adjustment of rents, and 
the project operating budget justifies need 
for rent(s) greater than HUD’s contract 
rent(s), the State Director only may author-
ize conversion from a plan of 1 or 2 percent 
interest reduction (Interest Credit Plan II) 
to a plan of debt amortization at 1 percent 
interest plus overage up to the HUD contract 
rent(s) level by meeting the requirements of 
paragraph IV A2e of exhibit B of this sub-
part. 

C. Reviewing budgets where HUD subsidies 
are involved. FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 has the responsi-
bility to review and approve project budgets 
based on need to meet the cash flow and ex-
pense requirements without regard to HUD’s 
automatic annual adjustment. Since HUD 
and FmHA or its successor agency under 
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Public Law 103–354 approved rent rates fre-
quently differ, it may be necessary to have a 
3 column budget in projects with Section 8 
Housing Assistance Program (HAP) agree-
ments. (Refer to the examples shown in para-
graph VIID of this exhibit). 

1. When HUD contract rent and the 1 or 2 per-
cent reduced rate are the same. In a project 
where 100 percent of the units receive Sec-
tion 8 (100 percent Section 8 projects), and 
the HUD contract rent rate and the 1 or 2 
percent reduced rate are the same, only the 
HUD contract rent rate column on the budg-
et is needed. 

2. When HUD contract rent falls between the 
1 or 2 percent reduced rate and the FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 note 
rate. In a 100 percent Section 8 project where 
the HUD contract rental rate falls between 
the 1 or 2 percent reduced rate rent and the 
note rate rent, a 3 column budget showing 
the 1 or 2 percent reduced rate rent, the HUD 
contract rental rate, and FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 note 
rate rent is needed. 

3. When HUD contract rate exceeds the FmHA 
or its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354 note rate. In a 100 percent Section 8 
project without interest credit and where the 
HUD contract rental rate exceeds the note 
rate rent, the budget should show 2 columns 
reflecting each rent rate. The difference be-
tween the two rent rates is considered excess 
funds and is to be deposited in the reserve 
account. 

4. When part of units are covered by Section 
8 HAP contract. In a project where only part 
of the units are under a Section 8 HAP con-
tract, a 3 column budget of basic rental rate, 
HUD contact rental rate, and note rate rent 
is needed. The HUD contract rental rate may 
fall between the basic and note rate, or it 
may be higher than the note rate rent. 

D. Overage payments and excess income from 
an interest credit agreement: 

1. Overage is the amount by which total 
rental payments paid or to be paid by the 
tenants or members exceed the total basic 
monthly rental rate. In 100 percent Section 8/ 
515 projects, and Plan II projects, where the 
HUD contract rental rate exceeds the ap-
proved 1 or 2 percent (or greater percentage 
in the case of Plan II) reduced rental rate, 
the FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 approved rate is the re-

quired ‘‘basic’’ monthly rental rate. When-
ever FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 approves a note rate rent 
change for a lesser amount than the change 
permitted by HUD, the FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 Serv-
icing Official must require the borrower to 
deposit any excess funds into the reserve ac-
count. 

2. Any Section 8 subsidy funds paid by HUD 
are paid on behalf of the tenant or member, 
and therefore, any Section 8 payments are 
not considered as excess funds until after 
any benefits provided by the interest credit 
agreement are recovered. Therefore, the fol-
lowing applies: 

a. Projects on an Interest Credit plan coded 7 
or 8 on Form FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 1944–7. See figure 1 
of paragraph VIID 2 a (3) of this exhibit. 

(1) When HUD rate is equal to or less than 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public Law 
103–354 note rate. In 100 percent Section 8/515 
projects when the HUD contract rental rate 
is more than the 1 or 2 percent reduced rate 
and is either equal to or less than the FmHA 
or its successor agency under Public Law 
103–354 note rate rent, overage will be paid to 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 in an amount equal to the dif-
ference between the HUD contract rental 
rate and the 1 or 2 percent reduced rate. 

(2) When HUD rate is greater than FmHA or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
note rate. In 100 percent Section 8/515 projects 
when the HUD contract rental rate is greater 
than the FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 note rate rent, 
overage will be paid to FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 as in 
D 1 of this paragraph, and the amount equal 
to the difference between the HUD contract 
rental rate and the FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 note rate 
rent will be deposited in the reserve account 
as excess income. In 100 percent Section 8/515 
projects, when the HUD contract rental rate 
exceeds the note rate rent the borrower/man-
ager needs to use FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 Form 1944– 
29, part I, items 23 through 29, to document 
the required deposit in the reserve account. 

(3) Figure 1. Projects with 100 percent of 
units assisted by HUD Section 8. 
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EXAMPLE 1 

NOTE: If the HUD contract rent and FmHA or its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354 1 or 2 percent reduced rent are the same, then the first budget column would not apply. 

EXAMPLE 2 

b Projects on Interest Credit Plan II and re-
ceiving Section 8 Assistance. See figure 2 of 
paragraph VII D 2 b (3) of this exhibit. 

(1) Calculating overage. In Section 8/515 
projects the overage will be the difference 
between basic rental rate and the note rate 
rent including the income from HUD. The 
overage will be reported as type 3. 

(2) Depositing excess income in the reserve ac-
count. In the cases where the HUD contract 

rental rate exceeds the note rate rent, the 
difference is excess income and will be depos-
ited in the reserve account. The borrower/ 
manager should use FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 Form 1944– 
29, part I, item 23 through 29, to document 
the required deposit in the reserve account. 

(3) Figure 2. Projects with some HUD Sec-
tion 8/515 units. 
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EXAMPLE 1 

EXAMPLE 2 

VIII Rental or Occupancy Charge Control 
Preemption Policy. In order to carry out the 
provisions of this subpart and to protect a 
housing source in rural areas for very low-, 
low- and moderate income families; the fi-
nancial obligation of borrowers; and the fi-
nancial interest of the government in such 
housing, the entire field of rental or occu-
pancy charge control that may be exercised 
by any local rental control board or other 
authority pursuant to State and local law, as 

it affects housing covered by this subpart, is 
hereby preempted. 

IX Special Servicing Market Rate Rent 
(SMR) Change: When a Plan II or Plan II RA 
RRH project is experiencing serve vacancies 
due to poor local market conditions, an SMR 
change may be implemented to attract and 
keep tenants who could pay more than basic 
rent as part of a workout plan according to 
the provisions of exhibit F of subpart B of 
part 1965 of this chapter. An SMR addresses 
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the situation where some existing and pro-
spective tenants are not willing to pay 30 
percent of adjusted income or note rate rent 
because the rental rates would exceed those 
of other rental properties in the community. 
This action may only be taken after super-
visory efforts by FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 and man-
agement efforts by the borrower have not 
produced an acceptable level of occupancy. 
For the purposes of this paragraph, market 
area and community are used as defined in 
paragraph I of exhibit A–8 of subpart E of 
part 1944 of this chapter. 

A Eligibility for SMR. Based on borrower 
documentation and FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 servicing 
records, the Servicing Official will prepare a 
written recommendation for borrower eligi-
bility for an SMR. 

1 Based on borrower documentation and 
Servicing Office verification: 

a Over the most recent 6-month period, 
the monthly vacancy rate has averaged at 
least 15 percent or the project shows finan-
cial losses considering the following: 

(1) Each month was at least 12 percent va-
cant, and 

(2) When RA is not available, units sub-
sidized by funds of the project/owner will be 
considered vacant for SMR calculations, or 

(3) The project submits financial records 
that show a 15 percent loss of rents available 
below basic rent not including project pro-
vided subsidies, and provided 

(4) The loss of rents available is not a re-
sult of management’s failure to effectively 
market the units. 

b Comparable market rental rates in the 
community are lower than the previously ap-
proved FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 note rate rents. Exhibit 
A–2 of subpart E of part 1944 of this chapter 
can be used to document comparable market 
rents. 

c The borrower has aggressively mar-
keted the project including the following ac-
tions: 

(1) Significant outreach efforts in the com-
munity, including (but not limited to) con-
tacts listed in the Affirmative Fair Housing 
Marketing Plan. 

(2) The borrower had obtained approval 
from FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 for a servicing workout 
plan, exclusive of SMR features, at least 3 
months earlier. 

d The borrower complies with FmHA or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354 regulations and encourages occupancy 
through good maintenance and positive rela-
tions with tenants. 

e The borrower has provided a signed 
statement agreeing to forego, without provi-
sion to recoup, the return on initial invest-
ment while operating with an SMR. 

f The borrower has submitted a project 
budget on Form FmHA or its successor agen-
cy under Public Law 103–354 1930–7, ‘‘Multiple 
Family Housing Project Budget,’’ with only 
minimally sufficient operation and mainte-
nance expenses. The project budget should 
continue to fund other cash expenditures 
such as FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 payments and the reserve 
account, except for the return on initial in-
vestment which the borrower has agreed to 
forego according to paragraph IX A 1 e of 
this exhibit. 

2 Based on Servicing Office servicing actions 
and documentation: 

a The project has been operational for at 
least 24 months. The National Office may 
make exceptions to this requirement on a 
case-by-case basis for extreme hardship. 

b No more than 10 percent of budgeted ex-
penses are reflected in unrestricted cash on 
hand, and reserve account balances do not 
exceed the required accumulation-to-date 
minus authorized withdrawals. 

c The Servicing Official has reviewed and 
discussed with the borrower the feasibility of 
using borrower contributed funds, including 
advances, in accordance with paragraph XII 
C of exhibit B of this subpart. 

d The Servicing Official has reviewed and 
approved a project budget with only mini-
mally sufficient operation and maintenance 
expenses and other expenses as specified in 
paragraph IX A 1 f of this exhibit. 

e The Servicing Official has reviewed any 
market studies or surveys received from 
MFH loan applicants for the market area 
and considered any information that may 
conflict with the request for an SMR. 

B Approval of SMR. 
1 The State Director may approve the use 

of an SMR when the conditions listed in 
paragraph IX A of this exhibit are met. 

2 While a request for an SMR is pending 
or an SMR is in effect, requests to develop 
new FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 units in the area will be 
handled in accordance with § 1944.213(f) of 
subpart E of part 1944 of this chapter. 

C Implementing an SMR. 
1 After the use of an SMR has been ap-

proved by the State Director, the Servicing 
Official will establish an SMR for the project 
with the borrower. 

a The SMR will be obtained by adjusting 
the ‘‘FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 Debt Payment’’ item in 
the ‘‘Proposed Budget’’ column of Form 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 1930–7, to reflect a payment to 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 amortized at an interest rate 
which is less than the full note rate on the 
borrower’s promissory note. The interest 
rate chosen may never be less than 2 percent. 

b The interest rate of the SMR budget 
will be set at a level that will make project 
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SMR rental rates comparable with commu-
nity rental rates. This rate will remain con-
stant except as provided in paragraph 4 D of 
this exhibit. 

2 The initial change to SMR rents or a de-
crease in SMR rents will be accomplished in 
accordance with the following: 

a The borrower will submit to the Serv-
icing Official, the items listed in paragraph 
IV A 1, 2, 4, 5, and 6 of this exhibit. 

b The Servicing Official shall review the 
budget and supporting documentation, and 
when found to be acceptable, notify the bor-
rower in writing that the budget is approved. 
A copy of the approved budget will be for-
warded to the State Director. 

c In addition to any State requirements, 
the borrower notifies each tenant or member 
of the new rates and/or utility allowance 
and: 

(1) Include in the notice an explanation of 
the changes and events which necessitated 
the change. Also, the explanation must 
specify any adverse and/or positive effect the 
change may have on the tenants or members. 

(2) Mail a copy of the notice to the tenant 
or member at least 30 days prior to the effec-
tive date of the change. 

(3) Offer the tenants or members an oppor-
tunity to meet with management to discuss 
the change and review any material contrib-
uting to the change. 

(4) Inform the tenants or members of their 
right to request a review of the rate change 
approval decision within 45 days of the date 
of the notice by writing to the next higher 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 approval official. Until the re-
quest is resolved, the tenants or members 
are required to pay the changed amount of 
rent as indicated in the notice of approval. 

3 When an SMR is implemented in a Plan 
II section 8/515 Project, use lines 23 through 
29 of Form FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 1944–29 to report 
any additional payments to the reserve ac-
count required when HUD contract rents ex-
ceed SMR rental rates. 

D Changing an SMR. 
1 An SMR may be increased or decreased 

whenever the local market conditions war-
rant, but must be reviewed at least annually. 

a If the local market conditions that 
caused the need for the SMR have not been 
resolved and corrected, document same and 
update the monitoring timeframes and pro-
ceed no further. However, 

b If the local market conditions have 
changed and change in the SMR is war-
ranted, the requirements listed in para-
graphs IX D 2, 3, and 4 of this exhibit apply. 

2 An SMR must have the SMR rate rent 
increased by a minimum of 10 percent per 
year (or a higher amount if mutually agreed 
to by the borrower and FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354) 
when the: 

a Vacancy rate drops to 10 percent or 
below for 6 consecutive months, or 

b The borrower does not continue to sat-
isfy the conditions of paragraphs IX A 1 c (1) 
and (2), d, e, or f of this exhibit. 

3 An SMR is completely terminated when 
the note rate rent is regained. 

4 An increase in an SMR will be accom-
plished in accordance with paragraph IV of 
this exhibit. 

E Disapproval of SMR. When the approval 
official determines a request for an SMR is 
not justified on the basis of the information 
submitted, the approval official will notify 
the borrower in writing of the reason(s) why 
the SMR is not approved. The borrower will 
be advised of their appeal rights in accord-
ance with subpart B of part 1900 of this chap-
ter. 

X Special Problem Cases. Problem cases 
which cannot be handled under this subpart 
should be submitted to the National Office 
for review with the State Director’s rec-
ommended plan of action. 

[58 FR 40868, July 30, 1993, as amended at 58 
FR 44263, Aug. 20, 1993] 

EXHIBIT C–1 TO SUBPART C OF PART 
1930—NOTICE TO TENANTS (MEM-
BERS) OF PROPOSED RENT (OCCU-
PANCY CHARGE) AND UTILITY ALLOW-
ANCE CHANGE 

llllllllllllllllllllllll

Date Posted 

You as a tenant (member) are hereby noti-
fied that, subject to Farmers Home Adminis-
tration (FmHA) or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 approval, rents (oc-
cupancy charge) and utility allowances will 
be changed effective lllll. (at least 60 
days from this posting or other timeframe if 
required by State law) 

llllllllll (Project Owner Name) 
has filed with FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354, United States De-
partment of Agriculture, a request for ap-
proval of a change in the monthly rent (oc-
cupancy charge) rates and/or utility allow-
ances of the (Name of apartment complex) 
for the following reasons: 

1. 
2. 
3. 
4. 
Planned rent (occupancy charge) changes 

are as follows: 

Unit 
size 

Present rent 
(occupancy 

charge) 

Proposed rent 
(occupancy 

charge) Amount 
changed 

Basic Note 
rate Basic Note 

rate 
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Planned utility allowance changes are as follows: 

Unit size Present utility 
allowance 

Proposed 
utility allow-

ance 

Amount 
changed 

(Use where applicable such as when only 
basic or note rate rents and/or utility allow-
ances are changing and the tenant is receiv-
ing rental assistance: Since you receive sub-
sidy, your contribution for rent (occupancy 
charge) and utilities will not be changed so 
long as your income and household composi-
tion remain unchanged). 

All materials justifying the proposed 
changes have been reviewed by FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
and will be made available to you and other 
tenants (members) to inspect and copy at 
llllllll during the hour of 
llllll. 

You may submit comments or objections 
in writing to the FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 Servicing 
Official during the 20-day period imme-
diately following the posting of this notice. 
Comments or objections should include rea-
sons or information you feel should be con-
sidered by the FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 Servicing Official. 
Your comments or objections must be filed 
prior to llllll with the FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
Servicing Official, llllllll, at the 
Servicing Office located at llllllll, 

These comments will be reviewed by the 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 Servicing Official and forwarded 
to the FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 approval official who will 
decide if the change(s) should be approved. 

Each tenant (member) will be notified in 
writing of the FmHA or its successor agency 

under Public Law 103–354 decision to approve 
or deny the change. The approved rents and 
utility allowances will then be effective upon 
the effective date given above. If the ap-
proved change cannot be made effective by 
such date, an additional notice will be posted 
and the tenants (members) will be notified in 
writing that new rents (occupancy charges) 
and utility allowances will be effective at 
the next rent (occupancy charge) due date 
following the additional notice and the 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 approval. 

By llllllllllllllllllllll

Borrower/Borrower’s Representative 

EXHIBIT C–2 TO SUBPART C OF PART 
1930—NOTICE OF APPROVED RENT 
(OCCUPANCY CHARGE) AND UTILITY 
ALLOWANCE CHANGE 

Dear 
You are hereby notified that the Farmers 

Home Administration (FmHA) or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 has 
reviewed the request for a change in shelter 
costs for the llll project(s), and consid-
ered all justifications provided by project 
management [and comments provided by 
tenants]. The FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 has approved the 
following rent (occupancy charge) and/or 
utility allowance rates listed below. The 
changes for all units will become effective on 
llll, 19ll. (Insert effective date shown 
in exhibit C–1 of this subpart or later effec-
tive date in accordance with last paragraph 
of exhibit C–1 of this subpart.) The change is 
needed for the following reasons: 

(Insert Reasons for Approval) 
The approved changes are as follows: 

Unit size 
Present rent (occupancy charge) Approved rent (occupancy charge) 

Basic Note rate Basic Note rate 

The approved utility allowance changes are 
as follows: 

Unit size Present utility 
allowance 

Proposed 
utility allow-

ance 

Approved 
utility allow-

ance 

Should you have any questions or con-
cerns, you may contact FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354. The 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 Servicing Office address is: 

(Use the following required and/or optional 
paragraphs where applicable.) 

*You must notify the tenants (members) of 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354’s approval of the rent (occu-
pancy charge) and utility allowance changes 
by posting this letter in the same manner as 
the ‘‘Notice to Tenants (Members) or Pro-
posed Rent (Occupancy Charge) and Utility 
Allowance Change (Exhibit C–1 of this sub-
part).’’ This notification must be posted in a 
conspicuous place and cannot be substituted 
for the usual written notice to each indi-
vidual tenant (member). 

*This approval does not authorize you to 
violate the terms of any lease (occupancy 
agreement) you currently have with your 
tenants (members). 

VerDate Aug<04>2004 15:05 Feb 15, 2005 Jkt 205023 PO 00000 Frm 00306 Fmt 8010 Sfmt 8002 Y:\SGML\205023T.XXX 205023T



307 

RHS, RBS, RUS, FSA, USDA Pt. 1930, Subpt. C, Exh. D 

**For those tenants (members) receiving 
rental assistance (RA), their costsfor rent 
(occupancy charge) and utilities will con-
tinue to be based on the higher of 30 percent 
of their adjusted monthly income or 10 per-
cent of gross monthly income or if the 
household is receiving payments for public 
assistance from a public agency, the portion 
of such payments which is specifically des-
ignated by that agency to meet the house-
hold’s shelter cost. If tenants are receiving 
Housing and Urban Development (HUD) Sec-
tion 8 subsidy assistance, their costs for rent 
and utilities will be determined by the cur-
rent HUD formula. 

**Your application for RA units on behalf 
of eligible tenants (members) has been re-
ceived (or is on hand). Since RA units are 
not available, the approved rate and/or al-
lowance change is subject to your acceptance 
of the RA units should they become avail-
able. 

**This rate and utility allowance change is 
conditioned on the requirement that you 
carry out energy conservation measures and 
operating practices as determined necessary 
by the project energy audit. You will be al-
lowed llllll days for completion of the 
work. FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 assistance may be avail-
able to finance any needed improvements. 

**You may file an appeal regarding the 
rate and utility allowance change as ap-
proved within 45 days of the date of this no-
tice. See attached Form FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 1900– 
1, ‘‘Request for Appeal of Adverse Action,’’ 
for your appeal rights. A request for a hear-
ing must be sent to the Area Supervisor, Na-
tional Appeals Staff, (T3address), post-
marked no later than (30 days from date of 
this letter). 

*You must inform the tenants (members) 
of their right to request an explanation of 
the rate and utility allowance change ap-
proval decision within 45 days of the date of 
this notice by writing to (insert the name and 
address of next higher FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 approval offi-
cial). All tenants (members) are required to 
pay the changed amount of rent (occupancy 
charge) as indicated in the notice of ap-
proval. 

*Any tenant who does not wish to pay the 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 approved rent changes may give 
the owner a 30-day notice that they will va-
cate. The tenant will suffer no penalty as a 
result of this decision to vacate, and will not 
be required to pay the changed rent. How-
ever, if the tenant later decides to remain in 
the unit, the tenant will be required to pay 
the changed rent from the effective date of 
the changed rent. 

Sincerely, 

llllllllllllllllllllllll

FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 Approving Official 
*Required 
**Optional, as applicable 

EXHIBIT D TO SUBPART C OF PART 1930— 
ENERGY AUDIT 

I Objective: It is the objective of the 
Farmers Home Administration (FmHA) or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354 that Multiple Family Housing (MFH) fi-
nanced by the Agency incorporates energy 
conservation measures and operating prac-
tices in keeping with the National Energy 
Strategy for a more efficient, less vulner-
able, and environmentally sustainable en-
ergy future. Monitoring of this objective will 
be accomplished by energy audit. 

II Purpose and Intended Outcome: 
A The purpose of this exhibit is to define 

the FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 requirements for energy 
audits. While energy audits will review the 
functioning of energy conservation measures 
initially incorporated in the housing, or pre-
viously retrofitted, and identify need for any 
further measures, the main thrust of energy 
audits will be to evaluate and/or recommend 
operating practices used in individual dwell-
ing units and the common areas of a project. 

B The intended outcome is to reduce ten-
ant or member utility expenses; reduce 
project operating and maintenance expense; 
reduce usage of subsidy; improve the mar-
ketability of units and value of the property; 
conserve national energy resources within 
cost effectiveness; and increase the comfort 
and enjoyment level of tenants or members. 

III Borrower Responsibility: 
A Initial audit. An initial energy audit is 

required for each project during the third 
year of operation following completion of 
construction for ‘‘early’’ detection and cor-
rection of any deficiencies in energy con-
servation measures and/or operating prac-
tices. 

B Subsequent audit. A subsequent energy 
audit is required at least within 5 years of 
the initial audit and at 5-year intervals 
thereafter, to identify if energy conservation 
improvements are needed. 

C Submission of audit. The borrower shall 
submit a copy of the initial or subsequent 
energy audit along with the next submission 
of Form FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 1930–7, ‘‘Multiple Family 
Housing Project Budget.’’ The borrower’s 
plan for implementing the recommended im-
provements shall be included in the project 
budget. The submitted copy of the energy 
audit will be retained in the file by the Serv-
icing Office for review during subsequent an-
nual reviews. If any of the improvements are 
deferred due to cost ineffectiveness, the bor-
rower shall, each year thereafter, include 
with the annual project budget, an updated 
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cost feasibility analysis of the deferred im-
provements, along with the borrower’s rec-
ommendation for implementing the improve-
ments. 

D Cost of audit. An energy audit is bene-
ficial to the operation of an MFH project. 
The cost of the audit is an operational ex-
pense. The cost should be consistent with the 
size of the project and comparable to the 
cost of other audits in the area. The cost 
may be paid from annual revenue or from the 
reserve account depending on the amount. 

IV Performance of Energy Audit: 
A An energy audit shall be an in-depth, 

on-site inspection of the building shell and of 
the space heating, space cooling, ventilation, 
and water heating equipment for the build-
ing. It shall be conducted by a qualified en-
ergy auditor. 

B Persons shall be considered qualified to 
perform an energy audit if they: 

1 Are authorized under a State Plan ap-
proved by the Department of Energy (DOE) 
in accordance with the requirements in 10 
CFR part 456, 

2 Are authorized under a Federal Standby 
Plan promulgated by DOE in accordance 
with the requirements in 10 CFR part 456, or, 

3 Can otherwise demonstrate that they 
possess the technical skills and knowledge 
necessary to perform energy audits. 

C When persons meeting the qualifica-
tions in paragraph IV B of this exhibit are 
not available, the FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 State Direc-
tor, with prior National Office approval, may 
institute a plan and method to accomplish 
the requirements of this exhibit using Agen-
cy staff and resources, provided it is cost and 
time effective to perform such task. 

D The energy auditor shall inspect the 
building to determine which energy saving 
measures and operating practices should be 
improved. The energy auditor is expected to 
summarize the results of this inspection and 
projected cost savings in priority order and 
include them in a written report. 

1 The report shall address the condition 
or application of the following energy saving 
measures: 

a Caulking and weatherstripping; 
b Central high efficiency air conditioners; 
c Ceiling, wall, and floor insulation; 
d Crawlspace or foundation wall insula-

tion; 
e Duct or pipe insulation; 
f Water heater insulation; 
g Storm or thermal windows and doors; 
h Heat-reflective window and door mate-

rial; 
i Crawlspace and/or attic ventilation; 
j Energy management devices; 
k Clock thermostats; 
l Furnace efficiency modifications; and 
m Vent dampers for water heaters, fur-

naces, and boilers. 

2 The report may address the following 
energy saving measures if significant bene-
fits can be shown in the opinion of the en-
ergy auditor: 

a Solar domestic hot water systems; 
b Active solar space heating system; 
c Combined active solar space heater and 

solar domestic hot water systems; and 
d Passive solar space heating and cooling 

systems. 
3 The auditor shall inspect the building 

and report any improvement of energy con-
serving operating practices that can lead to 
immediate energy savings. These practices 
include, but are not limited to, the fol-
lowing: 

a Furnace efficiency maintenance and ad-
justments (air filters should be changed fre-
quently); 

b Water flow reduction on showers and 
faucets; 

c Sealing leaks and check insulation of 
pipes and ducts; 

d Raising thermostat settings in summer 
and lowering them in winter; 

e Cleaning baseboard convectors and re-
frigerator coils; 

f Nightime temperature setback; 
g Reducing energy use when apartment is 

unoccupied; 
h Plugging leaks in attics, basements, 

and fireplaces; 
i Efficient use of shading; and 
j Reduce water heater temperature set-

ting (should not exceed 120 degrees Fahr-
enheit). 

4 The report shall include a list of any 
recommended energy saving measures and/or 
operating practices. The following informa-
tion shall be provided as applicable: 

a Description; 
b Estimated useful life; 
c Estimated annual energy cost savings 

in the first year; 
d Cost; and 
e Estimate of any incremental annual op-

eration and maintenance costs. 
5 The report shall include a summary of 

the energy auditor’s qualifications. 
V Funding: Improvements may be funded 

from annual project income, project reserve, 
a subsequent loan, borrower’s funds, or any 
other FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 authorized funding which 
will keep the improvement cost effective. 
Plans for funding the improvements should 
be included in the borrower’s recommenda-
tion for implementation. 

VI Servicing Official Responsibility: 
A The Servicing Official shall determine 

the cost effectiveness and financial impact of 
the proposed improvements from informa-
tion contained in the energy audit. 

1 Cost effectiveness. Cost effectiveness 
shall be determined by comparing the value- 
in-use of the facility with and without the 
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proposed energy saving improvement. Ex-
hibit D of FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 Instruction 1922–B, 
(available in any FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 office), de-
scribes the ‘‘value-in-use’’ approach that 
may be used to appraise cost effectiveness. 

2 Financial impact. Financial impact shall 
be determined by comparing the estimated 
net energy and operation and maintenance 
costs savings in the first year to the annual 
cost of amortizing a loan to install the pro-
posed energy saving improvement. A positive 
financial impact occurs when the first year 
annual savings equals or exceeds the annual 
cost of amortizing any loan(s) for the pro-
posed energy savings improvement. Exhibit 
D–1 of this subpart may be used to organize 
the calculation of the financial impact. 

3 When the identified and/or deferred im-
provements determined by an energy audit 
obtained within the immediate past 5-year 
period are found to be cost effective and have 
a positive financial impact, the Servicing Of-
ficial shall recommend or require that any 
rent or occupancy charge increase approval 
requested by the borrower be conditioned 
upon installation of such energy saving im-
provement(s). 

4 The Servicing Official may recommend 
a rent or occupancy charge increase for en-
ergy saving improvements which are not 
‘‘cost effective’’ whenever the borrower con-
tributes sufficient funds to reduce the cost of 
the improvement so that, on the basis of the 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 investment only, the improve-
ment is cost effective. A positive first year 
financial impact is not required. Any con-
tribution made by the borrower to reduce 
the cost of the improvement to the cost ef-
fective limits will not be an eligible con-
tribution for computing return on invest-
ments. The project reserve may not be uti-
lized for such contribution. 

B When the improvements are not cost ef-
fective or do not have a positive financial 
impact, and the borrower does not elect to 
reduce the cost of the energy saving meas-
ures as described in paragraph VI A 4 of this 
exhibit, the Servicing Official shall rec-
ommend deferral of implementation of the 
improvements. Any deferred improvements 
must be analyzed during each subsequent 
year’s annual analysis. 

C A copy of the decision regarding the en-
ergy audit will be included in the annual re-
ports forwarded to the State Director. 

VII State Director Responsibility: The State 
Director shall review the Servicing Official’s 
recommendations and the decision regarding 
implementation of the proposed improve-
ments and/or practices as a part of the an-
nual report review. 

VIII Development: All development will be 
performed in accordance with the require-
ments of subpart E of part 1944 of this chap-

ter and subpart A of part 1924 of this chapter, 
except that § 1924.6 (b)(3)(i) of subpart A of 
part 1924 of this chapter will not apply to im-
provements made by the owner-builder 
method. 

IX Rent or Occupancy Charge Change: Any 
rental or occupancy charge change neces-
sitated by the improvements must be proc-
essed as set forth in exhibit C of this sub-
part. 

EXHIBIT D–1 TO SUBPART C OF PART 
1930—CALCULATION OF FINANCIAL 
IMPACT (ENERGY AUDIT) 

A. First Year Annual Savings 
(from audit).

$lllll 

B. Annual Cost of Amortized 
Loan (from calculation in 
part D below).

$lllll 

C. Difference (A¥B) (if zero or 
greater, energy saving meas-
ure has a positive financial 
impact).

$lllll 

D. Calculation of Annual Cost 
of Amortized Loan for En-
ergy Saving Measure: 
1. Appraisal of Energy Sav-

ing Measure (for calcula-
tion of appraised value, of 
FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 
103–354 Instruction 1922–B 
see exhibit D available in 
any FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 
103–354 office).

$lllll 

2. Amortization Factor (for 
calculation of Amortiza-
tion Factor, use interest 
rate of Rural Rental Hous-
ing and Rural Cooperative 
Housing from FmHA or its 
successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 In-
struction 440.1, exhibit B 
(available in any FmHA or 
its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 office); 
the Useful Life or weight-
ed average of Full Life for 
more than one energy sav-
ing measure from the en-
ergy audit; and the Amor-
tization Factor from 
FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 
103–354 Instruction 440.1, 
(available in any FmHA or 
its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 Office).

×lllll 

3. Annual Cost (Appraisal × 
Amortization Factor enter 
answer in part B above).

$lllll 
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EXHIBIT E TO SUBPART C OF PART 1930— 
RENTAL ASSISTANCE PROGRAM 

I General. The objective of the rental as-
sistance (RA) program is to reduce rents paid 
by low-income households. This exhibit sets 
forth the policies and procedures and dele-
gates authority under which RA will be ex-
tended to eligible tenants occupying eligible 
Rural Rental Housing (RRH) and eligible 
members occupying Rural Cooperative Hous-
ing (RCH) projects financed by the Farmers 
Home Administration (FmHA) or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354. For 
the purposes of this exhibit, the term ‘‘ten-
ant’’ also means ‘‘member.’’ This exhibit 
also applies to Farm Labor Housing (LH) 
projects when the borrower is a broadly- 
based nonprofit organization, nonprofit orga-
nization of farmworkers, or a State or local 
public agency. RA will supplement the bene-
fits available to tenants under the interest 
credit program outlined in exhibit H to this 
subpart. 

II Definitions. 
A Eligible tenants. Any very low-income, 

or low-income household meeting the fol-
lowing requirements: 

1 The household adjusted annual income 
must not exceed the very low- or low-income 
limit established for the area as indicated in 
Appendix 9 of HB–1–3550 (available in any 
Rural Development office). 

2 The household must be unable to pay 
the approved rental rate plus utility allow-
ance within a portion of their income not ex-
ceeding the highest of: 

a 30 percent of their adjusted monthly in-
come; 

b 10 percent of gross monthly income; or 
c If the household is receiving payments 

for public assistance from a public agency, 
the portion of such payments which is spe-
cifically designated by that agency to meet 
the household’s shelter cost. 

3 The household must meet the occu-
pancy policy established for the project and 
approved by FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 according to para-
graph VI D 2 of exhibit B of this subpart. 

4 The household must have an unexpired 
and signed Form FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 1944–8, 
‘‘Tenant Certification,’’ on file with the bor-
rower. 

B Eligible project. 
1 All projects must operate under Interest 

Credit Plan II RA to be eligible to receive 
RA, except LH loans, direct RRH, and in-
sured RRH loans approved prior to August 1, 
1968, which must operate under Plan RA. To 
be eligible for RA the project must have a: 

a RRH insured or direct loan made to a 
broadly-based nonprofit organization, or 
State or local agency, including Senior Cit-
izen Housing; 

b RRH insured loan to an individual or or-
ganization who has or will execute a loan 
resolution or loan agreement agreeing to op-
erate the housing on a limited profit basis as 
defined in § 1944.205 of subpart E to part 1944 
of this chapter; 

c RCH insured or direct loan; or 
d LH loan, or an LH loan and grant com-

bination, made to a broadly-based nonprofit 
organization or nonprofit organization of 
farmworkers or a State or local public agen-
cy. 

2 Borrowers may utilize the Department 
of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) 
Section 8 Housing Assistance Payments Pro-
gram and FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 RA in the same 
project. In such cases, Form FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
1944–7, ‘‘Multiple Family Housing Interest 
Credit and Rental Assistance Agreement,’’ 
for the project will reflect coding for ‘‘Plan 
II RA.’’ 

3 Borrowers will provide RA to only those 
eligible tenants occupying LH, RCH, or RRH 
rental housing units financed by FmHA or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354. 

C Operational project. A completed RRH, 
RCH, or LH project financed by FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
which has been opened for occupancy and has 
at least been partially occupied by tenants. 

D New projects. Newly constructed or sub-
stantially rehabilitated RRH, RCH, or LH 
project financed by FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354. For new 
construction RA purposes, if further means 
before any units are occupied. 

E Rental assistance. RA, as used in this ex-
hibit, is the portion of the approved shelter 
cost paid by FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 to compensate for 
the difference between the approved shelter 
cost and the monthly tenant contribution as 
calculated according to paragraph IV A 2 c of 
exhibit B to this subpart. When the house-
hold’s monthly gross tenant contribution is 
less than the approved utility allowance 
which is billed directly to and paid by the 
tenant, the owner will pay the household 
that difference according to paragraph IX A 
2 of this exhibit. 

F RA agreement. The term refers to Form 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 1944–27, or its predecessor. Form 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 444–27 and Form FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
444–27A. 

G RA obligation. The obligation consisting 
of the number of RA units and associated 
dollar amounts of rental assistance specified 
in a particular RA agreement. 

H RA obligation number. The identification 
number associated with a particular RA obli-
gation. 
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I Replacement units. RA units which re-
place RA units in RA agreements expiring 
because obligated funds have been fully dis-
bursed. 

J Servicing units. RA units which increase 
the number of RA units resulting in initial 
or additional RA agreements. 

K Shelter cost. The approved shelter cost 
consists of basic or note rate rent plus util-
ity allowance when used. Basic or note rate 
rent must be shown on the project budget for 
the year and approved according to 
§ 1930.122(b)(1). Utility allowances, when re-
quired, are determined and approved accord-
ing to part 1944, subpart E, exhibit A–6, of 
this chapter. Any changes in rental rates or 
utility allowances must be processed accord-
ing to exhibit C of this subpart. 

L Utility allowances. The allowance ap-
proved by FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 according to ex-
hibit A–6 of subpart E of part 1944 of this 
chapter to cover the cost of utilities which 
are payable directly by the households. 

III Utilization of RA. All borrowers with 
eligible projects as defined in paragraph II B 
of this exhibit are encouraged to utilize the 
RA program and receive RA payments on be-
half of eligible tenants. Generally, the bor-
rower, or the borrower’s approved manage-
ment agent, will initiate the processing of a 
RA application. 

IV Priority of RA applications. 
A State of allocations. The National Office 

may establish a State quota on the number 
of RA units that may be approved and obli-
gated in any fiscal year. The State Director 
will limit the approval of RA to no more 
than the number of units allocated to the 
State. Unless otherwise stated by the Na-
tional Office, the State allocation will indi-
cate the number of RA units for operational 
projects and the number of RA units to be 
used for new construction. 

B Allocation to projects within a State. The 
State Director will distribute any RA units 
allocated to the State according to any spe-
cific guidance established by the National 
Office. When no specific guidance is estab-
lished by the National Office the State Di-
rector will approve requests for RA to 
projects according to the provisions of this 
exhibit. Priority in allocating RA units will 
be as follows: 

1 Replacement units: The State Director 
will distribute or reserve RA units and give 
priority to projects needing replacement 
units before any initial or additional units 
are allocated to other new or operational 
projects. The State Director should ascertain 
how many RA units are expected to expire in 
each Servicing Office during the current fis-
cal year and the first quarter of the fol-
lowing fiscal year. 

2 New housing: Any RA units allocated to 
the State for new construction will be dis-

tributed on a priority basis in the following 
order: 

a Applications for RRH and RCH loans 
where the market survey information indi-
cates that a large percentage of the prospec-
tive tenants needed RA. When the number of 
RA units available is inadequate to cover all 
such applications, the units will be distrib-
uted giving priority to those projects having 
highest need located in areas identified as 
having the greatest need for low-income 
housing, and selected for funding in accord-
ance with § 1944.231 of subpart E of part 1944 
of this chapter. 

b For LH projects, RA units will be allo-
cated by the National Office from the Na-
tional Office reserve on a case-by-case basis 
at the time the projects are considered for 
funding at the National Office level. 

3 Operational housing: When the National 
Office provides an allocation for servicing 
RA units, the State Director will distribute 
them to operational RRH, RCH, and LH 
projects based on Form FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 1944– 
25, ‘‘Request for Rental Assistance,’’ that 
have been submitted by eligible borrowers. 
Priority will be given to projects based on 
this exhibit and administrative directives 
issued by the National Office under the an-
nual RA allocations or other authorizations 
or guidelines established through the budget 
process. The National Office will notify the 
State Director each year of any specific date 
by which all requests for RA must be sub-
mitted to FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 for consideration. 

V Processing of RA applications. All re-
quests for RA will be processed according to 
this paragraph and may be approved by the 
State Director. 

A Operational projects. 
1 A borrower with an eligible project in 

which there are tenants paying in excess of 
30 percent of their adjusted income for rent 
should be encouraged to have on file a Form 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 1944–25 with the Servicing Offi-
cial to avoid delays in processing future 
servicing requests. Once a Form FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
1944–25 is on file at the FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 Serv-
icing Office, subsequent submittals of the 
form will not be necessary to support subse-
quent approvals of RA by FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354. A 
separate Form FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 1944–25 will be sub-
mitted for each project. The borrower should 
include the following with each request. 

a Form FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 1944–29, ‘‘Project 
Worksheet for Interest Credit and Rental As-
sistance,’’ with all columns completed for 
each tenant in the project. (All Forms FmHA 
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or its successor agency under Public Law 
103–354 1944–8 must be current.) 

b Approved or proposed budget for the 
year on Form FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 1930–7, ‘‘Multiple 
Family Housing Project Budget,’’ with ex-
hibit A–6 of subpart E of part 1944 of this 
chapter attached, when applicable. 

2 Prior to the full disbursement of obli-
gated funds on any agreement, a borrower or 
approved management agent may submit a 
request for replacement RA units. The re-
quest should contain all the material re-
quested in paragraph V A 1 of this exhibit 
and should be submitted no later than 3 
months prior to the expected full disburse-
ment of obligated funds, to allow time for 
processing the request. The number of re-
placement units may not exceed the number 
of units that are expiring. Once replacement 
units have been requested, additional units 
may not be requested until Form FmHA or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354 1944–51, ‘‘Multiple Family Housing Obli-
gation-Fund Analysis,’’ is received obli-
gating the replacement units. Form FmHA 
or its successor agency under Public Law 
103–354 1944–51 requesting the additional 
units must be coded sequentially as required 
in paragraph V C 5 of this exhibit. 

3 The Servicing Official will review the 
budget, exhibit A–6 of subpart E of part 1994 
of this chapter, Form FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 1944–29, and 
Form FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 1944–25 submitted by the 
borrower to assure that the items are com-
plete and accurate. The Servicing Official 
will complete Form FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 1944–25 and 
submit all data provided by the borrower to 
the State Director with appropriate com-
ments and recommendations. 

B Projects to be funded. 
1 Applicants requesting funding for new 

projects who are planning to utilize the RA 
program, should submit a completed Form 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 1944–25 to the Servicing Official 
when submitting a preapplication or applica-
tion for funding. 

2 The number of units of RA requested 
should be based on the market data for the 
area, the proposed rental rates as reflected 
in a budget for the project, and the income 
levels of the prospective tenants. 

C State Director action on requests for RA. 
Only the State Director or delegated mem-
bers of the State Office staff may approve or 
disapprove RA requests. 

1 Approval actions. When the State Direc-
tor determines that RA can be obligated or 
transferred, part III of Form FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
1944–51 for obligation, or Form FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
1944–55, ‘‘Multiple Family Housing Transfer 

of Rental Assistance,’’ for transfers, will be 
prepared and distributed according to the 
Forms Manual Insert (FMI). Form FmHA or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354 1944–27, ‘‘Rental Assistance Agreement,’’ 
will not be executed or amended until the ob-
ligation or transfer is verified by the Fi-
nance Office. The State Office will verify the 
obligation or transfer via the computer ter-
minal on the day following the request. 

2 Completing RA agreements. When the 
State Director verifies that RA units have 
been obligated or transferred by the Finance 
Office, the State Director will forward a copy 
of either Form FmHA or its successor agen-
cy under Public Law 103–354 1944–51 or Form 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 1944–55 to the Servicing Official. 
The Servicing Official will complete Form 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 1944–27, and attach the appro-
priate copies of Form FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 1944–51 or 
Form FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 1944–55 according to the 
FMI. 

a Initial RA agreements. The Servicing Of-
ficial will prepare the original and two cop-
ies of Form FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 1944–27. When the 
project does not have a Form FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
1944–7 in effect, the Servicing Official will 
prepare an original and three copies. The 
Servicing Official and the borrower will then 
execute the originals and all copies of Form 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 1944–27 and Form FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
1944–7. The forms will be distributed accord-
ing to their FMIs. 

b Replacement or modified RA agreements. 
When a Form FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 444–27 initiated 
prior to May 1, 1985, is replaced or modified, 
a new Form FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 1944–27 will be pre-
pared and distributed according to the FMI. 
For every replacement or modification on or 
after May 1, 1985, the original and all copies 
of the affected RA agreement will be noted, 
assembled and distributed by the Servicing 
Official according to the FMI. 

3 Modification of an existing RA agreement. 
After any request for a change in the amount 
of RA has been obligated, a copy of Form 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 1944–51 or Form FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 1944– 
55 will be attached to Form FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 1944– 
27 and distributed according to the FMI. A 
new FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 1944–7 is not required. 

4 Denial of RA Request. 
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a If RA funds are available but cannot be 
provided due to a determination of ineligi-
bility, the State Director will inform the 
borrower, in writing, of the reasons. The bor-
rower will be given appeal rights in accord-
ance with subpart B of part 1900 of this chap-
ter in such cases. When RA funds are not 
available from the State’s allocation or the 
National Office Reserve the decision will be 
considered nonappealable, however, the deci-
sion is still reviewable, under subpart B of 
part 1900 of this chapter. 

b Should RA not be available for lack of 
appropriation to replace an expiring RA obli-
gation, the State Director will advise the 
borrower to notify tenants of the increase to 
their contribution to rent following the noti-
fication requirements of exhibit C of this 
subpart. Tenants who cannot afford the in-
creased rent shall be given the opportunity 
to quit the lease and vacate the project with-
out penalty. 

5 RA obligation numbers. 
a Each RA obligation will be assigned a 

six digit RA obligation number by the Ap-
proving Official as follows: 

(1) First two digits—Fiscal year (FY) in 
which the funds were obligated (i.e., 85, 86, 
etc). 

(2) Second two digits—Numbers in sequen-
tial order for each fiscal year starting with 
01 (i.e. 93–01, 93–02, 94–01, 94–02). 

(3) Third two digits—All obligations will be 
coded 00. 

b RA obligation obligated before FY 1985 
will be coded as follows: 

(1) First two digits—FY initial obligation 
was made on the project (i.e., 78, 79, 80, etc.) 

(2) Second two digits—Relate to the pre- 
Automated Multi-housing Accounting Sys-
tem conversion loan number to which the 
RA obligation was processed. 

(3) Third two digits—Indicate the number 
of modifications plus 1. (Form FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
1944–27 with two modifications on September 
30, 1984, will be designated ‘‘03.’’) 

c The Finance Office will track RA obli-
gations and undisbursed balances by number. 

VI Terms of the RA Agreement. 
A Effective date. Each Form FmHA or its 

successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
1944–27 will be effective the first day of the 
month in which it is executed. If assistance 
is granted to a project under an appeal ac-
cording to paragraph XVI of this exhibit, the 
effective date will be retroactive to the first 
day of the month in which the assistance was 
denied, provided the borrower agrees to 
make any appropriate refunds to tenants 
who would have been entitled to RA during 
the retroactive period. 

B Term. 
1 Twenty-year RA agreement. Twenty-year 

agreements were authorized during the ini-
tial years of the RA program through FY 
1982. Twenty-year agreements were re-

stricted to new projects or modifications of 
existing 20-year agreements. The agreement 
is effective for 20-years from the effective 
date of the agreement. This agreement may 
be modified or terminated in accordance 
with the terms of the RA agreement. The 
agreement will expire when the funds obli-
gated for the RA units described in section 1 
of Form FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 1944–27 are fully dis-
bursed. This can be any time before or after 
the end of the 20-year term. Upon expiration 
of the agreement, a replacement agreement 
may be executed. If a replacement agree-
ment is considered, it will be for a 5-year pe-
riod. 

2 Five-year RA agreement. Five-year agree-
ments may be used for operational projects, 
or for new projects when 20-year units are 
not available. The agreement shall be effec-
tive for 5 years from the effective date of the 
agreement. This 5-year agreement may be 
modified or terminated in accordance with 
the terms stated on Form FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 1944– 
27. 

The agreement will expire when the funds 
obligated for the RA units described in sec-
tion 1 of Form FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 1944–27 are fully 
disbursed. This can be any time before or 
after the end of the 5-year period. 

3 Modification of RA agreements. Forms 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 1944–27 may be modified: 

a To add or subtract RA units assigned to 
the project through obligation, through 
transfer from another RA obligation, or as 
an incentive to avert prepayment. 

b To reinstate a suspended RA obliga-
tion(s) to a new borrower in the same project 
after a voluntary conveyance or a fore-
closure and a credit sale within the Multiple 
Family Housing (MFH) program; or 

c To transfer a suspended RA obliga-
tion(s) to a new borrower and a different 
project after liquidation of the project assets 
or after the loan is paid in full. 

4 Amendment of RA agreements. 
a Any existing RA obligation executed 

prior to February 15, 1983, which will have a 
remaining obligation balance at the end of 
the 5-year or 20-year expiration date stated 
in section 9, ‘‘Term of the Agreement,’’ may 
be modified by the use of Form FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
444–27A, ‘‘Amendment to Rental Assistance 
Agreement.’’ The amended agreement will 
expire when the obligated funds are fully dis-
bursed. 

b Any existing RA agreement on earlier 
Form FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 444–27 or exhibit D–2 (of 
now obsolete FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 Instruction 444.5) 
containing an occupancy standard may be 
amended by mutual consent of the borrower 
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and FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 when a new occupancy 
policy for the project is approved according 
to paragraph VI D 2 of exhibit B of this sub-
part. To amend the form: 

(1) Delete section 5 of the original and the 
borrower’s copy and have the deletion dated 
and initialed by the appropriate FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
official and the person(s) authorized to sign 
for the borrower. 

(2) Type the following statement on the re-
verse of the original agreement and the bor-
rower’s copy and have the statement dated 
and initialed by the appropriate FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
official and the person(s) authorized to sign 
for the borrower. ‘‘Amended (date) lll by 
authority of paragraphs VI B 4 of exhibit E 
and VI D 2 a of exhibit B of subpart C of part 
1930, chapter XVIII, title 7, Code of Federal 
Regulations.’’ 

5 Replacement RA obligations. Replacement 
RA obligation(s) for either 5-year or 20-year 
obligations will be for a 5-year period. All re-
quirements in paragraphs VI B 2 and 3 of this 
exhibit apply. Expiring RA obligations and 
replacement RA obligations may run concur-
rently for a period of 30–50 days so any 
undisbursed obligation balance on the expir-
ing RA agreement can be liquidated. 

VII Recordkeeping Responsibilities. 
A The Finance Office (FO) will track the 

use of RA obligation and ensure that RA ob-
ligation is not disbursed or credited to a bor-
rower’s account in excess of the RA obliga-
tion. Quarterly and annually, the FO will 
provide the Servicing Official with an RA 
payment and obligation status report for 
each project. The annual version of this re-
port will be filed in position 2 of the project 
case file and maintained indefinitely. 

B The Servicing Official will notify the 
borrower to apply for replacement RA obli-
gation when the RA undisbursed balance 
reaches a level sufficient to cover approxi-
mately 6 months of RA requests. This figure 
will be based on the project’s average month-
ly request for RA. 

VIII Responsibilities of Borrower in Admin-
istering the RA Program. 

The borrower and management agent for 
each project receiving RA should fully un-
derstand the responsibilities and require-
ments of carrying out the program. The fol-
lowing guidelines will be followed: 

A RA payments will not be made directly 
to eligible tenants receiving RA except as 
specified in paragraph IX A of this exhibit. 
The borrower will maintain an accurate ac-
counting of each tenant’s utility allowance 
and payments made to tenants. All other RA 
payments will be recorded as a credit to the 
tenant’s monthly rental payment. 

B The borrower must submit Form FmHA 
or its successor agency under Public Law 

103–354 1944–8 for each tenant as required in 
paragraph VII F of exhibit B of this subpart. 

C The incomes reported by the tenants 
must be verified by the borrower in accord-
ance with paragraph VII of exhibit B of this 
subpart. 

D Borrowers utilizing RA must comply 
with § 1930.122(b)(1) of this subpart. RA will 
not be approved for a project until the oper-
ating budget has been approved by the 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 State Office or the Servicing Of-
ficial. Servicing Officials, with assistance 
from the State Office, must closely supervise 
and assist borrowers in complying with all 
accounting and management requirements. 

E A borrower participating in the RA pro-
gram must have an FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 approved 
lease with the assisted household. All leases 
must comply with the provisions of para-
graph VIII of exhibit B of this subpart. 

F The borrower will be responsible to 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 for any errors made in the ad-
ministration of the RA program which are 
made by the borrower or the borrower’s au-
thorized management agent. Errors in com-
putation or other unauthorized use of RA 
will require, at a minimum, the repayment 
of any incorrectly advanced RA funds. If the 
error or unauthorized use of RA appears to 
be deliberate or intentional, the State Direc-
tor will refer the case to the Office of Inspec-
tor General according to FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 In-
struction 2012–B (available in any FmHA or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354 office). 

IX Handling Utility Allowances. 
A Payment of utilities. 
1 When the tenant is billed directly for 

utilities, rent paid by the tenant receiving 
RA will be the difference between the estab-
lished utility allowance and the portion of 
income cited in paragraphs II A 2 a, b, or c 
of this exhibit. 

2 When utilities are paid by the household 
receiving RA and the portion of income cited 
in paragraphs II A 2 a, b, or c of this exhibit 
is less than the allowance for utilities, the 
borrower will pay the household the dif-
ference between the utility allowance and 
one of those limits of the household’s ad-
justed monthly income. 

3 In a project where the owner pays all 
utilities, the tenant rent will be the portion 
of income cited in paragraphs A 2 a, b, or c 
of this exhibit up to the approved rent for 
the rental unit being occupied. 

B Determining the allowance. The utility 
allowance will be determined and recorded 
by the use of exhibit A–6 of subpart E of part 
1944 of this chapter. 

C Changes in allowances. The utility al-
lowance should be reviewed annually and ad-
justed if there are substantial changes in 
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utility and public service rates. Allowances 
will be adjusted on an annual basis if nec-
essary when the owner submits a new budget 
for approval. Changes in utility allowance 
which will result in changed rent paid by 
tenants will be processed according to ex-
hibit C of this subpart. 

X Method of Payment of RA to Borrower 

A Regular monthly RA payments. 
1 Borrower responsibilities. 
a Any RA due the borrower will be de-

ducted from the balance of scheduled loan 
payments, any delinquent payments, and 
other charges due on Form FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 1944– 
29 and the remaining balance must be sub-
mitted to the Servicing Office by check. If 
the RA due the borrower exceeds the balance 
of scheduled loan payments, delinquent pay-
ments and other charges, no additional pay-
ment is due from the borrower and an RA 
check for the excess will be issued by the FO. 

b Each month the borrower must forward 
to the Servicing Official a Form FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
1944–29. Any new Forms FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 1944– 
8 must be submitted to the Servicing Office 
as required in exhibit B of this subpart. Both 
forms must be prepared for each project ac-
cording to the instruction attached to the 
respective forms. 

2 Servicing Official responsibilities. 
a When new Forms FmHA or its successor 

agency under Public Law 103–354 1944–8 are 
received, the Servicing Official will imme-
diately date stamp each form with the 
receival date, review each Form FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
1944–8 and verify that the information con-
tained on the form is complete and correctly 
computed based on information contained in 
the form. 

b When a Form FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 1944–29 is re-
ceived, the Servicing Official will: 

(1) Date stamp each form FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 1944– 
29, and review the form and assure that en-
tries are supported by the current form 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 1944–8. 

(2) Enter the payment data via field office 
terminals as required in exhibit A to subpart 
K of part 1951 of this chapter (available in 
any FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 office). 

c The Servicing Official should verify the 
accuracy of the borrower’s servicing address 
shown on the FO record. When the address 
shown is incorrect, corrections must be made 
on AMAS screen M5A ‘‘Record Borrower/ 
Project Data’’ via a field computer terminal. 

B When a project account is delinquent, 
the Servicing Official may agree to release a 
portion of the monthly RA for project oper-

ation according to provisions authorized in a 
servicing plan developed in accordance with 
exhibit F of subpart B of part 1965 of this 
chapter (available in any FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 Of-
fice). 

C An RA payment request must be based 
on actual occupancy as of the first day of the 
month. 

XI Assigning RA to tenants 

A New project. Applications for occupancy 
should be accepted during the construction 
phase of the project, after the 
preconstruction conference has been held, 
and placed on a waiting list. During initial 
rent-up period, the following priorities will 
apply: 

1 Until all the RA units have been as-
signed, a number of apartment units in the 
project equal to the number of RA units will 
be initially reserved for eligible tenants as 
defined in paragraph II A of this exhibit who 
qualify for RA, even if there are applications 
on other lists that applied earlier. Applica-
tions qualifying for RA will be considered ac-
cording to the priority established by para-
graph XI B of this exhibit, by passing those 
applicants on the waiting list whose income 
is above the low-income limits for the area. 
The remaining units equal to the number of 
units that will not be subsidized with RA can 
be rented simultaneously to other appli-
cants. 

2 If a substantial number of apartment 
units reserved to be used with RA units re-
main vacant after initial rent-up and the 
borrower could rent those units to applicants 
not eligible for RA, the borrower may re-
quest a transfer of unused RA units in ac-
cordance with paragraph XV B 5 of this ex-
hibit. However, applicants not eligible for 
RA cannot be selected to occupy units ini-
tially reserved to be used with RA until the 
unused RA units are transferred. 

3 If there are still vacant units, those ap-
plicants by-passed because they did not qual-
ify for RA will be considered for occupancy 
on a first-come, first-served basis. 

B Operational RRH and RCH projects. To 
determine priority for assigning an available 
RA unit in an operational project, the latest 
Form FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 1944–29 for the project 
must be updated as of the date the unit is 
available, assuring that columns 3 through 9 
of part II are current and accurate. 

1 First priority for assigning RA must al-
ways be given to eligible very low-income 
households in the following order: 

a Eligible very low-income tenants paying 
the highest percentage of adjusted annual in-
come for approved shelter costs. 

b Eligible very low-income applicants from 
the project waiting list according to the 
order provided in paragraph VI H of exhibit 
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B of this subpart. No eligible tenant house-
hold in the project may be required to move 
from the project to allow an applicant on the 
waiting list who is eligible for RA to move 
in. 

2 Second priority for assigning RA will be 
given to eligible households with low-income 
in the following order. 

a Eligible low-income tenants in the 
project paying the higher percentage of ad-
justed annual income for approved shelter 
cost. 

b Eligible low-income applicants from the 
project waiting list. Low-income applicants 
will be selected according to paragraph VI H 
of exhibit B of this subpart, provided the bor-
rower has satisfied the requirements of para-
graph XI C of this exhibit. 

3 Third priority for RA will be given to oc-
cupancy ineligible tenants as described in 
paragraph VI D 7 b of exhibit B of this sub-
part living in the project. 

4 Eligible tenants receiving the benefits 
of RA may continue receiving such benefits 
as long as they remain eligible for RA, as the 
RA calculation formula shows a moderate in-
come tenant that was initially eligible for 
RA as a very low- and/or low-income tenant 
who still needs RA and there is an RA agree-
ment in effect. 

C Limits on low-income RRH and RCH ap-
plicants who may receive occupancy and RA: 

1 When no more very low-income appli-
cants are on the waiting list and RA is avail-
able, eligible low-income applicants may ob-
tain occupancy and receive RA provided 
that: 

a For projects available for initial occu-
pancy prior to November 30, 1983, no more 
when 25 percent of the vacant units receiving 
RA may become occupied by low-income ten-
ants other than very low-income tenants. 

b For projects available for initial occu-
pancy on or after November 30, 1983, no more 
than 5 percent of the vacant units receiving 
RA may become occupied by low-income ten-
ants other than very low-income tenants. 

2 The borrower may rent units and pro-
vide RA to other than very low-income appli-
cants/tenants in excess of the percentage in 
paragraph XI C 1 a and b of this exhibit re-
spectively, only when there are no more very 
low-income applicants or tenants available 
in the market area. The borrower must have 
documentation in its file and available to 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 for its review to show the efforts 
made, and the facts used to determine that 
there are currently no more very low-income 
applicants in the market area. 

D Operational LH projects: Tenants who 
meet the definitional requirements of domes-
tic farm laborers found at § 1944.153 of sub-
part D of part 1944 of this chapter shall be as-
signed RA in the following priority order 
within the subcategories of priority occu-
pancy established by that subpart: 

1 Very low-income. 
2 Low-income. 
E Assigning RA other than the first of the 

month: 
1 When a tenant receiving RA vacates be-

fore the end of the month, the RA unit 
should be immediately reassigned to another 
tenant or an applicant using the priorities 
given in paragraph XI B of this exhibit. 

2 When RA is assigned to an applicant and 
the applicant initially enters the project on 
a day other than the first of the month, the 
applicant’s tenant contribution for housing 
costs will be prorated for the remaining por-
tion of the month the same as if the tenant 
was receiving RA. [EXAMPLE: Basic rent of 
$200 and the tenants monthly contribution 
with RA would be $120, the prorate amount 
for 1⁄2 month would be $60.] 

3 When RA is assigned to a tenant other 
than the first of the month, no adjustment 
to their tenant contribution on Form FmHA 
or its successor agency under Public Law 
103–354 1944–29 for that month will be made. 
The borrower will begin to receive reim-
bursement of RA for the tenant as of the 
first day of the next month. 

4 No adjustment will be made on Form 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 1944–29 to request additional RA 
payment or to refund any excess RA pay-
ment or overage for the previous month 
when RA is reassigned other than the first of 
the month. 

XII RA assigned to wrong household: When 
the tenant has correctly reported income 
and household size, but RA was assigned to a 
household in error, that tenant’s RA benefit 
should be canceled and reassigned. Incidents 
involving incorrect reporting are addressed 
in subpart N of part 1951 of this chapter. 

A Before the borrower notifies the tenant, 
the borrower or management agent shall re-
view the case with the Servicing Official. If 
the Servicing Official verifies that an error 
has been made based on information avail-
able at the time the unit was assigned, the 
tenant will be given 30 days written notice 
that the unit was assigned in error and that 
the RA benefit will be canceled effective on 
the next monthly rental payment due date 
after the end of the 30-day notice period. The 
tenant will also be notified in writing that: 

1 The tenant has the right to cancel the 
lease based on the error made by the bor-
rower and the loss of benefit to the tenant. 

2 The RA granted in error will not be re-
captured from the tenant. 

3 The tenant may meet with management 
to discuss the cancellation and the facts on 
which the decision was based. If the facts are 
accurate and the tenant cannot produce fur-
ther evidence proving eligibility for RA, 
there will be no appeal from the decision. If 
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the tenant feels there is justification for fur-
ther review, the borrower must give the ten-
ant appeal rights under subpart L of part 
1944 of this chapter. 

B Reassigning RA. The RA unit will be re-
assigned to the next eligible household, 
based on Form FmHA or its successor agen-
cy under Public Law 103–354 1944–29 from 
which the original priority was established, 
when the unit was erroneously assigned. The 
RA will not be retroactive unless the reas-
signment was based on an appeal by the ten-
ant. Retroactive RA may not exceed the 
project’s remaining RA obligation balance. 

XIII RA payment cancellation: When an RA 
check must be canceled, the following proce-
dure will be followed: 

A Return of the original RA U.S. Treasury 
Check: The Servicing Office will prepare 
Form FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 1944–53, ‘‘Multiply Family 
Housing Cancellation of U.S. Treasury Check 
and/or Obligation’’ as specified in the FMI 
and mail it to the MFH unit in the FO. 

B Return of all or a portion of the monthly 
RA payment or refund of RA previously ad-
vanced: A check from the borrower made 
payable to FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 will be submitted 
to the MFH unit in the FO on Form FmHA 
or its successor agency under Public Law 
103–354 1944–53, completed according to the 
FMI. 

XIV Terminating existing RA agreements ob-
ligated in prior and/or current FYs. 

A When a project’s obligated funds are 
fully disbursed under any given RA obliga-
tion number, RA will be automatically ter-
minated by the FO and no further RA re-
quests will process against the RA obligation 
number. The Servicing Official must monitor 
these balances through field office terminals 
and AMAS Report No. 513–C. The Servicing 
Office will modify Form FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 1944– 
27 according to the FMI to indicate that a 
termination has occurred. The Servicing Of-
ficial will notify the borrower in writing 
that the obligation under the RA obligation 
number has expired and the RA obligation 
number must be stricken from the agree-
ment. 

1 For all RA obligations before FY 1985. RA 
is considered fully disbursed by the FO when 
all RA funds obligated before FY 1985 are dis-
bursed. 

2 For all RA obligations after FY 1984. RA is 
considered fully disbursed by the FO when 
all RA funds obligated in a particular FY are 
disbursed. This includes RA transferred from 
a different MFH project. 

3 When a Form FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 1944–27 con-
sists of several different obligations (Form 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 1944–51, part III, or Form FmHA 
or its successor agency under Public Law 

103–354 1944–55) identified by different RA ob-
ligation numbers, and the obligations will 
not be fully disbursed at the same time, only 
those RA obligation numbers with fully dis-
bursed obligation will be terminated. 

B Prior to full disbursement of obligated 
funds: 

1 Prior FY obligations. Prior FY obliga-
tions will not be terminated. They will be 
suspended by the State Director using proce-
dures in paragraph XV of this exhibit. 

2 Current FY obligations. The State Direc-
tor is authorized to terminate RA obligation 
prior to the disbursement of obligated funds 
if the funds were obligated during the cur-
rent FY. The undisbursed funds for the RA 
obligation will be returned to the current FY 
obligation authority. 

XV Suspending or transferring existing RA. 
A RA may be suspended or transferred ac-

cording to the requirements for each situation 
described in paragraph XV B of this exhibit and 
the following: 

1 Suspension. 
a The State Director may approve a sus-

pension of a project’s RA agreement and ob-
ligation as a result of the servicing actions 
described in paragraphs XV B 2, 3, and 4 of 
this exhibit. The State Director will main-
tain records and control of the suspended 
RA. 

b The State Director or Servicing Office 
will notify the borrower in writing, stating 
the reason(s) the RA is suspended. 

c The Servicing Office will put a suspend 
code on the account. This is done on the M5A 
‘‘Record Borrower/Project Data’’ screen in 
AMAS using Suspend Code 7. After suspen-
sion, only RA payments described in para-
graph XV B 4 of this exhibit will be processed 
by the Servicing Office. 

d The State Director may approve rein-
statement of the RA to the same borrower in 
the same project. After approval, the Serv-
icing Office will remove the suspend code 
from the project using the M5A screen. 

e The State Director may reinstate the 
RA to the same borrower in the same project 
by removing the suspend code from the M5A 
screen through field office terminals. 

2 Transfer. 
a Only the State Director may approve an 

RA transfer. 
b RA may be transferred to any borrower 

with an RA eligible project according to the 
priorities established by this exhibit or the 
National Office. 

c AMAS will determine the per unit value 
of the RA obligation being transferred by di-
viding the undisbursed balance of the RA ob-
ligation on the date the transfer is processed 
by the number of RA units in the agreement. 
The number of units being transferred times 
the per unit value equals the total amount 
transferred. After the transfer processes the 
State Director should enter the dollar 
amount of the transfer in the Remarks area 
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of Form FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 1944–55. 

d RA units identified by different RA ob-
ligation numbers may be transferred. New 
RA obligation numbers should be assigned 
according to the FMI for Form FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
1944–55. 

e All or any portion of the units in an RA 
Agreement with an undisbursed balance may 
be transferred by the State Director. 

f When the State Director approves an RA 
transfer, Form FmHA or its successor agen-
cy under Public Law 103–354 1944–55 com-
pleted according to the FMI, will be used to 
notify the FO except as noted in paragraph 
XV B 1 of this exhibit. 

g Form FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 1944–27, with Form 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 1944–55 attached, will be com-
pleted according to the FMI for each trans-
feree. The transferee may use the transferred 
units effective the first day of the month in 
which the transfer is approved. 

h The transferor’s Form FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 1944– 
27 will be modified by attaching a copy of 
Form FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 1944–55 according to the 
FMI to indicate that a portion of the agree-
ment has been transferred. When all the RA 
units on a RA agreement have been trans-
ferred, the transferor’s present agreement 
will be so documented. 

B RA may be suspended and/or transferred 
in the following situations according to the fol-
lowing directions: 

1 RA transfer accompanying a project trans-
fer. When a project is transferred to an eligi-
ble borrower, the transferee may assume the 
transferor’s liquidated RA obligation(s). 
Form FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 1944–55 will be forwarded 
to the FO attached to Form FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
1965–10, ‘‘Information on Assumption of Mul-
tiple Family Housing Loans,’’ as required in 
§ 1965.65(c)(11) of subpart B of part 1965 of this 
chapter. 

2 Suspension and transfer after a voluntary 
conveyance or foreclosure sale. When a project 
with RA is voluntarily conveyed to the Gov-
ernment or acquired by foreclosure sale, the 
RA obligation will be automatically sus-
pended under the borrower’s name when the 
FO processes Form FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 1965–19, 
‘‘Multiple Family Housing Advice of Mort-
gaged Real Estate Acquired.’’ These units 
will be held in suspense until the final dis-
position of the acquired property has been 
determined. During the inventory period ten-
ants will pay 30 percent of their income for 
rent. Tenants entitled to reimbursement for 
utilities will be paid from project income. 

3 Suspension and transfer after a liquidation 
or prepayment. 

a When a project with RA is liquidated 
through sale outside of the program or the 
loan is paid in full, the RA will be suspended 
and, subsequently, transferred to a different 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 financed project in accordance 
with paragraph XV B 3 b of this exhibit, if 
applicable, or if not, to another project at 
the State Director’s discretion. 

b When a tenant receiving RA is, or will 
be, displaced from an FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 project due 
to prepayment or liquidation, the RA the 
tenant was receiving will be transferred, or 
suspended and transferred, to any other 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 project, regardless of location, to 
which the displaced tenant moves. That ten-
ant will be given first priority for a unit of 
RA, regardless of other priorities for the RA, 
if all the following conditions are met: 

(1) The borrower is eligible to receive and 
administer RA. 

(2) The tenant is eligible to occupy the 
project and to receive RA. 

(3) The tenant had taken all the following 
steps to insure eligibility to receive priority 
for the unit of RA: 

(i) Had been placed on at least one waiting 
list for a FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 project with a Let-
ter of Priority Entitlement. 

(ii) Moved to the project as soon as the 
name was reached on a waiting list, even if 
it meant temporarily occupying an ineligible 
unit. The ineligiible unit may not differ from 
the one for which the tenant is eligible by 
more than one bedroom. 

(iii) Moved to an eligible unit as soon as 
one was available. 

(4) The RA has not previously been trans-
ferred for the tenant’s current displacement. 

c Procedures for transferring RA and 
modifying RA agreements outlined in para-
graphs VC and XVA2 of this exhibit will be 
followed, but the receiving project borrower 
need not submit Form FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 1944– 
25 if the RA was received as a result of the 
occupancy of a displaced tenant. 

4 Suspension and transfer or reinstatement 
due to a servicing action. 

a When servicing a project’s account ac-
cording to § 1965.85 of subpart B of part 1965 
of this chapter and the account has been ac-
celerated: 

(1) The RA will be suspended to the extent 
that no payments will be credited to the 
project’s account. Interest credit will be 
credited to the project’s account until the 
appeal period for the acceleration has ex-
pired. After the expiration of the appeal pe-
riod, if it is determined that foreclosure will 
proceed, the interest credit will be cancelled 
as of the last day of the month in which the 
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appeal period expired. RA will be automati-
cally suspended by the interest credit can-
cellation. 

(2) That portion of the monthly RA not 
needed to pay the project monthly install-
ment and other charges as specified in para-
graph VIII of exhibit A to subpart K of part 
1951 of this chapter (available in any FmHA 
or its successor agency under Public Law 
103–354 office) may be processed and returned 
to the project operating account to maintain 
project operation. 

(3) RA agreements expiring during the ac-
celeration and appeal process may be re-
newed in order to continue payment of RA as 
described in paragraph XVB4a (2) of this ex-
hibit. 

b After final disposition of the accelera-
tion, expiration of the appeal and redemp-
tion period of the defaulting borrower the 
RA will be: 

(1) Transferred with a credit sale. If the 
project is sold through a credit sale to an eli-
gible borrower within the program, the sus-
pended RA should be transferred from the 
previous borrower’s case number and project 
number to the new case number and project 
number. Form FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 1944–55 will be at-
tached to Form FmHA or its successor agen-
cy under Public Law 103–354 1965–20 ‘‘Mul-
tiple Family Housing Advice of Mortgaged 
Real Estate Sold,’’ when it is sent to the FO, 
or 

(2) Transferred to a different project when the 
defaulting project is sold outside the program. 
When the suspended RA is not needed for the 
project after the credit sale or other disposi-
tion of the acquired property, the State Di-
rector should transfer the RA to a different 
project or projects as provided in paragraph 
XVA2 of this exhibit, or 

(3) Reinstated to the same project when 
the defaults are corrected and the State Di-
rector reinstates the borrower’s account. 

c The borrower will be apprised of the ap-
peal rights available under subpart B of part 
1900 of this chapter upon notification of the 
pending suspension. The suspension will not 
be effective until these appeal rights have 
been exhausted. 

5 Transfer of unused RA. When RA is un-
used after initial rent-up and not needed be-
cause of a lack of eligible potential tenants 
in the area, all or a portion of it may be 
transferred when the State Director deter-
mines that the following conditions have 
been met: 

a The borrower describes the efforts made 
to market the subsidized units and further 
demonstrates that: 

(1) The market survey indicated there 
should be a significant need for rental hous-
ing by households in the market area that 
would have required RA for occupancy, but 
all or a substantial portion of the RA units 
available remain unused after a 2-year period 

since initial availability. The borrower 
must: 

(i) Document the efforts made to market 
the project to RA eligible applicants; 

(ii) Demonstrate that the waiting list does 
not contain RA eligible applicants and the 
project is not occupied by RA eligible ten-
ants who do not receive RA; and 

(iii) Certify that project management has 
not used a policy of discouraging RA eligible 
households from applying for or obtaining 
tenancy in the project. 

(2) Rent increases anticipated for the fol-
lowing 2 years will not prompt a request for 
RA according to the provision of exhibit C of 
this subpart. 

b The Servicing Official recommends the 
RA transfer after reviewing documentation 
submitted by the borrower and finding that 
the applicable conditions of paragraph XV B 
5 of this exhibit have been met. 

c If, after the end of the initial year of a 
RA agreement, the borrower has not used a 
portion of the RA units for any ensuing con-
secutive 12-month period, the State Director 
may transfer the number of unused units, 
minus at least one, to another project with-
out the borrower’s request. If the remaining 
unit(s) remains unused after an additional 
12-month period, the State Director may au-
thorize its transfer to another project. This 
would apply only if the current agreement is 
on form FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 1944–27 and when: 

(1) The borrower has made the efforts de-
scribed in paragraphs XV B 5a (1)(i), (ii), and 
(iii) of this exhibit to market the project to 
tenants needing RA, or if the borrower’s fail-
ure to use RA has resulted in an acceleration 
of the loan account. 

(2) The Servicing Official has reviewed the 
project occupancy list, waiting list, past RA 
usage, and any other data available and 
verified that there is no apparent RA needs 
in the project. 

(3) The State Director has notified the bor-
rower at least 30 days in advance of FmHA or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354’s intent to transfer the RA units and has 
given the borrower appropriate appeal rights 
in accordance with subpart B of part 1900 of 
this chapter. 

(4) If the borrower appeals the decision, the 
appeal is resolved in accordance with subpart 
B of part 1900 of this chapter before any 
transfer action is taken. 

(5) The transfer will be completed in ac-
cordance with paragraph XV A 2 of this ex-
hibit. 

6 Transfer due to an unclosable loan. When 
RA will be unused because the loan to which 
it was obligated will not be closed, or the RA 
agreement is not signed, the RA obligation 
may not be transferred except as provided 
under the conditions of § 1944.235 (b) of sub-
part E of part 1944 of this chapter. However, 
if this situation occurs during the same FY 
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of obligation, the obligation should be can-
celled and reobligated immediately using 
current authorities. Obligations from prior 
FY must be canceled and will be lost unless 
the conditions of § 1944.235 (b) of subpart E of 
part 1944 of this chapter exist. 

XVI Rights for appeal if RA is not granted 
or is cancelled by FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354. 

A Borrowers who have requested RA in 
writing and are denied such assistance due to 
a determination of ineligibility by FmHA or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354, or when RA is cancelled, will be notified 
in writing of the specific reasons why they 
have been denied RA and will be notified of 
their appeal rights in accordance with sub-
part B of part 1900 of this chapter. 

B If at any time a borrower or a house-
hold is granted RA under an appeal, the bor-
rower or household will receive the next 
available RA unit. 

C Borrower denial of RA to tenants will 
be handled according to subpart L of part 
1944 of this chapter. 

XVII Forms and exhibits. Exhibit A–6 to 
subpart E of part 1944 of this chapter and 
Form FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 1944–7 are to be used in 
determining the amount of RA to be pro-
vided. 

[58 FR 40868, July 30, 1993, as amended at 62 
FR 25065, 25066, May 7, 1997; 67 FR 78327, Dec. 
24, 2002] 

EXHIBIT F TO SUBPART C OF PART 1930— 
FARMERS HOME ADMINISTRATION OR 
ITS SUCCESSOR AGENCY UNDER PUB-
LIC LAW 103–354 MULTIPLE FAMILY 
HOUSING SUPERVISORY VISIT—PRE- 
VISIT WORKSHEET 

Purpose and Use of This Document 

Use this document to help organize infor-
mation and plan for a supervisory visit, com-
pliance review, and physical inspection. It 
should be completed far enough in advance 
so that all relevant concerns and issues sur-
rounding project operations are known and 
considered prior to the site visit. 

Appropriate Servicing Office staff should 
examine the project casefile, consult with 
coworkers, and review any outstanding 
issues raised by FmHA or its successor agen-
cy under Public Law 103–354’s most recent 
annual review of project operational and fi-
nancial status. Other relevant issues may be 
obtained from a variety of sources such as 
ongoing tenant certification or payment 
processing concerns, Automated Multi-hous-
ing Accounting System (AMAS) status, cor-
respondence from tenants or project manage-
ment, or other issues contained in the run-
ning record. 

Use your available tracking systems, 
AMAS, FOCUS, or Multi-housing Tenant 
File System (MTFS) to gather statistical in-
formation relevant to this document and the 
visit, to help define current project status 
and to determine if that status falls within 
acceptable FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 norms for occu-
pancy or financial operations. 

Thoroughly review the management plan 
and management agreement to assure that 
the management practices at the project are 
in accordance with FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 procedure 
and with the way project management has 
agreed to operate. 

You should use the random sampling tech-
nique contained in exhibit F–1 of this sub-
part to establish a sample of tenants for con-
ducting tenant file reviews, interviews and 
apartment unit reviews, or wage matching. 
You may use an alternative sampling tech-
nique; however, you must fully explain any 
alternative sampling techniques on this doc-
ument. Also, you may supplement your ran-
dom sample with additional tenants that ap-
pear to represent unique occupancy or 
verification situations. 

You may contact tenants to advise them of 
your visit and provide them the opportunity 
to express their view of project operations. 
Exhibit F–2 of this subpart may be used for 
this purpose. 

FMHA OR ITS SUCCESSOR AGENCY UNDER PUB-
LIC LAW 103–354 MFH SUPERVISORY VISIT— 
PRE-VISIT WORKSHEET 

Project name: 
llllllllllllllllllllllll

Borrower name: 
llllllllllllllllllllllll

Borrower ID and project number: 
llllllllllllllllllllllll

Project location: 
llllllllllllllllllllllll

Project management: 
llllllllllllllllllllllll

FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 visit to be completed by: 
llllllllllllllllllllllll

General information. 
Visit Date: ( – – ) Bor/Mgt notified of 

visit: ( – – ) lllll 

Tax Credit Eligible: (y)(n) Number of Sec. 8 
Units: lllll 

Project Type: (RRH)(RCH)(LH) Number of 
RA Units: lllll 

Latest tenant termination notice attached: 
(y)(n)(na) lllll 

Project’s latest tenant grievance attached: 
(y)(n)(na) lllll 

Current tenant information for supervisory 
visit. 
[Latest MTFS project worksheet attached. 

As of: ( – – )] lllll 

Total Units: llllll 
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Vacant Units: llllll 

Overburdened Tenants: llllll 

Tenants Receiving RA: llllll 

Unused RA Units: llllll 

Expired Certifications: llllll 

Current tenant information for compliance 
review. 

[Latest MTFS documentation attached. As 
of: ( – – )] llllll 

Tenants by race national origin code. 

White, Non-Hispanic: llllll 

Black, Non-Hispanic: llllll 

Asian, Pacific Island: llllll 

American Indian, Alaska Native: llllll 

Hispanic: llllll 

Tenants by Sex. 

Male, single member household: llllll 

Female, single member household: 
llllll 

Family (nonsingle member) household: 
llllll 

Tenants by handicapped/disability status. 

Designated handicapped household member: 
llllll 

Designated disabled household member: 
llllll 

Number of designated handicapped units: 
llllll 

Number of designated handicapped units oc-
cupied by a handicapped or disabled house-
hold member: llllll 

REVIEW OF CURRENT DOCUMENTATION 

Date of most recent action or approval: (Enter date) 

Outstanding concerns: 
(Check if yes, and explain 

briefly in Comments 
below) 

1. (ll ll ll) Supervisory Visit .................................................................................................. lllllll 

2. (ll ll ll) Physical Inspection of Property ........................................................................... lllllll 

3. (ll ll ll) Compliance Review ............................................................................................. lllllll 

4. (ll ll ll) Management Plan ............................................................................................... lllllll 

5. (ll ll ll) Management Agreement ..................................................................................... lllllll 

6. (ll ll ll) Affirmative Fair Housing Marketing Plan ............................................................. lllllll 

7. (ll ll ll) Lease ................................................................................................................... lllllll 

8. (ll ll ll) Occupancy Rules ................................................................................................ lllllll 

9. (ll ll ll) Rent Change ....................................................................................................... lllllll 

10. (ll ll ll) Energy Audit and Implementation Plan ............................................................. lllllll 

Comments: 
Other operational or financial concerns: 
Additional documentation for the upcom-

ing visit: 
Most recently completed exhibit A–2 of this 

subpart attached: (y)(n)(na) 
Most recently approved Form FmHA or Its 

Successor Agency Under Public Law 103– 
354 1930–7 Multiple Family Housing Project 
Budget attached: (y)(n) 
Tenants selected for tenant file review: 

Name and unit number 
llllllllllllllllllllllll

llllllllllllllllllllllll

llllllllllllllllllllllll

llllllllllllllllllllllll

llllllllllllllllllllllll

llllllllllllllllllllllll

llllllllllllllllllllllll

llllllllllllllllllllllll

llllllllllllllllllllllll

llllllllllllllllllllllll

Tenants selected for interview and apart-
ment unit review (if other than above): 
Name and unit number 
llllllllllllllllllllllll

llllllllllllllllllllllll

llllllllllllllllllllllll

llllllllllllllllllllllll

llllllllllllllllllllllll

llllllllllllllllllllllll

llllllllllllllllllllllll

llllllllllllllllllllllll

llllllllllllllllllllllll

llllllllllllllllllllllll

Tenants selected for wage match (if other 
than above): 

Name and unit number 

llllllllllllllllllllllll

llllllllllllllllllllllll

llllllllllllllllllllllll

llllllllllllllllllllllll

llllllllllllllllllllllll

llllllllllllllllllllllll

llllllllllllllllllllllll

llllllllllllllllllllllll

llllllllllllllllllllllll

llllllllllllllllllllllll

Tenant data review actions: 

Reviewed tenant records & selected tenant 
sample: ( – – ) 

Tenant list sent to State Office for wage 
match: ( – – ) 

Final Report to file, borrower,HUDetc.: ( –
– ) 

Exhibit F–1 (of this subpart) process used to 
select tenant sample: (y)(n) 

Explanation of other sampling process at-
tached: (y)(n)(na) 
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EXHIBIT F–1 TO SUBPART C OF PART 
1930—SUGGESTED RANDOM SAMPLING 
TECHNIQUE FOR TENANT REVIEWS 

Enter information to be used in the sam-
pling calculation. 
A. lll Total number of revenue producing 

units. 
B. lll Percentage of units to be reviewed 

(based on Servicing Office preference for 
sample size, expressed as a decimal, for ex-
ample .10 for 10 percent or .50 for 50 per-
cent). 
NOTE: At least six tenant households will 

be sampled or 100 percent of all households 
for projects having six or fewer units. 

Determine the sample size. 
C. lll (A times B) 

Determine the sampling ‘‘interval.’’ 
D. lll (A divided by C) 

Determine the ‘‘starting point’’ of the sam-
ple. 
E. lll (the last digit of the current cal-

endar year) 
Sampling process. 
Using the most current project worksheet, 

start selecting tenants with the tenant at 
the ‘‘starting point’’ (E) and select every 
tenant on the worksheet at the ‘‘interval’’ 
(D). To assure that you have a full sample 
(C), you may need to ‘‘wrap around’’ the 
project worksheet. 

For example: 
A 24-unit project is to be visited. Based on 

the June 1, 199X, project worksheet, a 25 per-
cent sampling will be used. 
A. Total number of units is 24 
B. Percentage to be reviewed is ‘‘.25’’ 
C. Sample size is 6 
D. Interval is 4 
E. Starting point is X year digit 

Starting with the second tenant on the 
project worksheet, every fourth occupied 
unit will be selected for the sample. 

EXHIBIT F–2 TO SUBPART C OF PART 
1930—SUGGESTED FORMAT FOR A 
PRE-VISIT TENANT CONTACT LET-
TER 

Date 
Name 
Address 
Dear Tenant: 

The Farmers Home Administration 
(FmHA) or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 of the United States Department 
of Agriculture (USDA) financed the apart-
ment project where you now live. At least 
once every three years, FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 
makes a site inspection and management re-
view. The purpose of the visit is to help as-
sure that this FmHA or its successor agency 

under Public Law 103–354 financed project is 
being operated in accordance with Federal 
laws and regulations. 

Our next visit is scheduled for lllll at 
approximately lllll. We would appre-
ciate knowing any questions, comments, or 
concerns that you would like to share with 
us regarding your occupancy. We may be 
able to talk to you directly during the visit, 
or you may want to contact us before the 
visit at: 
(Insert Servicing Office Address) 

Some of the issues FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 reviews dur-
ing the visit are to determine: if fair and 
equal access is provided to apartments in 
your project; if outstanding maintenance, re-
pair, or security concerns exist; how income 
is verified or certified; and if occupancy 
charges are at FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 approved levels. 

Your response to this letter is completely 
voluntary. We appreciate your assistance. 

Sincerely, 
Servicing Official 

EXHIBIT G TO SUBPART C OF PART 1930— 
FARMERS HOME ADMINISTRATION OR 
ITS SUCCESSOR AGENCY UNDER PUB-
LIC LAW 103–354 MULTIPLE FAMILY 
HOUSING SUPERVISORY VISIT—SUM-
MARY OF FINDINGS 

Project name: 
llllllllllllllllllllllll

Borrower name: 
llllllllllllllllllllllll

Borrower ID and project number: 
llllllllllllllllllllllll

Date of visit: 
llllllllllllllllllllllll

Persons interviewed: 
llllllllllllllllllllllll

FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 visit completed by: 
llllllllllllllllllllllll

Purpose and use of This Document 

This document summarizes the findings 
obtained during the subject supervisory 
visit. Information is collected directly by 
the FmFA reviewer on this form or summa-
rized from information obtained from any of 
the following sources: 
1. Pre-visit worksheet (Exhibit F of this sub-

part) 
2. A concurrent compliance review 
3. A concurrent project physical inspection 
4. Tenant file reviews 
5. Tenant interviews & unit reviews 
6. Tenant wage matching findings 
7. FmHA or its successor agency under Pub-

lic Law 103–354 docket information 
8. Any other relevant document or work-

sheet 
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FmHA or its successor agency under Pub-
lic Law 103–354 will review the project file 
and any other project management docu-
mentation prior to the visit to identify areas 
of concern. 

The FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 reviewer may prepare 
questions in advance to draw responses from 
project management or tenants that will en-
able FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 to answer the question on 
the supervisory visit forms. The questions 
should be prepared to allow the respondent 
to describe how tasks or functions are per-
formed (i.e., who, what, when, where, or 
why), rather than ‘‘do you do this.’’ 

The findings are listed to highlight areas 
of project management and operation activi-
ties as they relate to the project manage-
ment plan as described in exhibit B–1 of this 
subpart. 

Concerns resulting from this supervisory 
visit may be used as a basis for requiring im-
proved borrower/project management per-
formance. 

Status/Analysis (Indicate Yes, No, or Not 
Applicable) 

1. Identity of interest (IOI) and relation-
ship of borrower, management agent and 
suppliers. 

ll Borrower and management agent IOI 
properly disclosed. 

ll Borrower & material/services suppliers 
IOI properly disclosed. 

ll Management Agent & material/services 
suppliers IOI properly disclosed. 

ll Are IOI provided management, material 
and services comparable in cost, quality or 
scope to ‘‘arms-length’’ transactions? 

Comments: 
2. Personnel policy and staffing. 

ll Personnel policy and staffing per man-
agement plan. 

Comments: 
3. Marketing and Occupancy. 
Signs and posters compliance. 

ll Project sign. 
ll Equal Housing LOGO on sign. 
ll Handicapped LOGO at handicapped 

parking space. 
ll Sign indicates where to apply for hous-

ing. 
ll Equal Housing Opportunity posters visi-

ble. 
ll ‘‘. . .and Justice for All’’ posters visible. 

Affirmative marketing. 

ll Affirmative Fair Housing Marketing 
Plan (AFHMP) available for review. 

ll AFHMP signed and dated by authorized 
FmHA or its successor agency under Pub-
lic Law 103–354 official. 

ll Advertising documented (Attach cop-
ies). 

ll Race/Ethnic composition of the project 
reflects market area. 

Applications Management/Occupancy Policy 

ll Applications accepted at project. 
ll Applications accepted from anyone. 
ll Proper documentation of applicant con-

tacts. 
ll Proper written documentation of with-

drawn/rejected applicants. 
ll Applicants on waiting list. Number: 

llll. 
ll Applicants with a Letter of Priority. 

Number: llll. 
ll Tenant file review indicates proper ap-

plication maintenance. 
ll Waiting list meets 1930–C requirements. 
ll Most recent tenant selection met 1930–C 

requirements. 
ll Correct priorities for selection followed. 
ll Marketing and occupancy policy per 

management plan. 
ll Occupancy ineligible tenants properly 

admitted. 
ll Occupancy ineligibles are placed on a 

unit transfer list. 
ll Occupancy ineligibles have appropriate 

lease clauses. 

Achieving full occupancy. 

ll Tenant vacancy percentage is within an 
acceptable range. 

ll Tenant turnover rate is within an ac-
ceptable range. 

ll Tax credit eligibility is not affecting 
project viability. 

ll Marketing incentives are used to attract 
tenants. 

Comments: 

4. Determining eligibility and adjusted in-
come. 

ll Income included or excluded correctly. 
ll Frequency and timing of verification is 

correct. 
ll Manager believes tenant provided data 

is accurate & complete. 
ll Form FmHA or its successor agency 

under Public Law 103–354 1944–29, updated 
before rental assistance (RA) is assigned. 

ll All qualified households listed on the 
updated Form FmHA or its successor agen-
cy under Public Law 103–354 1944–29. 

ll RA assignment policy meets 1930–C, ex-
hibit E requirements. 

ll Most recent tenant RA assignment met 
1930–C, requirements. 

ll Tenant file review indicates income/sta-
tus correctly verified. 

ll Tenant file review indicates income/in-
formation correct on Form FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
1944–8, ‘‘Tenant Certification.’’. 

ll Tenant file review indicates proper re-
certification notice. 

ll Determining eligibility & adjusted in-
come per management plan. 
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ll Site manager’s income verified by third 
party when appropriate. 
Comments: 
5. Leasing and occupancy policies. 

ll Tenants placed in units according to oc-
cupancy standards. 

ll Tenant lease prepared by project site 
manager. 

ll Tenant file review indicates rent is prop-
erly determined. 

ll Tenant file review indicates correct 
lease maintenance. 

ll Tenant file review indicates FmHA or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354 approved lease used. 

ll Tenant file review indicates FmHA or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354 approved occupancy rules. 

ll Leasing and occupancy policies per man-
agement plan. 
Comments: 
6. Rents, occupancy charges, and occu-

pancy surcharges. 
ll Utilities paid by tenants correspond to 

FmHA or its successor agency under Pub-
lic Law 103–354 approved levels. 

ll Tenants do not pay additional utility 
fees or charges. 

ll Actual costs for tenant utilities verified 
annually. 

ll Tenant rent payments accepted and 
tracked on site. 

ll Rent payments on site are adequately 
protected. 

ll Tenants receive appropriate evidence of 
cash payment. 

ll Rent and occupancy charge policy per 
management plan. 

ll Tenant security deposit processing per 
management plan. 

ll Application fees per 1930–C and manage-
ment plan. 
Comments: 
7. Rent changes. 

ll Rents and utility allowances charged 
are FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 approved. 

ll Most recent rent change per 1930–C and 
management plan. 

ll Most recent utility allowance per 1944–E 
and management plan. 
Comments: 
8. Maintenance, Repair, and Replacement. 

ll Maintenance per management plan. 
ll Routine repair and replacement per 

management plan. 
ll Routine unit inspection per manage-

ment plan. 
ll Services (i.e., exterminating) provided 

per management plan. 
ll Security services provided per manage-

ment plan. 
ll Followup needed on exterior items in-

spected. 

ll Followup needed on energy efficiency 
items inspected. 

ll Followup needed on interior items in-
spected. 

ll Followup needed on miscellaneous items 
inspected. 

ll Followup needed on individual units in-
spected. 

ll Capital improvements needed, planned 
and reserve account use plan updated. 
Comments: 
9. Supplemental Services. 

ll Laundry and vending machines operated 
per management plan. 

ll Laundry and vending proceeds handled 
per management plan. 
Comments: 
10. Accounting, Recordkeeping, and FmHA 

or its successor agency under Public Law 
103–354 Reporting. 

Project Records 

ll Project O&M expenses appear per ap-
proved Form FmHA or its successor agen-
cy under Public Law 103–354 1930–7. 

ll Project capital expenses appear per ap-
proved Form FmHA or its successor agen-
cy under Public Law 103–354 1930–7. 

ll Project revenue appears per approved 
Form FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 1930–7. 

ll Project account information reviewed, 
balances obtained: 

Reserve account: llll 

General operating account: llll 

Tax and insurance escrow: llll 

Tenant security deposit account: llll 

ll Accounts are kept per 1930–C and man-
agement agreement. 

ll Funds are protected by a Federal agency 
or bank collateral. 

ll Bookkeeping location per management 
plan. 

ll Project financial information main-
tained per management plan. 

ll Project is operated as part of a ‘‘con-
solidated’’ project. 

ll If operations are consolidated, arrange-
ment per 1930–C. 

ll Internal control conducted per manage-
ment plan. 

ll Do multiple accounts by borrower or 
management entity in one bank exceed 
collateral limits. 

Tenant Records 

ll Current tenant files retained for 3 years. 
ll Former tenant and rejected applicant 

files retained 3 years. 
ll Privacy of tenant files adequately pro-

tected. 
ll Tenant files maintained per manage-

ment plan. 

Comments: 
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11. Energy conservation measures and 
practices. 
ll Implemented feasible measures identi-

fied by energy audit. 
ll Physical inspection recommends further 

energy conservation. 
ll Physical inspection recommends more 

tenant education efforts. 
Comments: 
12. Tenant participation and relationship 

with management. 
ll Tenant appeals since last visit. Number 

llll. 
ll Tenants are being informed of their ap-

peal rights. 
ll ‘‘FmHA or its successor agency under 

Public Law 103–354 Instruction 1944–L’’ 
posted for review by tenants. 

ll Standing hearing panel for the project. 
ll Records maintained of settlements and 

hearings. 
ll Project management is responsive to 

tenant grievances. 
Comments: 
13. Management training programs. 

ll Site manager training per management 
plan. 

ll Site manager has received FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
requirements training. 
Date of last FmHA or its successor agency 

under Public Law 103–354 requirements 
training: (ll-ll-ll) 

ll Site manager ‘‘certified’’ from an FmHA 
or its successor agency under Public Law 
103–354 recognized source. 

ll Equal Opportunity training per AFHMP. 
Comments: 
14. Termination of leases and eviction. 

ll The latest tenant termination was prop-
erly conducted. 

ll The latest eviction was properly con-
ducted. 

ll Is termination and eviction per 1930–C 
and management plan. 
Comments: 
15. Management agreement plan and 

project operations. 
ll Project uses the management plan as a 

working document. 
ll The management plan accurately de-

scribes project operations. 
ll The management agreement accurately 

describes project operations. 
ll Indication of an unreported change to 

insurance coverage. 
ll Indication of an unreported change to fi-

delity coverage. 
ll Indication of unreported change to man-

agement. 
ll Indication of unreported change to bor-

rower entity. 

Comments: 

16. Management compensation. 
ll Management fee paid per management 

agreement. 
Comments: 
17. On-site management. 

ll Site manager compensation per manage-
ment plan and agreement. 

ll Site manager’s unit operated per man-
agement plan. 
Date current site manager hired: 

(ll-l-ll) 
Comments: 

FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 MFH Supervisory Visit—Con-
clusions and Recommendations 

Listed below are the major findings of the 
supervisory visit, compliance review, and 
physical inspection of the project, and any 
followup actions required by the Servicing 
Office. 

FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 MFH Supervisory Visit—Rating 

Above Average ll Satisfactoryll Below 
Averagell Unsatisfactoryll 

Next follow-up needed (Letter, telephone, 
etc.) llllllllllllllllllll

Next scheduled review lllllllllll

FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 MFH Supervisory Visit—Addi-
tional Rural Cooperative Housing Ques-
tions 

ll The cooperative treasurer has received 
relevant training. 

ll The board of directors considers and 
acts on new member applications. 

ll Applicants are screened for suitability 
before being placed on the waiting list. 

ll There are signed ‘‘What is Cooperative 
Housing?’’ forms indicating the member 
recognizes and accepts the responsibilities 
associated with cooperative living. 

ll Cooperative members perform mainte-
nance functions. 

ll Maintenance functions are contracted 
out. Explain: 

ll The borrower cooperative is working 
with FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354. 

ll The board of directors holds monthly 
meetings. 

ll There is an agreement with the adviser. 
ll The adviser to the board attends each 

meeting. 
ll It appears that the board has control 

over the cooperative’s operations. 
ll The cooperative has active committees. 

What are the committees and how many 
members on each? 

llllllllllll llll 

llllllllllll llll 

llllllllllll llll 
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llllllllllll llll 

llllllllllll llll 

llllllllllll llll 

How often do the committees meet? 
llll 

ll A board member attends committee 
meetings. 

ll Management agreements and contracts 
are being followed. 
Comments: 

FmHA or Its Successor Agency Under Public 
Law 103–354 MFH Supervisory Visit—Addi-
tional Labor Housing Questions 

ll In the case of on-farm LH, the housing 
is serving eligible farm laborers employed 
by this LH borrower. 

ll Borrower is ( ) charging, or ( ) not 
charging rent in accordance with their 
FmHA or its successor agency under Pub-
lic Law 103–354 approved budget. 

ll Properly verifying farm labor employ-
ment. 

ll Properly determining ‘‘substantial’’ por-
tion of income from farm labor. 
Comments: 

FmHA or Its Successor Agency Under Public 
Law 103–354 MFH Supervisory Visit—Addi-
tional Congregate Housing or Group Home 
Questions 

ll Project provides a basic services pack-
age to tenants. 

ll Project provides optional services pack-
age to tenants. 

ll Meals provided per service agreement. 
ll Transportation provided per service 

agreement. 
ll Housekeeping provided per service 

agreement. 
ll Personal service provided per service 

agreement. 
ll Recreational/social services provided per 

service agreement. 

Comments: 

EXHIBIT G–1 TO SUBPART C OF PART 
1930—FARMERS HOME ADMINISTRA-
TION OR ITS SUCCESSOR AGENCY 
UNDER PUBLIC LAW 103–354 MUL-
TIPLE FAMILY HOUSING SUPER-
VISORY VISIT—TENANT FILE RE-
VIEW 

Project Name: 

llllllllllllllllllllllll

Borrower Name: 

llllllllllllllllllllllll

Borrower ID and Project Number: 

llllllllllllllllllllllll

Date of Visit: 

llllllllllllllllllllllll

Management Representative Present: 

llllllllllllllllllllllll

FmHA or Its Successor Agency Under Public 
Law 103–354 Review Completed by: 

llllllllllllllllllllllll

Tenant 1 Tenant 2 Tenant 3 

Apartment number ..................................................................................... lllll lllll lllll 

Tenant name .............................................................................................. lllll lllll lllll 

Application: 
Signed and dated ................................................................................ (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 
EO Statement ..................................................................................... (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 
1930–C requirements met .................................................................. (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 
Credit report/references ...................................................................... (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 

Verifications/Documentation: 
Handicap/disability .............................................................................. (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 
Signed asset statement ...................................................................... (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 
Assets documented ............................................................................ (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 
Income ................................................................................................ (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 
Medical expenses ............................................................................... (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 
Child care expenses ........................................................................... (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public Law 103–354 ‘‘wage 

match’’ used.
(y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 

Correct Value on Certification: 
Assets ................................................................................................. (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 
Income ................................................................................................ (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 
Medical ................................................................................................ (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 
Child care ............................................................................................ (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 
Remaining calculations ....................................................................... (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 
Occupancy standards met .................................................................. (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 

Lease: 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public Law 103–354 ap-

proved.
(y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 

Correct rent/provisions ........................................................................ (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 
Re-Certification Notice: 

Used 75–90 day notice ....................................................................... (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 
Used 30 day notice ............................................................................. (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 

Other Documentation: 
Annual inspection ................................................................................ (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 
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Tenant 1 Tenant 2 Tenant 3 

Move-in inspection .............................................................................. (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 
Record of contacts .............................................................................. (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 
Unit repairs & maintenance ................................................................ (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 
3 years of tenant files ......................................................................... (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 

Follow-up Required .................................................................................... (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 

Comments: 

EXHIBIT G–2 TO SUBPART C OF PART 
1930—FARMERS HOME ADMINISTRA-
TION OR ITS SUCCESSOR AGENCY 
UNDER PUBLIC LAW 103–354 MUL-
TIPLE FAMILY HOUSING SUPER-
VISORY VISIT—TENANT INTERVIEW 
AND UNIT REVIEW 

Project Name: 

Borrower Name: 

Borrower ID and Project Number: 

llllllllllllllllllllllll

llllllllllllllllllllllll

llllllllllllllllllllllll

Date of Visit: 

Management Representative Present: 

llllllllllllllllllllllll

llllllllllllllllllllllll

FmHA or Its Successor Agency Under Public 
Law 103–354 Review Completed by: 

llllllllllllllllllllllll

Tenant 1 Tenant 2 Tenant 3 

Apartment number ..................................................................................... lllll lllll lllll 

Tenant name .............................................................................................. lllll lllll lllll 

NTC from MTFS ......................................................................................... lllll lllll lllll 

From Tenant Interview: 
Number of bedrooms .......................................................................... lllll lllll lllll 

Number of individuals ......................................................................... lllll lllll lllll 

Date of occupancy .............................................................................. ( - - ) ( - - ) ( - - ) 
Rent paid ............................................................................................. lllll lllll lllll 

Utilities paid (average) ........................................................................ lllll lllll lllll 

Knows verification rules ...................................................................... (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 
Knows grievance procedures ............................................................. (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 
Maintenance is acceptable ................................................................. (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 
Repairs are acceptable ....................................................................... (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 
Other comments ................................................................................. lllll lllll lllll 

From FmHA or its successor agency under Public Law 103–354 Apart-
ment Review—Maintenance Needed: 
Energy Efficiency Items Inspected: 

Insulation ............................................................................................. (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 
Caulking & weatherstrip ...................................................................... (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 
Storm doors & windows ...................................................................... (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 
Water saver devices ........................................................................... (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 
llllllllll ........................................................................ (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 

Interior Items Inspected: 
Floors, carpets, tiles ............................................................................ (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 
Stairs, walks, common areas .............................................................. (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 
Cabinets, doors ................................................................................... (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 
Painting ............................................................................................... (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 
Curtains & shades .............................................................................. (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 
Refrigerators & ranges ........................................................................ (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 
Garbage disp. & exhaust .................................................................... (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 
Compactor & incinerator ..................................................................... (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 
Electrical fxtrs & system ..................................................................... (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 
Plumbing fxtrs & systems ................................................................... (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 
Heating & air condition ....................................................................... (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 
Hot water, boiler room ........................................................................ (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 
llllllllll ........................................................................ (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) (y)(n)(na) 

Comments: EXHIBIT H TO SUBPART C OF PART 1930— 
INTEREST CREDITS ON INSURED 
RURAL RENTAL HOUSING AND RURAL 
COOPERATIVE HOUSING LOANS 

I Purpose: This exhibit outlines the poli-
cies and conditions under which interest 
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credits will be made on insured Rural Rental 
Housing (RRH) and Rural Cooperative Hous-
ing (RCH) loans. 

II Definitions: As used in this exhibit: 
A Interest credit is the amount of assist-

ance the Farmers Home Administration 
(FmHA) or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 may give a borrower toward 
making its payments on an insured RRH or 
RCH loan. 

B Interest credit and rental assistance (RA) 
agreement is an agreement between FmHA or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354 and the borrower providing for interest 
credits and/or RA for RRH or RCH loans. 
This agreement will be on Form FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
1944–7, ‘‘Multiple Family Housing Interest 
Credit and Rental Assistance Agreement.’’ 

C Project is the total number of rental or 
cooperative housing units that are operated 
under one management plan with one loan 
agreement/resolution. 

D Basic rent is determined on the basis of 
operating the project with payments of prin-
cipal and interest on a loan to be repaid over 
a 30-year or longer period at 1 percent per 
annum and covering budgeted project ex-
penses. Basic rent also means basic occu-
pancy charge. 

E Note rate rental is a unit rental charge 
determined on the basis of operating the 
project with payments of principal and inter-
est which the borrower is obligated to pay 
under the terms of the promissory note and 
meet budgeted project expenses. Note rate 
rental also means note rate occupancy 
charge in an RCH housing project. 

F Overage is the amount by which total 
rental or occupancy charge payments paid or 
to be paid by the tenants or members of a 
project exceed the total basic monthly 
charge. 

G Surcharge is 25 percent of the estab-
lished rent in a Plan I project which is added 
to the rent of an ineligible tenant or mem-
ber. 

III Eligibilty: Borrowers may receive inter-
est credit provided the loan was made on or 
after August 1, 1986, to a nonprofit corpora-
tion, consumer cooperative, State or local 
public agency, or to any individual or orga-
nization operating on a limited profit basis; 
is repaid over a period of 30 years or more; 
and meets the other requirements of this ex-
hibit subject to the following limitations: 

A Plan I will be only to broadly-based 
nonprofit corporations and consumer co-
operatives. Except for subsequent loans to 
projects approved before August 1, 1968, Plan 
I interest credit is no longer available. All 
borrowers already operating on Plan I may 
continue operating under it according to the 
applicable requirements of this exhibit and 
of this subpart. A subsequent loan on a Plan 
I project approved after August 1, 1968, will 
require the project to convert to Plan II. 

B Plan II will be available to broadly- 
based nonprofit corporations, cooperatives, 
State or local public agencies, or to profit 
organizations and individuals operating on a 
limited profit basis. 

C Units must be ready for occupancy (de-
cent, safe, and sanitary) to qualify for inter-
est credit. 

IV Options of Borrowers: An eligible bor-
rower operating under Plan I or Plan II, as 
described below, will determine interest 
credits on its loan in the respective manner 
indicated. 

A Plan I. 
1 Borrowers operating under this plan 

must agree to limit occupancy of the hous-
ing to very low-or low-income nonelderly 
and very low-, low- and moderate-income el-
derly, disabled, or handicapped persons. 

2 A borrower under Plan I generally must: 
a Determine that there is firm market 

and continuing demand for rental housing by 
persons within the applicable income limits. 

b Prepare a budget on the basis of a 3 per-
cent loan. 

c Determine rentals to be charged. 
d Determine adjusted personal income of 

each tenant or member and have each tenant 
or member complete Form FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 1944– 
8, ‘‘Tenant Certification.’’ Determine the 
monthly rent or occupancy charge to be paid 
by each tenant or member household. 

B Plan II. 
1 Borrowers operating under this plan 

must agree to limit occupancy of the hous-
ing to households, including elderly, dis-
abled, and handicapped persons of very-low, 
low- and moderate-incomes. Under Plan II, 
interest credits are based on the cost of oper-
ating the project and the size and income of 
the household. 

2 A borrower under Plan II generally 
must: 

a Prepare one budget form that reflects 
two rent levels; the first level on the basis of 
a 1 percent interest rate loan to determine 
basic rental; the second level on the basis of 
a loan at the interest rate shown in the 
promissory note to determine note rate rent-
al. 

b Determine both basic rental and note 
rate rental for the different units based on 
the two budgets. (See exhibit H-1 of this sub-
part). 

c Determine adjusted personal income of 
each tenant or member and have each tenant 
or member complete Form FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 1944– 
8. Determine the monthly rent or occupancy 
charge to be paid by each tenant or member 
household. 

d Determine the required monthly pay-
ment on the loan at 1 percent interest plus 
overage for the month for the total units. 
The amount of the project payment will be 
entered on Form FmHA or its successor 
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agency under Public Law 103–354 1944–29, 
‘‘Project Worksheet for Interest Credit and 
Rental Assistance.’’ 

V Determining the Amount of Payment: 
A For Plan I. The amount of payment will 

be determined by using the amortization fac-
tor for a payment at a 3 percent interest rate 
(use the same number of years that was used 
for computing the regular installment on the 
note) plus all surcharges. 

B For Plan II. The amount of payment 
will be determined by using the amortization 
factor for a payment at a 1 percent interest 
rate (use the same number of years that was 
used for computing the regular installment 
on the note) plus all overage. 

C For the project. The payment amount for 
all loans on the project will be added to-
gether to determine the project payment. 
The amount due FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 will also in-
clude all overage, surcharges, late fees, audit 
receivables, and cost item charges. 

VI Special Conditions: 
A Leases or occupancy agreements. Bor-

rowers participating in the interest credit 
program must have an FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 ap-
proved lease or occupancy agreement with 
the assisted household. Leases and occu-
pancy agreements must comply with the re-
quirements of paragraph VIII of exhibit B of 
this subpart. 

B Rental surcharges to ineligible tenants. If 
a unit is rented in accordance with the provi-
sions of paragraph VI A of this exhibit to a 
tenant who is ineligible because the income 
exceeds the maximum income limits, the in-
eligible tenant will: 

1 Under Plan I, be charged a 25 percent 
rental surcharge. To illustrate, if the unit 
normally rents for $100 per month, this ineli-
gible tenant would pay $125 per month. The 
25 percent surcharge, or $25 in this illustra-
tion, would be paid on the account and would 
be included with, but in addition to, the reg-
ular payment on the loan. 

2 Under Plan II, be charged the note rate 
rental. 

C Vacancies. 
1 When all construction is not completed 

but some units are ready for occupancy and 
the contractor consents in writing to permit 
occupancy, the State Director may authorize 
the occupancy of those completed units to 
eligible tenants or members at the rent or 
occupancy charge they would be paying as if 
the amortization effective date (AED) and 
subsidy levels had been established. A 
prerent-up or preoccupancy conference is re-
quired before marketing and rent-up begins. 
All income generated must be deposited in 
the general operating account and used for 
management and operation of the units ex-
cept for member’s patronage capital con-
tributions. 

2 Multi-Family Housing units rendered 
unusable due to fire, natural cause, or other 
damage requiring less than 180 days to repair 
or replace shall be assumed to be rented or 
occupied at the monthly basic rate rental or 
occupancy charge rate. If the units are not 
repaired or replaced within the 180 day pe-
riod, they shall thereafter be assumed to be 
unmarketable and the units will be carried 
at the monthly note rate rental or occu-
pancy charge rate (i.e., full overage for such 
units will be paid by the borrower until the 
units are again ready for occupancy). The 
Form FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 1944–7 will be cancelled, 
effective the first day of the month following 
the 180-day period. 

3 The State Director may make an excep-
tion to the 180-day period if all of the fol-
lowing conditions are met: 

a The repairs have not been started or 
completed due to circumstances beyond the 
borrower’s control; and 

b The borrower must be able to show that 
they have acted in good faith and they face 
serious financial difficulties in maintaining 
the project for existing tenants and they are 
unable to meet the payments on the indebt-
edness without the subsidy. 

4 Any borrower directly or indirectly af-
fected by action under this subpart will be 
granted the appropriate appeal rights ac-
cording to subpart B of part 1900 of this chap-
ter. 

5 RRH or RCH units vacant for lack of 
tenant or member applications on the wait-
ing list or for repair not associated with 
paragraph VI C 2 of this exhibit shall be as-
sumed to be charged at the basic rent. 

D Interest credit for tenants in projects 
under the Department of Housing and Urban 
Development (HUD) Housing Assistance Pay-
ment Program or FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 rental assistance. 
When any rental units in an RRH project are 
leased under the new construction Section 8 
program, Form HUD 50059, ‘‘Certification 
and Recertification of Tenant Eligibility,’’ 
or other acceptable HUD Form will be com-
pleted. When any rental units in an RRH 
project are leased under the FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
RA program, Form FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 1944–8 will 
be completed. 

E Special cases. Situations not covered by 
this exhibit or exhibit E to this subpart will 
be handled individually with instructions 
from the National Office. 

F Understanding eligibility. The borrower 
should understand the eligibility require-
ments for occupancy of the housing. Instruc-
tions for tenant or member eligibility are in 
paragraph VI D of exhibit B of this subpart. 

VII Execution of Agreements: 
A Interest credit and rental assistance agree-

ment. 
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1 Multiple advance loans. Interest credit 
may become effective the first day of the 
month following substantial completion of 
construction when the project is ready for 
full operation, which is the AED. When the 
Servicing Official determines that the 
project is ready for full operation, the bor-
rower and the Servicing Official should exe-
cute Form FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 1944–7. A separate 
Form FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 1944–7 will be executed for 
each loan on the project. 

2 Interim financing and servicing. Effective 
dates for interim financed loans and serv-
icing action will be according to the Form 
Manual Insert (FMI) for Form FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
1944–7. 

B Change in interest credit plan. A bor-
rower under Plan I may change, if it can 
meet the requirements of the other plan, by 
executing a new Form FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 1944–7. 

C Borrowers who are not receiving interest 
credit. If an eligible borrower did not execute 
a Form FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 1944–7 according to para-
graph VII A of this exhibit, interest credit 
may be instituted at any time during the life 
of the loan provided the borrower agrees to 
the requirements of Form FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 1944– 
7 and this exhibit. When Form FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
1944–7 is executed, it will be effective for the 
first of the month in which the Form FmHA 
or its successor agency under Public Law 
103–354 1944–7 is executed. 

D Borrowers who have had interest credit 
terminated. 

1 If an interest credit agreement on Form 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 1944–7 has been terminated be-
cause the benefits were not needed and cir-
cumstances change to where an interest 
credit is again needed, a new Form FmHA or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354 1944–7 may be executed. 

2 If an interest credit agreement on Form 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 1944–7 has been terminated be-
cause of the borrower’s failure to comply 
with requirements and the appropriate cor-
rective actions have been accomplished, a 
new Form FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 1944–7 may be exe-
cuted. 

VIII Tenant or Member Certification: Ten-
ant or member certification and recertifi-
cation for interest credit borrowers will be 
performed in accordance with paragraph VII 
of exhibit B to this subpart. 

IX Project Payments: With each payment 
made, the borrower will complete Form RD 
1944–29. The agency representative will 

transmit the payments to the Finance Of-
fice. 

A Plan I. 
1 The borrower will make monthly pay-

ments in an amount necessary to repay the 
project loans as if the loans carried a 3 per-
cent interest rate. When a rental surcharge 
is collected as described in paragraph VI B of 
this exhibit, the surcharge will be included 
and will be credited as interest to the ac-
count as a regular payment. The special han-
dling of payments involving rental sur-
charges is explained in paragraph IX A 2 of 
this exhibit. 

2 When a payment is made for any month 
that involves a rental surcharge, Form 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 1944–29 will be completed with 
the amount of the surcharge being inserted 
in the spaces provided. This form will be 
completed and the amount shown and will be 
charged to the project account regardless of 
whether the surcharge is actually collected 
by the borrower. 

B Plan II. The borrower will make month-
ly payments as though the project notes 
were written at a 1 percent interest rate plus 
any overage due and payable whether or not 
collected from the tenant or member. 

X Servicing: Handling of interest credits 
when servicing a project’s accounts accord-
ing to § 1965.85 of subpart B of part 1965 of 
this chapter will be handled according to the 
applicable parts of subpart A of part 1955 of 
this chapter. Any unusual cases that cannot 
be serviced in accordance with these sections 
should be submitted to the National Office 
with the State Director’s recommendations. 

[58 FR 40868, July 30, 1993, as amended at 68 
FR 61331, Oct. 28, 2003] 

EXHIBIT H–1 TO SUBPART C OF PART 
1930—EXAMPLE OF INTEREST CREDIT 
DETERMINATION FOR RURAL RENTAL 
HOUSING OR RURAL COOPERATIVE 
HOUSING PROJECTS (PLAN II) 

$260,000 loan—approved during 1987 fiscal 
year project contains four 1-bedroom units 
(600 sq. ft. each) and four 2-bedroom units 
(700 sq. ft. each) total floor area = 5200 sq. ft. 

Budget for note rate rent**a Budget for basic rent** 

Operating, maintenance, va-
cancy and contingency al-
lowance, reserve and re-
turn to investor, if applica-
ble: $10,560 

Operating, maintenance, va-
cancy and contingency al-
lowance, reserve and re-
turn to investor, if applica-
ble: $10,560 

Loan repayment at 91⁄2% in-
terest: $260M × $95.88 b 
$24,929 

Loan repayment at 1% inter-
est: $260M × $25.44 b 
$6,615 

Total annual cost $35,489 Total annual cost $17,175 
$35,489 ÷ 12 = $2958* cost/ 

month 
$17,175 ÷ 12= $1432* cost/ 

month 
One bedroom rent: 600/5200 

= .1154 × 2958 = 341.35 
One bedroom rent: 600/5200 

= .1154 × 1432 = 165.25 
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Budget for note rate rent**a Budget for basic rent** 

Two bedroom rent: 700/5200 
= .1346 × 2958 = 398.15 

Two bedroom rent: 700/5200 
= .1346 × 1432 = 192.75 

(341.35 × 4) + (398.15 × 4) = 
$2,958 monthly income 

(165.25 × 4) + (192.75 × 4) = 
$1432 monthly income 

$35,489 ÷ 12 = $2958* cost/ 
mo. 

$17,175 ÷ 12 = $1432* cost/ 
mo. 

a One budget form reflecting two rent levels must be pre-
pared; one level for the note rate rent and another level for 
the basic rent. (The expense items in the budgets shown in 
this illustration are only for illustration purposes and are not 
itemized.) 

b Annual amount using monthly amortization factor for 50 
years. If the regular installment on the note was amortized 
using a factor for less than 50 years, substitute the appro-
priate factor for a corresponding number of years. 

* Rounded to the nearest dollar. 
** In cooperatives, the term ‘‘rent’’ shall mean ‘‘occupancy 

charge.’’ 

EXHIBIT I TO SUBPART C OF PART 1930— 
RURAL RENTAL HOUSING LOANS AND 
THE HOUSING AND URBAN DEVELOP-
MENT SECTION 8 RENTAL CERTIFI-
CATE AND RENTAL VOUCHER PRO-
GRAMS (EXISTING UNITS) 

I General. This exhibit contains the poli-
cies and procedures that will be followed by 
the Farmers Home Administration (FmHA) 
or its successor agency under Public Law 
103–354 to permit the utilization of existing 
Section 515 Rural Rental Housing (RRH) 
units and the Department of Housing and 
Urban Development (HUD) tenant-based Sec-
tion 8 Rental Certificate and Rental Voucher 
Programs. 

II Applicability. This exhibit is not appli-
cable to units in Section 515/8 projects which 
use the project-based Section 8 new construc-
tion and substantial rehabilitation pro-
grams. Otherwise, FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 RRH bor-
rowers are authorized to utilize the proce-
dure outlined in this exhibit and the HUD 
Section 8 Rental Certificate Program or the 
Rental Voucher Program for existing hous-
ing as outlined in HUD’s regulations 24 CFR 
part 882 and 24 CFR part 887 (as amended) re-
spectively. To promote the use of these pro-
grams with existing projects, the following 
action should be taken: 

A Servicing Officials should inform RRH 
borrowers operating in the area of their ju-
risdiction of the contents of this exhibit. 

B The HUD Section 8 program could ben-
efit any eligible tenant in an RRH project 
who is paying more than 30 percent of its in-
come for rent and utilities. Therefore, RRH 
borrowers should advise tenants who are 
paying more than 30 percent of their ad-
justed income for housing of the possibility 
of obtaining Section 8 housing assistance 
payments. Those tenants paying 50 percent 
or more of their adjusted income for housing 
have preference over those paying less. In 
the Rental Certificate Program, families 
generally pay 30 percent of their monthly ad-

justed income toward the rent and the total 
rent to the owner must be below a maximum 
amount. Section 8 Rental Certificate and 
Rental Voucher assistance is administered 
by local Public Housing Agencies (PHA) au-
thorized by HUD to administer the program 
in the area. This Section 8 assistance can be 
used in the unit of the family’s choice any-
where in the State where the issuing PHA is 
located, and in certain areas in adjacent 
States. Families must apply to the PHA and 
come to the top of its waiting list through 
normal PHA selection preferences. 

C The HUD Rental Voucher Program uses 
a ‘‘shopper’s incentive.’’ If a unit rents for 
less than the payment standard established 
by the local PHA, the eligible family bene-
fits by paying less than 30 percent of its 
monthly adjusted income toward rent and 
utilities, subject to a minimum rent calcula-
tion by the PHA. If a unit rents for more 
than the payment standard for the area (not 
the actual rent), the housing assistance pay-
ment is not increased, nor is the family told 
it must find another unit, as in the Rental 
Certificate Program. Instead, the family 
pays the entire difference between the rent 
and the rental voucher payment standard. 
The family may rent the unit if it is willing 
to pay more than 30 percent of its income to-
ward rent. There is no maximum rent as in 
the Rental Certificate Program. 

D In Rural Cooperative Housing (RCH), 
cooperatives are considered rental housing 
in the Section 8 Rental Certificate and Rent-
al Voucher programs. Wherever the word 
tenant appears in this exhibit, it shall also 
mean member; rent shall also mean occu-
pancy charge; and lease shall also mean oc-
cupancy agreement. 

III FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 Policies Concerning Rental Rates 
and Payments. 

A Under the Section 8 Rental Certificate 
and Rental Voucher Programs, the PHA will 
pay a portion of the tenant’s rent including 
utility allowance as described in paragraphs 
II B or C of this exhibit, whichever is appro-
priate. The contract rent to be established 
under either HUD program will be as follows: 

1 For borrowers with a 3 percent direct 
RRH loan and borrowers operating in accord-
ance with interest credit Plan I, the contract 
rent will be the note rate rental rate for the 
units as determined by the current approved 
annual budget using a 3 percent amortiza-
tion factor for principal and interest pay-
ments; 

2 For borrowers operating without inter-
est credit, the contract rent will be the note 
rate rental rate for the unit as determined 
by the current approved annual budget using 
the amortization factor for the note rate of 
interest for principal and interest payments; 
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3 For borrowers operating in accordance 
with interest credit Plan II, the contract 
rent: 

a For Rental Certificate participants will 
be the basic rental rate as determined by the 
current approved annual budget using a 1 
percent interest amortization factor for prin-
cipal and interest payments; 

b For Rental Voucher participants, the 
rent to owner must be the lesser of the note 
rate rent for the unit as approved by FmHA 
or its successor agency under Public Law 
103–354 OR the payment standard approved 
by the PHA (but not less than basic rent ap-
proved by FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354). 

(1) When basic rent is less than the PHA 
approved payment standard, the borrower 
will collect and remit the difference between 
the basic rent and payment standard to 
FmHA or its successor agency under Public 
Law 103–354 as overage to avoid double sub-
sidy on behalf of the tenant. 

(2) Should the PHA inadvertently pay the 
owner (borrower) more than the amount 
specified in the housing assistance contract 
between the PHA and the owner, the owner 
shall return the overpayment to the PHA as 
an excess payment 

B The method of calculation and trans-
mittal of the scheduled payment to the Fi-
nance Office will be in accordance with para-
graph IX of exhibit H of this subpart. 

IV Responsibilities. 

A Family. A household family must apply 
to the PHA and be issued a Certificate of 
Family Participation or a Rental Voucher to 
obtain the appropriate housing assistance. 
Households receiving housing assistance 
under either program will be responsible for 
fulfilling all of their obligations under the 
Certificate of Family Participation or Rent-
al Voucher issued to them by the PHA and 
under the lease with the owner. However, a 
lease violation is not necessarily a reason for 
terminating Section 8 assistance. 

B Owner (FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 borrower). Upon 
being presented a Certificate of Family Par-
ticipation or a Rental Voucher by a family, 
an owner wishing to participate in the pro-
gram shall sign a Request for Lease Approval 
(Form HUD 52517–A) which is then submitted 
to the PHA. After PHA approval the owner 
will execute a Housing Assistance Contract 
(Form HUD 52535–A) with the PHA and a 
lease with the tenant. Owners shall be re-
sponsible (and subject to review or audit by 
the PHA or HUD) for performing all of their 
obligations under the contract and lease. 

C FmHA or its successor agency under Pub-
lic Law 103–354. 

1 FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354, in accordance with exist-
ing regulations, will be responsible for nor-

mal loan servicing and supervision, includ-
ing but not limited to: 

a Obtaining and reviewing all reports 
from the borrower in accordance with para-
graph XIII C of exhibit B of this subpart. 

b Review and approval of budgets and 
rental rates. 

c Collection of required payments and re-
view of the borrower’s establishment and 
maintenance of required accounts. 

2 FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 will not be responsible for 
the requirements and conditions of the con-
tract entered into between the PHA and 
owner but will cooperate with HUD and the 
PHA to the extent possible to assure that the 
borrower carries out all obligations under 
the contract. 

V Special Conditions. 

A Eligibility of family. 
1 The PHA will determine a household’s 

eligibility before the Certificate of Family 
Participation or Rental Voucher is issued. 
To be eligible for either form of housing as-
sistance, the household’s income as deter-
mined by HUD generally may not exceed the 
very low-income limit, based on 50 percent of 
the median income for the area. The house-
hold’s eligibility for housing assistance pay-
ments under the Rental Voucher program 
continues until the amount payable by the 
family equals or exceeds the payment stand-
ard or when the amount payable by the fam-
ily equals or exceeds the rent to owner plus 
any applicable utility allowances. However, 
when these conditions are exceeded, the fam-
ily may still be able to occupy a rental unit 
under the FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 interest credit pro-
gram if 30 percent of the family’s adjusted 
gross income is greater than the lowest es-
tablished rental rate for the unit. In both the 
Rental Certificate and Rental Voucher Pro-
grams, the housing assistance contract ter-
minates when 1 year has elapsed since the 
last Housing Assistance Payment (HAP) to 
the owner. 

2 Form FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 1944–8, ‘‘Tenant 
Certification,’’ will not be required for ten-
ants who have obtained a Certificate of Fam-
ily Participation or a Rental Voucher from 
the PHA. A copy of the Certificate of Family 
Participation or the Rental Voucher, how-
ever, needs to be provided to the FmHA or 
its successor agency under Public Law 103– 
354 Servicing Official. 

3 At admission, the tenant’s adjusted 
household income must not exceed the max-
imum income limitations (initially in the 
case of RCH) as authorized by FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
for the project. 

B Security deposits. According to HUD reg-
ulations, the owner may require a household 
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to pay a security deposit. For certificate par-
ticipants the maximum amount will be the 
greater of the amount of one month’s total 
tenant payment or $50. For voucher partici-
pants, the security deposit may not exceed 
the lesser of the limit established by the 
PHA or one month’s rent to the owner. 
Under HUD regulations, if a certificate 
household vacates a unit and the security de-
posit is insufficient, the owner may claim re-
imbursement from the PHA in an amount 
not to exceed two month’s contract rent. For 
voucher participants, the owner may claim 
up to one month’s rent to owner for amounts 
owed under the lease. Neither program al-
lows claims for reimbursement of unpaid 
rent for the period after the family moves 
from the unit. 

C Payment for vacated units. 
1 Rental Certificate Program. If a certificate 

family vacates the unit in violation of the 
provisions of the lease, the owner may re-
ceive the full housing assistance payment for 
the month in which the family vacates and 
then in the amount of 80 percent of the con-
tract rent for a vacancy period not exceeding 
an additional month or the expiration or 
other termination of the lease, whichever 
comes first. 

2 Rental Voucher Program. If the voucher 
family moves from the unit, the owner shall 
promptly notify the PHA. The PHA shall 
make no additional housing assistance pay-
ment to the owner for any month after the 
month in which the family moves out. How-
ever, the owner may retain the housing as-
sistance payment for the month in which the 
family moves. 

D Recertification for families with either a 
Section 8 Rental Certificate or Rental Voucher. 

1 The PHA, not the FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 bor-
rower, must reexamine the income and fam-
ily composition of all Rental Certificate and 
Rental Voucher families at least annually, 
and adjust the housing assistance payment 
made on behalf of the family to reflect any 
changes in the family’s monthly adjusted in-
come, size, or composition. Once a HAP con-
tract expires, recertification responsibility 
reverts to the borrower and FmHA or its suc-
cessor agency under Public Law 103–354 
forms and income verification and certifi-
cation requirements apply. 

2 All changes in family composition must 
be reported to the PHA. 

3 A family may request a redetermination 
of the housing assistance payment at any 
time, based on a change in the family’s in-
come, adjusted income, size, or composition. 

4 Whether reporting of increases of family 
income between annual recertifications is re-
quired is determined by the PHA. The PHA 
policy must be stated in its administrative 
plan. 

E Rent changes. 
1 When project rents in all units change. 

a Rental Certificate Program. Rents for ten-
ants receiving rental certificate assistance 
under HUD Form 52535–A (Section 8 Existing 
Housing Assistance Payments Contract for 
Subsidized Units) may change after the be-
ginning (day 1) of the HAP contract term for 
the initial leasing of the unit with Section 8 
assistance. The amount of the contract rent 
adjusts automatically when the subsidized 
rent is changed. However, the adjustments 
are subject to rent reasonableness limita-
tions which are determined by the PHA. Ad-
justments may not result in material dif-
ferences between the rents charged for as-
sisted and comparable unassisted units as de-
termined by the PHA. 

b Rental Voucher Program. Rents for ten-
ants receiving rental voucher assistance may 
not change until the end of the initial 12 
months of the individual lease, even though 
all unit rents may have been changed in the 
meantime. The lease may provide that the 
owner may increase the tenant’s rent any 
time AFTER the first anniversary of the 
lease, but the Owner must give the tenant 
and the PHA 60 days prior written notice of 
any increase before it takes place. 

2 When tenant household income, size, and 
composition change. The following items 
apply to both the Section 8 Rental Certifi-
cate and Rental Voucher Program. 

a The PHA must examine the income and 
family composition of all rental certificate 
and rental voucher families at least annually 
and adjust the housing assistance payment 
made on behalf of the family to reflect any 
changes in the family’s income, size, or com-
position. 

b All changes in family composition must 
be reported to the PHA. 

c A family may request a redetermination 
of the housing assistance payment at any 
time, based on a change in the family’s in-
come, size, or composition. 

d Whether reporting of increases of fam-
ily income between annual recertifications is 
required is determined by the PHA. The PHA 
policy must be stated in its administrative 
plan. 

(1) Should household income INCREASE to 
where HUD assistance becomes zero, the 
HAP contract between borrower/owner and 
the PHA remains in effect for 12 more 
months. When 12 months of ‘‘zero’’ assist-
ance occurs, the HAP contract automati-
cally terminates. However, if during that 
year the family’s income decreases to the 
level where subsidy is needed again, the PHA 
will resume subsidy payments under the 
HAP contract after notification by the fam-
ily of the change. 

(2) In both the Rental Certificate and Rent-
al Voucher programs, the tenant’s lease term 
runs concurrently with the Housing Assist-
ance Contract until the tenant or owner ter-
minates the lease or the PHA terminates the 
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contract. In a situation where a tenant’s in-
come increases to where the tenant does not 
receive a subsidy for 12 months, the owner 
can offer the tenant a new lease for execu-
tion. If the tenant fails to execute the new 
lease after a reasonable time, the owner may 
terminate the tenant’s occupancy. 

F Changes in household size and composi-
tion. 

1. An increase in household size that re-
sults in the occupied unit not meeting the 
PHA occupancy standards or housing quality 
standards (namely, overcrowding) requires 
the PHA to issue the household a new rental 
certificate or rental voucher for a larger 
unit. The PHA must provide assistance to 
the family in locating another unit. The 
PHA may not terminate the current con-
tract unless the family has rejected with 
good cause the offer of a new unit. 

2. If the OWNER fails to maintain the 
dwelling unit at acceptable housing quality 
standards, the PHA may, after unsuccessful 
efforts to correct the problem, terminate or 
abate the housing assistance payments, even 
though the household continues to occupy 
the unit. 

3. A decrease in household size will not 
necessarily require the household to move. 
In the Rental Voucher Program, the house-
hold may rent a unit with greater number of 
bedrooms than indicated on the housing 
voucher and still receive housing assistance. 
In the Rental Certificate Program, the fam-
ily may continue to receive assistance in the 
unit if the gross rent (contract rent plus 
utility allowance) is within the fair market 
rent for the smaller size unit appropriate for 
the size and composition of the family. 

G Limitation of owner’s participation in the 
two programs. HUD’s regulations provide that 
assistance under Section 8 Certificates will 
not exceed 40 percent of the total number of 
units in the project; however, this limitation 
may be exceeded on a case-by-case basis for 
the purpose of relieving hardship of a par-
ticular household or households with the ap-
proval of the HUD field office. There is no 
corresponding limit under the HUD Rental 
Voucher program. The HUD limits shall not 
affect the number of rental assistance units 
the project receives through FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354. 

H Special problems. Any problems on uti-
lizing either the HUD Section 8 Certificate 
or the Rental Voucher program for existing 
RRH projects not covered by this exhibit 
should be referred to the National Office by 
the State Director. 

EXHIBIT J TO SUBPART C OF PART 1930— 
MANAGEMENT OF CONGREGATE HOUS-
ING AND GROUP HOMES 

I Purpose: This exhibit prescribes addi-
tional requirements for the management of 
congregate housing and group homes. It ap-

plies in addition to other requirements in 
this subpart. 

II Objective: The objective in the manage-
ment of congregate and group home housing 
is to provide shelter and predetermined serv-
ices as separate components, based on a mar-
ket study identification of need, that are af-
fordable to the housing’s tenant base. It is 
further the objective to permit resident ten-
ants to cover their individual medical and 
discretionary needs, and/or service needs or 
preferences not provided or arranged by the 
housing provider, within their own financial, 
familial and social resources. 

III Definitions: 

Congregate housing. Residential housing for 
persons or families who are elderly, or have 
handicaps, or disabilities, consisting of pri-
vate apartments and central dining facilities 
in which a number of preestablished services 
are provided to tenants (short of those serv-
ices provided by a health care facility that 
provides health related care and services rec-
ognized by the medicaid program). Tenants 
requiring additional services not provided by 
the facility will acquire them or provide for 
them within their own financial, familial, or 
social resources. 

Group home. Housing that is occupied by 
individuals who are elderly or have handi-
caps or disabilities, sharing living space 
within a rental unit in which a group home 
resident assistant may be required. 

Service agreement. A written agreement be-
tween the borrower and the congregate or 
group home service provider detailing the 
specific service to be provided, the cost of 
the service, and the length of time the serv-
ice will be provided. 

Service contract. A written contract be-
tween the borrower and the tenant listing 
the package of services selected by the ten-
ant that will be provided or arranged by the 
borrower, the fee or fees to be charged, and 
applicable conditions and agreements per-
taining thereto. 

Service plan. A written plan describing how 
services will be provided to congregate hous-
ing or group home projects. At a minimum, 
the plan must specify the services to be pro-
vided, the frequency of the services, who will 
provide the services, how tenants will be ad-
vised of the availability of services, and the 
staff needed to provide the services. 

Tenant base. The demographic and eco-
nomic profile of eligible people in a housing 
market area who would benefit, whether by 
need or preference, from the housing and 
supportive services provided by a congregate 
housing or group home facility located in the 
market area. 

IV Rent Subsidy Opportunities: Congregate 
housing and group homes are subject to the 
provisions of paragraph IV of exhibit B of 
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this subpart. Subsidy discussed in that para-
graph cannot be used to pay for services in 
congregate housing or group homes. 

V Management Operations: Borrowers must 
comply with paragraph V of exhibit B of this 
subpart in managing congregate housing and 
group homes. In addition, borrowers must 
submit a service plan that explains how serv-
ices will be provided. 

A Borrower’s experience. Borrowers and 
management agents must outline their expe-
rience and plans for providing congregate 
and group home services when completing 
the management outline in either exhibit B– 
4 or B–5 of this subpart. Borrowers who are 
not experienced with congregate housing/ 
group homes must obtain assistance from or-
ganizations or individuals experienced with 
congregate issues in developing management 
and servicing plans. The service provider’s 
experience and ability to furnish the services 
must be documented. 

B Management plan. In addition to the 
general requirements for a management plan 
described at paragraph V A of exhibit B of 
this subpart, the management plan should 
describe the plan for management of features 
unique and essential to congregate/group 
home housing. This portion of an overall 
management plan may either be incor-
porated within the framework of the man-
agement plan or as an addendum to the plan. 
The following areas should be described: 

1 Tenant mix. For congregate housing, de-
scribe the mix of tenants who will have a 
greater number of services and tenants who 
will have a lesser number of services that the 
project is designed to accommodate. For 
group home housing, describe the ‘‘group(s)’’ 
of tenants the group home is intending to 
serve such as elderly tenants, develop-
mentally disabled, or mentally impaired per-
sons. 

2 Marketing plan. Describe the strategies, 
ways and means that marketing and adver-
tising will be focused to attract and retain 
tenants from the market area (tenant base) 
that would benefit by the congregate/group 
home housing project. 

3 Service package. Describe the basic and 
any alternative ‘‘package’’ of service(s), or 
combination of service packages, that a ten-
ant may acquire at the project. Describe any 
deviations to a service package that can be 
accommodated on an individual tenant basis 
by the project in a reasonable and practical 
manner. 

4 Referral service. Describe the plan for 
identifying other services available to ten-
ants and for establishing liaison between the 
project and the other services. Describe the 
plan to make the information of such serv-
ices available and known to tenants. De-
scribe what arrangements the project can 
provide as part of a service package to help 
tenants use referral services. 

5 Tenant consultation. Describe how the 
project management staff will use tenant 
consultation to assist tenants with informa-
tion, modification of service package, refer-
ral to medical, clinical, family or other serv-
ices, and identifying what, if any, reasonable 
accommodations or assistance are needed 
and whether they are feasible and practical 
to provide. 

6 Emergency evacuation plan. Describe 
what the project will do to inform and train 
tenants on safe evacuation of an apartment 
and building. Describe which community/ 
public services will be informed about and 
incorporated into the project evacuation 
plan. 

C Service plan. Congregate housing/group 
home borrowers must submit a service plan 
as defined in paragraph III of this exhibit. 
See exhibit E of subpart E of part 1944 of this 
chapter for guidance on the issues that 
should be included in the plan. The service 
plan will be an addendum to the manage-
ment plan when appropriate, or subject to 
the signature and authorization require-
ments of the management plan when the 
service provider is not the borrower or man-
agement agent. 

D Service agreements. Borrowers must sub-
mit a service agreement for each service 
they do not provide directly. The agreement 
must stipulate the specific service to be pro-
vided, the cost of the service and the length 
of time the service will be provided. The 
service agreement will be an addendum to 
the management agreement when appro-
priate, or subject to the signature and au-
thorization requirements of the management 
agreement when the service provider is not 
the borrower or management agent. 

Initial service agreements must be effective 
for at least 1 year after the project becomes 
operational. Subsequent agreements must be 
effective for at least 1 year. 

E Service contract. Borrowers must submit 
a sample of the service contract for Agency 
review for compliance with Fair Housing Act 
requirements/restrictions and Agency re-
quirements in or referenced by this subpart. 
The service contract may not be a require-
ment for occupancy in the congregate hous-
ing project and it must be made separate and 
apart from the occupancy lease agreement. 

VI Renting Procedure: In addition to meet-
ing the conditions of paragraph VI of exhibit 
B of this subpart, borrowers must meet the 
following conditions. 

A Eligible tenants. Tenants must meet the 
general provisions of paragraph VI D of ex-
hibit B of this subpart and be eligible to oc-
cupy congregate or group home housing as 
defined in paragraph III of this exhibit. Bor-
rowers must be careful to follow the condi-
tion described in paragraph VI D 1 i of ex-
hibit B of this subpart when inquiring about 
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the applicant’s or tenant’s request for con-
gregate/group home housing and the service 
it provides. 

B Tenant selection. Borrowers must meet 
the provisions of paragraph VI H of exhibit B 
of this subpart. Borrowers should be further 
guided by the following in selecting tenants 
for congregate housing and group homes: 

1 Congregate housing. 
a Tenant mix. It is the primary intent of a 

congregate housing project to provide or ar-
range for service packages made up of var-
ious component services to serve the needs of 
tenants needing such services. If it is not 
feasible to provide service packages to all 
tenants, the borrower may serve tenants 
needing services and tenants not needing 
services. The number of tenants that can be 
served with service package(s) will be de-
scribed in the project management plan. 
Project management should be consulted 
when establishing the tenant mix. The plan 
should establish a percentage of tenants who 
will use a service package with a greater 
number of component services as differen-
tiated from tenants whose service package 
will contain fewer services. As existing ten-
ants age and new tenants move in, the per-
centage may fluctuate. Farmers Home Asso-
ciation must concur with the proposed plan. 

b Selecting services needed or wanted by ten-
ants in congregate housing. 

(1) It is the borrower’s responsibility to in-
form applicants or tenants about the sup-
portive services provided at or by the con-
gregate project. Such services or service 
packages need to be identified on the 
project’s application form as part of an ap-
plication package. 

(2) It is the applicant’s or tenant’s respon-
sibility to identify and request the services 
or service package provided by the project 
which that person desires or needs. 

(3) The borrower may have the applicant/ 
tenant provide only such essential informa-
tion about the person’s desire for provided 
service(s) to determine whether the project 
provides the services desired by the appli-
cant/tenant and/or to determine how to best 
serve the applicant’s/tenant’s request for 
services with reasonable accommodation, re-
ferral services, etc. The essential informa-
tion may include an explanation by the ap-
plicant/tenant. In the case of a group home, 
it may also include an assessment by a pro-
fessional medical examiner or practitioner, 
social service caseworker, representative of 
an advocacy group, member of the clergy, 
etc. that the tenant/applicant provides to 
support the application for housing and serv-
ices. 

c Waiting lists. To sustain the number of 
tenants requesting services, management 
may maintain waiting lists for tenants re-
questing large component service packages, 
small component service packages, and those 
wanting a service package at a later time. 

Management may choose tenants from the 
lists in such manner to maintain the feasi-
bility in providing services, however, pri-
ority in tenant selection should go to an ap-
plicant requesting a service package over 
one requesting a service package at some 
later date. The other provisions contained in 
paragraph VI H of exhibit B of this subpart 
concerning waiting lists are applicable. 

2 Group home. A group home may limit 
occupancy to a specific group of tenants. For 
example, a group home may limit occupancy 
to eligible elderly tenants, developmentally 
disabled people, or mentally impaired ten-
ants. This limitation will be outlined in the 
borrower’s management plan. The following 
will apply to group homes. 

a Applicants for group home housing 
must demonstrate their need for such hous-
ing. 

b Tenants of group homes cannot be re-
quired to be a part of an ongoing training or 
rehabilitation program sponsored by the ap-
plicant or other organization. 

c Tenants should be selected from the 
local area before considering other areas. 

C Determining per unit rental rates for 
group living arrangements. A ‘‘unit’’ in a 
group home consists of the space occupied by 
a specific tenant household. It may be a tra-
ditional apartment unit, a bedroom, or a por-
tion of a bedroom. Rents are determined as 
follows: 

1 When all units are of equal size, divide 
operational costs equally. 

2 When all units are not of equal size, de-
termine the size of each unit and divide oper-
ational costs accordingly. 

a The size of traditional units is their 
square footage. 

b The size of nontraditional units is the 
bedroom or portion of bedroom occupied by 
the household and portion of the common 
area to be used by all potential units in non-
traditional units. 

3 A unit occupied by a resident assistant 
is not considered a revenue producing unit 
and would be excluded from the rent deter-
mination. 

VII Verification and Certification of Tenant 
Income, and/or Employment and Review of Sup-
port Services: The provisions of paragraph VII 
of exhibit B of this subpart apply. In addi-
tion to recertifying income, management 
should consult with each tenant to explain 
the available support services and determine 
if the tenant desires any available services 
not presently used and/or if any other prac-
tical and feasible accommodations can be 
provided to the tenant. 

VIII Lease Agreements: In addition to the 
conditions contained in paragraph VIII of ex-
hibit B of this subpart, the following should 
be addressed: 

A Tenants who request services in con-
gregate housing. If a tenant requests services, 
the lease must contain the following clauses: 
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1 ‘‘I understand that use of the service 
package I have selected is not mandatory, 
and if I later choose to modify or not renew 
my service contract, such action on my part 
will not cause default under the terms of this 
lease agreement. I further understand and 
agree that I may not use any aspect of dis-
satisfaction with my service contract as 
grounds to withhold rents due under the 
terms of this lease agreement.’’ 

2 ‘‘The lessor warrants that the following 
basic services will be made available to all 
tenants for a fee separate and apart from any 
rent described in the terms of this lease. The 
basic services are: llllllllll. 

If these services cannot later be provided, 
such failure or inability to provide the serv-
ices will not constitute a breach of this lease 
agreement and the lessor will hold the ten-
ant harmless should the tenant elect to ter-
minate this lease on the grounds that provi-
sion of these services was cause for the ten-
ant to apply for and accept occupancy in this 
congregate housing project.’’ 

B Services provided to people other than ten-
ants of FmHA or its successor agency under 
Public Law 103–354 financed congregate hous-
ing. If the meal facility serves people other 
than the tenants of the project, the borrower 
must obtain a lease from the service provider 
and require payment sufficient to cover the 
annual operating expenses, debt services and 
reserve account attributable to the portion 
of increased space that is in excess of the 
needs of the tenants in the project. Tenants 
of the congregate housing must have priority 
in receiving the services. When the facilities 
are provided with loan funds, the following 
conditions must be met: 

1 The services to be provided and the fees 
to be charged (if any) must be fully docu-
mented in the service plan, if provided by the 
applicant, or in the service plan and lease 
agreement if the services will be provided by 
others. 

2 Any lease agreement must be approved 
by the State Director or the loan approving 
official and contain the following statement: 
‘‘This agreement will not be effective until 
approved by the State Director of the Farm-
ers Home Administration or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354, U.S. De-
partment of Agriculture, or the State Direc-
tor’s delegated representative.’’ 

IX Rent Collection: The provisions of para-
graph IX of exhibit B of this subpart will 
apply for services as well as rent. Tenants 
must pay charges for the services as docu-
mented in their lease. The payment for rent 
or services may be made separately or com-

bined; however, payments for rent and serv-
ices must be accounted for separately. 

X Borrower Project Budgets: Borrowers 
must separate the revenue and expenses of 
project operations from the service compo-
nent. Form FmHA or its successor agency 
under Public Law 103–354 1930–7, ‘‘Multiple 
Family Housing Project Budget,’’ must re-
flect project operations only. Also, if project 
employees provide any part of the services, 
the project operation budget and the services 
budget must reflect the proration of em-
ployee compensation between the respective 
budgets as further described in exhibit E of 
subpart E of part 1944 of this chapter. 

XI Accounting and Reporting Requirements 
and Financial Management Analysis: Bor-
rowers must maintain separate financial 
records for the operation and maintenance of 
the project and the service component. 
Funds allocated to the operation and main-
tenance of the project may not be used to 
supplement the cost of services, nor may 
service component funds be used to supple-
ment the project operation and maintenance. 
Detailed financial reports on the service 
component will not be required unless spe-
cifically requested by FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354, and then 
only to the extent necessary for FmHA or its 
successor agency under Public Law 103–354 
and the borrower to discuss the affordability 
(and competitiveness) of the service compo-
nent by the tenant base in keeping with the 
objective stated in paragraph II of this ex-
hibit. The project audit, or verification of 
accounts on Form FmHA or its successor 
agency under Public Law 103–354 1930–8, 
‘‘Multiple Family Housing Balance Sheet,’’ 
together with an accompanying Form 1930–7 
showing actuals, must allocate revenue and 
expense between project operations and the 
service component. 

XII Termination of Tenancy and Eviction. 
In keeping with the spirit and provisions of 
the Fair Housing Amendments Act of 1988, a 
tenant living in congregate or group home 
housing project may remain as long as they 
are eligible to occupy and the tenant ex-
presses or otherwise maintains they can care 
for themself with or without services pro-
vided by the project, or by familial or social 
services from outside the project. Tenants 
are otherwise bound by the terms of their 
lease and their occupancy may be termi-
nated only according to the provisions con-
tained in paragraph XIV of exhibit B of this 
subpart. 

PARTS 1931–1939 [RESERVED] 
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